UNIVERSITA' VITA-SALUTE SAN RAFFAELE

CORSO DI DOTTORATO DI RICERCA IN NEUROSCIENZE COGNITIVE

ADVANCED COGNITIVE, MOLECULAR AND STRUCTURAL BIOMARKERS IN PRECLINICAL AND PRODROMAL DEMENTIA PHASES

DoS: Prof. Daniela Perani Second Supervisor: Prof. Camillo Marra

Tesi di DOTTORATO DI RICERCA di Giacomo Tondo matr. 013877 Ciclo di dottorato XXXIV SSD MED/26

Anno Accademico 2020/2021

Ren "

CONSULTAZIONE TESI DI DOTTORATO DI RICERCA

Il/la sottoscritto/I Giacomo Tondo

Matricola / registration number 013877

nato a/ born at Venezia

il/**on** 03.02.1985

autore della tesi di Dottorato di ricerca dal titolo / **author of the PhD Thesis titled** ADVANCED COGNITIVE, MOLECULAR AND STRUCTURAL BIOMARKERS IN PRECLINICAL AND PRODROMAL DEMENTIA PHASES

□ AUTORIZZA la Consultazione della tesi / AUTHORIZES the public release of the thesis

■ NON AUTORIZZA la Consultazione della tesi per 12 mesi /DOES NOT AUTHORIZE the public release of the thesis for 12 months

a partire dalla data di conseguimento del titolo e precisamente / from the PhD thesis date, specifically

Dal / from 01/11/2021 Al / to 01/11/2021

Poiché /because:

□ l'intera ricerca o parti di essa sono potenzialmente soggette a brevettabilità/ The whole project or part of it might be subject to patentability;

■ ci sono parti di tesi che sono già state sottoposte a un editore o sono in attesa di pubblicazione/ Parts of the thesis have been or are being submitted to a publisher or are in press;

□ la tesi è finanziata da enti esterni che vantano dei diritti su di esse e sulla loro pubblicazione/ **the thesis project is financed by external bodies that have rights over it and on its publication**.

E' fatto divieto di riprodurre, in tutto o in parte, quanto in essa contenuto / Copyright the contents of the thesis in whole or in part is forbidden

Data /Date 30.10.2021

Firma /Signature

(Pilcom Joulo

DECLARATION

This thesis has been composed by myself and has not been used in any previous application for a degree. Throughout the text I use both 'I' and 'We' interchangeably.

All the results presented here were obtained by myself, except for:

- MRI data analysis included in Study 1 (Role of imaging biomarkers in the classification of MCI condition as defined by the NIA-AA criteria. Preliminary data analysis) was performed by the Laboratory of Neuroinformatics, IRCCS Istituto Centro San Giovanni di Dio Fatebenefratelli, Brescia, Italy.
- collection cognitive, Data regarding neuropsychological and • neuropsychiatric evaluations included in Study 3 (Brain metabolism and amyloid load in individuals with subjective cognitive decline or pre-Mild Cognitive Impairment) was performed by the Laboratory of Neuropsychiatry, IRCCS Santa Lucia Foundation, Rome, Italy.

All sources of information are acknowledged by means of reference.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank all the participants in the described studies and their families.

My deepest gratitude goes to my Mentor, Professor Daniela Perani, for the trust and the possibility to complete this PhD. Thanks for the inspiring supervision, the tireless genius, the indefatigable curiosity, the opportunity to learn and to improve my professional and human background. Her greatest teaching is the convincement that every achieved goal is actually a new starting point. Thanks for the journey together.

Thanks to the supervisors. Thanks to Professors Annachiara Cagnin, Stefano Cappa, and Francesco Benedetti for the precious and proficient supervision offered. Thanks to Professor Camillo Marra, who supported me twice with valuable scientific advice, at the beginning of my career as a Medical Doctor and during my PhD program as the second supervisor.

I would like to thank all the external collaborators, particularly Professors Giovanni Frisoni, Gianfranco Spalletta, Alberto Redolfi, and their labs, for the teaching and help in collecting and analyzing data. A special thanks to Professor Cristoforo Comi for the scientific support, the clinical work, and the friendship, with the firm confidence that the relationship can fruitfully continue.

I thank my working group. Silvia, for being a guide. Giulia, for being the best teammate. Cecilia, for the novel enthusiasm. A winning lab is made up of valuable people. A stimulating environment is made up of curious, smart, and sharing-opinion people. A pleasant place to work is made up of friends, and this is what you have been. Similarly, thanks to Luca, Giovanna, Arianna for the help and the unquestioning support.

Dedication

Some people are vital in my personal life and deserve special thanks for how close they are to me, not just in the last three years. The last three years have been filled with a bunch of things. Intense work. Suffering from isolation. The abrupt discovery of physical fragility. Worries about the distance from my loved ones. But also, unconditional love (mum and dad). Support that goes beyond the geographical distance (MT, AM, ST, FA, AT, MF, CT, CG). Relationships temporarily paused for stupid reasons but impossible to break, which will be resumed closer than before (ST). The love, grown in everyday life, such intense daily life to be gorgeous (FDM). Great moving of stuff and feelings, possible only with the help of precious new family people (IDM, MDM, CG). Close ties with other tiny living beings in fifty square meters (F, C, F). Unbreakable old and new friendship (SP, AN, EV). New acquaintances and rediscovered passions (BC). Finally, three years full of changes and surprises, love for what I do, and what I want to keep doing. Love to convey to the youngest darlings the little I know, and to continue learning from them (JT, GT, DF, DF).

I dedicate this thesis to my family, my parents, my sisters, my brothers, my nephews. To Fabiola, the person I love. To my beloved dogs. Thanks for your support and unconditional care. I love you all.

"It doesn't matter what you do, he said, so long as you change something from the way it was before you touched it into something that's like you after you take your hands away. The difference between the man who just cuts lawns and a real gardener is in the touching, he said. The lawn-cutter might just as well not have been there at all; the gardener will be there a lifetime." (Ray Bradbury, Fahrenheit 451)

"Remember to look up at the stars and not down at your feet. Try to make sense of what you see and wonder about what makes the universe exist. Be curious. And however difficult life may seem, there is always something you can do and succeed at." (Stephen Hawking)

LIST OF STUDIES

PUBLISHED STUDIES

Tondo G., et al., TAM Receptor Pathways at the Crossroads of Neuroinflammation and Neurodegeneration. Dis Markers. 2019. Review. (Tondo *et al*, 2019)

Tondo G., et al., The combined effects of microglia activation and brain glucose hypometabolism in early-onset Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers Res Ther. 2020. Original Article. (Tondo *et al*, 2020b)

Tondo G., et al., Biomarker-based stability in limbic-predominant amnestic mild cognitive impairment. Eur J Neurol. 2021. Original Article. (Tondo *et al*, 2020a)

Perani D., et al., PET Neuroimaging in Dementia Conditions. PET SPECT Neurol 2020. Review. (Perani *et al*, 2020)

Tondo G., et al., Brain Metabolism and Microglia Activation in Mild Cognitive Impairment: A Combined [¹⁸F]FDG and [¹¹C]-(R)-PK11195 PET Study. J Alzheimers Dis. 2021. Original Article. (Tondo *et al*, 2021)

Carli G., et al., Brain Molecular Connectivity in Neurodegenerative Conditions. Brain Sci. 2021. Review. (Carli *et al*, 2021)

SUBMITTED STUDIES

Tondo G., et al., Brain metabolism and amyloid load in individuals with subjective cognitive decline or pre-Mild Cognitive Impairment. Original Article.

PUBLISHED STUDIES NOT INCLUDED IN THE DISSERTATION

Tondo G., et al., 11 C-PK11195 PET-based molecular study of microglia activation in SOD1 amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Ann Clin Transl Neurol. 2020. Original Article. (Tondo *et al*, 2020)

ABSTRACT

Dementia is a global epidemic affecting about 47 million people in 2015, reaching 135 million in 2050. This doctoral dissertation aims to explore the *in vivo* role of PET imaging along the dementia continuum, from the preclinical to the prodromal and to the overt dementia phase, to provide a comprehensive picture of the mechanisms underlying neurodegeneration.

Evidence in individuals with genetic risk to develop Alzheimer's dementia suggests that the pathophysiological process leading to neurodegeneration starts years before the clinical diagnosis of dementia. For this reason, it is crucial to investigate biomarkers at the earliest possible stage of dementia. Mild Cognitive Impairment, pre-Mild Cognitive Impairment, and Subjective Cognitive Decline represent conditions with an increased risk of developing Alzheimer's disease and other dementias, but some individuals will remain stable over time, and others will return to normal cognition. To correctly classify these subjects has significant therapeutic and prognostic repercussions. We investigated the diagnostic and prognostic role of [¹⁸F]FDG-PET in identifying subjects at risk for developing dementia and individuals with a favorable prognosis. We coupled brain metabolism information with in vivo pathological, structural, cerebrospinal fluid, and neuropsychological and neuropsychiatric data to improve diagnostic classification and predictive accuracy. [¹⁸F]FDG-PET, amyloid-PET, and Magnetic Resonance imaging analyses were performed using validated and standardized procedures, which provided reliable and trustworthy results. We also explored the role of *in vivo* neuroinflammation in different stages of neurodegeneration, including Alzheimer's disease dementia and Cognitive Impairment. Neuroinflammation is a potential driver of Mild neurodegenerative changes in several conditions, but its beneficial or detrimental role depends on the disease stage.

Overall, our results confirm that the preclinical and prodromal stages of neurodegenerative dementias are heterogeneous states, and biomarkers assessment helps to classify or exclude individuals along the trajectory of neurodegeneration. [¹⁸F]FDG-PET revealed its crucial role in detecting or excluding early signs of neurodegeneration, and this would be very much contributing to the screening of candidates in clinical trials.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS			
LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES	7		
INTRODUCTION	11		
The Alzheimer's disease spectrum	11		
The definition of Alzheimer's disease	12		
The prodromal and preclinical phases of Alzheimer's disease	19		
Biomarkers in Alzheimer's disease and other neurodegenerative disorders	23		
Controversies about the biological definition of Alzheimer's disease	28		
Other major forms of neurodegenerative dementia	30		
Neuroinflammation and Neurodegeneration	37		
The Central Nervous System as an immune-privileged organ	38		
The innate and adaptive immunity in the Central Nervous System	39		
Aging and neuroinflammation	45		
Neuroinflammation in neurodegenerative diseases	46		
PET imaging in neurodegenerative diseases	53		
PET imaging of brain metabolism	54		
PET imaging of amyloid- β pathology	60		
PET imaging of tau pathology	63		
PET imaging of neuroinflammation	66		
AIM OF THE WORK	71		
RESULTS	72		

Part 1. PET molecular imaging of neurodegeneration, pathology and	
relationships with clinical manifestations and prognosis in preclinical and prodromal dementia phases	72
Review 1. PET imaging in dementia conditions (Perani et al., PET and SPECT in Neurology, 2020)	72
Review 2. Brain Molecular Connectivity in Neurodegenerative Conditions (Carli et al., Brain Sci. 2021)	83
Study 1. Role of imaging biomarkers in the classification of MCI condition as defined by the NIA-AA criteria. Preliminary data analysis	87
Study 2. Biomarker-based stability in limbic-predominant amnestic mild cognitive impairment (Tondo et al., Eur J Neurol. 2020a)	94
Study 3. Brain metabolism and amyloid load in individuals with subjective cognitive decline or pre-Mild Cognitive Impairment	99
Part 2. PET imaging evaluating the relationship between neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration in neurodegenerative diseases	106
	106
Review 3. TAM Receptor Pathways at the Crossroads of Neuroinflammation and Neurodegeneration (Tondo et al., Dis Markers. 2019)	106
Study 4. The combined effects of microglia activation and brain glucose hypometabolism in early-onset Alzheimer's disease (Tondo et al., Alzheimers Res Ther. 2020b)	110
Study 5. Brain Metabolism and Microglia Activation in Mild Cognitive Impairment: A Combined [¹⁸ F]FDG and [¹¹ C]-(R)-PK11195 PET Study (Tondo et al., J Alzheimers Dis. 2021)	117

DISCUSSION	123
MATERIALS AND METHODS	137
REFERENCES	150

ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

- ¹¹C, Carbon-11
- ¹⁸F, fluorine-18
- AD, Alzheimer's Disease
- ADNI, Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative
- ALS, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis
- ALSFRSr, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis Functional Rating Scale-Revised
- ANOVA, one-way analysis of variance
- APOE, apolipoprotein E
- APP, amyloid precursor protein
- AQP, Aquaporin
- ATP, Adenosine triphosphate
- BBB, Blood-Brain Barrier
- BOLD, blood oxygen level-dependent
- BvFTD, behavioral variant of Frontotemporal dementia
- C, Complement protein
- CBD, corticobasal degeneration
- CBS, corticobasal syndrome
- CCA, cerebral amyloid angiopathy
- CDR, Clinical Dementia Rating scale
- CNS, central nervous system
- CSF, cerebrospinal fluid
- DAMPs, damage-associated molecular patterns
- DED, Deuterium-l-deprenyl
- DLB, dementia with Lewy bodies
- DSM, Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders
- EOAD, early-onset Alzheimer's disease
- FAQ, Functional Assessment Questionnaire
- FDG, fluorodeoxyglucose

FCSRT, Free and Cued Selective Reminding Test

FTD, frontotemporal dementia

FTLD, frontotemporal lobe degeneration

FUS, fused in sarcoma

Gas6, Growth Arrest Specific 6

IADL, Instrumental Activities of Daily Living

IL, Interleukin

IFN, interferon

IWG, International Working Group

JAK, Janus Kinase

LATE, limbic-predominant age-related TDP-43 encephalopathy

LOAD, late-onset Alzheimer's disease

LPS, lipopolysaccharide

MAO-B, Monoamine oxidase-B

MAPT, microtubule-associated protein tau

MCI, mild cognitive impairment

MMSE, Mini Mental State Examination

MND, motor neuron disease

MNI, Montreal Neurological Institute

MPTP, 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine

MRI, magnetic resonance imaging

MSA, multiple system atrophy

NF-kB, nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells

NIA-AA, National Institute on Aging and Alzheimer's Association

NINCDS-ADRDA, National Institute of Neurological and Communicative Disorders and Stroke–Alzheimer's Disease and Related Disorders Association

NK, Natural Killer

NLR, nuclear oligomerization domain-like receptors

PAMPs, pathogen-associated molecular patterns

PART, primary age-related tauopathy

PCA, posterior cortical atrophy PD, Parkinson's disease PET, Positron Emission Tomography PiB, Pittsburgh compound B PPA, primary progressive aphasia PSEN1, presenilin 1 PSEN2, presenilin 2 PSP, progressive supranuclear palsy P-tau, hyperphosphorylated-tau RAGEs, receptors for advanced glycation end products SCD, Subjective Cognitive Decline SD, semantic dementia SPM, Statistical Parametric Mapping SOD1, superoxide dismutase 1 STAT, activator of transcription SUVr, Standard Uptake Value ratio TAMs, Tyro3-Axl-Mertk receptors TDP-43, TAR DNA-binding protein 43 TGF, Transforming Growth Factor Th, T helper lymphocyte TLR, Toll-like receptor TNF, Tumor Necrosis Factor TSPO, 18 kDa translocator protein Tregs, T regulatory cells TREM, triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells

T-tau, total-tau

LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES

FIGURES

Figure 1. Chronological alteration of clinical, cognitive, structural, metabolic ad biochemical changes in individuals with genetic Alzheimer's disease in relation to the expected onset of symptoms (source: Bateman *et al.*, 2012, open access).

Figure 2. Descriptive classification of individuals along the dementia continuum, combining the syndromic cognitive staging with biomarker alterations (source: Jack et *al.*, 2018a, open access).

Figure 3. Neuroimaging of the healthy brain versus Alzheimer's disease, with structural MRI, [¹⁸F]FDG-PET, amyloid-PET, tau-PET (source: van Oostveen *et al.*, 2021, open access).

Figure 4. Clinical-pathological classification of neurodegenerative disease characterized by abnormal deposition of misfolded proteins (source: Elahi *et al.*, 2017, open access).

Figure 5. Patterns of neurodegenerative changes associated with different Alzheimer's disease phenotypes (source: Elahi *et al.*, 2017, open access).

Figure 6. Schematic representation of the earliest and current classifications of microglia phenotypes (source: Werry *et al.*, 2019, open access).

Figure 7. Representation of neuroinflammatory responses generate by pathological misfolded protein deposition in proteinopathies (source: Golde *et al.*, 2013, open access). *Figure 8*. Main neuroinflammatory players and corresponding pathways involved in neurodegenerative changes in Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease and Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (source: Otani *et al.*, 2020, open access).

Figure 9. Specific single-subject [¹⁸F]FDG-PET hypometabolism patterns in Alzheimer's disease subtypes (source: Perani et al., 2020, PET Neuroimaging in Dementia Conditions. In: Dierckx R.A.J.O., Otte A., de Vries E.F.J., van Waarde A., Leenders K.L. (eds) PET and SPECT in Neurology. With permission from SPRINGER NATURE, License Number 5167300826174, License date Oct 13, 2021).

Figure 10. Amyloid-PET positivity in a single Alzheimer's disease patient (source: Perani et al., 2020, PET Neuroimaging in Dementia Conditions. In: Dierckx R.A.J.O., Otte A., de Vries E.F.J., van Waarde A., Leenders K.L. (eds) PET and SPECT in

Neurology. With permission from SPRINGER NATURE, License Number 5167300826174, License date Oct 13, 2021).

Figure 11. Tau-PET deposition patterns in Alzheimer's disease variants (source: Phillips *et al.*, 2018, open access).

Figure 12. Topographical distribution of TSPO overexpression in Alzheimer's disease clinical variants (source: Perani et al., 2020, PET Neuroimaging in Dementia Conditions. In: Dierckx R.A.J.O., Otte A., de Vries E.F.J., van Waarde A., Leenders K.L. (eds) PET and SPECT in Neurology. With permission from SPRINGER NATURE, License Number 5167300826174, License date Oct 13, 2021).

Figure 13. PET neuroimaging evidence of neurodegeneration, amyloid, tau and neuroinflammation in dementia spectra (source: Perani *et al.*, 2020, PET Neuroimaging in Dementia Conditions. In: Dierckx R.A.J.O., Otte A., de Vries E.F.J., van Waarde A., Leenders K.L. (eds) PET and SPECT in Neurology. With permission from SPRINGER NATURE, License Number 5167300826174, License date Oct 13, 2021).

Figure 14. Metabolic connectivity derangements in the default mode network in Alzheimer's disease (source: Carli *et al.*, 2021, open access).

Figure 15. Examples of single-subject [¹⁸F]FDG-PET SPM maps in Mild Cognitive Impairment individuals.

Figure 16. Hippocampal volume (left and right) in 120 MCI individuals with AD-like hypometabolism patter.

Figure 17. Examples of single-subject [¹⁸F]FDG-PET hypometabolic patterns (source: Tondo *et al.*, 2020a, Biomarker-based stability in limbic-predominant amnestic mild cognitive impairment, with permission from John Wiley and Sons, License Number 5167180514812, License date Oct 13, 2021).

Figure 18. Baseline and follow-up cognitive and functional comparison between the limbic-predominant group and the AD-like group (source: Tondo *et al.*, 2020a, Biomarker-based stability in limbic-predominant amnestic mild cognitive impairment, with permission from John Wiley and Sons, License Number 5167180514812, License date Oct 13, 2021).

Figure 19. Survival curves indicating the probability of clinical stability in subjects stratified according to [¹⁸F]FDG-PET patterns, and Receiving Operating Curves indicating the accuracy of [¹⁸F]FDG-PET single-subjects maps in predicting conversion

(source: Tondo *et al.*, 2020a, Biomarker-based stability in limbic-predominant amnestic mild cognitive impairment, with permission from John Wiley and Sons, License Number 5167180514812, License date Oct 13, 2021).

Figure 20. Single-subject explicative cases of hypometabolism patterns in the preclinical dementia groups.

Figure 21. Neuropsychological/Neuropsychiatric and metabolism correlations in the different factors emerging from the principal component analysis, in the whole preclinical dementia group and separately for each subgroup.

Figure 22. Single-subject maps of $[^{18}F]FDG-PET$ brain hypometabolism and $[^{11}C]PK11195-PET$ TSPO overexpression (source: Tondo *et al.*, 2020b, open access).

Figure 23. Interaction region between brain hypometabolism and microglia activation, with corresponding direct correlation (source: Tondo *et al.*, 2020b, open access).

Figure 24. Brain network interregional correlation analysis in the early-onset Alzheimer's disease group, showing network disruption in frontal regions compared with healthy controls connectivity analysis (source: Tondo *et al.*, 2020b, open access).

Figure 25. Single-subject patterns of brain hypometabolism and microglia activation (source: Tondo *et al.*, 2021, Brain Metabolism and Microglia Activation in Mild Cognitive Impairment: A Combined [¹⁸F]FDG and [¹¹C]-(R)-PK11195 PET Study", with permission from IOS Press, and in compliance with the "fair use" purpose).

Figure 26. DICE coefficient variability in single Mild Cognitive Impairment subjects with corresponding correlation at the single-subject level and based on the strength of overlap between microglia activation and brain hypometabolism (source: Tondo *et al.*, 2021, Brain Metabolism and Microglia Activation in Mild Cognitive Impairment: A Combined [¹⁸F]FDG and [¹¹C]-(R)-PK11195 PET Study", with permission from IOS Press, and in compliance with the "fair use" purpose).

TABLES

Table 1. Demographics, cognitive, functional, CSF and genetic features in the limbicpredominant amnestic MCI and the AD-like amnestic MCI groups (adapted from: Tondo *et al.*, 2020a, Biomarker-based stability in limbic-predominant amnestic mild cognitive impairment, with permission from John Wiley and Sons, License Number 5167180514812, License date Oct 13, 2021).

Table 2. Demographics, clinical and neuropsychological features in the preclinical dementia groups.

Table 3. Prevalence and severity of neuropsychiatric subsyndromes in the preclinical dementia groups.

Table 4. Rate of different hypometabolism patterns in the preclinical dementia groups.

Table 5. Neuropsychological and neuropsychiatric factors emerging from the principal component analyses.

Table 6. Demographics and neuropsychological data of each early-onset Alzheimer's disease patient (adapted from: Tondo et al., 2020b).

Table 7. Demographics and clinical features of each Mild Cognitive Impairment subject (adapted from: Tondo *et al.*, 2021, Brain Metabolism and Microglia Activation in Mild Cognitive Impairment: A Combined [¹⁸F]FDG and [¹¹C]-(R)-PK11195 PET Study", with permission from IOS Press, and in compliance with the "fair use" purpose).

INTRODUCTION

The Alzheimer's disease spectrum

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a neurodegenerative disorder progressively leading to cognitive decline, behavioral disturbances, and functional dependency. AD is the most common neurodegenerative disease, the most frequent etiology of dementia, and among the ten most common causes of death globally (Rana et al, 2021). Its prevalence is continuously increasing due to the progressive aging of the world's population since advanced age represents the greatest risk factor for AD. For these reasons, AD is now considered a healthcare burden of epidemic proportions, still lacking an effective diseasemodifying treatment (Crous-Bou et al, 2017). Furthermore, the irreversible progression of cognitive and behavioral disability produces a devasting socio-economic impact. An Italian cost-of-illness study estimated that the social burden of AD, considering public, patient, and caregiver costs reached about 20.000 euros per year, which were managed predominantly by AD patient families (Chiatti et al, 2015). The principal costs related to the management of people with dementia are associated with institutionalization, which represents an unrecoverable choice in about 50% of dementia cases after five years of disease and in up to 90% of cases after eight years of disease (Luppa et al, 2010). Risks prevention, early diagnosis, and accurate prognostic stratification are essential to contrast AD's massive healthcare, social and economic impact. To improve diagnostic workup and risk prevention strategies series of criteria for AD have been perfected in the last twenty years, primarily based on the pathological identification of amyloid- β pathology and tau neurofibrillary tangles. To date, the research on disease-modifying therapies for AD has focused primarily on lowering brain amyloid- β levels, but without reaching significant clinical benefit. However, due to the closer relationship between neurofibrillary tangles and cognitive impairment, targeting tau pathology might be clinically more relevant (Giacobini & Gold, 2013). Identifying neurodegenerative abnormalities at the earliest possible stage is even more compelling. The biological definition of AD motivated the recognition of a long pre-dementia stage, preceding the clinical appearance of symptoms, representing a potential fruitful therapeutic target (Dubois et al, 2016). In this pre-dementia stage, while pathological alteration can be already detectable, irreversible neurodegenerative processes may not yet occur, offering the possibility to change the disease course effectively.

The definition of Alzheimer's disease

At the beginning of the XX century, the psychiatrist and neuropathologist Alois Alzheimer, working in Frankfurt, met and subsequently studied a patient, Auguste Dieter, suffering from rapid cognitive decline, memory impairment, and personality changes. After her death, Alzheimer performed a detailed autoptic analysis of the brain. The results were described in 1906 at the meeting of Tubingen and later published in a report in 1911. The pathological examination revealed diffused plaques and tangles in the brain and extensive neuronal loss (Alzheimer, 1911). This Alzheimer's first description paved the way for the subsequent extensive characterization of the clinical entity, named AD, as Emil Kraepelin defined it in 1909. The association between pathological brain changes and the severity of dementia was reported many years later (Blessed et al, 1968), as well as the identification of the amyloid protein as the main constituent of the senile plaques and the tau as the principal protein in tau tangles (Glenner & Wong, 1984; Leoni et al, 2017). The National Institute of Neurological and Communicative Disorders and Stroke-Alzheimer's Disease and Related Disorders Association (NINCDS-ADRDA) workgroup proposed, in 1984, the first set of structured diagnostic criteria for AD (McKhann et al, 1984). According to this classification, "probable" AD dementia was defined as an insidious onset with progressive memory impairment and other cognitive decline, affecting autonomy in daily life activities. Other causes of dementia should have been excluded. At this stage, no laboratory tests could aid clinical diagnosis of probable AD, mainly based on medical history and neurological and neuropsychological examination. The "definite" diagnosis of AD dementia was confined to those cases with autopsy confirmation of neuropathological alterations characteristic of AD, namely the presence of neuritic plaques, neurofibrillary tangles, and neuronal loss. Therefore, the diagnostic criteria proposed a clinical-pathological definition of AD, limiting the clinical definition to the probable diagnosis (Knopman et al, 2019).

The revised version of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM), third edition, published in 1987, proposed a set of criteria for diagnosing

dementia of Alzheimer's type in line with the NINCDS-ADRDA definition. The classification included patients with memory impairment associated with other cognitive domains decline or personality changes, significantly affecting working or social activities and relationships (American Psychiatric Association, 1987).

The conceptualization of AD as a clinical-biological entity elaborated in the eighties was widely accepted and applied to clinical activity for over 30 years (Petersen, 2018). However, several diagnostic problems quickly emerged, pushing physicians and researchers to operate new classifications. By evaluating the diagnostic accuracy of the clinical diagnosis of AD, using the autoptic confirmation as the gold standard, the mean sensitivity was about 81% and the mean specificity of about 70%, suggesting that non-AD dementia shares with AD dementia many common features (Knopman *et al*, 2001). Early neuropathological reports showed that pure AD pathological changes, including neuritic plaques and neurofibrillary tangles, represented only a part of the clinically diagnosed cases of AD. Most cases showed the concomitant presence of additional pathology, indeed (Bowler *et al*, 1998). In addition, most aged people showed many distinct brain pathologies, including hippocampal sclerosis and cerebrovascular disease, associated with aging and not necessarily linked to AD and dementia (Nelson *et al*, 2011).

In 2000 the DSM-IV was revised, and diagnostic criteria for dementia of AD type still required the presence of a memory impairment associated with the decline in at least one cognitive domain, interfering with autonomy in activities of daily living and social functioning (American Psychiatric Association, 2000).

Seven years later, in 2007, the NINCDS-ADRDA criteria were firstly reviewed by the International Working Group (IWG) (Dubois *et al*, 2007). For the first time, *in vivo* biomarkers were proposed to support diagnosis and characterize the clinical-biological entity of AD in the predementia stage when symptoms do not configure the clear picture of overt dementia. The "prodromal AD" stage included a wide range of described entities, such as age-related memory impairment and cognitive decline, mild neurocognitive disorder, and mild cognitive impairment (MCI). These terms identified individuals with cognitive decline but normal functional abilities and global cognitive status, showing a higher risk than normal cognitive age-matched individuals to develop AD dementia, but not invariably progressing to dementia (Dubois *et al*, 2007). The need to identify and classify these subjects arose from the possibility that potential therapeutic strategies,

aiming at blocking the pathological cascade leading to neurodegeneration and dementia, would have been effective only in an early, not yet irreversible phase. However, the heterogeneity of the neuropathological substrate of the condition and consequent different prognostic evolution was evident at this stage. Most MCI showed AD neuropathological changes at the pathological exam, while some MCI manifested other brain abnormalities, including argyrophilic grain disease, hippocampal sclerosis, and vascular lesions (Petersen et al, 2006). Therefore, different clinical phenotypes were proposed, and the amnestic MCI was assumed to represent the prodromal phase of AD dementia (Petersen, 2004). The IWG revision of the NINCDS-ADRDA criteria aimed to identify individuals in the prodromal phase, improve AD diagnostic specificity, improve diagnosis of non-AD dementia, and characterize different AD phenotypes. The previous classification exalted the amnestic presentation of AD, which is the most frequent but not the only possible presentation, considering that AD can manifest with prominent language, executive, or visual-perceptive disturbances. In addition, the revision added the support of biomarkers, including both markers for neurodegeneration and pathology. The detection of medial temporal lobe atrophy on magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), the presence of abnormal cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) levels of amyloid- β or tau proteins, the identification of brain metabolism alterations with the fluorine-18 fluorodeoxyglucose ([¹⁸F]FDG)-Positron Emission Tomography (PET), added necessary support to the clinical diagnosis of AD (Dubois et al, 2007). The introduction of in vivo biomarkers for AD pathology represented a crucial step in AD definition. CSF detection of low levels of amyloid- β and high levels of total-tau (t-tau) and hyperphosphorylated-tau (p-tau) were recognized as measurements of brain amyloidosis, neurodegeneration, and tau tangles deposition (Mattsson et al, 2009). The PET tracer carbon-11 radioligand Pittsburgh compound B ($[^{11}C]PiB$) showed to be able to identify cortical deposition of amyloid- β plaques in living persons (Klunk et al, 2004). Very quickly, amyloid-β markers offered the possibility to obtain the AD diagnosis during life, allowing to extend the clinical suspect and the prognostic considerations to the very early stage of the disease (Knopman et al, 2019).

In 2010, the IWG proposed a new classification, defining AD as a spectrum, including patients with overt dementia and individuals with mild or no symptoms (Dubois *et al*, 2010). The AD spectrum included asymptomatic people at risk for developing dementia,

specifically showing biomarker's evidence of AD pathology, and pre-symptomatic people carrying monogenic AD mutations, who inevitably will develop AD dementia. In this revision, a clear distinction was proposed between the clinical diagnosis and disease pathology, considering that the evidence of AD pathological changes not necessarily coincides with the stage of AD dementia. In addition, the term "atypical AD" was proposed to identify patients with non-amnestic onset, namely the logopenic variant of primary progressive aphasia (PPA) (language), the posterior cortical atrophy (PCA) (visual), and the frontal AD variant (dysexecutive/behavioral). Finally, the term "mixed AD" was introduced to indicate patients with evidence of AD pathology plus a second pathobiological process (Dubois et al, 2010). The subsequent revision of the IWG criteria in 2014 detailed all these concepts, proposing the diagnosis of AD as a combination of clinical (amnestic dementia) and biological (biomarkers) evidence (Dubois et al, 2014). Amnestic dementia represented the typical AD. The biomarkers were classified in markers of amyloid pathology and downstream topographical markers, referring to markers of neuronal injury, including CSF t-tau, brain hypometabolism as detected by ¹⁸F]FDG-PET, neuronal loss as shown by MRI hippocampal atrophy. The definitions of prodromal AD (MCI without substantial impairment in daily life functioning) and asymptomatic at risk for AD completed the AD spectrum definition with the prodromal and preclinical phases (Dubois et al, 2014).

With the development and increased availability of biomarkers for AD, the National Institute on Aging and Alzheimer's Association (NIA-AA) proposed a theoretical model with subsequent revisions aiming to define the pathological changes of AD *in vivo* and antedating the development of clinical manifestations (Jack Jr *et al*, 2010a). Following the amyloid cascade hypothesis, this model proposed that amyloid- β deposition precede tau tangle formation and subsequent neurodegenerative changes, which can be detected by brain MRI and [¹⁸F]FDG-PET. Thus, the cognitive decline appears later over the disease stage, preceded by pathological and molecular alterations, and manifests initially with MCI and then with AD dementia. Adding tau pathology as a primary event in the cascade, this model has been further updated, specifying that amyloid- β and tau deposition may occur independently in AD but inevitably preceding neurodegeneration markers and symptoms onset (Jack Jr *et al*, 2013). This scheme was confirmed by studies in autosomal dominant AD, which is a rare inherited form of AD due to mutations in one

of three genes - amyloid precursor protein (APP), presenilin 1 (PSEN1), or presenilin 2 (PSEN2), representing less than 1% of AD cases and manifesting with early-onset dementia, generally at 30-50 years (Bateman et al, 2011). In genetic AD patients, CSF amyloid- β levels decline more than two decades before the expected onset of the symptoms, while cortical amyloid deposition as visualized by amyloid-PET can be detected later. Increased tau CSF levels, brain atrophy, and brain hypometabolism can be identified ten-to-fifteen years before the symptom's onset, while global cognitive impairment occurs within five years to the onset of symptoms (Bateman et al, 2012). Figure 1 represents the chronological alteration of biomarkers in inherited AD. In line with this evidence, in 2011, the NIA-AA formulated a diagnostic scheme based on the amyloid cascade hypothesis and the availability of biomarkers, proposing the conceptualization of the clinical continuum of AD (McKhann et al, 2011). The proposed classification identifies three phases: 1) the preclinical AD, where clinically unimpaired individuals show brain pathological changes, including amyloid deposition and neurodegeneration; 2) the prodromal AD, including MCI individuals, with a subtle cognitive decline but without impact on daily activity functioning; 3) the overt dementia phase (Jack Jr et al, 2011; McKhann et al, 2011; Albert et al, 2011; Sperling et al, 2011).

According to the NIA-AA criteria, AD is classified as a continuum in which biomarkers add certainty to the clinicopathological substrate. The biomarkers are used to identify the presence of amyloid and neurodegeneration changes, aiming to *in vivo* confirm that the clinical syndrome is due to AD pathology. They are critical in MCI individuals, where pathology influences prognosis and the evidence of abnormal brain amyloid load and neurodegeneration changes entails a diagnosis of MCI due to AD with a high likelihood (Albert *et al*, 2011). The definition of an AD continuum based on pathological and molecular evidence further sustained the view of AD as a biological construct.

In the same years, the DSM-V criteria rekindled the debate, highlighting the split between the clinical diagnosis of cognitive impairment and its etiology. The classification system employed "major neurocognitive disorder" to define the dementia stage and "mild neurocognitive disorder" to classify MCI individuals independently from the etiology. After the delineation of the clinical diagnosis, biomarkers were proposed to clarify the etiological diagnosis. In this classification, the first step, which is the clinical diagnosis, allows the identification of all the different forms of dementia, and further characterization is recommended for prognostic purposes (American Psychiatric Association, 2013).

The advent of tau-PET imaging, allowing to visualize *in vivo* brain tau pathology, further aided the possibility to detect AD pathology in living individuals. The NIA-AA developed and then encouraged the utilization of a biomarker-based classification system, the ATN. The ATN system recognizes three biomarkers groups based on the pathological and molecular processes that they can detect. "A" stands for amyloid and identifies the presence of brain amyloid plaques as detected by amyloid-PET or underlined by low CSF levels of amyloid-β. "T" stands for tau, referring to the evidence of increased p-tau levels in the CSF or increased tau tracer binding at the tau-PET imaging. "N" stands for neurodegeneration and indicates the neuroimaging evidence of neurodegenerative changes, both atrophy testified by MRI and hypometabolism detected by [¹⁸F]FDG-PET, or increased levels of CSF t-tau (Jack et al, 2016). Following the ATN scheme, in 2018, the NIA-AA proposed a structured research framework characterizing AD as a biological entity, with definitions applicable both at the symptomatic and at the pre-symptomatic stage (Jack Jr et al, 2018a). According to this framework, the term "AD" should be restricted to individuals with *in vivo* evidence of amyloid- β and tau pathology (positive biomarkers), regardless of the subject's clinical status. Abnormal amyloid- β without concomitant tau pathology does not configure AD, even if it may represent an AD prodromal stage. The framework classifies patients with dementia in different categories: a) patients with AD dementia if they show both amyloid and tau positivity, regardless of the presence of neurodegeneration; b) AD pathological change with dementia and AD with concomitant non-AD pathology in case of amyloid positivity, c) tau negativity, and respectively with absent or evident neurodegeneration; d) non-AD pathologic change with dementia in case of normal amyloid and tau or neurodegeneration positivity; e) normal AD biomarkers in case of absence of amyloid and tau pathology and neurodegeneration (Jack Jr et al, 2018a). This framework allows to separate the biological definition of AD from the clinical phenotype, thus extending the same classifications (AD, AD pathologic change, AD pathologic change with concomitant non-AD pathology, non-AD pathologic change, normal biomarkers) at the MCI condition and at the cognitively unimpaired individuals (see Figure 2). However, while the conceptual framework aimed to define the AD continuum as a biological entity, the clinical spectrum was not neglected. In order to aid the design of clinical trials, a numerical staging system was also elaborated. This classification system identified different stages for individuals along the AD continuum, namely showing AD pathological changes: 1) cognitively unimpaired individuals; 2) subjects with a subtle sign of cognitive impairment but normal global cognition, including individuals with subjective cognitive impairment without objective impaired performances on neuropsychological evaluation; 3) MCI; 4) mild dementia; 5) moderate dementia; 6) severe dementia (Jack Jr et al, 2018a). The ATN classification system again supports the clinical staging, since abnormalities in all biomarkers testify to a more advanced pathological stage. The rate of cognitive impairment in cognitively normal and impaired individuals showing biomarker alterations is significantly higher when compared with individuals with a normal biomarkers profile, confirming the prognostic value of the ATN system, the accuracy in staging individuals in the AD continuum, and its usefulness in screening participants for clinical trials (Caroli et al, 2015; Mormino et al, 2014; Allegri et al, 2020; Ebenau et al, 2020).



Figure 1. Chronological alteration of clinical, cognitive, structural, metabolic ad biochemical changes in individuals with genetic Alzheimer's disease in relation to the expected onset of symptoms (source: Bateman *et al.*, 2012).

		Cognitive stage		
		Cognitively Unimpaired	Mild Cognitive Impairment	Dementia
Biomarker Profile	A- T- (N)-	normal AD biomarkers. cognitively unimpaired	normal AD biomarkers with MCI	normal AD biomarkers with dementia
	A ⁺ T (N)	Preclinical Alzheimer's pathologic change	Alzheimer's pathologic change with MCI	Alzheimer's pathologic change with dementia
	$\mathbf{A}^{+} \mathbf{T}^{+} (\mathbf{N})^{-}$	Preclinical Alzheimer's disease	Alzheimer's disease with	Alzheimer's disease with dementia
	A+ T+(N)+		MCI(Frodional AD)	
	A* T (N)*	Alzheimer's and concomitant suspected non Alzheimer's pathologic change, cognitively unimpaired	Alzheimer's and concomitant suspected non Alzheimer's pathologic change with MCI	Alzheimer's and concomitant suspected non Alzheimer's pathologic change with dementia
	$A^{-} T^{+}(N)^{-}$ $A^{-} T^{-} (N)^{+}$ $A^{-} T^{+}(W^{+})$	non-Alzheimer's pathologic change, cognitively unimpaired	non-Alzheimer's pathologic change with MCI	non-Alzheimer's pathologic change with dementia

Figure 2. Descriptive classification of individuals along the dementia continuum, combining the syndromic cognitive staging with biomarker alterations (source: Jack *et al.*, 2018a).

The prodromal and preclinical phases of Alzheimer's disease

AD dementia still lacks curative therapy, and a discouraging high rate of failure for clinical trials in AD has been registered. Researchers raised the critical point of the wrong target and the wrong time to justify these disappointing results. Targeting the wrong pathological alteration means that amyloid- β deposition may be only part of the mechanisms leading to neurodegeneration and that it is not entirely clear which protein conformation (monomeric, oligomeric, fibrillar, amyloid- β plaques) should be attacked. Targeting the wrong time refers to the selected population, including individuals who already have manifested mild or minimal cognitive decline, whose neurodegenerative cascade is ongoing and already unstoppable (Mehta *et al*, 2017). For the latter reason, the last two decades of research focused on identifying individuals at risk for developing AD to provide potential candidates not yet affected by the neurodegenerative processes (Sperling *et al*, 2013).

The concept of MCI became widely accepted after the publication of the Mayo Clinic criteria in 1999. However, it was already identified as a transitional stage between normal aging and dementia in the late eighties, when stage 3 of the Global Deterioration Scale was used to describe subjects in the "predementia stage" (Reisberg *et al*, 1988). In the

original criteria of the Mayo Clinic, an individual with MCI complained about a subjective memory decline, testified by an objective impaired performance at the neuropsychological evaluation, without impact on daily functioning or configuring a dementia condition (Petersen et al, 1999). The subsequent revision of the criteria extended the MCI classification to people experimenting with a decline in cognitive domains other than memory, considering that MCI could be underlined by other etiologies than AD (Petersen, 2004). The proposed clinical classification of MCI aided in speculating the possible etiology and partially in predicting prognosis. The amnestic MCI, the most frequent type, traditionally indicated the prodromal stage of typical AD dementia, while the non-amnestic MCI possibly indicated other etiologies such as frontotemporal dementia (FTD) and dementia with Lewy bodies (DLB) (Petersen, 2016). This classification is excessively schematic: the onset of AD dementia can include cognitive deficit other than memory, such as language and frontal disturbances; amnestic MCI subjects do not necessarily progress to AD dementia, but they can convert to other types of dementia; most MCI subjects will never convert to dementia, and some of them will revert to normal cognition (Petersen, 2011). Biomarkers era aided the diagnostic and prognostic definition of MCI, and individuals with cognitive impairment not fulfilling the dementia criteria, but showing biomarkers abnormalities showed a high likelihood of developing AD dementia (Albert et al, 2011). Prognostic considerations are essential in evaluating MCI. MCI represents a frequent condition in the elderly, with an estimated overall prevalence of 12-18% in people aged more than 60 years and an estimated progression rate of 5% per year (Petersen, 2016). Several predictors of progression have been suggested and include biomarkers. The Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative (ADNI) is a longitudinal multicenter study aiming to develop clinical, imaging, biochemical, and genetic biomarkers for the early diagnosis of AD launched in 2004 (for up-to-date information, see www.adni-info.org). In the ADNI project, hundreds of individuals with MCI have been followed up for several years to track disease progression. Several studies employing the ADNI databases demonstrated that biomarkers positivity, and including abnormal brain amyloid and tau deposition, hippocampal atrophy, and temporoparietal hypometabolism was associated in MCI to progression to dementia (Prestia et al, 2013; Weiner et al, 2015; Varatharajah et al, 2019; Teng et al, 2020). Over decades the concept of MCI has shown to be helpful both in

clinical and research settings, but it is not exempt from criticisms. Controversies continue on the boundaries used to distinguish MCI from normal aging changes in cognitive function. There is enormous variability among studies in neuropsychological evaluation, cutoff scores, and availability of normative data to compare cognitive performances, influenced by age, educational status, and cultural tracts (Díaz-Mardomingo *et al*, 2017). In addition, psychometric evaluation should consider psychosocial factors, such as social isolation and loneliness, personality tract, and factors related to cognitive reserve (Sundström *et al*, 2020). The NIA-AA criteria for MCI proposed that scores on neuropsychological tests should be 1 to 1.5 standard deviation below the mean for the corresponding age and education matched controls, but without providing precise ranges and cutoff scores (Albert *et al*, 2011). Caution in definitions is needed due to the intersubjects' variability in baseline cognitive performances, which should represent the reference for detecting a potential cognitive decline compared to the previous cognitive and neuropsychological status.

In the last years, growing attention has been focused on the preclinical phase of dementia to improve early AD diagnosis and detect corresponding alterations as soon as possible. The preclinical dementia phase includes subjects between normal aging and MCI, characterized by subtle or absent objective cognitive decline but at risk for developing dementia (Dubois et al, 2016). The term Subjective Cognitive Decline (SCD) has been recently adopted to classify individuals previously labeled with a different lexicon, including Subjective Memory Complaints, Subjective Memory Impairment, Subjective Cognitive Impairment (Jessen et al, 2020). SCD defines a self-experienced decline in cognitive functions with performance within the normal range on standardized cognitive assessment (Jessen et al, 2014). The term "subjective" refers to the selfexperienced perception of a cognitive decline, regardless of the cognitive performance. "Cognitive" is extended to all cognitive domains and not limited to memory. "Decline" stands for a subjective impairment concerning a previous cognitive baseline status (Jessen et al, 2014). A self-experienced cognitive decline in one or more domains is frequent in older adults, ranging from 25 to 50% in people older than 65 years (van Harten et al, 2018; Hao et al, 2017; Sánchez-Benavides et al, 2018). SCD is most frequently a subjective memory complaint, and people suffering from depression or anxiety tend to over concern about their memory abilities (Si et al, 2020; Hill et al, 2016). Consequently, SCD individuals are more likely to manifest anxiety, depression, and neuroticism than subjects without complaints, resulting in poor quality of life (Jenkins et al, 2019). It can be challenging to make a precise differential diagnosis between pure SCD and people with concomitant neuropsychiatric and mood disorders concerning their memory. Therefore, emotional and behavioral aspects should always be considered in studies evaluating diagnostic and prognostic repercussions of the SCD condition. Further proof of this association is the co-occurrence of SCD with anxiety and depression associated with more severe present or longitudinal cognitive impact and with a higher risk of developing dementia (Pietrzak et al, 2015; Sabatini et al, 2021). In SCD, the risk of future cognitive decline increases when the subjective decline is related to memory, the onset of subjective disturbances date less than five years, the subjects is highly concerned about the subjective decline and search for medical help (Jessen et al, 2020). However, only 14% of SCD progress to dementia over a long follow-up, and less than one-third progress to the MCI condition (Mitchell & Shiri-Feshki, 2009). The SCD condition may be related to several etiologies, including AD and other neurodegenerative disorders, and the underlying pathological process influences progression (Si et al, 2020; Jessen et al, 2020). The biomarkers-profile assessment improves the etiological classification of SCD aiding the prediction of outcome. There is evidence that cognitive impairment in SCD is linked to low amyloid- β and high tau levels in CSF (van Harten *et al*, 2013). Brain atrophy in medial temporal and frontal regions is analogously associated with cognitive decline in SCD and predict progression to AD (Perrotin et al, 2015). In a similar vein, brain glucose metabolism defects in temporoparietal regions can be detected already in SCD and can predict clinical progression (Scheef et al, 2012). In summary, biomarker abnormalities increase the risk of progression to AD dementia (Jessen et al, 2014). Therefore, the ATN system applied to the SCD condition can be helpful to predict the future outcome. A recent longitudinal study investigating multiple biomarkers in a large sample of SCD, showed that most participants (56%) had normal biomarkers, while 18% fell within the AD continuum, showing abnormalities in both amyloid- β and tau. Among participants, SCD with amyloid- β positivity had a higher risk of progressing to dementia than participants with normal biomarkers, also showing a dose-response pattern related to the number of biomarkers affected (Ebenau et al, 2020).

Besides SCD, the term pre-MCI has been used to identify individuals with subtle cognitive decline, representing a decline from a previous level of function, not fulfilling the criteria for MCI (Storandt et al, 2006). The categorization of pre-MCI individuals highlights the discrepancy between a clinical judgment of MCI and neuropsychological performances within normal ranges (Duara et al, 2011). An operational definition was adopted to include participants in clinical studies, comprising individuals with a Clinical Dementia Rating scale (CDR) score of 0.5 and neuropsychological performances above -1.5 according to age and education norms, revealing subtle cognitive deficits (Duara et al, 2011). The pre-MCI classification does not include etiological considerations, and the prognostic importance of this construct still needs confirmations since pre-MCI may indifferently progress to AD, to other dementia, or not progress at all (Loewenstein et al, 2009). At 2-3 years, cognitive impairment progression has been reported for less than 30% of subjects, confirming the need for a multimodal approach to identify the potential risk/protective factors for cognitive decline in this population (Duara et al, 2011). The presence of neuropsychiatric symptoms, including behavioral and psychiatric disturbances, seems to be associated with the progression of cognitive decline (Ismail et al, 2016). Although extensive utilization of biomarkers in SCD and cognitively unimpaired elderly, several critical points should be addressed to correctly understanding data on the preclinical dementia stage. There is a need for a standard terminology and assessment, as proposed by the recent consensus on SCD (Jessen et al, 2020). Since SCD and pre-MCI represent heterogeneous populations, only a comprehensive assessment including neuroimaging, CSF measures, clinical and neuropsychological characterizations may improve accuracy in defining the clinical outcome (Si et al, 2020). The assessment of biomarkers of neurodegeneration and pathology in the SCD/pre-MCI categories combined with extended follow-up can be expected to provide helpful information about the risk profile by identifying subjects who are not on a trajectory to dementia, avoiding exposure to possible side effects of the tested treatment.

Biomarkers in Alzheimer's disease and other neurodegenerative disorders

Pathological protein deposition of amyloid- β in the senile plaques and tau protein in the neurofibrillary tangles are crucial in AD pathophysiology. The detection of these

pathological alterations, especially at the early stage of disease, contributes to diagnostic workup and prognostic stratification (Blennow & Zetterberg, 2018). Besides biomarkers of neuropathology, markers of neurodegenerative changes have been proposed to support AD diagnosis (Dubois et al, 2014). Biomarkers in the clinical setting are needed to improve the diagnostic workup of several neurodegenerative conditions. A timely diagnosis of AD and other neurodegenerative disorders is needed for prognostic consideration and to optimize patient management, with misdiagnosis causing poor treatments and resource consumption. Especially in the AD continuum, the early identification of individuals at risk of developing dementia allows the inclusion of subjects in clinical trials (Hansson, 2021). Studies in autosomal dominant AD forms showed that amyloid- β starts to accumulate decades before the onset of symptoms (Bateman et al, 2011). Tau deposition in neurofibrillary tangles, confined to the medial temporal lobe, is a common finding in individuals over 60 years, but in AD, it spreads to the cortical regions, possibly driven by amyloid- β pathology (Peng *et al*, 2020). Therefore, disease-modifying therapies targeting amyloid- β or tau are currently under evaluation, but results have been disappointing. Multiple biomarkers should be considered to avoid mistakes in subject selection for clinical trials, allowing for recognizing co-pathology and mixed pathology. In addition, the included biomarkers should have enough sensitivity and specificity in the prodromal or pre-symptomatic phase to detect alteration before irreversible neurodegeneration. Lastly, surrogate biomarkers should be developed to monitor response to therapy (Hansson, 2021). Currently, biomarkers of pathology in AD include measurement of amyloid- β and tau protein, while the most recognizable downstream biomarkers are represented by cortical atrophy, hypometabolism, and CSF neurofilaments.

Amyloid- β pathology can be detected by amyloid-PET or by CSF measurements. Amyloid-PET allows the visualization of insoluble amyloid- β fibrils aggregated in the senile plaques (Sabri *et al*, 2015; Clark *et al*, 2012). Amyloid- β plaques start to accumulate in neocortical association areas, preferentially in medial parietal and frontal regions (Gordon *et al*, 2018) (see **Figure 3**). The exclusionary role of amyloid-PET is unique, and a negative result excludes AD (Marcus *et al*, 2014). However, there is consistent evidence that amyloid-PET positivity can also be detected in cognitively normal elderly. Markedly positive cases are characterized by high amyloid-PET tracer binding in AD signature regions, such as the posterior cingulate cortex and the precuneus, but without producing a noticeable impact on cognitive functions. Overall, the rate of amyloid-PET positivity in normal adults ranges from 10 to 30% (Chételat *et al*, 2013). In addition, there is a considerable percentage of cognitively normal adults with borderline values of brain amyloidosis, whose scan positivity depends on the quantification method and the selected cutoff (Suppiah *et al*, 2019). The population with intermediate cortical amyloid load might represent another considerable percentage of cognitively normal elderly, estimated at 25%, further increasing uncertainty regarding the use of amyloid-PET as the only screening tool for clinical trials (Chételat *et al*, 2013).

In CSF, several amyloid- β configurations can be measured, including the amyloid- β 40 and amyloid- β 42 peptides. The ratio amyloid- β 42/amyloid- β 40 showed high concordance with amyloid-PET and predicted with high accuracy progression to AD in the MCI population (Mattsson *et al*, 2017). The levels of amyloid- β 42 decrease significantly in AD, even before detecting cortical amyloid deposition using amyloid-PET (Palmqvist *et al*, 2016). The main limitation in using CSF measurements is the collection of samples by lumbar puncture, which is an invasive procedure not widely available. The validation of the plasma dosage of amyloid- β 42 and amyloid- β 40 is ongoing, but plasma levels are less sensitive than CSF levels and more dependent on the selected cutoff (Schindler *et al*, 2019).

Tau pathology can be *in vivo* delineated with both PET and CSF analysis, similarly to amyloid-β. The accuracy of tau-PET in discriminating AD patients from controls resulted higher than MRI and its specificity higher than amyloid-PET and CSF measurement of amyloid-β42/amyloid-β40 (Ossenkoppele *et al*, 2018) (see **Figure 3**). Tau deposition correlates with cognitive impairment and neurodegeneration. Thus tau-PET imaging can differentiate AD phenotypes, showing temporoparietal tau pathology in the typical amnestic AD, posterior parietal and occipital tau deposition in the PCA, an asymmetric left temporal high signal in the logopenic variant PPA, widespread uptake sparing temporoparietal regions in the frontal variant of AD (Vogel *et al*, 2021). In CSF, the most widely studied tau species are the t-tau and p-tau. P-tau is elevated in AD and not in other neurodegeneration (Blennow & Zetterberg, 2018). P-tau can also be measured in plasma, showing high accuracy in AD diagnosis (Palmqvist *et al*, 2020) and predicting AD

progression in MCI samples (Janelidze *et al*, 2020), and also being correlated with the cortical deposition of senile plaques and neurofibrillary tangles (Mattsson-Carlgren *et al*, 2021). However, due to the lack of unquestionability, plasma markers of pathology are not currently recommended in clinical practice (Dubois *et al*, 2021).

Markers of neurodegeneration include MRI, [¹⁸F]FDG-PET, and fluid biomarkers. Structural MRI is widely used to assess patterns of brain atrophy and to visualize regional neuronal loss. The earliest neurodegeneration signs in AD can be detected in the medial temporal lobe, the entorhinal cortex, the hippocampus, and para-hippocampal structures (Lombardi et al, 2020) (Figure 3). Neuronal damage in the hippocampus manifests as a reduction of hippocampal volume. Therefore, several methods have been developed to provide a volumetric measure of this region in AD (van Oostveen & de Lange, 2021). Reduction in hippocampal volume represents an early marker of AD pathology, even if not specific for AD (Vijayakumar & Vijayakumar, 2013). In addition, also normal brain aging is associated with reduced brain volume, not affecting cognitive functions (Fjell et al, 2014). This aspect imposes caution when using normality volume thresholds. Hippocampal volume reduction starts years before symptoms onset, and the detection of abnormal atrophy in this region is a sensitive marker for AD in cognitively normal elderly (Apostolova et al, 2010). The segmentation of the hippocampus may be obtained with manual or automatic methods. Automatic segmentation allows defining normative data and cutoff for normality and pathology and favors the reproducibility of results (De Francesco et al, 2021). FreeSurfer is a software providing accurate and reliable quantification of the hippocampal volume (Fischl, 2012). After normalizing the intracranial volume, single-subjects specific hippocampal volume can be compared to the reference volume of a population of individuals with normal cognition. This method allows identifying individuals below the fifth percentile of the normal hippocampal volume population, thus considered to have abnormal hippocampal volume and at risk for cognitive impairment (De Francesco et al, 2021).

[¹⁸F]FDG-PET is suitably used in clinical practice due to its potential in revealing specific patterns of neurodegenerative changes, underlined by hypometabolism brain regions, in different neurodegenerative conditions. However, the diagnostic accuracy of [¹⁸F]FDG-PET depends on the employed methods to quantify brain metabolism signals (Chételat *et al*, 2020). In AD, it has been consistently reported that brain hypometabolism

correlated with brain atrophy and is associated with tau deposition, reflecting neurodegenerative changes (Figure 3).

Several fluid biomarkers resulted useful to reveal neurodegeneration *in vivo*, including t-tau and neurofilaments, which are detectable both in CSF and in blood and are elevated in case of axonal degeneration, especially in AD, Parkinson's Disease (PD), FTD, and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) (Oosterveld *et al*, 2020; Ashton *et al*, 2021). CSF levels of neurofilaments can be normalized by suitable disease-modifying treatment in multiple sclerosis, thus representing a potential marker to monitor response to therapy (Delcoigne *et al*, 2020).

Biomarkers for neurodegenerative conditions other than AD showed promising results but still need further confirmation. Neurofilaments in ALS have been used to reveal neurodegenerative changes, and their levels are constantly elevated in CSF of patients with motor neuron disease, but still, they cannot be used for diagnostic purposes (Li et al, 2016). In the α -synuclein spectrum, the measurement of α -synuclein in fluid biomarkers may have diagnostic potential. In CSF, α -synuclein levels are decreased overall in PD, DLB and multiple system atrophy (MSA), but with insufficient accuracy in discriminating patients from healthy controls or other neurodegenerative disorders (Parnetti *et al*, 2019). Research on more precise α -synuclein detection essays is ongoing, also aiming to differentiate between different parkinsonian syndromes linked to different α-synuclein conformations (Singer et al, 2020). However, the lack of PET tracer to detect cortical diffusion of Lewy bodies in living patients is still a limitation. Currently, there are no reliable biomarkers for non-AD tauopathies or other brain misfolded protein aggregates. The development of blood-based markers is hugely encouraging since they could potentially dramatically reduce costs for screening candidates in clinical trials and enlarge the studied population. The high expenditure of time and resources is the main limitation in the simultaneous use of multiple methods to characterize neurodegenerative diseases, which can be delineated with spectacular accuracy by multimodal approaches, as shown in **Figure 3**. Multimodal technique studies highlighted that the combination of several biomarkers may improve diagnostic and prognostic accuracy, and the correspondence between different markers of pathology and neurodegeneration help in revealing mechanisms leading to neurodegeneration. Implementing multiple, reliable, cost-effective, and accessible biomarkers needs further improvements, specific

standardization of tests and cutoff, the development of standard operating procedures, the elaboration of appropriate-use criteria, validation in longitudinal studies (Hansson, 2021). All these steps are essential for the development and monitoring of disease-modifying therapies.



Figure 3. Neuroimaging of the healthy brain versus Alzheimer's disease, with structural MRI, [¹⁸F]FDG-PET, amyloid-PET, tau-PET (source: van Oostveen et al., 2021).

Controversies about the biological definition of Alzheimer's disease

The NIA-AA framework represented a fundamental shift in AD definition and diagnosis. However, the pure biological definition of AD has several criticisms. The most recent recommendations of the IWG on the clinical diagnosis of AD discuss these critical issues and define AD as an indivisible clinical and biological diagnosis, in which the specific clinical phenotype accompanies the biological evidence of AD pathology (Dubois *et al*, 2021). There are several reasons for considering crucial the integration between clinical picture and biomarker alterations. The progressive aging of the world population provoked an increased burden due to AD and other neurodegenerative dementia (Brayne & Miller, 2017). The availability of *in vivo* biomarkers increased the diagnostic accuracy of these neurodegenerative conditions. There is now considerable evidence that AD can be associated with other neuropathology conditions, such as α -
synuclein deposition, vascular alterations, non-AD tau pathology (especially argyrophilic grain disease), TAR DNA-binding protein-43 (TDP-43) accumulation (Robinson et al, 2018; Karanth et al, 2020). Co-pathology in AD dementia is particularly frequent, considering that pure AD pathology as revealed by autoptic examination is responsible for about one-third of clinically suspected AD (Robinson et al, 2018). In individuals with high cortical amyloid load, mixed pathology or other pathological proteins deposition can be the main responsible for the clinical symptoms (Karanth et al, 2020; Schoemaker et al, 2021). On the other hand, amyloid- β pathology can be associated with other neurodegenerative conditions, including PPA, DLB and FTD (Kantarci et al, 2017; Bergeron et al, 2018; Perry et al, 2017). Besides pathological overlap, blurred clinical presentations may be possible. The amnestic phenotype is not exclusive of AD, and it can be the primary clinical disturbance in other neuropathological entities, including DLB, cerebral amyloid angiopathy (CAA), the limbic-predominant age-related TDP-43 encephalopathy (LATE), and vascular dementia (Schoemaker et al, 2021; Nelson et al, 2019; Moylett et al, 2019). In particular, the recently characterized LATE has been proposed to be the primary etiology of memory impairment in older individuals with or without concomitant amyloidopathy (Nelson et al, 2019). In addition, isolated amnesia may be the unusual presentation of several tauopathies, such as FTD, corticobasal degeneration (CBD), progressive supranuclear palsy (PSP), and primary age-related tauopathy (PART) (Bell et al, 2019; Sakae et al, 2020; Hornberger & Piguet, 2012; Brown et al, 2010). Hence, in all these conditions, amyloid- β biomarker positivity is not necessarily a synonym of AD. Coherently, uncommon phenotypes of AD should not be classified as having AD, even when showing the biomarkers evidence of amyloid- β and tau pathology, considering that other pathology substrates may be responsible for the clinical picture. The lack of a sharp and unquestionable biological classification becomes critical when defining the preclinical stage of AD due to the possibility of novel therapeutic strategies targeting AD pathology before the onset of symptoms. Even when presenting both amyloid- β and tau pathological alteration, individuals without cognitive impairment are not invariably expected to develop AD dementia (Jack et al, 2019; Hanseeuw et al, 2019). This is particularly true with advancing age, which is associated with an increased rate of amyloid- β pathology (Braak *et al*, 2011). Most elderly showing AD pathological changes will never develop dementia due to favorable lifestyle, genetic,

and other brain factors preventing cognitive decline (Arenaza-Urquijo & Vemuri, 2018). In all these conditions, amyloidopathy is not sufficient to define AD without clinical correspondence (Dubois *et al*, 2021).

Other practical issues impose limitations to the solely biomarker-based definition of AD. There are several methodological caveats, and the principal regards thresholding normality and pathological level of markers. In most cases, the definition of a binary threshold is not accurate enough since both amyloid- β and tau deposition represent a continuum rather than a dichotomic variable. This assumption is testified by the presence of a small amount of amyloid- β pathology in middle-aged people without cognitive impairment that can have subtle or absent brain structural and functional changes (Milà-Alomà et al, 2021). In addition, laboratory differences in CSF analysis or the employment of different PET tracers impede the definition of a universally validated cutoff for measures of amyloid- β and tau pathology. The problem to identify a clear threshold regards not only the biological but also the clinical definitions. Normality thresholds in psychometric evaluation can be lowered to detect early or subtle deficits. However, this approach implies a loss of specificity (Dubois et al, 2021). Lastly, the use of CSF analysis or PET scan for clinical purposes implies high costs, and it is not universally accessible worldwide (Ritchie et al, 2017). Some ethical considerations need to be addressed concerning biomarkers positivity in people with normal cognition. The search for markers of AD pathology in cognitively unimpaired individuals is not recommended in clinical practice due to the unsure clinical progression to dementia, the absence of modifiable risk factors, and the lack of curative therapies (Guerra et al, 2015).

Other major forms of neurodegenerative dementia

Neurodegenerative diseases are a wide range of brain disorders characterized by progressive neuronal loss triggered by different anatomopathological alterations. The recognizable pathobiological mechanism can lead to a specific neurodegenerative disorder. However, both *post-mortem* and *in vivo* studies employing biomarkers showed that the same neuropathological mechanism could trigger different clinical phenotypes. On the other hand, similar clinical syndromes can be due to different underlying mechanisms of neuropathological alterations. This evidence promoted a conceptual

classified spectrum-based approach, where neurodegenerative diseases. as proteinopathies, belong to a spectrum characterized by the deposition of specific pathological protein aggregates (Perani et al, 2019a; Elahi & Miller, 2017). For neurodegenerative dementia, this approach identifies six main groups of proteinopathies, including the amyloidopathy, microtubule-associated protein tau (MAPT) pathology, TDP-43, fused in sarcoma (FUS) protein, α -synuclein, and prion protein (Elahi & Miller, 2017). Furthermore, the presence of pathological protein deposition usually anticipates the clinical onset of symptoms by years, theoretically providing the possibility to identify pathological alterations indicative for neurodegenerative dementia in a preclinical phase. Figure 4 represent a clinic-pathological classification of proteinopathies.

AD, the most frequent neurodegenerative dementia, is pathologically characterized by the extracellular deposition of amyloid- β plaques and the intracellular accumulation of tau protein neurofibrillary tangles (Braak et al, 2011). The typical AD manifests with insidious onset of memory deficits, with progressive involvement of other cognitive domains, including language, visuospatial and executive functions (McKhann et al, 2011). In addition, atypical presentations can be possibly related to AD pathology, which are the PCA, dominated by visuospatial and perceptual disturbances, the logopenic variant PPA, characterized by impaired naming, word-finding disruption, and working memory deficit, and the frontal AD variant, mainly characterized by executive and behavioral disturbances (Dubois et al, 2014). The various clinical syndromes are associated with a specific topographical distribution of the neurodegenerative changes (see Figure 5). Typical AD is associated with neurodegeneration in medial temporal lobe and temporo-parietal regions. The logopenic variant PPA presents neuronal loss in the posterior perisylvian area, usually in the left hemisphere. PCA is characterized by neurodegeneration in the occipital and posterior parietal regions. The frontal AD variant shows degenerative changes in temporo-parietal and frontal regions. Furthermore, based on the age of onset of cognitive deficit, AD patients can be classified in late-onset AD (LOAD), the typical amnestic phenotype classically starting later than 65 years, and earlyonset AD (EOAD), when the onset occurs before 65 years. The latter phenotype is usually characterized by faster disease progression, frequent atypical onset, and more severe neuropathology than the LOAD phenotype (Mendez, 2017).

Frontotemporal lobe degeneration (FTLD) is an umbrella term including several pathological alterations causing neurodegeneration within the frontal and temporal lobes of the brain. The term comprises FTD, the atypical parkinsonism PSP and CBD, and the complex FTD associated with Motor Neuron Disease (FTD-MND) (Lashley et al, 2015). Tau and TDP-43 aggregates cause most FTLD cases. Intracellular FUS deposits can be found in fewer cases (Mackenzie et al, 2010). Even if each pathological substrate is generally associated with a specific disorder, overlap may exist. Therefore, tauopathies can be classified according to the specific tau conformation. Six isoforms of tau are present in the human brain, consisting of three repeats (3R) or four repeats (4R) of the microtubules-binding domain. In AD, there is an equal ratio of 3R:4R tau. In PSP, CBD, and argyrophilic grain disease, the most predominant pathology is the 4R tauopathy. FTD presents variable pathology, and Pick's disease is a 3R predominant tauopathy (Irwin, 2016). Genetics plays a fundamental role in the development of FTLD. One-third of patients with FTD have a family history of dementia. The most frequent mutations associated with the development of FTLD include C9orf72, progranulin, TDP-43 mutations, and MAPT mutations which provoke tau pathology. FTD-MND is the most heritable subtype (Ghasemi & Brown, 2018). Clinically, there are three principal FTD syndromes, characterized by progressive development of executive and behavioral disturbances and impaired motor and language abilities, representing the most frequent neurodegenerative dementia in people under 65 years (Bang et al, 2015). Specifically, the behavioral variant of FTD (bvFTD) is the most frequent clinical syndrome, characterized by behavioral and mood disturbances associated with deficits in executive functions; two language syndromes can be recognized, the non-fluent/agrammatic variant of the PPA, characterized by non-fluent speech, agrammatism, and phonemic errors, and semantic dementia (SD), dominated by deficits in word recognizing and understanding and often associated with behavioral abnormalities (Neary et al, 1998). Neuropathologically, bvFTD can be highly heterogeneous, including tau, TDP-43, and FUS aggregates, while SD is strictly associated with TDP-43 (type C) inclusions (Mann & Snowden, 2017). When motor disturbances are the main sign, PSP, CBD or FTD-MND should be suspected. FTD-MND represent about 15% of FTD cases, clinically characterized by behavioral and executive disturbance associated with ALS manifestations, which include muscle weakness, fasciculations, spastic tone, hyperreflexia, dysarthria, dysphagia, and respiratory failure, due to the degeneration of motor neurons in the brain and the spinal cord (Olney *et al*, 2017). PSP is atypical parkinsonism characterized by a rigid-akinetic syndrome with impaired balance, early falls, vertical supranuclear gaze palsy, and bulbar disturbances, such as dysarthria and dysphagia. PSP patients often manifest behavioral, neuropsychiatric, and cognitive disorders, such as emotional lability, anxiety, depression, apathy, impulsivity, and executive dysfunction (Rowe *et al*, 2021). CBD is pathologically defined as a tauopathy, whose most common presentation is the corticobasal syndrome (CBS). CBS is characterized by a rigid-akinetic syndrome associated with limb apraxia, dystonia, and cognitive signs, frequent acalculia, visuospatial deficits, and alien limb phenomenon (Armstrong *et al*, 2013). The clinical picture configuring CBS can also be caused by AD pathology. Thus, it is not trivial to differentiate between the pathological disorder, CBD, and CBS's clinical disorder. Other common manifestations of CBD include the non-fluent variant PPA, a behavioral syndrome, and PSP (Constantinides *et al*, 2019).

The α -synuclein spectrum includes PD, PD dementia, DLB, and MSA, sharing the same neuropathology, namely deposition of α -synuclein in the intracellular aggregates called Lewy bodies (Brás *et al*, 2020). The deposition of α -synuclein follows a precise scheme in each synucleinopathy, affecting the dopaminergic pathways in PD, widely involving cortical areas in PD dementia and DLB, hitting the oligodendrocytes in cortical and subcortical regions in MSA (McCann et al, 2014). All a-synucleinopathies are characterized by common symptoms, including motor disturbances related to extrapyramidal dysfunction and several non-motor signs associated with autonomic impairment and cognitive and neuropsychiatric disturbances (Brás et al, 2020). PD has been considered a pure motor disorder for many years, not associated with cognitive decline. However, recent and substantial evidence suggests that subtle or minimal cognitive impairment can be present at the onset of PD in about 20% of patients, and about 80% of patients will develop cognitive dysfunction over the disease course (Aarsland et al, 2009; Dubbelink et al, 2014). Cognitive decline in PD can be heterogeneous and primarily involves attention and executive functions, but it can be associated with impairment in memory and visuospatial abilities (Fang et al, 2020). PD dementia is a late manifestation of PD affecting up to 80% of PD patients after 20 years of disease. From a clinical perspective, PD dementia and DLB are challenging to distinguish. Historically, the main difference between the two disorders has been the onset of cognitive disturbances, early (within one year) for the DLB and late for the PD dementia, but exceptions may exist (Jellinger & Korczyn, 2018). In addition, DLB core features, which include cognitive fluctuations, visual hallucinations, and parkinsonism, may be present also in PD dementia (Jellinger & Korczyn, 2018). Lastly, in PD dementia, neuropsychiatric disturbances are more common than in DLB and include apathy, depression, and anxiety appear more commonly than in DLB patients, while irritability, behavioral disturbances, and neuroleptic hypersensitivity are frequent in DLB (Fang *et al*, 2020). MSA is characterized by prominent autonomic disturbances associated with akinetic-rigid parkinsonism or cerebellar ataxia, respectively, due to basal ganglia or cerebellar involvement. While dementia has been considered a non-supporting feature in MSA for many years, consistent evidence showed a wide range of cognitive symptoms during the disease course, including executive dysfunctions as the most common presentation, often associated with memory and visuospatial disturbances (Stankovic *et al*, 2014).

Prion diseases are a rare group of neurodegenerative conditions associated with rapidly progressive and invariably fatal dementia. Neuronal loss is determined by the toxic effect of the brain prion protein (PrP^C, where "C" stands for cellular protein), which assumes an abnormal misfolded conformation (PrP^{Sc} where "Sc" stands for scrapie, the prion disease of sheep and goats) (Colby & Prusiner, 2011). Prion dementias can be sporadic, genetic, or acquired diseases. About 90% of cases are the sporadic Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease, about 10% are genetic and include the familial Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease, the Gerstmann-Straussler-Scheinker syndrome, and the Fatal Familial Insomnia, and less than 1% are acquired cases and include the variant of the Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease, iatrogenic Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease, the Kuru (Geschwind, 2015). Among these disorders, the most common is the sporadic Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease, which is clinically characterized by the subacute onset of rapidly progressive dementia associated with myoclonus, visual or cerebellar disturbances, pyramidal or extrapyramidal signs, and akinetic mutism. Cognitive deficits include memory disturbances, aphasia, executive and visuospatial deficits, apraxia, decreased alertness (Tee et al, 2018). The detection of brain PrPSc allows definite diagnosis; however, co-pathology may also exist in prions disease, where amyloid- β deposition, tau pathology, and microglia activation have been reported in preclinical, *post-mortem* and *in vivo* studies (Iaccarino *et al*, 2018b, 2018a; Rossi *et al*, 2019; Day *et al*, 2018).

The classification of neurodegenerative dementia in proteinopathies aims to facilitate the diagnostic framework and reveal common neurodegeneration mechanisms (see **Figure 4**). However, patients with different neurodegenerative dementias may present similar clinical phenotypes, making the diagnostic workup challenging. In this vein, the biomarker era opened a new possibility in defining pathological etiologies of neurodegenerative disorders. Thus, tools able to underline, at the same time, specific protein deposition and other molecular and biological processes, such as PET, represent crucial instruments in supporting *in vivo* diagnosis of several cognitive disorders.



Figure 4. Clinical-pathological classification of neurodegenerative disease characterized by abnormal deposition of misfolded proteins (source: Elahi et al., 2017).



Figure 5. Patterns of neurodegenerative changes associated with different Alzheimer's disease phenotypes. Temporo-parietal regions are mainly involved in the typical late-onset AD. The logopenic PPA is characterized by neuronal loss involving the parietal lobe and the perisylvian region. The PCA shows neurodegenerative changes involving the posterior parietal and occipital regions. The frontal AD variant is characterized by coupled neuronal dysfunction in the AD signature regions, namely temporo-parietal cortices, and in frontal lobes (source: Elahi et al., 2017).

Neuroinflammation and Neurodegeneration

Neurodegenerative diseases represent a wide range of brain disorders characterized by progressive, inexorable neuronal loss and neuronal death starting in specific regions of the CNS. The neuronal death represents an irreversible event in the neurodegenerative process since neurons are unable to regenerate. Despite remarkable progress in understanding the pathogenic mechanisms underlying neurodegeneration, a complete and clear picture is far to achieve. Several environmental factors, lifestyle, and genetic, may be involved. At the pathological level, neurodegenerative diseases are characterized by abnormal protein deposition, exaggerated oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, and dysregulation in neuroinflammatory processes (Chitnis & Weiner, 2017). Neuroinflammation can be primarily considered a protective mechanism, aiming at repairing damaged tissue, eliminating pathogens, removing abnormal protein deposits and cellular debris (Comi & Tondo, 2017). Neuroinflammatory responses involve several immune and inflammatory cells, including microglia, astrocytes, lymphocytes, mast cells, and inflammatory molecules, such as cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors (Guzman-Martinez et al, 2019). While initially protective, chronic and sustained activation of neuroinflammatory cells provokes detrimental consequences, which reflect on neuronal dysfunction, synaptic degeneration, and neuronal death, the basis of neurodegeneration. Inflammatory responses in CNS become persistent and deleterious depending on endogenous or environmental factors, such as genetic mutations, aging, brain disorders including trauma, stroke or infections (Stephenson et al, 2018). It has been suggested that neuroinflammation may drive neurodegeneration through several mechanisms, counting apoptosis caspase-mediated, necroptosis (which is independent of the caspase activation), autophagy, retrograde degeneration, Wallerian degeneration, demyelination, and astrogliopathy (Chitnis & Weiner, 2017). Regardless of the pathogenic mechanisms, neuroinflammation has been associated with promoting neurodegeneration in several neurodegenerative diseases, especially in AD, PD, and ALS. The presence of glial cells in specific regions affected by neurodegenerative changes testifies that neuroinflammation is coupled to neurodegeneration, even if this relationship has not been fully elucidated yet.

The Central Nervous System as an immune-privileged organ

Specific features of the Central Nervous System (CNS), including the presence of the Blood-Brain Barrier (BBB), the absence of a lymphatic system, and peculiar regional immune cells, the microglia, led to the belief that the brain represented an immune-privileged site. However, this concept is only partly true, and evidence from the past decades shows that a complex interplay between central and peripheral innate and adaptative inflammatory responses regulates brain neuroinflammation, which cannot be considered an isolated mechanism (Bettcher *et al*, 2021).

The BBB is a diffusion barrier regulating the transfer of cells and molecules from the blood to the brain. Endothelial cells, astrocytes, and pericytes contribute to form this diffusion barrier, which selectively hampers the passage of most blood-originated substances, participating in brain homeostasis and regulating efflux and influx transfer (Sharma *et al*, 2018). The restrictive access to brain parenchyma by leukocytes and antibodies is finely regulated, and it is not absolute: several types of stimuli can modify the permeability of the BBB, including various inflammatory mediators whose production is increased in brain injury (Mizee & de Vries, 2013). BBB disruption causes influx into the CNS of neurotoxic molecules and inflammatory cells, facilitating neuronal injury, synaptic dysfunction, and neurodegeneration (Sharma *et al*, 2018).

The Glymphatic system is a recently characterized system promoting clearance of waste proteins and metabolites from the CNS. It favors the distribution to the brain of critical metabolic compounds, including glucose, amino acids, lipids, and neurotransmitters (Benveniste *et al*, 2020). A continuous interchange between the CSF and the interstitial fluid is guaranteed throughout this system, facilitating the clearance of interstitial solutes to the perivenous drainage structure. The glymphatic system is of particular interest for research in neurodegenerative disease, and especially in AD. Since its initial description, it was evident that the elimination of β -amyloid would be favored by an efficient glymphatic system (Iliff *et al*, 2012). In addition, a peculiar feature of the glymphatic system is that its functions are carried out essentially during sleep. Thus, sleep serves vital functions, facilitating the elimination of potentially neurotoxic molecules, including β -amyloid (Cordone *et al*, 2019). This is of crucial importance: in a mouse model of AD, sleep was associated with a 60% increase in the interstitial brain space,

reflecting an increased rate of convective exchange from the CSF to the interstitial space and resulting in accelerated clearance of β -amyloid (Xie *et al*, 2013).

Alterations of the BBB and abnormalities in the glymphatic system functions provoke the accumulation of neurotoxic molecules and stimulate an inflammatory response. The production of neurotoxin cytokines activates resident inflammatory cells. In addition, the innate immune response can participate in the reaction to the insults, producing infiltration into the CNS of macrophages, neutrophils, and lymphocytes. Thus, when the immune-privileged condition is lost, the CNS becomes the scene of deleterious neuroinflammatory responses (Stephenson *et al*, 2018).

The innate and adaptive immunity in the Central Nervous System

All cells populating the CNS can contribute to the neuroinflammatory response, either directly or producing factors able to modify the environment in which the same cells act. However, innate immunity, which represents the first line of immune defense, is centered on the activity of the glial cells. Glial cells include astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, and microglia, which perform their activity primarily to support and sustain neurons.

Microglia are the primary resident innate immune cells of the CNS and are ubiquitously distributed in the brain. They play an essential role in homeostasis and host defense by detecting changes in the environment, migrating to damaged sites, phagocyting cellular debris, participating in myelin maintenance, and reacting against pathogenic stimuli (Kwon & Koh, 2020). Thus, microglia are primarily phagocytic cells providing surveillance and scavenging function, but they also take part in synaptic remodeling by engulfing discarded material and mediating synaptic pruning, which is a fundamental process in synaptic maturation (Paolicelli *et al*, 2011). During developmental phases, a deficit in microglia results in abnormalities in synaptic transmission, functional brain connectivity, and consequent neurodevelopmental and neuropsychiatric disorders such as autism, repetitive-behavioral and social interaction disturbances (Ma *et al*, 2014). Microglia can identify micro-environmental changes throughout a specific system, the "sensome", which allows the detection of endogenous ligands and pathogens, and thus modulates the specific immune response (Hickman *et al*, 2013). Several kinds of insult can activate microglia, which respond to the environment

by shifting into pro-inflammatory or anti-inflammatory phenotypes and in turn sustain or switch off neuroinflammatory response, modulating the production of cytokines, interleukins (IL), adhesion, and other inflammatory molecules (Heneka et al, 2015). Microglia express receptors can recognize pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs). These signals are activated by the presence of damage in a tissue or by external pathogens, and they can be actively secreted by cells or released after cell damage and death to activate the immune system (Stephenson et al, 2018). The most recognized PAMPs are the Gram-negative lipopolysaccharide (LPS) cell-surface antigen and other bacterial lipopeptides, while DAMPs include endogenous molecules such as nuclear DNA, the adenosine triphosphate, IL-1, and amyloid-β (Venegas & Heneka, 2017). PAMPs and DAMPs are ligands for the pattern recognition receptors, a large receptors family including the scavenger receptors and the Toll-like receptors (TLRs), mainly expressed on the plasma membrane, and the nuclear oligomerization domain-like receptors (NLRs), which are usually expressed in the cytoplasm (Kigerl et al, 2014). Microglia cells respond to endogenous and exogenous stimuli and modulate their activity depending on the stimulus, the activated pathway, the disease, and the disease phase. Thus, their activation involves multiple mechanisms and possibly results in multiple phenotypes (Heneka et al, 2015). Microglia are usually schematically classified as pro-inflammatory (M1) and anti-inflammatory (M2). M1 cells act in a pro-inflammatory environment characterized by increased levels of tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α , IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-12, IL-18, which are predominant in chronic inflammation. IL-4, IL-10, IL-13, and the Transforming Growth Factor (TGF)- β , instead, are predominant in the anti-inflammatory state. In this state the M2 phenotype is mainly expressed, and phagocytic activity of microglia is increased. These two opposite states represent only the polar extremes of microglia activation. Microglia react to different types of neuronal injury throughout the expression of multiple phenotypes, able to modify the microenvironment secreting specific factors (Bachiller et al, 2018). Some of these phenotypes play a protective role, maintaining homeostasis and remodeling synapses; some play harmful functions, such as enhancing local chronic neuroinflammation; others are in a quiescent, resting state; others may play multiple detrimental and protective functions (Dubbelaar et al, 2018) (see Figure 6). In response to the stimulus, different pathways can be activated. LPS exposure can activate the TLRs pathway, which is associated with the nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF- κ B), a transcriptional factor modulating inflammatory response, favoring the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as interferon- γ (IFN γ) IL-1, IL-6, and TNF-a (Kany et al, 2019). Pathogens detection by the pattern recognition receptors expressed by microglia may also result in the activation of the Janus Kinase (JAK)-signal and activator of transcription (STAT) pathway, which induce expression of the IFNs, able to favor both cytokines production and contemporary to resolve inflammation by inhibiting TLRs (Ivashkiv & Donlin, 2014). Overall, neuroinflammation can be considered a protective response. Even the M1 activation, leading to the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- α and IL-1 β , which enhance inflammation and attract other immune cells in the site of damage, is focused on the clearance of pathogens. On the contrary, sustained chronic inflammation is associated with neuronal damage and toxicity and is strictly linked to neurodegenerative processes (Guzman-Martinez et al, 2019). It is likely that different phenotypes of microglia act over time in both physiological and pathological inflammatory responses and, in the latter case, the proportion of each phenotype may also vary throughout the disease (Tang & Le, 2016). The dichotomized classification in a pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory phenotype does not reflect the complex reality and the several microglia phenotypes, that should be considered to belong to a multi-varied spectrum rather than being two definite populations (see Figure 6).

Astrocytes are the most representative cells in the brain, contributing to brain homeostasis and neuronal support (Colombo & Farina, 2016). They support neurons by providing energy metabolites and regulating extracellular ionic balance, modulating synaptic activity and neurotrophic factors production, regulating BBB permeability, favoring or limiting the infiltration of other inflammatory cells (Kwon & Koh, 2020). Astrocytes strongly participate in the function of BBB. They have specialized end-feet structures associated with the endothelial cells of the BBB, which regulate fluid and electrolyte passage throughout the high-density expression of water and ionic channel, such as the Aquaporin-4 (AQP4). These channels are involved in water transport and serve as adhesion molecules in leukocytes infiltration during inflammatory responses (Ikeshima-Kataoka, 2016). The astrocytes end-feet expression of the AQP4 and other water-channel molecules influences BBB permeability and has been related to the development of a pro-inflammatory state (Mizee & de Vries, 2013). In addition, several astrocytes factors may influence BBB permeability. Both the glial-derived neurotrophic factor and the fibroblast growth factor enhance the barrier by stimulating the production of tight junction (Colombo & Farina, 2016). Conversely, astrocytes may release factors increasing BBB permeability and disruption, such as vascular endothelial growth factors, matrix metalloproteinases, endothelin, and nitric oxide in a pathologic state (Michinaga & Koyama, 2019). Astrocytes mediate scar formation, which exerts several beneficial functions, including neuronal protection, BBB repair, and isolation of CNS inflammation, but also negative consequences when exacerbating inflammation and hampering synaptic rearrangement and axon growth (Sofroniew, 2015). Like microglia, astrocytes can be activated by various types of insults and can provide a neuroprotective response, switching off neuroinflammation and stimulating tissue repair, or promoting inflammation, neuronal damage, and death. Two main astrocytes subpopulations have been well characterized: the pro-inflammatory phenotype (A1), producing neuroinflammatory factors such as IL-1a, TNF- α , and complement protein (C)1q, and the immune-modulatory phenotype (A2), which play neuroprotective functions by producing neurotrophic factors and anti-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-4, IL-10, TGF- β (Liddelow et al, 2017). However, multiple phenotypes can be expressed depending on the environmental balance. Astrogliosis's beneficial or detrimental effect is again related to the type of stimulus, the specific disease and its phase, and the involved molecular pathway. Several pathways can mediate neuroprotective astrocytes' response. The glycoprotein (GP)130 is a ubiquitous membrane signal transducer for several cytokines, including IL-6, IL-11, and IL-27 (Ernst & Jenkins, 2004). Stimulation of the GP130 may results in the activation of the intracellular SHP2/Ras/ERK cascade or the STAT 1 and 3. These pathways are essentially neuroprotective by stimulating astrogliosis and scar formation (Wanner et al, 2013). In response to high levels of IL-10, a cytokine with antiinflammatory properties, astrocytes secrete TGF- β , an anti-inflammatory agent mediating the inhibition of the NF-kB, reducing microglia activation and extinguishing inflammation (Norden et al, 2014). Reactive astrocytes can express high levels of retinoic acid, which can induce endothelial immune quiescence and reduce leucocytes adhesion and infiltration in the site of inflammation, attenuating reactive oxygen species production (Mizee et al, 2014). The ubiquitin-modifying protein A20, a regulator of nuclear transcription factors, suppresses NF-kB activation, pro-inflammatory cytokines production, and CD4+ T cells recruitment, which is an important element in autoimmunemediated demyelination in the CNS (Liddelow et al, 2017). Dopamine, binding the dopamine D2 receptor expressed by astrocytes, activates the alphaß-crystallin pathway with anti-inflammatory properties, protecting nigral dopaminergic neurons (Kwon & Koh, 2020). On the contrary, astrocytes can secrete pro-inflammatory factors in response to specific triggers and a specific context. As for microglia, astrocytes exposition to PAMPs, such as LPS, induces activation and a shift to the A1, pro-inflammatory, cytotoxic phenotype with potentially detrimental effects (Liddelow & Barres, 2017). A key modulator of astroglia pro-inflammatory responses is the NF-kB intracellular signaling, which favors neuroinflammation through the upregulation of several proinflammatory cytokines, chemokines, and cell-adhesion molecules, stimulating astrogliosis (Kwon & Koh, 2020). The pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-1ß stimulates astrocyte production of the vasoactive endothelial growth factor, favoring BBB disruption increasing permeability and lymphocyte infiltration, leading to edema and excitotoxicity (Sofroniew, 2015). The astroglia chemokine C-C Motif Chemokine Ligand-2 exerts proinflammatory effects, enhancing M1 microglia activation and leukocytes recruitment and infiltration, stimulating cytotoxicity and axonal damage (Kwon & Koh, 2020). However, similarly to microglia, the pro-inflammatory and the anti-inflammatory state represent only part of the possible astrocyte activities, which should be considered in the context of a multifaced continuum, whose imbalanced regulation paves the way for neuroinflammatory deleterious effects (Liddelow & Barres, 2017).

Oligodendrocytes are the cells designed to produce the myelin sheaths around axons, which allow rapid electrical impulse transmission between neurons. They participate in neurons support and aid regenerative processes. Oligodendrocytes are essential for axonal structural organization. They favor the clustering of sodium channels at the nodes of Ranvier and potassium channels at the juxtaparanodes. In addition, they provide products of glycolysis for axonal metabolism (Duncan *et al*, 2021). Thus, alterations or deficits in oligodendrocytes support results in axon increased vulnerability and loss.

Natural Killer (NK) cells are innate effector lymphocytes acting as a cytotoxic player against malignant cells. In neuroinflammatory responses, they can clean pathological protein aggregates and cellular debris and modulate antigen-presenting cell activities (Earls & Lee, 2020). For example, by interacting with microglia and astrocytes, NK can

suppress the Th17 cells, attenuating inflammatory response (Hao *et al*, 2010). In addition, when stimulated by IL-15 produced by the subventricular zone neural stem cells, they can regulate neuronal repair following brain inflammation (Liu *et al*, 2016).

Mast cells significantly participate in the production of inflammatory molecules. For example, they regulate BBB permeability by producing histamine and modulating the recruitment of other peripheral cells involved in neuroinflammatory responses. In addition, they participate in neurogenesis by producing serotonin and IL-6 and stimulate neuroprotection by secreting neuroprotective cytokines such as IL-1 β (Hendriksen *et al*, 2017).

The complement system is a part of the innate immunity involved in recognizing pathogens and favoring phagocytosis and chemotaxis. Complement molecules exert a fundamental role in facilitating interaction between innate and adaptive immunity, thus modulating lymphocytes activity and facilitating antigen presentation (Comi & Tondo, 2017).

The T-lymphocytes primarily mediate adaptive immunity in the CNS. Again, the environment and the levels of several cytokines and chemokines influence the expression of anti-inflammatory or pro-inflammatory phenotypes. Type 2 helper lymphocytes (Th2) and T regulatory (Tregs) cells are involved in anti-inflammatory and regulatory activities, while Type 1 (Th1) and Type 17 (Th17) cells are essentially pro-inflammatory. The expansion of Tregs induces an anti-inflammatory state by reducing the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and stimulating phagocytic activity of cellular debris and protein aggregates (Comi & Tondo, 2017). B lymphocytes also can participate in both protective and deleterious neuroinflammatory responses. B cells' preeminent role in neuroinflammation has become evident in autoimmune CNS disorders with important neurodegenerative components. It is the case of Multiple Sclerosis, where anti CD20 therapies directed against B lymphocytes expressing the membrane receptor CD20 are effective in contrasting the disease (Stephenson *et al*, 2018).



Figure 6. Schematic representation of the earliest and current classifications of microglia phenotypes (source: Werry et al., 2019).

Aging and neuroinflammation

The term "senescence" indicates the progressive and physiological decline of cell functions. Senescence involves all biological processes, including the immune system, which becomes gradually less responsive against harmful stimuli. Immune-senescence also affects the CNS and promotes neuronal dysfunction (Di Benedetto et al, 2017). Aging in CNS is associated with reducing neurogenesis, synaptic dysfunction, increased BBB permeability, immune cells alteration. Overall, aging-related changes induce a proinflammatory state with deleterious consequences, both in the CNS and at the systemic level, particularly a progressive reduction of neurotrophic factors and shooting down neuroplasticity (Di Benedetto et al, 2017). Aging-related changes reflect on immune cells, causing modifications in cells morphology and activity. Senescence induces in microglia a state of altered responsiveness. Microglia are less prompt to detect environmental changes due to a reduction in the activity of the "sensome" for endogenous ligands, while the identification of external pathogens seems to be increased, thus favoring the proinflammatory state (Hickman et al, 2013). A peculiar microglia phenotype results abundant in the hippocampus, amygdala, hypothalamus, and cerebral cortex during aging, characterized by signs of oxidative stress. These "dark microglia" are more active than

normal microglia, encircling axons and dendrites and favoring an abnormal synaptic remodeling (Bisht et al, 2016). Altered microglia are insensitive to negative feedback and further exaggerate neuroinflammatory responses. Chronic neuroinflammation is associated with BBB permeability alteration, which in turn favors leucocytes infiltration of the brain parenchyma, feeding microglia activation and stimulating a low-grade brain inflammation (Di Benedetto et al, 2017). In fact, an increased pathological inflammatory state characterizes aged brains compared with younger ones, and the pro-inflammatory environment produces behavioral changes such as anorexia, hypersomnia, lethargy, and deficits in cognitive and motor function (Dilger & Johnson, 2008). In response to the environmental stimuli, microglia shift from the M2 to the M1 phenotype, and activated microglia and astrocytes produce pro-inflammatory cytokines, including IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF, fostering the pro-inflammatory environment (Di Benedetto et al, 2017). The proinflammatory state makes the aged brain extremely sensitive to stressors, producing exaggerated responses in the presence of deleterious stimuli or stress, with clinical impact and impairing functional recovery (Sparkman & Johnson, 2008). All the factors contributing to the maintenance of this low-grade chronic pro-inflammatory state facilitate learning impairment, memory loss, and cognitive decline (Chen et al, 2016b).

Neuroinflammation in neurodegenerative diseases

Remarkable evidence sustains the primary role of neuroinflammation in neurodegenerative diseases, including AD, PD, and ALS. The chronic activation of neuroinflammatory cells produces detrimental effects, inhibiting tissue repair and promoting tissue damage leading to neurodegenerative processes. **Figure 7** is a schematic representation of the possible link between neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration in proteinopathies. The pathological deposition of misfolded proteins characterizes neurodegenerative disorders. The specific proteinopathy can trigger damage signals or can act as DAMP itself, activating microglia and astrocytes. The glial cells, in turn, produce neurotoxic factors altering protein processing and enhancing misfolded protein deposition. This scheme has received confirmation, especially in AD, PD, and ALS (Golde *et al*, 2013).

In AD, the amyloid- β deposition in the senile plaques and the neurofibrillary tangle formation, due to hyperphosphorylated tau protein, represent the hallmarks of the disease. In addition, the most recognized risk factor for AD is age, which can be associated with neuritic plaques and tauopathy even in the absence of cognitive decline. Besides these pathological hallmarks, both innate and adaptive immune responses have been reported in AD, representing a key player in the process leading to neurodegeneration (Leng & Edison, 2021). Pre-clinical models showed that AD progression is associated with changes in microglia phenotypes, accompanied by the upregulation of known genes associated with AD, such as the apolipoprotein E (APOE) and the triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2 (TREM2) (Leng & Edison, 2021). APOE is a multifunctional protein with crucial roles in lipid metabolism and is involved in amyloid- β clearance, aggregation, and metabolism. APOE is encoded by three alleles: $\varepsilon 2$, $\varepsilon 3$, and $\varepsilon 4$. The APOE $\varepsilon 4$ allele is recognized as the strongest genetic risk factor for sporadic AD; conversely, the APOE ε_2 allele is considered the strongest genetic protective factor (Serrano-Pozo et al, 2021). TREM is a receptor expressed by several innate immune system cells, mediating phagocytosis and modulating neuroinflammatory responses, and the TREM2 isoform has been associated with an increased risk of developing AD (Gratuze et al, 2018). APOE and TREM2 expression is finely regulated and participate in neurodegeneration in several ways. Increased levels of TREM2 have been associated in mouse models of AD with increased phagocytic activity and suppression of inflammation (Lee et al, 2018). On the other hand, TREM2 activation may also enhance an APOEdependent pathway stimulating the production of pro-inflammatory molecules (Krasemann et al, 2017). The precise characterization of these molecular pathways will help elaborate potential therapeutic approaches, but caution is needed when translating animal models' findings to the human brain. Activated microglia have been found in AD human brain samples, showing variable spatial distribution related to amyloid-β and tautangles deposition (Grabert et al, 2016). Amyloid-ß deposition seems to be the most important element in evocating a deleterious neuroinflammatory activation throughout several mechanisms. Microglia cells bind to soluble β-amyloid oligomers via cell surface receptors, such as TLRs, and secrete pro-inflammatory molecules including cytokines, chemokines, growth factors, prostaglandins, complement factors, reactive oxygen species, and proteases. All these mediators increase the permeability of the BBB, favoring leukocytes infiltration of the brain. Local neuroinflammation, in turn, activates the expression of pro-inflammatory genes and stimulates the amyloidogenic pathway, increasing β -amyloid and self-stimulating the amyloid cascade (Guillot-Sestier & Town, 2018). TREM2 is one of the microglia receptors involved in this vicious circle. TREM2 can stimulate phagocytosis of amyloid- β plaques and microglia activation. However, this function can be compromised in pathophysiologic conditions associated with neurodegenerative changes, such as in aging, resulting in increased amyloid- β production and deposition (Streit et al, 2004). Dysfunctional microglia have also been associated with tau deposition. Microglia activation can be determined by tau, and in those cases aims to tau deposits clearance, but in dysregulated responses, it results in neuronal damage and tau spread, thus contributing to disease progression (Brelstaff et al, 2018). The integrity of the BBB plays an essential role in pathological protein deposition, especially in the formation of the amyloid- β plaques. The receptors for advanced glycation end products (RAGEs) are DAMPs that, similarly to the TLRs, trigger and stimulate neuroinflammatory responses. RAGEs recognize and bind amyloid- β , and this interaction favors BBB disruption and microglia activation, sustaining neuronal damage and hampering a successful amyloid- β clearance (Origlia *et al*, 2010). Astrocytes actively participate in the deleterious inflammatory response. The presence of amyloid- β senile plaques alters important astrocyte functions, including maintaining synaptic integrity, neurotransmitter uptake, and calcium signaling, whose disruption causes neuronal excitotoxicity (González-Reyes et al, 2017). Astrocytes contribute to β-amyloid clearance throughout a process mediated by APOE, but their dysregulated activation breaks this mechanism and facilitates amyloid- β spread (González-Reyes *et al*, 2017). However, microglia and astrocytes act in combination in neuroinflammatory responses, driving neurodegeneration. Amyloid-β activates the NF-κB pathway in astrocytes, which secrete the C3 protein, activating microglia, enhancing neuroinflammation (Lian et al, 2016). On the other hand, activate microglia produce pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 α and TNF, which stimulate the activation of astrocytes (Liddelow *et al*, 2017). This enhanced cross-talk leads to dysregulated inflammatory responses, damaging neurons. Also, the adaptive immune system may play a role in AD pathogenesis. Animal models showed that the activation of peripheral leukocytes, including T-regulatory cells, natural killer, B cells, and neutrophils, might contribute to a state characterized by diffused reactive gliosis, which favors neuronal dysfunction and death (Marsh *et al*, 2016). Clinical studies in AD patients using CSF and blood biomarkers and imaging studies of neuroinflammation helped underline the role of neuroinflammatory responses in favoring neurodegenerative changes. Several cytokines, namely IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-12, IL-18, TNF- γ , and TGF- β , are over-produced in AD patients than in controls, both in CSF and in blood. However, variability in results in different clinical studies, which are also influenced by the degree of peripheral inflammation, hampers conclusive remarks (Swardfager *et al*, 2010). Several neuroimaging studies have been performed to detect *in vivo* neuroinflammation in AD, targeting molecules overexpressed by activated microglia and astrocytes. These studies confirm that neuroinflammation is associated with neurodegeneration and contributes to the deposition of amyloid- β and tau (Jain *et al*, 2020).

PD is the most common neurodegenerative disease after AD, affecting about 2% of the population aged more than 65 years (McCann et al, 2014). As for AD, age is the most important nonmodifiable risk factor. The aggregates of α -synuclein represent the pathological hallmark of the disease, associated with a marked loss of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra, clinically leading to motor disturbances (tremor, rigidity, and bradykinesia) and non-motor symptoms, including autonomic dysfunction, cognitive deficits, sleep and neuropsychiatric disturbances (Brás et al, 2020). Several animal studies and human post-mortem reports suggested the evidence of activated microglia, astrocytes, and inflammatory molecules in response to α -synuclein aggregation (Nagatsu *et al*, 2000). The deposition of α -synuclein favors the shift from the M2 protective microglia phenotype to the pro-inflammatory M1 phenotype (Zhang et al, 2005). Chronic exposure to the 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP), a toxin specifically targeting neurons in the basal ganglia and substantia nigra, causing neuronal loss and PD related symptoms, reduce the expression of the M2 phenotype (Pisanu et al, 2014). Astrocytes, like microglia, respond to α -synuclein deposition by producing proinflammatory cytokines, including IL-1- β and TNF- α (Tanaka *et al*, 2013). Reactive astrocytes have a different gene expression and change their phenotype, becoming more prone to scar formation (Sofroniew, 2015). Microglia activation mediated by α -synuclein, via the TLRs leads to several pro-inflammatory cytokines that stimulate the A1 shift in astrocytes (Fellner et al, 2013). The A1 phenotype is associated with loss of normal

astrocytes activity, neuronal damage, and death, especially in dopaminergic neurons (Liddelow et al, 2017). Altered neuroinflammatory responses in PD can also be delineated in other cells than microglia and astrocytes. When activated, Mast-cells release matrix metalloproteinases, whose production is increased in the presence of α -synuclein aggregates, and accelerate neuronal loss. In mouse models of PD, MPTP stimulates the mast cells to produce tryptase and microglia and astrocytes to produce pro-inflammatory factors such as the chemokine ligand 2, which favor chemotaxis of other neuroinflammatory cells sustaining a chronic inflammatory activation (Sandhu & Kulka, 2021). The sustained neuroinflammatory response also induces BBB increased permeability and disruption, favoring peripheral leucocytes infiltration into the brain and adaptive immunity activation. Peripheral inflammation in PD is also testified by the presence of increased cytokine levels, including IL1 β , IL2, IL6, IFN γ , and TNF α , in both serum and CSF of PD patients compared with controls, and altered count of CD4+ and CD8+ lymphocytes (Reale et al, 2009). IL-1 β seems to play a crucial role in neurodegenerative changes associated with PD. In mouse models, chronic overexpression of IL1 β in the substantia nigra causes most of the characteristics of PD, including progressive dopaminergic cell death, bradykinesia, and activation of microglia (Ferrari et al, 2006), while in human plasma levels of IL-1 β were found to be significantly higher in PD patients compared with controls, directly correlating with motor impairment and with plasma α-synuclein levels (Fan et al, 2020).

ALS is characterized by progressive degeneration of motor neurons in the brain and the spinal cord. Pathogenic mechanisms include mitochondrial dysfunction, cytoskeletal disruption, reactive oxygen species-mediated toxicity, and neuroinflammatory abnormal responses (Mejzini *et al*, 2019). As in other neurodegenerative diseases, the deposition of misfolded proteins is one of the hallmarks of the disease, leading to progressive damage of the motor neurons. In ALS, the most important aggregates include the superoxide dismutase 1 (SOD1), the TDP-43, and the FUS protein (Guerrero *et al*, 2016). TDP-43 deposition plays a crucial role in ALS neuroinflammatory responses and pathogenesis. Extracellular TDP-43 activates microglia enhancing pro-inflammatory pathways such as the NF- κ B, which is involved in motor neurons death (Zhao *et al*, 2015). Also, FUS represents a critical activator of the NF- κ B pathway, leading to motor neuron apoptosis induced by TNF (Kia *et al*, 2018). However, most evidence regarding microglia activation in ALS pathogenesis is related to SOD1. SOD1 mutations involving only neurons are insufficient to precipitate the disease in ALS mouse models, while mutations ubiquitously expressed, thus also involving glial cells, cause a rapidly progressive and fatal disease (Lino et al, 2002). In addition, the deletion of SOD1 mutation in motor neurons does not protect from disease progression, which is sustained by the glial mutation; coherently, the deletion of the mutation in the myeloid cells' slow disease progression (Boillée et al, 2006). SOD1 mutations induce both microglia and astrocytes activation and overexpression of the IL-1 β , which has been related to ALS progression (Meissner et al, 2010). SOD1 mutation mice also show altered astrocyte activity, which can differentiate in a pro-inflammatory phenotype overproducing TGF- β , which has been associated with accelerated disease progression (Endo et al, 2015). Other gene mutations are associated with neuroinflammation in ALS. Mutations in TREM2 can compromise microglia phagocytic activity, leading to altered neuroinflammatory responses and promoting motor neurons damage (Cady *et al*, 2014). TGF- β is one of the most studied cytokines as a systemic biomarker in ALS (De Marchi et al, 2021). Chronic overproduction of TGF- β may sustain disease progression by favoring neurodegeneration of motor neurons (Peters et al, 2017). Coherently, high plasma levels of TGF-β have been reported in ALS patients compared with controls, correlating with disease severity (Duque et al, 2020). All innate and adaptive immune cells are potentially involved in neuroinflammation driving neurodegeneration in ALS (De Marchi et al, 2021). There is evidence of a role for Natural killer cells in ALS sustained inflammation. Natural killer cells infiltrate the motor cortex and the spinal cord of ALS patients and can directly cause motor neurons death or cause inflammatory dysregulation producing IFNs and reducing Tregs recruitment (Garofalo et al, 2020). ALS patients show lower Tregs count, especially at the late disease stage (Beers et al, 2017). The number of Th1 and Th17 increases with disease progression, testifying to the contribution of peripheral immunity in participating to clinical impairment (Saresella et al, 2013).

In conclusion, several molecular and cellular mechanisms are involved in neuroinflammatory responses in AD, PD, and ALS. **Figure 8** represents neuroinflammatory mechanisms in each disease's, depicting main players and involved pathways. Microglia activation represents a crucial step in neuroinflammatory responses leading to neurodegeneration, but the dynamic regulation of cells and activities still needs

to be underlined entirely. The modulation of neuroinflammation, which affects disease progression and trajectory, might have potential therapeutic effects, and research is focusing on the pre-disease period to test disease-modifying strategies.



Figure 7. Representation of neuroinflammatory responses generate by pathological misfolded protein deposition in proteinopathies (source: Golde et al., 2013).



Figure 8. Main neuroinflammatory players and corresponding pathways involved in neurodegenerative changes in Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease and Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (source: Otani et al., 2020).

PET imaging in neurodegenerative diseases

AD is characterized by the histopathological evidence of extracellular amyloid- β plaques and intracellular neurofibrillary tangles containing hyperphosphorylated tau. The hypothetical model on AD pathogenesis states that the pathological alterations occur years before the symptoms' onset, following a sequential order in which misfolded proteins deposition lead to neuronal dysfunction and loss and progressively to clinical decline (Jack Jr et al, 2013). Neuroinflammation represents a further player in AD pathogenesis. All these alterations can be detected in vivo using biomarkers, which aid the diagnostic workup and potentially improve the development and monitoring of disease-modifying therapeutic approaches (Hansson, 2021). In addition, the possibility to underline biomarker changes in a preclinical phase allows the early identification of the neurodegenerative process, not only in AD but also in other neurodegenerative diseases (Agrawal & Biswas, 2015). PET is a critical tool able to reveal, in vivo, several molecular, biochemical, and pathobiological events. These include brain metabolism changes, blowflow alterations, synaptic abnormalities, neuroreceptor transmission modifications, misfolded protein deposition, and neuroinflammatory responses (Ricci et al, 2020). There is full-blown evidence that combining multiple PET imaging modalities improves diagnostic accuracy and prognosis predictive ability, helping to clarify the relationship between different neurodegenerative processes and decisively contributing to the update of therapeutic strategies (Hargreaves & Rabiner, 2014). The last two decades represented a considerable step forward in the field of PET neuroimaging. Significant technical, analytical, and computational advances have been developed (Ricci et al, 2020). PET imaging allows the identification of several molecular and biochemical processes targeting them with specific compounds labeled with radio-isotopes. Radioactivity decay of the radio-isotopes can be externally detected, providing a non-invasive, in vivo mapping of the distribution of the previously administered compounds and the specific molecular mechanism in which they are involved (Pimlott & Sutherland, 2011). The ¹⁸F and the ¹¹C are the most used radio-isotopes in PET imaging studies and for clinical purposes. ¹¹C is used only in highly specialized facilities provided by the cyclotron due to the relatively short half-life of about 20 minutes. For the same reasons, its application is mainly limited to research studies. ¹⁸F imaging has more favorable properties for PET analysis, and the half-life of 110 minutes also allows availability in centers lacking radiochemistry facilities. In addition, tracers labeled with ¹⁸F permit longer in vivo studies; thus, they are more widely diffused in clinical settings (Zhu et al, 2014). Regardless of the used radio-isotopes, PET imaging relies on detecting the radioactivity produced by the radio-labeled compound. After injecting the compound, a variable time is needed to achieve the proper tissue distribution, mainly depending on the tracer and the target. The radioactive isotope targeting the molecular process decays during the scan, emitting a positron annihilated and converging its mass into energy, creating two photons released in opposite directions. These photons can be detected externally by a camera, and the line joining the detected locations passes directly through the point of annihilation. This point is very close to the point of positron emission, giving a reasonable estimation of the position of the radioactive atom in the body. The detector recognizes as many annihilation photons as possible and localizes them along the line the decay occurred. All the detected events are subjected to elaboration through complex mathematical algorithms to be reconstructed into images. These images can be further analyzed using the quantification method for advanced statistical approaches (Cherry & Dahlbom, 2006).

In the last twenty years, the progressive shift from a phenotypical classification of neurodegenerative disorders to biological classification represented an excitant deal for nuclear medicine, reliably providing markers for neuronal injury, synaptic dysfunction, and pathology. However, in clinical practice, patients affected by different underlying neurodegenerative disorders may manifest similar phenotypes. Thus the *in vivo* pathological diagnosis remains a challenge. In this context, PET imaging has become crucial in unrevealing the complex relationship between the manifested clinical phenotype and the underlying pathological process.

PET imaging of brain metabolism

The most widely and best-validated PET tracer is the [¹⁸F]FDG, introduced in brain imaging 40 years ago (Phelps *et al*, 1979). Brain activity is essentially based on glucose consumption, and FDG is a glucose analog, which is trapped into neurons after intracellular phosphorylation by the enzyme hexokinase (Sokoloff *et al*, 1977). Cells with higher metabolic activity expend more FDG, which can be used as a direct index of synaptic activity. Variations in synaptic activity are associated with corresponding oxygen and glucose consumption modification, and synaptic dysfunction is associated with a regional reduction in glucose metabolism (Kato *et al*, 2016). The ability to detect neuronal dysfunction, which precedes neuronal loss for a considerable period, makes [¹⁸F]FDG-PET one of the leading biomarkers in identifying early signs of neurodegeneration, with the best sensitivity, specificity and accuracy reached when applying standardized and validated quantification methods, clear cutoff values, and observer-independent analyses (Perani *et al*, 2014b).

[¹⁸F]FDG-PET can reveal the hypometabolism pattern, reflecting the extent and the topography of neuronal dysfunction, thus the endo-phenotype of neuronal damage and the corresponding clinical deficit (Capitanio *et al*, 2019). Each dementia syndrome presents a specific regional distribution of neurodegenerative changes, and [¹⁸F]FDG-PET underlines the corresponding hypometabolism pattern aiding differential diagnosis, although some overlap may exist. As such, [¹⁸F]FDG-PET differentiates with high accuracy patients affected by dementia and cognitively unimpaired subject, and it helps distinguish AD from other dementia, such as DLB and FTD (Herholz *et al*, 2002; Rabinovici *et al*, 2011; Kantarci *et al*, 2021). In addition, it may show specific hypometabolism patterns in subsyndromes within the same pathological spectrum (Laforce Jr *et al*, 2018).

Typical AD cases are characterized by hypometabolism recognizable in temporoparietal cortices, precuneus, and posterior cingulate cortex (Mosconi *et al*, 2008). Several variants in the AD hypometabolism pattern have been reported. The typical temporoparietal hypometabolism pattern is more severe in EOAD than in LOAD, depending on the more severe pathology and more significant clinical impairment (Kim *et al*, 2005). PCA is characterized by early impairment of visuospatial and visuo-perceptive abilities, and [¹⁸F]FDG-PET shows corresponding hypometabolism in occipital and posterior parietal cortices (Rosenbloom *et al*, 2011). The logopenic variant PPA shows a prevalent left perisylvian hypometabolism, reflecting language impairment (Madhavan *et al*, 2013). Finally, the frontal AD variant manifests, besides the typical AD pattern, more severe hypometabolism involving the frontal lobes and reflecting the clinical impairment in executive functions and behavior (Woodward *et al*, 2015). Both in typical and atypical AD cases, it is noteworthy the association between the topographic

distribution of brain hypometabolism and the corresponding cognitive impairment, thus [¹⁸F]FDG-PET can also help quantify the clinical impact of neurodegeneration and in staging the disease (Perani, 2013; Ou *et al*, 2019). **Figure 9** represents specific hypometabolism patterns in AD subtypes.

A specific hypometabolism pattern is detectable also in other neurodegenerative dementia, aiding differential diagnosis in uncertain cases. In the FTLD spectrum, several hypometabolism patterns can be detected (Ricci et al, 2020). The bvFTD is most frequent FTLD subsyndromes, clinically characterized by the executive and neuropsychiatric disturbances, and presents a typical hypometabolism pattern involving the frontal and the anterior temporal regions, the medial temporal structures, the insula, and subcortical regions such as basal ganglia and thalamus (Jeong et al, 2005). The clinical differential diagnosis between different types of PPA may be clinically challenging and include the two language forms of FTD, the SD and the non-fluent variant PPA, and the logopenic variant associated with AD (Tippett, 2020). [¹⁸F]FDG-PET can be extremely useful in these cases, showing hypometabolism involving the anterior temporal lobe in SD, often with left asymmetric dominance, and the prevalent asymmetric involvement of the frontoinsular, perisylvian and supplementary motor areas in the non-fluent variant PPA (Matías-Guiu et al, 2015; Rabinovici et al, 2008). Specific hypometabolism patterns can be detected in FTLD atypical parkinsonian syndromes, where consistent clinical overlap can be present, complicating diagnostic workup. In PSP, hypometabolism involves mainly the frontal regions, motor and premotor cortices, the basal ganglia (caudate nucleus), and the brainstem, while in CBD [¹⁸F]FDG-PET imaging can reveal asymmetric (contralateral to the clinically most affected body side) hypometabolism in basal ganglia and parietal-frontal cortices (Hellwig *et al*, 2012). Similar to AD, [¹⁸F]FDG-PET can be useful in FTD in revealing the correlation between neurodegenerative changes associated with clinical impairment (Cerami et al, 2015b), in evaluating disease progression (Diehl et al, 2004) and potentially in evaluating response to therapy (Chow et al, 2011). The correlation between glucose hypometabolism and cognitive impairment is crucial when evaluating patients affected by ALS who may or not experiment cognitive decline. Frontal and prefrontal hypometabolism is associated with ALS-FTD and correlates with cognitive impairment (Canosa et al, 2016). In patients sharing the C9Orf72 mutation, the single-subject analysis revealed different patterns consistent with the clinical phenotypes (Castelnovo *et al*, 2019). However, in pure ALS cases, [¹⁸F]FDG-PET's ability to distinguish between different clinical subtypes showed inconclusive results (Sala *et al*, 2019a).

In DLB, the specific pattern of hypometabolism involves mainly the occipital areas, visual association cortices, and the posterior temporoparietal regions (Perneczky *et al*, 2008). [¹⁸F]FDG-PET hypometabolism in the occipital cortex, sparing the posterior cingulate cortex, the so-called cingulate sign, is considered a supportive finding for the diagnosis of DLB, showing high sensitivity and specificity (Graff-Radford *et al*, 2020; McKeith *et al*, 2017). While hypometabolism in temporoparietal areas overlaps with the typical AD pattern, occipital lobe hypometabolism represents a distinguishing feature of DLB (Caminiti *et al*, 2019). However, PCA hypometabolism is more complex to distinguish from DLB hypometabolism than AD typical cases (Whitwell *et al*, 2017a). As for AD and FTD, also in DLB, brain hypometabolism correlates with clinical impairment, and the cingulate signs have been associated with cognitive decline and visual hallucinations (Iizuka & Kameyama, 2016).

For its accuracy in discriminating between different patterns of neurodegenerative dementia [¹⁸F]FDG-PET is included in the diagnostic criteria of several neurodegenerative disorders, comprising AD, PPA, bvFTD, and DLB (Gorno-Tempini *et al*, 2011; Dubois *et al*, 2014; McKeith *et al*, 2017). Since [¹⁸F]FDG-PET can identify metabolic changes indicative of synaptic dysfunction, which precede neuronal loss, it can detect early signs of neurodegeneration before the occurrence of brain atrophy as detected by MRI (Bateman *et al*, 2012; Garibotto *et al*, 2017). Thus, brain metabolism alterations can also be detected in the prodromal phase of dementia (Cerami *et al*, 2015c). [¹⁸F]FDG-PET is of utmost importance in delineating disease progression and prognosis, especially in predicting conversion of the MCI condition (Cerami *et al*, 2015c; Caminiti *et al*, 2018). In MCI individuals, the typical AD hypometabolism pattern involving temporoparietal cortices, predicts conversion to AD with an accuracy higher than 90% (Perani *et al*, 2016). On the other hand, a normal [¹⁸F]FDG-PET scan excludes actual signs of neurodegeneration being associated with clinical stability over a follow-up of several years (Iaccarino *et al*, 2019).

Based on these evidences, it appears clear that local neuronal dysfunction revealed by regional hypometabolism represents a well-known marker of neurodegenerative disorders (Capitanio et al, 2019). However, neurodegeneration changes can affect both specific brain regions and high-order neural networks (Fornito et al, 2015). [¹⁸F]FDG-PET is a precious tool also in analyzing long-distance brain network organization, namely metabolic connectivity. The brain connectivity concept relies on the evidence that brain regions are structurally and functionally connected (Pievani et al, 2014). Brain connectivity analysis exploits correlations and covariates of specific signals across the brain, including the blood oxygen level-dependent (BOLD) signal in fMRI, the [¹⁸F]FDG-PET, metabolism signal in the cortical electrical activity in electroencephalography. The study of brain network connectivity sheds light on the dynamics of pathological changes in neurodegenerative diseases (Fornito et al, 2015). Metabolic connectivity refers to the relationship between [¹⁸F]FDG-PET signal in different brain regions. It assumes that regions whose glucose consumption is correlated are functionally interconnected (Horwitz et al, 1984). Several analytical methods have been developed to analyze this correlation. The most used techniques are the interregional correlation analysis, the principal component analysis and the independent component analysis, the sparse inverse covariance estimation, the graph theory (Yakushev et al, 2017). Interregional Correlation Analysis is a voxel-wise method relying on the a priori selection of one or more seeds, whose tracer uptake is extracted and correlated with the rest of the brain voxels (Morbelli et al, 2013). The resulting networks have similar features to resting-state networks obtained by fMRI, showing high discrimination properties (Yakushev et al, 2017). Principal Component Analysis and Independent Component Analysis are voxel-wise multivariate approaches based on identifying statistically independent components (Sala & Perani, 2019). This method allows the identification of components in a data-driven manner. However, the investigator needs to select meaningful components and discharge statistical noise components. Sparse inverse covariance estimation is a ROIs-based approach allowing the creation of a connectivity matrix and simultaneously imposing sparsity to potentiate statistical robustness. Thus, it can also be applied when included subjects are lower than the selected ROIs (which is not rare in PET studies) (Sala & Perani, 2019). Graph theory develops the sparse inverse covariance estimation estimating the whole brain connection matrix and applying a threshold to the pairwise correlation values, which permits to estimate brain hubs, modules, and global network indices (Yakushev et al, 2017). Metabolic connectivity

studies were mainly focused on the AD spectrum, showing reducing metabolic connectivity involving AD-signature regions such as posterior cingulate gyrus and precuneus (Ballarini et al, 2016; Herholz et al, 2018). These regions are characteristically part of the default mode network, the major resting-state large-scale brain network, including the medial prefrontal cortex, posterior cingulate cortex, left and right inferior parietal lobes, and left and right hippocampi. Accordingly, several functional MRI studies reported default mode network alterations in AD, with the degree of abnormalities correlating with disease progression severity (Zhang et al, 2010; Zhou et al, 2010). Coherently, the gradual disruption of the default mode network has also been hypothesized in metabolic connectivity studies, using [¹⁸F]FDG-PET data in the AD continuum (Pagani et al, 2017). The default mode network appears to be particularly important for cognitive integrity in neurogenerative disorders. A disruption in the default mode network has been associated with cognitive impairment development in PD (Spetsieris *et al*, 2015). Other intriguing findings underline the potential role of metabolic connectivity analysis in revealing mechanisms associated with neurodegeneration. Besides decreased connectivity, increased metabolic connectivity has also been reported in AD but associated with reserve proxies such as education and bilingualism (Perani et al, 2017; Malpetti et al, 2017). In this case, increased metabolic connectivity may represent a compensatory mechanism favored by lifelong protective factors to counteract more severe hypometabolism (Sala & Perani, 2019).



Figure 9. Specific single-subject [¹⁸F]FDG-PET hypometabolism patterns in Alzheimer's disease subtypes (source: Perani et al., 2020).

PET imaging of amyloid-β pathology

In the field of PET-imaging of AD pathology in living patients, the crucial starting point was 2004, when Klunk and colleagues published the first in human amyloid-PET study using ¹¹C-labeled Pittsburgh Compound-B ([¹¹C]PiB), and showing that the tracer could discriminate between AD patients and healthy controls (Klunk *et al*, 2004). Since then, amyloid-PET has provided a decisive contribution to the definition of *in vivo* AD pathology (Villemagne *et al*, 2018). The [¹¹C]PiB is currently the most widely used amyloid-PET radiotracer in research settings. In AD patients, [¹¹C]PiB-PET can reveal brain cortical amyloid- β plaques deposition, especially in temporoparietal and frontal regions, which discriminates patients from normal controls, and has been confirmed by *post-mortem* validation (Villemagne *et al*, 2013). [¹¹C]PiB is highly selective and affine to amyloid- β plaques, but it has some technical limitations, including the short half-life of ¹¹C, which hamper its extensive use in clinical centers not provided by a cyclotron unit. For clinical application, the Food and Drug Administration and the European Medicines Agency approved the use of three fluorinated tracers for detecting brain amyloid- β deposition: [¹⁸F]Florbetapir, [¹⁸F]Florbetaben, and [¹⁸F]Flutemetamol (Laforce Jr *et al*,

2018). All these tracers bind to fibrillar amyloid- β plaques and have comparable diagnostic accuracy. Figure 10 shows an example of amyloid-PET positivity in an AD patient. Their uptake in vivo has shown to be highly concordant to post-mortem brain tissue pathology (Sabri et al, 2015; Ikonomovic et al, 2020; Morris et al, 2016). The introduction of amyloid-PET imaging allowed to perfect the hypothetical model on AD pathogenesis, revealing the presence of pathological alterations years before the onset of clinical symptoms of dementia. The use of amyloid- β imaging in clinical trials improved selection strategies and stimulated therapeutic approaches (Sperling *et al*, 2014). Beyond uses in research settings, amyloid-PET showed high value in improving clinical diagnostic accuracy due to its ability to detect in vivo amyloid- β plaques, and for this reason, it has been included in the guidelines for the AD and prodromal AD diagnosis (McKhann et al, 2011; Albert et al, 2011). Thus, the earliest objective of amyloid-PET imaging was to reveal brain amyloidosis in patients with a clinical AD diagnosis, aiding in confirming or excluding AD pathology (Rowley et al, 2020). In AD, amyloid tracer binding is diffused and elevated mainly in the prefrontal cortex and posterior cingulate cortex, parietal-temporal cortices, and striatum (Clark et al, 2011). This pattern of distribution shows minimal intraindividual variation between AD patients. It seems unrelated to the clinical phenotype, to the pattern of neurodegenerative changes, and cognitive decline (Rabinovici et al, 2010; Lehmann et al, 2013). Amyloid-PET imaging shows its full potential in aiding differential diagnosis between patients in the AD spectrum and non-AD dementia, specifically in atypical AD cases (Wolk et al, 2012). Distinguishing AD from FTLD is a fundamental clinical use for amyloid-PET imaging because clinical and anatomic overlap may exist, especially in patients younger than 65 years (Musa *et al*, 2020), but amyloid- β plaques are not evident in the FTLD spectrum. In the most extensive study comparing AD and FTLD patients, amyloid-PET visual rating showed to differentiate patients with about 90% sensitivity and 84% specificity (Rabinovici et al, 2011). Amyloid-PET imaging has been used to reveal amyloidosis in individuals with PPA. It easily identifies subjects with the logopenic variant PPA, associated with high cortical amyloid-tracer uptake in more than 90% of cases (Rabinovici et al, 2008). The in vivo detection of brain amyloidosis has considerable relevance in overt dementia and the prodromal dementia phase. MCI represents a heterogeneous condition, and amyloid-PET imaging is helpful to identify MCI with

underlying AD pathology (Albert *et al*, 2011). In MCI subjects, amyloid-PET positivity is associated with a higher risk of progression to dementia when compared with individuals with normal scans (Wolk *et al*, 2018; Ong *et al*, 2015) and with greater longitudinal cognitive decline (Doraiswamy *et al*, 2014). However, amyloid- β deposition is not exclusive of AD. Amyloid-PET positivity increases with increasing age in AD dementia, non-AD dementia, and even in cognitively normal individuals (Ossenkoppele *et al*, 2015). Furthermore, it is associated with *APOE* status. Thus, evidence suggests that amyloid deposition is an early player in the cascade of neurodegeneration, which is necessary but insufficient to determine cognitive impairment in AD (Villemagne *et al*, 2018). The presence of amyloid- β pathology in a high quote of MCI subjects and unimpaired individuals, together with the lack of clear correlations between cortical amyloid deposition and synaptic dysfunction and the lack of topographical correspondence between regional amyloidosis and the clinical phenotype, confirm this assumption.



Figure 10. Amyloid-PET positivity in a single Alzheimer's disease patient (source: Perani *et al.*, 2020).

PET imaging of tau pathology

Tau protein is physiologically involved in microtubules stabilization and axonal trafficking. In several neurodegenerative disorders, including AD, tau protein deposition alters axonal transport and neuronal stability, facilitating progressive neuronal dysfunction and loss (Medeiros et al, 2011). The research in the field of tau-PET imaging studies overcame several criticisms over the past fifteen years. Firstly, tau aggregates are intracellular. Thus, they are a challenging target for PET radiotracers which need to pass the BBB and the neuronal plasma membrane. In addition, tau may have several protein conformation and isoforms, which modify the binding site for potential tau-PET tracers (Bischof et al, 2017). However, the same tau deposit can be associated with different phenotypes and, conversely, the same clinical manifestation may be linked to several tau conformations (Medeiros et al, 2011). The first radiotracer that binds neurofibrillary tangles was the $[^{18}F]FDDNP$, which also has an affinity for amyloid- β plaques. It has been used as a non-selective tau-PET tracer in several early AD studies and other neurodegenerative conditions (Shin et al, 2011). Later, several new compounds were developed and studied mainly in AD and MCI: the [¹¹C]PBB3, the THK aryquinoline derivatives, the pyrido-indole derivative [¹⁸F]AV-1451 (Chandra *et al*, 2019). The main limitation in using THK compounds is the recognized off-target binding to the Monoamine oxidase-B (MAO-B), enzymes widely distributed in the human brain (Harada *et al*, 2018). The most widely used tau-PET radiotracer is the $[^{18}F]AV-1451$, also called flortaucipir, binding with high affinity to the 3R/4R tau isoform typical in AD (Marquié et al, 2015). Flortaucipir shares with other first-generation tracers the same limitations, including off-target binding, but at a lower degree (Jang et al, 2018). More recently, second-generation tau-PET tracers have been developed with a higher affinity to tau tangle than the prototypes and showing low or absent off-target binding (Bischof et al, 2017). [¹⁸F]MK-6240 and [¹⁸F]PI-2620 are two promising tau tracers showing high affinity to tau deposits in AD patients, showing poor off-target binding (Lohith et al, 2019; Kroth et al, 2019).

Flortaucipir imaging studies confirmed the ability to assess the distribution and extent of tau pathology in AD, which is characterized by high tracer binding in the hippocampus and temporal lobe and in parietal, occipital, and frontal cortices (Passamonti *et al*, 2017).

The pattern of tau deposition as detected by flortaucipir-PET identifies AD patients with fair accuracy (Maass et al, 2017), aiding differential diagnosis patients affected by other neurodegenerative tauopathies, such as PSP (Passamonti et al, 2017). Brain tau deposition as detected by tau-PET imaging follows the Braak staging, which identifies a progressive topographical involvement of brain regions starting from the trans entorhinal region, followed by hippocampal and limbic involvement and, at the latest stage, affecting neocortical regions (Braak & Braak, 1991). Thus tau-PET imaging can be used to stage AD (Schwarz et al, 2016). The significant advance in the clinical setting provided by tau-PET imaging is strictly linked to the relationship between regional tau deposition and cognitive impairment. Several tau-PET imaging studies employing different tau tracers showed in AD patients that tau-deposition directly correlated with cognitive decline severity or impairment in specific cognitive domains, such as memory (Pontecorvo et al, 2017; Ossenkoppele et al, 2016; Whitwell et al, 2018). At difference with amyloid plaques deposition, cortical tau deposition is highly correlated with synaptic dysfunction, neurodegenerative changes, and grey matter atrophy (Das et al, 2018; Xia et al, 2017; van Eimeren et al, 2017; Ossenkoppele et al, 2016). These findings align with post-mortem results showing that neurofibrillary tangles distribution and not amyloid status correlates with antemortem cognitive status (Nelson et al, 2012). In addition, the progressive tau deposition correlates with the progression of neurodegenerative changes and cognitive decline (Schöll et al, 2016). Consequently, tau-PET is sensitive in discriminating specific patterns in AD clinical variants (Xia et al, 2017; Dronse et al, 2017; Ossenkoppele et al, 2016; Phillips et al, 2018). Thus, PCA is characterized by high flortaucipir uptake in occipital cortices, while logopenic variant of AD shows increased cortical uptake in temporal and frontal regions (Tetzloff et al, 2018). EOAD, whose clinical decline is faster and more significant than LOAD, shows higher tau tracer binding in neocortical regions (Schöll et al, 2017). Figure 11 represents typical tau-PET deposition patterns in AD clinical variants. Tau-PET studies' evidence led to reconsider the amyloid cascade hypothesis since tau deposition can be present regardless of the amyloid status, for instance, in medial temporal lobes (Pontecorvo et al, 2017). However, tau spreading seems to be associated with, and accelerated by, amyloid deposition (Schöll et al, 2016; Pontecorvo et al, 2017).
Several interesting results have been reported using tau-PET in the FTLD spectrum, but results impose caution due to the uncertain affinity of the current tau tracer for 4R and 3R tau isoform tauopathies. Nevertheless, flortaucipir can show a different topographical distribution in AD and bvFTD, with the latter characterized by higher subcortical, frontal and insular binding (Cho *et al*, 2018). Also, PPAs may show a different pattern of tau distribution, with the non-fluent variant PPA manifesting higher prefrontal tau tracer uptake and SD having elevated uptake in the anteromedial temporal lobe (Josephs *et al*, 2018). However, the high flortaucipir uptake in SD, which is pathologically characterized by TDP-43 deposits, motivates concerns about the specificity of the tau-PET signal (Tsai *et al*, 2019). The presence of off-target binding may explain these results. Analogously, flortaucipir and other tau-PET tracers can show subcortical distribution, involving mainly basal ganglia and thalamus, in PSP and CBD (Passamonti *et al*, 2017; Ishiki *et al*, 2017; Cho *et al*, 2017; Marquié *et al*, 2017). Again, off-target binding to substances highly distributed in those regions, such as neuromelanin and monoamine oxidases B, impedes obtaining conclusive results (Vermeiren *et al*, 2018).



Figure 11. Tau-PET deposition patterns in Alzheimer's disease variants (source: Phillips *et al.*, 2018).

PET imaging of neuroinflammation

Besides the deposition of misfolded proteins, a joint pathological event in neurodegenerative disease is the presence of chronic, dysregulated, and deleterious neuroinflammatory responses (Ransohoff, 2016). Post-mortem, in vitro, and animal model studies consistently reported the activation of neuroimmune cells strictly linked to the deposition of amyloid- β , tau, and α -synuclein (Brelstaff *et al*, 2018; Lee *et al*, 2013; Zhang *et al*, 2005). In the last two decades, a large part of research in neurodegenerative disease has focused on the mechanisms linking neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration to open new frontiers for developing successful treatments (Du et al, 2017). Microglia and astrocytes represent the principal neuroinflammatory CNS cells, capable of multiple protective or deleterious roles, depending on environmental stimuli (Comi & Tondo, 2017). Clinical studies suggested that microglia and astrocytes activation represent an early phenomenon in the neurodegenerative cascade in several brain disorders. However, their precise role and the mechanisms that modulate the neuroinflammatory response in different phases of the disease are still far from being clarified entirely (Du et al, 2017). PET imaging of neuroinflammation represents a crucial tool in visualizing neuroinflammatory responses in living patients affected by different neurodegenerative disorders (Narayanaswami et al, 2018). Activated microglia and astrocytes overexpress the 18 kDa translocator protein (TSPO), an intracellular protein formerly known as peripheral benzodiazepine receptor (Papadopoulos et al, 2006). TSPO is a protein located on the outer mitochondrial membrane involved in steroid synthesis and mitochondrial functions, modulating membrane permeability and calcium-mediated signaling; in addition, it modulates cells proliferation and apoptosis (Gatliff & Campanella, 2012). TSPO multiple roles and functions are not entirely delineated, but its overexpression during neuroinflammatory responses makes this protein a reliable marker of neuroinflammation (Narayanaswami et al, 2018). Unfortunately, TSPO lacks specificity, being expressed not only by microglia and astrocytes but also by endothelial cells and, to a lesser extent, by neurons (Gatliff & Campanella, 2012).

[¹¹C]PK11195 is the prototypical TSPO-PET tracer, able to *in vivo* measure TSPO brain levels. It is the first identified TSPO tracer and, to date, the most widely used for tracking neuroinflammation by PET (Cerami *et al*, 2017). However, low brain

permeability, high non-specific binding, and low signal-to-noise ratio limit its use (Jain *et al*, 2020). Several second-generation tracers have been developed to improve signal specificity. However, all second-generation tracers share substantial interindividual variability due to the presence of a polymorphism in the TSPO gene, which affects the binding properties of the TSPO, resulting in high, poor, and mixed affinity binding. The lack of TSPO signal in low-affinity binders obliges genetic testing before the enrollment of subjects (Kreisl *et al*, 2018). Third-generation tracers, insensible to the TSPO polymorphism, are currently under evaluation (Jain *et al*, 2020).

Despite kinetic and methodological limitations, TSPO-PET has been primarily used to underline in vivo microglia activation in several neurodegenerative conditions. Since the earliest study, [¹¹C]PK11195-PET showed high TSPO expression in AD patients in several cortical areas, including temporoparietal cortices and the posterior cingulate, able to discriminate patients from controls (Cagnin et al, 2001). Microglia activation in AD patients was confirmed in several cortical regions, including prefrontal, parietal, anterior cingulate, and occipital cortex, using different TSPO tracers (Edison et al, 2008; Yokokura et al, 2017; Passamonti et al, 2018). In addition, several studies reported an inverse relation between microglia activation and cognitive function (Yokokura et al, 2017; Passamonti et al, 2018; Edison et al, 2008; Fan et al, 2015a). Coherently, the evidence of an inverse relationship between microglial activation and brain glucose metabolism suggests that chronic neuroinflammation may contribute to neurodegeneration in AD (Fan et al, 2015b). Figure 12 reveals different patterns of microglia activation distribution in AD variants. The contribution of microglia to neuronal damage is evident both at the regional and long-distance network organization level (Passamonti et al, 2019). Microglia activation measured by TSPO-PET has also been reported in MCI subjects, but with contrasting results. TSPO overexpression seems associated with amyloid- β deposition (Parbo *et al*, 2017). Nevertheless, few studies using ¹⁸C]PK11195 or second-generation tracers failed to detect neuroinflammation in MCI (Schuitemaker et al, 2013; Kreisl et al, 2013). These inconclusive results may partially be explained by the small and heterogeneous samples often included in PET studies of neuroinflammation and methodological differences in assessing TSPO signal (Turkheimer et al, 2015).

Microglia activation plays an essential role also in other neurodegenerative conditions. In FTLD, increased [¹¹C]PK11195 binding has been reported in frontal and temporal regions and subcortical structures, thus reflecting the typical topographic distribution of synaptic dysfunction characterizing this condition (Cagnin *et al*, 2004). The same pattern of microglia activation can be detected in the pre-symptomatic carriers of the MAPT mutation (Bevan-Jones *et al*, 2019). These significant findings suggest the possibility of revealing neuroinflammation as a potential therapeutic target before the symptom's onset. A specific topographical distribution of microglia activation can be detected in frontal lobe, and cerebellum (Passamonti *et al*, 2018), and in CBD, involving basal ganglia and frontoparietal regions contralaterally to the clinical more affected side (Henkel *et al*, 2004).

Pathological deposition of α -synuclein stimulates microglia activation, as shown by *post-mortem* studies (Imamura *et al*, 2003). Therefore, *in vivo* imaging of neuroinflammation revealed microglia activation in PD, DLB, and MSA. In PD, TSPO overexpression mainly involves subcortical structures, including basal ganglia and brainstem, and frontotemporal cortices (Kang *et al*, 2018), and correlates with motor impairment (Ouchi *et al*, 2005). In DLB, higher TSPO tracer uptake can be detected in the cerebellum and association cortices than in PD patients (Iannaccone *et al*, 2013), showing a correlation with cognitive impairment, supporting the hypothesis that microglia drive neurodegeneration (Surendranathan *et al*, 2018). The degree of neuroinflammatory response also correlates with cognitive impairment and hypometabolism in PD dementia (Edison *et al*, 2013). Microglia activation has been reported in MSA, in cortical and subcortical regions, but without a clear correlation with clinical impairment (Kübler *et al*, 2019). These findings underline that further and longitudinal investigations are needed to clarify the role of microglia activation in α -synucleinopathies.

Other neurodegenerative conditions showed evidence of microglia activation in different phases of the disease. Microglia activation in frontal cortices and midbrain has been revealed using [11 C]PK11195 and [11 C]PBR28 in ALS patients (Turner *et al*, 2004; Corcia *et al*, 2012). The degree of TSPO expression again correlated with disease severity and structural signs of neuronal damage, as detected by MRI (Zürcher *et al*, 2015; Alshikho *et al*, 2018, 2016). In Huntington's disease, an autosomal dominant

neurodegenerative disease characterized by chorea, parkinsonism, psychiatric symptoms, and dementia, symptomatic mutation carrier manifest microglia activation in cortical and subcortical structures, which correlate with motor dysfunction (Pavese *et al*, 2006). Most importantly, microglia activation can also be detected in pre-symptomatic mutation carriers, confirming the role of neuroinflammation in participating in neurodegenerative changes (Politis *et al*, 2011, 2015).

Astrocytes, together with microglia, are responsible for the overexpression of TSPO during neuroinflammatory responses. Therefore, TSPO imaging cannot distinguish the two immune cell populations when both are activated. Astrocytes activation also induces increased levels of MAO-B, which can lead to neurotoxic effects via glutamateexcitotoxicity, as shown in mouse models of AD (Jo *et al*, 2014). [¹¹C]Deuterium-ldeprenyl (DED) is a PET tracer binding the MAO-B, thus representing a marker of astrocytosis. Post-mortem studies showed a topographical distribution of astrocytosis corresponding to the Braak staging in the AD brain (Gulyás *et al*, 2011), and astrocytes activation has been reported, in vivo, in AD and ALS (Johansson et al, 2007; Rodriguez-Vieitez et al, 2016b). Again, the most promising results in this context derive from studies in prodromal and preclinical phases of AD dementia. Increased $[^{11}C]DED$ binding has been reported in MCI individuals with evidence of amyloid-PET positivity compared with negative ones (Carter et al, 2012). A study in autosomal dominant AD carriers reported an early peak of astrocytes activation, with a subsequent decline, along the trajectory to dementia (Rodriguez-Vieitez et al, 2016a). It is also reported an inverse correlation between the astrocytes activation and brain metabolism, supporting the hypothesis that neuroinflammation may be implicated in the early stage of neurodegeneration (Carter et al, 2019).



Figure 12. Topographical distribution of TSPO overexpression in Alzheimer's disease clinical variants (source: Perani *et al.*, 2020).

AIM OF THE WORK

This Ph.D. program aimed to evaluate the role of clinical, structural and molecular biomarkers in supporting diagnosis and predicting prognosis in individuals along the dementia continuum. The premises of this dissertation rely on the evidence that early detection of biomarker alterations is crucial to correctly select candidates for clinical trials and in the evaluation of disease-modifying therapies.

The dissertation is divided into two sections.

Section 1 discusses the role of brain metabolism changes in preclinical and prodromal dementia phases and the correlations with structural MRI data, CSF measures, and clinical data. It includes two reviews (Review 1 and Review 2), summarizing the role of univariate and multivariate PET imaging approaches in neurodegenerative diseases, and three studies. Data used in these studies derived from two Italian multicenter projects, namely the "Network-AD project" and the "Interceptor Project", collecting multiple biomarkers in individuals in the dementia continuum. We firstly analyzed brain [¹⁸F]FDG-PET and structural MRI in a large population of MCI to provide a cross-sectional framework of the baseline features of subjects at risk for developing AD (Study 1). We then applied the validated SPM single-subject method in MCI cohorts to identify subjects with a favorable prognosis, quantifying the accuracy of [¹⁸F]FDG-PET in predicting stability in comparison with CSF biomarkers (Study 2, published). We further extended [¹⁸F]FDG-PET analysis to the preclinical dementia phase to identify specific disease hypometabolism patterns and correlate metabolism data with amyloid pathology and neuropsychological characterization (Study 3).

Section 2 discusses the role of neuroinflammation in different phases of neurodegenerative dementias. It is introduced by a review on specific neuroinflammatory mechanisms mediated by the receptor tyrosine kinases, involved in both neuronal development neurodegenerative changes. Two studies are presented in section 2. First, microglia activation has been evaluated in EOAD patients, and the relationship with brain glucose metabolism has been analyzed by studying brain network connectivity (Study 4, published). Second, similar methods were used to detect neuroinflammation in a sample of MCI subjects, to test whether microglia activation was associated with metabolism changes already in the prodromal dementia phase (Study 5, published).

RESULTS

Part 1. PET molecular imaging of neurodegeneration, pathology and relationships with clinical manifestations and prognosis in preclinical and prodromal dementia phases

Review 1. PET imaging in dementia conditions (Perani et al., PET and SPECT in Neurology, 2020)

The growing availability of PET neuroimaging techniques for assessing brain function, molecular mechanisms, and neuropathology has opened a new diagnostic and therapeutic approach to neurodegenerative diseases. The following discussion is based on the published review "PET imaging in dementia conditions" (Perani *et al*, 2020), aiming to highlight each technique's corresponding strengths and weaknesses and emphasize methodological challenges and future perspectives. **Figure 13** summarizes PET neuroimaging evidence (neurodegeneration, amyloid, tau and neuroinflammation PET) in dementia spectra, with color gradients indicating magnitude of alteration, namely, the combination of number of reported evidence and consistency.

[¹⁸F]FDG-PET as a marker of neurodegeneration has shown to be precious in diagnosis, evaluating prognosis, staging, and monitoring disease progression (Capitanio *et al*, 2019). One of the central potentials of [¹⁸F]FDG-PET imaging, which relies on the identification of hypometabolism regions, that is, brain areas affected by synaptic dysfunction, consists of revealing disease-specific patterns of neurodegeneration (McKhann *et al*, 2011; Gorno-Tempini *et al*, 2011; Armstrong *et al*, 2013; Rascovsky *et al*, 2011; McKeith *et al*, 2017; Albert *et al*, 2011). Consistent evidence suggests the diagnostic utility of [¹⁸F]FDG-PET in differentiating AD from FTD and AD from DLB, while literature provides less evidence related to the differentiation of AD from vascular dementia and pseudodementia. However, [¹⁸F]FDG-PET is indicated and provides essential information in every circumstance where the clinical picture is unclear (Nestor *et al*, 2018). [¹⁸F]FDG-PET signal analysis critically influences the technique's diagnostic accuracy (Iaccarino *et al*, 2017). The adoption of standardized methodologies ensures uniformity and reliability of results, and several parametric methods have been developed

to provide quantification or semi-quantification measurements of the metabolic signal. The Statistical Parametric Mapping (SPM) allows statistical comparisons of available images at the voxel level, providing maps of brain differences among patients or between patients and normative data (Friston, 1994). The single-subject analysis method, a procedure developed at the IRCCS San Raffaele Hospital, Milan, Italy, permits comparing the single-subject metabolism map and a large dataset of normal controls (N = 112), providing a subject-specific metabolism pattern map (Perani et al, 2014a; Della Rosa et al, 2014). This method has been validated to identify the disease-specific pattern of hypometabolism indicative of different neurodegenerative diseases (Perani et al, 2016). At the single-subject level, [¹⁸F]FDG-PET underlines, in AD patients, the typical temporoparietal, posterior cingulate, and precuneus hypometabolism pattern, which can differentiate AD from non-AD dementia with 94% sensitivity and 86% specificity. Therefore, detecting a specific hypometabolism pattern crucially improves the accuracy of the clinical diagnosis (Perani et al, 2016). The diagnostic accuracy can be even higher when considering other neurodegenerative dementia than AD, reaching 94% accuracy in comparing FTLD and non-FTLD and between DLB and non-DLB forms (Perani et al, 2016). Besides the ability to discriminate between different disease spectra, [¹⁸F]FDG-PET can detect specific hypometabolism patterns within the same disease spectrum. In FTLD, the single-subject analysis revealed two main variants of bvFTD, namely the frontal and the temporal-limbic. In the frontal AD variant, hypometabolism is mainly detected in the prefrontal cortex, either symmetrically or asymmetrically, and correlates with executive and language deficits. In the temporal-limbic variant, hypometabolism regions include the medial temporal lobes and limbic structures, correlating with poor performances in encoding and recall on long-term memory tasks (Cerami et al, 2015b). The clinical-functional relationship may be underlined in the PPA spectrum. Subjects with the semantic variant of PPA may manifest a predominant left or right involvement of the temporal regions. The right semantic variant of PPA hypometabolism predominantly involves the temporal poles, the inferior and middle temporal regions, the insula, the anterior cingulate regions, and the orbitofrontal-cortices, and it is correlated with the clinical development of loss of memory for words and prosopagnosia (Iaccarino et al, 2015). The high value of [¹⁸F]FDG-PET in diagnostic workup is evident also in atypical parkinsonism. The single-subject analysis revealed a disease-specific

hypometabolism pattern in DLB patients consistently involving temporoparietal and occipital regions. The comparison of the specific DLB hypometabolism pattern with AD and PD dementia patterns resulted in a highly great discriminative power, with an overall accuracy higher than 90% (Caminiti *et al*, 2019).

Most importantly, [¹⁸F]FDG-PET improves diagnostic and prognostic evaluation of subjects in the prodromal phase of dementia, with important implications for the development of clinical trials. Brain hypometabolism as detected by [¹⁸F]FDG-PET is highly accurate in predicting conversion from MCI to dementia, including not only AD dementia but also other neurodegenerative etiologies, performing better than other biomarkers such as CSF and brain MRI (Perani et al, 2016; Caminiti et al, 2018; Prestia et al, 2013; Dukart et al, 2016). In addition, it is worthy of note the exclusionary role of ¹⁸F]FDG-PET, since the absence of hypometabolic brain regions testifies the absence of actual signs of neurodegeneration, resulting in a favorable prognosis regardless of the amyloid status (Iaccarino *et al*, 2019). The high prognostic value of [¹⁸F]FDG-PET is crucial for supporting the clinician's disease monitoring and choosing the best therapeutic approach. Consistently, some considerations are needed when considering accuracy in design and planning clinical trials, whose participants' selection strategies rely essentially on the amyloid positivity. Amyloid deposition can also be detected in cognitively unimpaired individuals (Chételat et al, 2013), and no significant or uncertain relationship between amyloid load and cognition has been repeatedly reported (Marchant et al, 2012). Therefore, the inclusion of [¹⁸F]FDG-PET as a screening tool for candidates in clinical trials should be considered due to the ability of this technique to detect neurodegenerative changes indicative for AD or other dementia even in the MCI phase. As a marker of neurodegeneration, [¹⁸F]FDG-PET would optimize trial effectiveness, reducing the number of recruited individuals not in the AD continuum, positively impacting the trial results, and potentially avoiding the exposure to side effects of healthy individuals. In summary, [¹⁸F]FDG-PET has a remarkable ability to underline the typical temporoparietal AD hypometabolism pattern already in the MCI condition, a high value in predicting outcome, and a significant negative predictive role at the single-subject level. For all these reasons [¹⁸F]FDG-PET is recommended to evaluate individuals with MCI with suspicion of underlining AD pathology, and it should be considered a marker of neurodegeneration in enrolling candidates for clinical trials (Chételat et al, 2020).

The great potential in using $[^{18}F]FDG$ -PET to reveal neurodegenerative changes cannot disguise some criticisms, especially in clinical settings, where the employment of quantification methods is not extremely common. The qualitative interpretation of brain metabolism maps, the visual inspection, significantly affect sensitivity and specificity of [¹⁸F]FDG-PET, depending on the clinicians' experience and lacking objective cutoff between normal and pathological findings (Perani et al, 2014b). In 2015 a Cochrane Database systematic review collected and analyzed 14 studies (including a total of 421 participants) aiming to determine the diagnostic accuracy of the [¹⁸F]FDG-PET for predicting progression to AD or other types of dementia in MCI individuals. The analysis concluded for the absence of current evidence supporting the routine use of the [¹⁸F]FDG-PET in clinical practice in MCI subjects. The result is related to the lack of defined pathological thresholds and the extreme variability in specificity values, resulting in an estimated sensitivity of 76% and median specificity of 82% (Smailagic et al, 2015). These findings are mainly due to methodological differences across studies. A subsequent review aimed to clarify the role of [¹⁸F]FDG-PET in predicting AD in MCI subjects compared to structural MRI and perfusion single-photon emission computed tomography. Although both [¹⁸F]FDG-PET and MRI effectively predict AD dementia in MCI condition, the review highlighted the extreme variability in metrics, samples, and outcomes which produced discordant results (A Sanchez-Catasus et al, 2017). Thus, there is a need to employ standardized and validated quantification methods to provide reliable and trustworthy results in research studies and clinical settings.

Amyloid-PET is considered a crucial diagnostic tool in AD dementia workup (Dubois *et al*, 2014). Several working groups have proposed criteria for the appropriate use of amyloid-PET in the clinical setting (Minoshima *et al*, 2016; Guerra *et al*, 2015; Johnson *et al*, 2013a). Amyloid-PET imaging should be performed in patients with confirmed cognitive impairment when the etiology is still unclear after a comprehensive evaluation performed by a clinician expert in evaluating dementia and cognitive decline (Minoshima *et al*, 2016). In addition, amyloid-PET is recommended when knowing the amyloid status of the patient may improve diagnostic accuracy and therapeutic management (Guerra *et al*, 2015). Amyloid-PET should be performed to disentangle differential diagnosis between AD and FTD or between AD and vascular dementia. Moreover, it may help in MCI when AD is the primary suspected etiology, but there is an atypical presentation or

in case of symptoms' onset before 65 years (Johnson et al, 2013b). Conversely, amyloid-PET should not be performed when the patients have typical AD features and typical AD onset, for determining the severity of dementia, or if the subjects are asymptomatic carrying the APOE $\varepsilon 4$ or with a family history of AD (Guerra *et al*, 2015). As reflected by the provided guidelines, the use of amyloid-PET in specific clinical scenarios is crucial. A large multicenter study, with more than 10000 participants included in the analysis, evaluated the role of amyloid PET, used according to the appropriate-use criteria, in changing patients' management, either MCI or patients with dementia. Amyloid-PET positivity was found in 55% of MCI and 70% of patients with dementia. In this large cohort, the use of amyloid-PET was associated with changes in management in more than 60% of the entire sample (Rabinovici et al, 2019). Worthy of note, amyloid-PET positivity is associated, in MCI subjects, with a higher risk to convert to AD dementia, while a normal cortical amyloid load is associated with long-term stability (Ma *et al*, 2014). Both cortical amyloid- β deposition and CSF outcome measures are strictly convergent and similar predictors of conversion (Hansson et al, 2018). In an early study using [¹¹C]-PiB-PET, in a population including 31 MCI subjects, 55% showed amyloid-PET positivity and 82% of these converted to AD during a 3-year follow-up, while only one of the 14 amyloid-PET negative MCI progressed to dementia (Okello et al, 2009). In a subsequent study in a larger sample including AD patients, MCI and healthy controls and employing [¹⁸F]Florbetapir-PET, amyloid-PET positivity was associated in MCI and healthy controls with more significant clinical worsening (Doraiswamy et al, 2014). Further studies confirmed the ability of amyloid-PET in predicting conversion to AD in MCI individuals (Ciarmiello et al, 2019; Frings et al, 2018).

In the last decades, the development of monoclonal antibodies targeting amyloid- β as promising therapeutic agents for AD led to the inclusion of amyloid-PET as an effective screening tool for candidates at the early stage of dementia (Sevigny *et al*, 2016). However, there are several limitations in the use of amyloid-PET in both clinical and research. The pathological amyloid load can be detected by amyloid-PET in almost all AD patients, but cognitively normal elderly may present falsely positive scans (Suppiah *et al*, 2019). In cognitively normal individuals aged more than 70 years, the incidence of amyloid PET positivity is approximately 13% per year (Jack *et al*, 2013). The evidence of amyloid-PET positivity in the older adult with normal cognition is the main limitation of this diagnostic tool. The rate of amyloid-PET positivity increases with age, ranging from 10% to 44% in individuals with normal cognition in the age between 50 and 90 years (Jansen et al, 2015). Another major limitation is the low specificity of amyloid-PET in evaluating patients with non-AD dementia, especially in elderly patients, which may have an abnormal amyloid load. Brain amyloidosis is not an exclusive feature of AD dementia. It can be present in other neurodegenerative conditions, including CAA, DLB, vascular dementia, and FTLD, increasing in aged individuals and APOE $\varepsilon 4$ carriers (Ossenkoppele et al, 2015). Amyloid-PET is often positive in DLB patients and in CAA (Seo *et al*, 2017; Petrou *et al*, 2015). In addition, amyloid- β deposition can be seen in atypical AD and in FTLD, especially in patients with older age (Whitwell et al, 2020). When evaluating patients within the AD spectrum, amyloid-PET fails in underlying interindividual differences (Dronse et al, 2017). Furthermore, although amyloid positive individuals show worse longitudinal cognitive decline than amyloid negative subjects, several studies showed absent or poor correlation between amyloid deposition and neurodegenerative changes (either brain hypometabolism or atrophy) and cognitive decline (Koivunen et al, 2011; Altmann et al, 2015). The lack of association between cortical amyloid deposition and neurodegenerative regions can be partly explained by the affinity of amyloid-PET radiotracers, which is high for the fibrillar insoluble amyloid- β plaques but low for the more neurotoxic oligomeric forms (Kayed & Lasagna-Reeves, 2013). In addition, the uncertain association between amyloid deposition and clinical symptoms has led to questioning the amyloid cascade hypothesis, which identifies amyloid- β deposition as the driving causative alteration in AD pathogenesis (Selkoe & Hardy, 2016). The need for reconsidering the role of amyloidopathy was also raised about the failure of several clinical trials for AD, where the reduction of amyloid plaques could be reached but without showing significant effects on clinical symptoms or without positively impacting on cognitive decline (Sevigny et al, 2016). Lastly, amyloid-PET imaging evaluation may adopt qualitative and quantitative analysis, and different methods for quantification, depending on scan type, tracer properties, signal correction, identification of a reference region, the choice of a specific cutoff of normality, which increases variability and uncertainty regarding the precise definition of abnormal amyloid levels (Alongi et al, 2021). In the clinical setting, the interpretation of the amyloid-PET scan is essentially based on the visual assessment, rating the scan as either positive or negative and neglecting the possibility to have an equivocal visual classification (Payoux *et al*, 2015). Different quantification methods for amyloid-PET imaging have been proposed to improve classification accuracy, but further validation is needed to reveal the clinical meaningfulness of regional amyloid distribution. (Alongi *et al*, 2021)

Tau-PET represents one of the most interesting molecular imaging techniques in the field of neurodegeneration. It allows visualizing tau deposition in living patients, reflecting tau distribution as shown by *post-mortem* studies. Tau deposition is related to neurodegenerative changes, thus correlating with brain hypometabolism and atrophy and to clinical decline, being useful in disease diagnosis, prediction of prognosis, and staging (Villemagne et al, 2018). Flortaucipir, the most used tau tracer, showed a specific regional distribution depending on the clinical subtypes in different AD presentations. In typical AD cases, dominated by the amnestic decline, flortaucipir distribution involves mainly temporoparietal regions. On the other hand, in the PCA variant, tracer binding is predominant in the occipital and parietal cortices, in the logopenic variant involves the left temporal-parietal cortex, and in the corticobasal syndrome involves the primary and association sensorimotor cortices asymmetrically (Xia et al, 2017). Thus, in contrast with amyloid- β imaging, tau-PET is a crucial tool in revealing the topographical distribution of pathological changes and correlations with clinical impairment (Villemagne et al, 2018). Notably, the correspondence between topographical tau distribution and neurodegeneration and, consequently, with clinical symptoms, is present in the AD spectrum since the preclinical phase, following a gradient of deposition aiding the clinical classification. Significant abnormal cortical tau deposition has been reported in AD patients and MCI subjects compared with normal controls, and the presence of high tau tracer binding in the inferior temporal gyrus was associated with clinical impairment (Johnson et al, 2016). Thus, tau PET imaging, which is strictly related to the p-tau measurement in CSF, can identify AD patients with high accuracy (Mattsson et al, 2018). In addition, tau-PET provided interesting findings in cognitively unimpaired individuals, which fed the discussion about the amyloid cascade hypothesis. A recent study investigated longitudinal tau-PET changes in cognitively impaired and cognitively unimpaired participants to determine variables predicting tau deposition. In cognitively unimpaired individuals, a higher rate of tau deposition was associated with baseline abnormal amyloid-PET, while in cognitively impaired subjects, abnormal amyloid-PET,

APOE $\varepsilon 4$, and younger age (i.e., EOAD) were predictors of longitudinal higher tau deposition (Jack Jr *et al*, 2020). These findings add important evidence for screening candidates in clinical trials targeting amyloid and tau since amyloid deposition showed to facilitate longitudinal tau accumulation, which is associated with faster cognitive decline (Jack Jr *et al*, 2018b). In conclusion, tau-PET can be considered a valid candidate biomarker to predict AD progression and monitor disease and response to therapy.

Less clear evidence has been reported in other tauopathies than AD. Studies using several tau-PET tracers reported significant tracer uptake in disease-specific regions, such as basal ganglia in PSP (Whitwell et al, 2017b), frontoparietal and subcortical regions in CBD (Smith et al, 2017), frontotemporal regions in FTD (Spina et al, 2017). However, also contrasting results have been reported. High tau-tracer retention has also been reported in patients with the svPPA with TDP-43 pathology in affected regions, namely temporal lobes and insula (Bevan-Jones et al, 2018), and limited differences among tauopathies such as bvFTD and CBD have been demonstrated, confirming the unclear sensitivity and specificity of tau-PET in distinguishing tauopathies other than AD (Tsai et al, 2019). The lack of selectivity of the current tau-PET tracers in tauopathies represents the main criticism in tau-PET imaging. While flortaucipir demonstrated a high affinity for the 3R/4R AD tauopathy, the affinity for other tau isoforms, namely the 4R, typical for PSP and CBD, or the 3R, which characterizes the Pick disease, has not been validated (Marquié et al, 2015). In addition, off-target binding of all currently used tau-PET tracers needs to be considered. Subcortical tau-tracer off-target binding to molecules other than tau deposits, such as neuromelanin, hampers to obtain solid diagnostic results in several tauopathies (Lowe et al, 2016). Finally, suitable and reliable quantification approaches are still to be defined, and all these criticisms limit the diagnostic utility of tau-PET, especially in non-AD tauopathies.

PET imaging of neuroinflammation has provided fundamental insights into the *in vivo* characterization of the pathological mechanisms underlying neurodegenerative diseases. TSPO overexpression is a reliable marker of neuroinflammatory responses in general and, specifically, its production is largely due to microglia activation (Jain *et al*, 2020). Since microglia activation seems to be higher in regions affected by neurodegenerative changes, TSPO-PET has been proposed as a useful tool in providing differential diagnosis among neurodegenerative disorders and their subtypes. A study using the [¹¹C]PK11195, the

most validated TSPO tracer, showed a different pattern of microglia activation in AD and PSP, with increased tracer binding in cortical temporal, parietal and occipital regions in AD patients and higher subcortical TSPO expression in PSP patients (Passamonti et al, 2018). Another study analyzed the cortical binding of $[^{11}C]PBR28$, a second generation TSPO tracer, in AD subtypes. While typical AD showed higher tracer uptake in inferior and medio-temporal cortex, PCA patients had higher microglia activation in occipital, posterior parietal and temporal regions (Kreisl et al, 2017). In addition, microglia activation seems to correlate with clinical impairment. In AD patients, TSPO overexpression inversely correlate with neuropsychological performances (Kreisl et al, 2013). Again, different correlations can be underlined in different neurodegenerative disorders, since TSPO levels in the cuneus/precuneus correlate with memory impairment in AD, while basal ganglia microglia activation correlate with motor impairment in PSP (Passamonti et al, 2018). The relationship between microglia activation and clinical impairment is confirmed by the correlations between TSPO overexpression and brain atrophy and hypometabolism (Kreisl et al, 2013). Microglia activation may provide information also relating the longitudinal progression of neurodegenerative changes, and especially in AD, where both temporo-parietal tau pathology and anterior temporal TSPO overexpression have shown to predict cognitive decline in demented patients (Malpetti et al, 2020). All these findings confirm that TSPO-PET imaging may serve a s a tool in staging diseases, monitor disease progression and possibly monitor response to therapy. Imaging of neuroinflammation has already been used to monitor novel potential diseasemodifying therapies indeed. The compound AZD3241 is an inhibitor of myeloperoxidase, an enzyme expressed by microglia generating reactive oxygen species. AZD3241 has been used in a phase 2 trial in PD patients to reduce microglia activation. After eight weeks of treatment, PD patients showed reduced [¹¹C]PBR28 binding in several regions, including the nigrostriatal region (Jucaite et al, 2015). Another study tested the ability of the antibiotic minocycline in reducing microglia activation in MSA. While [¹¹C]PK11195-PET showed a longitudinal reduction in microglia activation in the treated group after 48 weeks, no clinical effect on symptoms severity as assessed by clinical motor function was evident, suggesting that reducing microglia activation does not necessarily generate clinical improvement (Dodel et al, 2010).

The lack of clinical repercussion in using anti-inflammatory therapies in neurodegenerative disorders confirms some criticism in using TSPO imaging. Current TSPO tracers do not discriminate between microglia activation and astrocytosis nor distinguish between different microglia phenotypes. Different phenotypes of microglia, proinflammatory, and anti-inflammatory may act in different disease phases of the neurodegenerative process. Thus, distinguish between the neuroprotective and the deleterious responses is crucial for evaluating the effectiveness of therapies. Another limitation in the use of TSPO imaging needs to be considered. The widely and heterogeneous expression of the TSPO across the brain hampers identifying a clear reference region. To overcome this limit, clustering methods have been proposed. However, the adoption of different quantification methods and analysis of tracers with different kinetic properties can explain why contrasting results emerged relating the type and the amount of inflammatory response in different neurodegenerative and psychiatric disorders (Turkheimer et al, 2015). Other methodological caveats have emerged using TSPO-PET tracers. [¹¹C]PK11195 has a low brain permeability, limiting its entrance to the brain parenchyma. In addition, it has a high non-specific binding to plasma proteins, resulting in a low signal-to-noise ratio and low specificity (Liu et al, 2014). A moderate intraindividual reproducibility has also been reported (Jučaite et al, 2012). Due to the ¹¹C]PK11195 chemical and kinetical limitations, several second-generation tracers have been developed to improve signal specificity and quality (Fujita et al, 2017). All secondgeneration tracers, however, share a further critical limitation. Since the first studies, both patients and healthy controls showed large interindividual variability in TSPO secondgeneration tracers binding. Some subjects presented detectable brain signal, while others showed an absence of tracer binding. This significant variability is due to the presence of a polymorphism in the TSPO gene, the rs6971, which affects the binding properties of the TSPO. In brief, three different genotypes can exist with different binding affinity for TSPO tracers, respectively low, mixed, and high-affinity binding (Owen et al, 2012). Low-affinity binder individuals show a negligible TSPO-PET signal. Therefore, the enrollment of these subjects in PET studies is pointless, and they are usually excluded. On the other hand, subjects with high and mixed affinity binding may show notable variability in the TSPO signal. Hence a genotype evaluation is mandatory before the enrollment to avoid inaccuracies in the elaboration of results. Third-generation tracers are

currently under evaluation, overcoming the limitation of low signal-to-noise ratio and insensitive to the TSPO rs6971 polymorphism, but their clinical relevance still needs confirmation (Best *et al*, 2019).

In summary, neuroinflammation is a complex response to harmful stimuli, and its exaggerated activation may drive neurodegenerative changes. TSPO imaging revealed *in vivo* microglia activation in several neurodegenerative disorders. However, the potential to aid diagnosis, monitor disease progression, and test new therapeutic strategies need further evaluation.



Figure 13. PET neuroimaging evidence of neurodegeneration, amyloid, tau and neuroinflammation in dementia spectra. The color gradient indicates the strength of the evidence, which is higher for all the techniques in the AD spectrum, while in the other dementia spectra, only [¹⁸F]FDG-PET and, partly, tau-PET show consistency across studies (source: Perani *et al.*, 2020).

Review 2. Brain Molecular Connectivity in Neurodegenerative Conditions (Carli et al., Brain Sci. 2021)

The pathophysiological hypothesis on neurodegeneration considers loco-regional anatomical, molecular, and biochemical changes and the relationship between different brain regions connected in functional and metabolic networks (Palop *et al*, 2006). The connectivity approach initially relied on MRI, namely, functional MRI to assess functional connectivity and diffusion tensor imaging to assess structural connectivity, as well as electroencephalography and magnetoencephalography. More recently, the assessment of brain molecular connectivity employing PET imaging data emerged as a new tool for investigating long-distance network alteration in neurodegenerative diseases (Sala & Perani, 2019). The following discussion is based on the published review "Brain Molecular Connectivity in Neurodegenerative Conditions" (Carli *et al*, 2021), summarizing the most recent advances in brain molecular and metabolic connectivity in neurodegenerative diseases, particularly in the AD spectrum and in the α -synuclein spectrum.

The brain as a complex system can be considered both a "passive" or an "active" player in brain disorders. The neurodegenerative cascade, usually starting with misfolded proteins deposition and precipitating with a series of pathological events, leads to the damage of high-order brain networks, which reverberate to distant brain regions (Sala & Perani, 2019). The pathological process in a specific region promotes the reorganization of long-distance interconnection. The brain, which in this view is considered a passive target of pathology, also has dynamic properties providing a re-modulation of the network in response to neuronal damage (Palop et al, 2006). However, recent evidence suggests that neuronal interconnections play an active role in pathological transmission, which follows a prototypical pattern depending on the neurodegenerative substrate (Seeley, 2017). In other words, pathology transmission follows a specific topography in each neurodegenerative disorder, as shown by autoptic studies, and pathological proteins can spread through synapses together with neuronal interconnections in a prion-like manner (Frost & Diamond, 2010). In this vein, the brain network actively facilitates the spread of pathology, representing the topographical constraint in which the pathological alterations can disseminate from the initial site (Zhou et al, 2012). Neuroimaging studies confirm both the passive and active role of brain networks, showing specific connectivity alterations in neurodegenerative disease and, at the same time, delineating topographical diffusion of pathology proceeding with disease progression (Seeley, 2017).

The basic assumption of metabolic connectivity is that brain regions with correlated glucose consumption are functionally connected. This concept has been initially applied in AD. The default mode network is the most analyzed in metabolic connectivity studies in the AD spectrum, since it involves AD signature regions, including the posterior cingulate cortex, the precuneus, temporoparietal cortex, and the medial temporal cortex (Herholz et al, 2018). A derangement of the default mode network has been reported in AD patients and MCI subjects (Morbelli et al, 2012; Huang et al, 2018), with the latter condition showing intermediate alterations between normal cognition and AD (Pagani et al, 2017). Figure 14 represents the typical derangement of the default mode network detectable in AD patients compared with controls. Amyloid- β deposition seems to drive brain network alterations starting from the preclinical phase of dementia, showing a cumulative effect in healthy individuals, MCI, and AD patients (Carbonell et al, 2016). Altered metabolic connectivity may show different features according to the clinical phenotype of AD. Typical AD patients manifest a peculiar disconnection between the posterior cingulate and the hippocampus (Herholz et al, 2018). EOAD patients have a more extensive brain network disruption, correlating with the severity of dementia (Chung et al, 2016). In addition, specific brain network abnormalities correlate with clinical impairment, as shown in EOAD, where neuropsychiatric disturbances were related to dysfunctional changes in brain metabolic connectivity (Ballarini et al, 2016). Lastly, metabolic connectivity studies comparing AD and patients affected by other types of dementia, including FTLD and DLB, showed that characteristic alterations in brain network organization could be detected in different neurodegenerative disorders, aiding differential diagnosis (Titov et al, 2017; Imai et al, 2020). The ability to detect early network dysfunctions, underline specific abnormalities related to the clinical phenotype, and the evidence of a correlation between network alterations and clinical impairment, make metabolic connectivity a promising technique to evaluate subjects in the AD continuum, from the preclinical to the overt dementia phase.

Despite what is evident in the AD spectrum, where specific alterations of the default mode network can be detected already in the early phase, in the α -synuclein spectrum,

considering PD, PDD, and DLB, connectivity derangements can involve multiple largescale networks (Sala & Perani, 2019). PD patients show brain metabolic connectivity alterations in multiple networks, predominantly in the frontal components of the default mode network, attentional, executive, and motor network (Sala et al, 2017). Abnormalities in brain metabolic connectivity reflect clinical impairment, and default mode network is significantly affected in PD patients with MCI than PD patients without cognitive impairment (Spetsieris et al, 2015). Posterior cortical damage in PD patients seems to predict cognitive decline (Kehagia et al, 2013), while frontal abnormalities have been associated with neuropsychiatric disturbances (Schwartz et al, 2019). Consistent evidence of a link between brain network metabolic alterations and clinical impairment has also been reported in DLB patients, showing visuospatial impairment correlating with impaired metabolic connectivity in the primary and associative visual networks, and executive deficits correlating with alterations in frontal metabolic connectivity (Sala et al, 2019b). In addition, in DLB patients, impaired connectivity in the default mode network, attention network, and visual network have been associated with the development of visual Hallucinations (Iaccarino et al, 2018c; Sala et al, 2019b).

Molecular connectivity analysis also allows for tracking specific neurotransmission system alterations starting from the metabolism data of that system. Therefore, [¹⁸F]FDG-PET can be used to investigate metabolic connectivity of the dopaminergic neurotransmission system, providing molecular information on the dopaminergic pathway (Sala *et al*, 2017). These details are of particular interest in the study of α -synucleinopathies. For example, both PD and DLB patients show moderate and severe abnormalities in the Nigro-striato-cortical dopaminergic network, in line with striatal dopaminergic studies employing the dopamine-transporter scan (Verger *et al*, 2020). However, the most intriguing findings regard individuals with the isolated rapid-eye-movement sleep behavior disorder, considered the prodromal stage of several α -synucleinopathies (Högl *et al*, 2018). In these cases, only minimal changes in the Nigro-striato-cortical dopaminergic and cholinergic) are affected by reconfiguration changes, again confirming that the α -synuclein spectrum is characterized by multiple neurotransmission system dysfunctions (Carli *et al*, 2020).

There are some methodological issues related to the brain metabolic connectivity approaches limiting the broad utilization of this technique in clinical and research. The main limitation regards the low spatial resolution of PET imaging, which hampers precise evaluation of small brain nuclei such as midbrain nuclei and the related brain connections (Boellaard, 2009). Furthermore, based on complex covariance patterns, brain network connectivity refers to statistical and mathematical approaches whose biological meaning cannot consistently be demonstrated. In addition, the multivariate analysis methods used in the metabolic connectivity analysis may vary between laboratories and investigators, making challenging the validation of results (Veronese et al, 2019). Lastly, to date, the study of metabolic connectivity is permitted only at the group level due to the static nature of PET imaging, while single-subject level analysis would allow obtaining more accurate and predictive data. Despite these well-known limitations, brain metabolic connectivity analysis offers the possibility to underline functional mechanism alterations in neurodegenerative disease. Brain network abnormalities can be detectable in the early stage of neurodegeneration, providing a potential instrument to monitor disease progression and to evaluate response to therapy.



Alteration of large resting-state network

Figure 14. Metabolic connectivity derangements in the default mode network in Alzheimer's disease (source: Carli *et al.*, 2021).

Study 1. Role of imaging biomarkers in the classification of MCI condition as defined by the NIA-AA criteria. Preliminary data analysis

Currently, phase 3 trials experimenting disease-modifying therapy for AD are enrolling patients with mild to moderate AD dementia, subjects with prodromal AD, specifically MCI subjects with biomarker evidence of AD pathology, and preclinical AD, namely normal participants at risk for AD (Cummings et al, 2021b). Great expectancies have been placed in the enrollment of MCI subjects as the possible target for therapeutic strategies aiming to modify progression to dementia (Sevigny et al, 2016; Sperling et al, 2014). MCI is a common condition in the elderly, reaching an overall prevalence of 10.1% in individuals aged 70-74 years, 14.8% for ages 75-79, and 25.2% for ages 80-84 (Petersen et al, 2018). Although MCI can be the initial manifestation of AD, it can be due to other neurological, psychiatric or systemic disorders (Huey et al, 2013). Consistent evidence showed that MCI subjects have an increased risk of progression to dementia when compared with age-matched unimpaired individuals (Di Carlo et al, 2007; Boyle et al, 2006). The estimated cumulative incidence for the development of dementia in MCI subjects aged more than 65 years is 14.9% after two years (Petersen et al, 2018). However, extreme variability in conversion rate and the prognosis is observed in prodromal AD (Ward et al, 2013). In addition, reversion to normal cognition on followup has been reported to range from 15 to 50% of individuals with MCI (Thomas et al, 2019; Roberts et al, 2014; Canevelli et al, 2016). Starting from these premises, the MCI candidates' selection for clinical trials should be very accurate to exclude individuals who will never convert to AD, avoid exposure to side effects and resource consumption, and eliminate bias in evaluating beneficial effects.

Among biomarkers used for stratifying subjects according to their risk to convert to dementia, [¹⁸F]FDG-PET plays a leading role. The employment of standardized analysis methods for glucose metabolism signal leads to high diagnostic and prognostic accuracy (Perani *et al*, 2016). However, contrasting results have been reported, primarily due to methodological criticisms, heterogeneity in sample selection, or the use of visual assessment (Frings *et al*, 2018). A recent study including more than 300 MCI subjects from the ADNI database examined the predictive role for conversion to dementia of [¹⁸F]FDG-PET, amyloid-PET, and non-imaging biomarkers, alone or in combination.

PET imaging was analyzed using voxel-wise principle-components analysis, which allowed to compare predictive values of both methodologies. [¹⁸F]FDG-PET outperformed amyloid-PET in prediction accuracy. However, non-imaging variables in combination (including cognitive and functional scales and *APOE* genotype) outperformed both PET imaging techniques. The combination of imaging and non-imaging predictors showed the highest accuracy in predicting conversion to dementia (Blazhenets *et al*, 2020). These findings are in line with previous results. Another study employing multiple biomarkers tested the accuracy of predictors of AD progression in 73 MCI subjects, reporting that the combination of CSF, amyloid- β 42 value and [¹⁸F]FDG-PET reached the highest positive likelihood ratios. Negativity to all predictors was associated with 100% stability. [¹⁸F]FDG-PET was the individual biomarker showing the best performance in predicting MCI progression (Prestia *et al*, 2015).

MRI in an important neuroimaging biomarker able to identify early regional changes associated with the future development of dementia in MCI populations (Whitwell *et al*, 2007). Atrophy starts in the medial temporal lobes and extends to the hippocampus, middle temporal gyrus, and parietal lobe. Medial temporal lobe atrophy, especially with other biomarkers, predicts conversion to dementia with high accuracy (Galluzzi *et al*, 2010; Jack Jr *et al*, 2010b; Trzepacz *et al*, 2014). However, the accuracy in predicting dementia conversion may be influenced by the method of assessing atrophy (Lombardi *et al*, 2020). Validated visual rating scales and quantitative volumetric measures are available (Frisoni *et al*, 2017). Quantitative methods include manual regions of interest approaches and semi-automated and automated segmentation techniques, permitting the identification of normality thresholds (De Francesco *et al*, 2021).

This work presents preliminary data analysis from the Interceptor Project, an Italian multicenter cohort study funded by the Italian Ministry of Health and the Italian Medicines Agency and launched in 2018 (Rossini *et al*, 2019). The study focuses on the MCI condition as defined by the NIA-AA criteria (Albert *et al*, 2011) and has enrolled 400 subjects consecutively diagnosed with MCI at 20 Italian Centers for Cognitive Disorders and Dementia. The project aims to identify a biomarker, or a combination of biomarkers, able to predict with greater accuracy the conversion of MCI to AD dementia after three years of follow-up. In addition, the analysis will include the rate of conversion to dementia other than AD, the rate of stability and reversion and factors associated with

favorable prognosis, and the financial sustainability of the multiple biomarkers approach. The project, lasting 54 months with a six-month follow-up, includes cognitive, neuropsychological, imaging, CSF, genetic, and neurophysiological biomarkers. Specifically, as cognitive and neuropsychological biomarkers, have been included the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) (Folstein *et al*, 1975; Magni *et al*, 1996) and the Free and Cued Selective Reminding Test (FCSRT) (Clerici *et al*, 2017; Frasson *et al*, 2011), associated with an extended neuropsychological evaluation comprising test to evaluate memory, language, visuospatial, executive functions. Imaging biomarkers comprise structural MRI hippocampal volumetry and [¹⁸F]FDG-PET analysis. CSF measures include amyloid- β 40, amyloid- β 40, t-tau, p-tau, and the tau/amyloid- β ratios. All included subjects are tested for the *APOE* genotype, with at least one *APOE* ε 4 allele as genetic biomarkers. Electroencephalography with functional connectivity analysis has been considered as a neurophysiological biomarker to predict conversion from MCI to AD. See the "Materials and methods" section for further details on the selection of biomarkers, MCI inclusion and exclusion criteria, and data analysis.

This preliminary work presents [¹⁸F]FDG-PET and MRI structural data with volumetric analysis of the hippocampal region. The SPM single-subject method has been applied on the all available [¹⁸F]FDG-PET scans, testing each scan for relative hypometabolism through a two-sample t-test (implemented in SPM12) comparing the image on a voxel-by-voxel basis with a large normal database (N = 112) of $[^{18}F]$ -FDG PET images, including age as covariate (Perani et al, 2014a). This method has shown high accuracy in predicting conversion from the MCI condition to AD dementia and other neurodegenerative diseases and predicting long-term clinical stability (Caminiti et al, 2018; Iaccarino et al, 2019). In addition, this method has shown to be valid in analyzing images acquired from different scans (Presotto et al, 2018a), thus being particularly useful in handling multicenter studies data. The single-subject method allows obtaining the subject-specific map of brain hypometabolism, which can be visually rated into different patterns: a) normal brain metabolism; b) temporo-parietal hypometabolism, namely ADlike pattern (Perani et al, 2016; Cerami et al, 2015c); c) hypometabolism in the frontal cortex, specifically frontal-like pattern (Cerami et al, 2015c); d) temporo-parietal and occipital hypometabolism, namely DLB-like pattern (Caminiti et al, 2017); e) striatal or cerebellar hypometabolism, the MSA-like pattern (Caminiti et al, 2017); f) limbicpredominant or medial-temporal pattern (Cerami et al, 2018). Figure 15 represents single-subject SPM hypometabolism patterns indicative of different underlying etiologies, in the AD and in the non-AD spectrum. A total of 369 [¹⁸F]FDG-PET has been analyzed (mean age \pm standard deviation 71.44 \pm 9.43 years, female/male = 189/180). Eighteen scans were excluded due to artifacts. Of the resulting 351 images, N = 280 (80%)were classified as abnormal hypometabolism patter. The AD-like hypometabolism pattern was present in N = 140/351 MCI subjects (40%). In the AD-like pattern group, most MCI subjects present a typical AD pattern (N = 110, 79%). Among the atypical AD patterns, the most frequent was the PCA (N = 15; 11%), followed by the frontal AD variant (N = 10; 7%) and by the logopenic variant PPA (N = 5; 3%). The non-AD hypometabolism pattern was evident in N = 140/351 (40%) of MCI subjects. Among non-AD hypometabolism patterns, the most frequent was the medial-temporal hypometabolism pattern (limbic-predominant) (N = 58; 41%), followed by the frontal like-pattern (N = 42; 30%), and the DLB (N = 6; 4%) and MSA patterns (N = 5; 4%). Subjects showing multiple cortical and subcortical spots of hypometabolism, as in vascular cognitive impairment, were classified in the cerebrovascular/nonneurodegenerative patter (N = 29; 21%).

Hippocampal volume analysis has been conducted with the FreeSurfer pipeline for brain segmentation (Fischl, 2012). The automated method allows to obtain right and left hippocampal volumes in each individual, which is normalized to the intracranial volume and compared to a normal control database for identifying MCI subjects whose hippocampal volume results is below the fifth percentile. The FreeSurfer segmentation has been applied to the MCI subsample showing an AD-like hypometabolism pattern. Results are presented in **Figure 16**. MRI was available for 120 MCI subjects. Left or right hippocampal atrophy has been detected in N = 38 MCI subjects (32%). Significant hippocampal volume reduction increases with increasing age (**Figure 16**).

Overall, [¹⁸F]FDG-PET analysis revealed, in a large sample of MCI, that 40% of the population has an AD-like hypometabolism pattern, while the same percentage shows a non-AD hypometabolism pattern, indicative for e different etiology than AD. In this subsample, a quote corresponding to 16% of the total is represented by limbic-predominant MCI, a condition associated with long-term clinical stability (Cerami *et al*, 2018). The hippocampal volumetry analysis applied to the [¹⁸F]FDG-PET AD-like

pattern group shows a high rate of hippocampal atrophy and a significant difference with the normal controls group. The integration of [¹⁸F]FDG-PET and MRI data and the longitudinal assessment of MCI subjects included in this study will clarify the two biomarkers' predictive combined value.



 $\int_{4}^{4} \int_{4}^{2} \int_{3}^{3} \int_{4}^{3} \int_{4$



Lv-AD pattern



Figure 15. Examples of single-subject [¹⁸F]FDG-PET SPM maps in Mild Cognitive Impairment individuals.



Figure 16. Hippocampal volume (left and right) in 120 MCI individuals with AD-like hypometabolism patter. Red circles indicate individuals whose hippocampal volume resulted below the fifth percentile in comparison with normal values, thus showing hippocampal atrophy.

Study 2. Biomarker-based stability in limbic-predominant amnestic mild cognitive impairment (Tondo et al., Eur J Neurol. 2020a)

MCI is considered an intermediate state between normal aging and dementia. This condition may be due to several possible etiologies, and it is very heterogeneous from the clinical and prognostic points of view. The amnestic type of MCI represents the most common prodromal stage of AD (Dubois et al, 2014). However, there is evidence of individuals with long-lasting memory deficits, signs of temporal lobe dysfunction, and long-term clinical stability (Cerami et al, 2018). The amnestic MCI subjects with focal temporal lobe dysfunction are usually aged individuals with isolated memory syndrome of the hippocampal type. In these limbic-predominant MCI cases, possible etiologies include hippocampal sclerosis, argyrophilic grain disease, PART, or the LATE, which has been proposed as the principal etiology in suspected non-AD pathology subjects and cognitive impaired individuals with evidence of neurodegeneration without concomitant tauopathy (Nelson et al, 2019). The limbic-predominant amnestic MCI subjects may be clinically indistinguishable from the amnestic MCI due to AD (Albert et al, 2011). Therefore, the investigation of biomarkers is crucial in this circumstance, especially considering that the selection of candidates for clinical trials in AD should avoid the recruitment of subjects clinically mimicking MCI due to AD, but who will remain stable over time (Iaccarino et al, 2019). In vivo biomarkers are decisive in MCI subjects for personalized medicine and in planning clinical trials, avoiding diagnostic and prognostic mistakes.

Several studies in the ADNI population suggested that the ATN system provides essential information in evaluating prognosis in amnestic MCI. Low CSF levels of amyloid- β or high cortical tracer uptake at the amyloid-PET represent valid proxies for amyloidosis in AD, while other biomarkers, including t-tau and p-tau CSF levels and brain atrophy as detected at the MRI, are less specific for AD (Jack Jr *et al*, 2020; Bittar *et al*, 2020). [¹⁸F]FDG-PET, as a biomarker of neuronal dysfunction associated with neurodegenerative processes, can predict conversion from the MCI condition to AD dementia or other dementias with high accuracy, identifying brain hypometabolism patterns highly disease-specific already in the prodromal phase of dementia, and outperforming than other biomarkers including CSF and brain MRI (Caminiti *et al*, 2018; Perani *et al*, 2016). In addition, [¹⁸F]FDG-PET can predict long-term clinical stability, even in the presence of biomarker alterations suggestive for AD pathology (Iaccarino *et al*, 2019).

Data presented in this section are published in the study "Biomarker-based stability in limbic-predominant amnestic mild cognitive impairment" (Tondo et al, 2020a). The work aimed to define the role of *in vivo* biomarkers of neurodegeneration and pathology, including brain hypometabolism, as detected by [18F]FDG-PET, and brain pathology, as studied by CSF analysis, in amnestic MCI individuals, by assessing the accuracy of each biomarker in estimating outcomes. Subjects were included from the HSR database and the ADNI database. A total of 142 amnestic MCI were involved, all having a long followup period (>4 years), CSF analysis at the baseline, and $[^{18}F]FDG-PET$. According to the ¹⁸F]FDG-PET SPM map at the baseline, amnestic MCI subjects were classified into two groups. The first group included limbic-predominant amnestic MCI, N = 80 (mean follow-up 8.2 \pm 3.30 years), showing hypometabolism in the medial temporal lobe and limbic structures. The second group was composed of AD-like amnestic MCI, N = 62(mean follow-up 6.47 ± 2.07 years), showing hypometabolism in the temporoparietal regions, precuneus, and posterior cingulate cortex. Figure 17 shows results from the [¹⁸F]FDG-PET SPM single-subject analysis, with examples of subjects showing the limbic-predominant hypometabolism pattern and prototypical subjects with the AD-like pattern. Cognitive, neuropsychological, and functional scores were available at the baseline and the follow-up for all included subjects. CSF measures included amyloid- β 42, t-tau, and p-tau levels, and they were evaluated both as a single measure and in combination (ratios), with the corresponding cutoff values provided by the manufacturer's recommendations and literature guidelines. amnestic MCI subjects in the two groups (limbic-predominant amnestic MCI and AD-like amnestic MCI) were further sub-classified according to the ATN system in subjects with an AD profile (A+, T+, N+ or A+, T-, N+) and subjects with a non-AD profile (A-, T+, N+ or A-, T-, N+), and progression to dementia was also compared according to the specific ATN profile. For a complete description of sample selection, clinical assessment, neuroimaging, CSF, and statistical analysis, see the "Materials and methods" section.

Table 1 lists cognitive, functional, CSF and genetic features in the limbic-predominant

 amnestic MCI and the AD-like amnestic MCI groups. At the baseline, all amnestic MCI

subjects had normal MMSE and CDR global scores, no impairment in daily functioning, no differences in cognitive and clinical assessments. No significant changes in clinical, cognitive, and functional measures were observed at the follow-up in the limbic-predominant amnestic MCI group. In contrast, the AD-like amnestic MCI group showed a significant drop in MMSE and CDR scores at the follow-up with significant concomitant impairment in daily functioning autonomy.

AMNESTIC MCI	LIMBIC- PREDOMINANT Baseline (N=80)	AD-LIKE Baseline (N=62)	p-value	LIMBIC- PREDOMINANT Follow-up (N=80)	AD-LIKE Follow- up (N=62)	p-value
Female/male	32/48	35/27	-	-	-	-
Education, years	13.69 ± 4.56	13.95 ± 4.57	0.733	-	-	-
Age, years	74.28 ± 5.40	71.14 ± 6.39	0.002	78.78 ± 5.26	73.76 ± 6.87	0.000
Disease duration, years	4.05 ± 2.44	4.05 ± 2.51	0.557	8.20 ± 3.30	6.47 ± 2.70	0.000
MMSE score	25.73 ± 2.06	25.40 ± 1.81	0.481	25.05 ± 2.58	19.67 ± 5.71	0.000
CDR score	0.50 ± 0.00	0.50 ± 0.00	-	0.56 ± 0.34	0.70 ± 0.25	0.000
IADL score	6.77 ± 1.31	7.01 ± 1.55	0.199	6.33 ± 1.13	5.45 ± 1.99	0.111
FAQ score	4.14 ± 5.98	4.14 ± 4.03	0.239	6.85 ± 8.83	9.98 ± 6.69	0.009
CSF amyloid- β positivity, N (%)	43 (54)	55 (89)	-	-	-	-
CSF t-tau positivity, N (%)	35 (44)	40 (65)		-		-
CSF p-tau positivity, N (%)	51 (64)	58 (94)	-	-	-	- 1
t-tau/amyloid-β pathological ratio	56 (70)	56 (90)	-	2. /		-
p-tau/amyloid-β pathological ratio	63 (79)	62 (100)	-	-		-
ΑΡΟΕ ε 23 %	10	2		-		57
ΑΡΟΕ ε 33 %	44	38	-	-	-	-
APOE ε 34 %	34	48	-	-	-	-
APOE ε 44 %	12	12	-	V_	12	-

Table 1. Demographics, cognitive, functional, CSF and genetic features in the limbicpredominant amnestic MCI and the AD-like amnestic MCI groups (adapted from: Tondo *et al.*, 2020a).

Figure 18 shows the comparison between the two groups in cognitive and functional abilities scores, significantly impaired in the AD-like amnestic MCI group compared with the limbic-predominant amnestic MCI group. To estimate the cognitive decline's annual trajectory, we calculated the index of progression, indicating the number of MMSE points lost per year and based on the following formula: (MMSE score at follow-up – MMSE score at baseline) / years of follow-up. As underlined by Index of Progression, limbic-predominant amnestic MCI was associated with minimal or no changes in global cognitive status over a long follow-up (MMSE points lost per year –0.20 ± 0.70), in contrast to AD-like amnestic MCI, whose cognitive decline was significantly higher (MMSE points lost per year –1.50 ± 1.43).

At the follow-up, the conversion rate to dementia was 7% in the limbic-predominant amnestic MCI group and 86% in the AD-like group. [¹⁸F]FDG-PET SPM map

classification predicted progression to dementia/stability with an overall accuracy of 90%. None of the considered clinical, cognitive, genetic variables, including age, sex, educational level, APOE, MMSE at the baseline, disease duration, predicted stability, or conversion to dementia. Figure 19 represents survival curves indicating the probability of clinical stability in subjects stratified according to [¹⁸F]FDG-PET patterns, and the accuracy of [¹⁸F]FDG-PET single-subjects maps in predicting conversion with the receiver-operating characteristic curve analysis. According to the ATN classification, the limbic-predominant amnestic MCI group showed high variability in biomarker alterations, with the group approximately divided in half in the AD spectrum and a half in the non-AD spectrum. Conversely, about 90% of subjects in the AD-like group were classified as having an AD profile. While ATN classification did not help predict conversion/stability in the limbic-predominant group, the AD profile was strongly associated with conversion to dementia in the AD-like group, as expected. Most importantly, in the limbic-predominant amnestic MCI group, none of the CSF measures, alone or in combination, predicted stability or conversion to dementia. In addition, no differences were found in progression between the two subgroups with a different likelihood of AD pathology. In other words, subjects with limbic-predominant amnestic MCI did not progress to dementia regardless of the evidence of biomarker alterations suggestive for AD pathology.



Figure 17. Examples of single-subject [¹⁸**F**]**FDG-PET hypometabolic patterns** (source: Tondo *et al.*, 2020a).



Figure 18. Baseline and follow-up cognitive and functional comparison between the limbicpredominant group and the AD-like group (source: Tondo *et al.*, 2020a).



Figure 19. Survival curves indicating the probability of clinical stability in subjects stratified according to [¹⁸F]FDG-PET patterns, and Receiving Operating Curves indicating the **accuracy of** [¹⁸F]FDG-PET single-subjects maps in predicting conversion (source: Tondo *et al.*, 2020a).

Study 3. Brain metabolism and amyloid load in individuals with subjective cognitive decline or pre-Mild Cognitive Impairment

Neuropathological changes leading to dementia start years before symptoms onset, and the identification of people at risk for developing cognitive impairment is crucial for elaborating effective disease-modifying therapies. However, caution is needed when considering people in the preclinical dementia phase of dementia. SCD defines a selfexperienced decline in cognitive functions with performance within the normal range on standardized cognitive assessment (Jessen et al, 2014). Individuals with pre-MCI are considered between normal cognition and the MCI stage, experimenting with cognitive decline from a previous level of function, even though current objective performance has not yet fallen below a cut-point for MCI based on group norms (Storandt et al, 2006). Biomarker information plays a central role in defining a risk profile in these conditions. According to recent criteria, the presence of subjective cognitive complaints or subtle cognitive decline, associated with the positivity of physio-pathological biomarkers, lead to a diagnosis of preclinical AD (Jack Jr et al, 2018a). Nevertheless, there is considerable evidence that only a minority of subjects fulfilling these criteria progress to dementia during follow-up (Dubois et al, 2021). The assessment of biomarkers of neurodegeneration and pathology in the subjective cognitive complaints and pre-MCI categories combined with long follow-up can be expected to provide useful information about the risk profile by identifying subjects who are not on a trajectory to dementia, avoiding exposure to possible side effects of the tested treatment.

This study aimed to investigate neurodegeneration and pathology in individuals with SCD and pre-MCI, searching for neuropsychological and neuropsychiatric correlations identifying distinct profiles already in the preclinical dementia phase. Included data derived from the clinical, prospective multi-center Network-AD project (AD-NET-02346784). The project involved N = 459 individuals in the dementia continuum, from the SCD stage to the overt dementia phase, to develop and validate operational research diagnostic criteria, integrating clinical, neuropsychological, CSF, and imaging measures, for early AD diagnosis in Memory Clinics. In the current study, individuals with SCD or pre-MCI were included, as defined by clinical criteria (Jessen *et al*, 2014; Duara *et al*, 2011). Subjects underwent baseline neuropsychological and neuropsychiatric evaluation

and baseline [¹⁸F]FDG-PET. A subgroup of subjects also underwent amyloid-PET (see the "Materials and methods" section for a detailed description of sample characteristics, neuropsychological evaluation, imaging analyses, and statistical correlations). The total sample included N = 105 participants (SCD = 49; pre-MCI = 56). The cognitive and neuropsychological evaluation included the MMSE and tests assessing memory, language, attention, executive function, and visuospatial and constructive abilities. The neuropsychiatric evaluation included the Neuropsychiatric Inventory and the Starkstein Apathy Scale.

Table 2 lists demographics, clinical and neuropsychological features in the whole group and SCD and pre-MCI groups. The statistical comparison revealed significant differences between SCD and pre-MCI groups regarding neuropsychological evaluation, showing worse performances in the pre-MCI group, as expected. Neuropsychiatric symptoms were frequently reported in the whole sample, with 78% (N = 82) showing at least one symptom (defined as Neuropsychiatric Inventory total score \geq 1). Regarding the neuropsychiatric sub-syndromes, the affective one was the most frequent (68%). **Table 3** reports the prevalence and severity of neuropsychiatric subsyndromes in the whole sample and in each group.

	Whole Sample	SCD	pre-MCI	p-value
	DEMOGRA	PHICS AND CLINICAL	FEATURES	
N (%)	105	49 (46.7%)	56 (53.3%)	-
Age (mean±SD)	67.676±6.99	67.061±6.87	68.214±7.12	<i>p</i> =0.402
Sex female (%)	62 (59%)	33 (31%)	29 (27%)	.
MMSE (mean±SD)	28.857±1.376	29.280±1.085	28.495±1.501	<i>p</i> =0.003
	NEUROPSYCHOLOG	GICAL/NEUROPSYCHIA	TRIC EVALUATION	
NPI (frequency x severity)	5.923±5.745	5.755±5.797	6.071±5.748	<i>p</i> =0.880
NPI (caregiver distress)	3.009±4.005	2.755±3.585	3.232±4.360	<i>p</i> =0.948
Starkstein Apathy Scale	7.798±5.537	7.648±6.628	7.928±4.426	<i>p</i> =0.364
FCSRT immediate free recall	28.425±5.466	29.259±6.911	27.696±3.695	<i>p</i> =0.018
FCSRT delayed-free recall	10.547±1.332	10.883±1.120	10.266±1.437	<i>p</i> =0.020
Phonemic Fluency	37.415±12.188	38.153±12.351	36.769±12.117	<i>p</i> =0.345
Semantic Fluency	45.341±10.321	48.4±9.235	42.672±10.55	<i>p</i> =0.004
Rey-Osterrieth Figure copy	34.11±2.202	34.224±1.877	34.013±2.460	<i>p</i> =0.629
Rey-Osterrieth Figure recall	20.966±6.591	23.88±5.754	18.468±6.269	<i>p</i> =0.000
Trail Making Test (A)	45.634±16.525	40.833±13.324	49.75±17.954	<i>p</i> =0.006
Trail Making Test (B)	92.519±56.484	68.458±35.806	113.142±62.77	<i>p</i> =0.000
Trail Making Test (B-A)	46.135±48.261	26.041±29.391	63.672±54.548	<i>p</i> =0.000
CUBE-copying drawing	14.241±4.781	14.306±3.282	14.192±5.705	p=0.859

Abbreviations: F: female; FCSRT: Free and Cued Selective Reminding Test; M: male; MMSE: Mini Mental State examination; N: number; NPI: Neuropsychiatric Inventory; pre-MCI: pre-Mild Cognitive Impairment; SCD: subjective cognitive decline; SD: standard deviation

 Table 2. Demographics, clinical and neuropsychological features in the preclinical dementia groups.
Syndromes		Whole S	ample N = 10	5	SCD N = 49				Pre-MCI N = 56			
	Ν	%	Score mean±SD	range	Ν	%	Score mean±SD	range	Ν	%	Score mean±SD	range
apathetic	25	24%	3.79±2.57	1-9	12	24%	3.83±2.48	1-9	13	23%	3.54±2.75	1-8
hyperactive	43	41%	3.83±3.93	1-20	17	35%	3.18±4.43	1-20	26	46%	4.46±3.54	1-14
affective	70	68%	4.41±2.27	1-12	36	73%	4.14±2.75	1-12	34	60%	4.32±2.09	1-9
psychotic	20	19%	3.05±1.17	1-6	10	20%	3.30±1.16	2-6	10	20%	3.10±1.52	1-6
at least 1 psychiatric symptom	82	78%	7.46±5.41	1-29	40	81%	7.05±5.75	2-29	42	75%	8.09±5.24	1-25

Table 3. Prevalence and severity of neuropsychiatric subsyndromes in the preclinical dementia groups.

[¹⁸F]FDG-PET images were analyzed using the single-subject SPM standardized procedure (Perani et al, 2014a; Della Rosa et al, 2014). SPM analysis revealed the absence of metabolism abnormalities in 45% of subjects, while 55% showed brain Three neuroimaging experts classified Single-subject hypometabolism. brain hypometabolism SPM maps, showing near-perfect agreement ('Cohen's kappa'> 0.95). The visual rating of SPM maps allowed to classify subjects into one of five patterns (for a complete description, see Study 1): a) normal brain metabolism; b) AD-like pattern; c) DLB-like pattern; d) frontal-like pattern; e) limbic-predominant (medial-temporal) pattern. b) temporoparietal hypometabolism, namely Alzheimer's disease (AD)-like pattern. Table 4 shows the rate of hypometabolism patterns in the whole sample and separately in the SCD and pre-MCI subgroups. Figure 20 presents single-subject SPM map explicative cases. Analyzing neuropsychological performances in each metabolism pattern group, some significant differences emerged. The limbic-predominant group showed lower scores at the semantic fluency test than normal brain metabolism group (p=0.044). The frontal-like group showed higher Neuropsychiatric Inventory scores (both frequency x severity total scores and caregiver distress scores) than the normal brain metabolism group (p = 0.008), meaning a higher rate of neuropsychiatric disturbances in the frontal-like hypometabolism group.

FDG-PET SPM pattern	Whole Sample N = 105	%	SCD N = 49	%	Pre-MCI N =56	%
Normal Scan	47	45%	28	56%	19	34%
AD-like	11	11%	4	8%	7	13%
DLB-like	10	9%	3	6%	7	11%
Frontal-like	30	28%	12	23%	18	30%
Limbic-predominant	7	7%	2	4%	5	9%
Abbreviations: SCD, sub N, number	jective cognitive decline;	; pre-MCI, pre-	mild cognitive impairment;	AD, Alzheimer'	s disease; DLB, Dementia wi	th Lewy bodies;

Table 4. Rate of different hypometabolism patterns in the preclinical dementia groups.

Amyloid-PET was available for N = 60 subjects, and it was analyzed following a validated method to obtain cortical global and regional Standard Uptake Value ratio (SUVr). Based on the literature recommendation, the quantification method allowed dichotomous classification in amyloid positive and amyloid negative subjects (Ong *et al*, 2015). Considering the selected cutoff, 18% (N = 11) of 60 subjects were classified as amyloid positive, and 82% (N = 49) as amyloid negative. Seven amyloid positive subjects also had an abnormal [¹⁸F]FDG-PET hypometabolism pattern (three presented an AD-like hypometabolism pattern, while four showed a frontal-like pattern). Four subjects showed abnormal cortical amyloid load and no signs of neurodegeneration at the [¹⁸F]FDG-PET scan. In the case of amyloid negative subjects, 18/49 had a normal [¹⁸F]FDG-PET scan, while 31/49 showed an altered [¹⁸F]FDG-PET hypometabolism.

Considering the availability of neuropsychological, neuropsychiatric, and metabolism data, we tested whether distinct profiles with different metabolism correlates exist in the preclinical dementia phase. Thus, principal component analysis was employed to explore neuropsychological and neuropsychiatric profiles. Specifically, two principal component analyses were applied in the whole sample and correlated with brain metabolism data. In the neuropsychological principal component analysis, three components emerged: 1) executive/visuomotor 2) memory, and 3) visuospatial/constructional. In the neuropsychiatric principal component analysis emerged two components: 1) affective and 2) hyperactive/psychotic. Table 5 lists the variables included in each component. Significant correlations between brain metabolism and the principal component analysis factors emerged. Figure 21 represent these correlations. The executive/visuomotor factor showed a significant negative correlation with metabolism (i.e., linear decrease in glucose metabolism together with impaired performance, thus higher scores) in the superior and the middle frontal gyri, lingual gyrus, cuneus, precuneus, and middle cingulate cortex, plus the caudate nuclei and thalamus, bilaterally. The memory factor showed a significant positive correlation with metabolism (i.e., linear decrease in glucose metabolism and decreasing scores) in the precuneus, cuneus, superior and inferior parietal lobules, the posterior and middle cingulate cortices, the superior and the middle frontal gyri. The visuospatial/constructional factor showed a significant positive correlation with rightlateralized metabolism (i.e., linear decrease in glucose metabolism and decreasing scores of grouped tests), specifically in the angular gyrus, the anterior and middle cingulate

cortex, the dorsolateral frontal cortex. The affective factor showed a significant negative correlation with brain metabolism (i.e., linear decrease in glucose metabolism together with increasing symptoms) mainly in the right hemisphere, in the insula, temporal pole, the anterior cingulate cortex, superior temporal gyrus, and in the inferior frontal gyrus (pars orbitalis). The hyperactive/psychotic factor showed a significant negative correlation with metabolism (i.e., linear decrease in glucose metabolism together with increasing symptoms) in the orbitofrontal cortex and prefrontal cortex, the anterior cingulate cortex, the left lateral temporal cortex, insula, and the caudate. Lastly, the voxelwise multivariate regression models were run separately for pre-MCI and SCD subgroups (Figure 21). The executive/visuomotor factor negatively correlated with metabolism in extended temporoparietal and occipital regions in the pre-MCI group, whereas in the SCD group, this factor correlated mainly with subcortical structures. The pre-MCI group trained results regarding the memory factor, showing positive correlations between memory and metabolism in the frontal-temporal-parietal cortex. Correlations in the visuospatial/constructional factor were more represented in the right hemisphere and broadly similar in the two groups. Both groups' affective factors correlated with insular and temporal medial metabolism, whereas the hyperactive/psychotic factor correlated more extensively with frontal, temporal, and insular regions in the SCD group.

A Neuropsychological assessment	1- Executive /visuo-motor	2- Mnemonic	3- Visuo-spatial /constructiona		
FCSRT immediate free recall	-0,106	0,872	-0,002		
FCSRT delayed-free recall	-0,079	0,813	-0,101		
Phonemic Fluency	-0,095	0,471	0,303		
Semantic Fluency	-0,377	0,676	0,071		
Rey-Osterrieth Figure copy	0,054	0,057	0,824		
Rey-Osterrieth Figure recall	-0,185	0,387	0,412		
Trail Making Test (A)	0,776	-0,186	0,160		
Trail Making Test (B)	0,909	-0,182	-0,299		
Trail Making Test (B-A)	0,790	-0,169	-0,407		
CUBE- copying drawing	-0,223	-0,068	0,610		
B Neuropsychiatric assessment	1 – Affective	2 – Hyperactive/psychotic			
Starkstein Apathy Scale	0,734	0,043			
NPI apathetic	0,708	0,103			
NPI hyperactivity	0,147	0,739			
NPI affective	0,676	0,074			
NPI psychotic	0,016	0,806			

Abbreviations: FCSRT: Free and Cued Selective Reminding Test; NPI: Neuropsychiatric Inventory

Table 5. Neuropsychological and neuropsychiatric factors emerging from the principal component analyses.



Figure 20. Single-subject explicative cases of hypometabolism patterns in the preclinical dementia groups.



Figure 21. Neuropsychological/Neuropsychiatric and metabolism correlations in the different factors emerging from the principal component analysis, in the whole preclinical dementia group and separately for each subgroup.

Part 2. PET imaging evaluating the relationship between neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration in neurodegenerative diseases

Review 3. TAM Receptor Pathways at the Crossroads of Neuroinflammation and Neurodegeneration (Tondo et al., Dis Markers. 2019)

Neurodegenerative diseases represent the leading cause of morbidity and mortality worldwide, and their global socioeconomic and public health impact is enormous, progressively intensified by the aging community (Cova et al, 2017). Despite specific pathological characteristics, neurodegenerative processes in different disorders are frequently associated with chronic dysregulation of neuroinflammatory responses. The complete understanding of neuroimmune mechanisms participating in neurodegeneration may be the key to modulate neuroinflammatory pathways, possibly resulting in new experimental therapies. The first evidence on the clinical benefit of modulatory actions on neuroinflammatory responses came out from studies showing a negative correlation between the use of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and the likelihood of developing AD (In'T Veld et al, 2001). However, the broad suppression of neuroinflammation seems to be ineffective in improving the disease progression. Clinical trials using antiinflammatory drugs, including steroids, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, and selective inhibitors of cyclooxygenase-2, failed to demonstrate effectiveness in AD (Jaturapatporn et al, 2012). This aspect underlines the challenge of obtaining clinically relevant effects without producing remarkable adverse reactions by modulating inflammatory responses, implying both detrimental and beneficial mechanisms (Cappellano et al, 2013). In addition, the modulation of adaptive immunity, both with active or passive immunization therapies, has failed to meet the expectation due to not negligible immunological side effects, including the appearance of microhemorrhage and occurrence of vasogenic edema (Morgan, 2011). Lastly, the problem of the right target should be considered, namely the inclusion in clinical trials of patients whose neurodegenerative condition is not yet irreversible. The potential of therapies targeting neuroinflammation is greatly reduced when neurodegeneration has already started. Thus, they should be tested ideally in a pre-symptomatic period (Imbimbo, 2009).

Tyro3, Axl, and Mertk (TAM receptors) are tyrosine kinase receptors involved in multiple roles in CNS and peripheral nervous system, including neuroinflammatory responses. The interest in molecular pathways implying TAMs activation arises from the evidence of their involvement in neurodegenerative diseases, including AD, PD, and ALS. The following discussion is based on the published review "TAM Receptor Pathways at the Crossroads of Neuroinflammation and Neurodegeneration" (Tondo et al, 2019), providing an overview of the role of TAMs in neurodegenerative diseases, underlying the therapeutic potential of their modulation. TAMs are cell surface receptors transmitting signals from the extracellular space to the cell cytoplasm and nucleus. The most studied TAMs ligands are the Growth Arrest Specific 6 (Gas6) and Protein S. Both TAMs and their ligands are widely expressed in multiple organs and tissues, including the CNS and peripheral nervous system, and are involved in multiple functions (Pierce & Keating, 2014). TAMs are modulators of neurogenesis and regulate neural stem cells survival and differentiation (Ji et al, 2014). In CNS, they are involved in synaptogenesis and regulation of synaptic plasticity (Prieto et al, 2007). TAMs stimulate peripheral nerve repair and myelination and modulate cell proliferation (Wium et al, 2018). As a consequence, they are involved in cancer genesis. For instance, Gas6 and Axl are overexpressed in the human glioblastoma multiforme, associated with a poor prognosis (Hutterer et al, 2008), and schwannoma development (Ammoun et al, 2014).

TAMs finely regulated inflammatory responses. In particular, the modulation of microglia activation is of high interest. TAMs regulate microglial phagocytic activity and the clearance of cell waste products (Fourgeaud *et al*, 2016). Specifically, Axl activities are predominant in pro-inflammatory responses, and Axl deficits are related to delayed phagocytosis and prolonged induced axonal damage (Hoehn *et al*, 2008). Furthermore, the inefficient phagocytic activity affects myelination and remyelination after nerve damage due to the ineffective clearance of myelin debris (Binder & Kilpatrick, 2009). In both *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies, the loss of TAMs, specifically of Tyro3, which is highly expressed in oligodendrocytes, determines delayed myelination and reduced myelin thickness (Akkermann *et al*, 2017). In addition, Gas6, which promotes the survival of oligodendrocytes and Schwann cells, stimulates remyelination after neural damage (Lutz *et al*, 2017). Consequently, Gas6 knockout mice have remyelinating alterations linked to

microglia activation since the Gas6/Axl signaling has anti-inflammatory properties (Ray *et al*, 2017).

The TAMs activity has been related to several neurodegenerative processes, but evidence derives mainly from animal studies, and fewer data are reported in patients. By regulating the phagocytic activity of microglia cells, TAMs can be involved in pathological protein deposition. This aspect has been particularly studied in animal models of AD. In APP-mouse models, the overexpression of the receptor Tyro3 significantly reduces the amyloid- β deposition, while the absence of Tyro3 is associated with an increased rate of amyloid- β plaques hippocampal amyloid- β deposition (Zheng et al, 2012). In addition, stimulating the Axl-mediated pathway in APP/PS1 mouse model facilitates amyloid- β plaques clearance and improves cognitive impairment (Zhang *et al*, 2018). In humans, the examination of TAMs activity is less straightforward. CSF levels of Axl, together with other proteins such as chromogranin A and angiotensin-converting enzyme, correlated with longitudinal CSF reduction of amyloid- β 42, thus with cortical amyloid deposition, in healthy people, suggesting that TAM modulation might be important in cognitively unimpaired individuals at risk for AD (Mattsson *et al*, 2013). Another study identified Axl and other twelve plasma markers, including complement C3, cortisol, IL-3, IL-13, matrix metalloproteinase-9 total, and APOE, whose levels correlated with amyloid- β cortical deposition, as measured by [¹¹C]PiB-PET, in AD patients from the ADNI database. Increased levels of Gas6 have been reported in CSF of AD patients compared with controls, suggesting a possible initial protective role since Gas6 can downregulate pro-inflammatory cytokines production and stimulate amyloid- β clearance (Sainaghi et al, 2017). Upregulation of genes related to Gas6 and the TLRs signaling have been reported from cognitively normal individuals to AD patients, again suggesting a dysregulation in the TAMs pathway as responsible for altered neuroinflammatory responses in AD pathogenesis (Herrera-Rivero et al, 2019). The link between TAMs dysregulation and neurodegeneration has been hypothesized in other neurodegenerative conditions. In a PD mouse model, the overexpression of α -synuclein was also associated with increased expression of Axl. In the same model, Axl and Tyro3 loss produced clinical improvement. In this case, exaggerated and deleterious response of microglia has been proposed, mediated by TAMs (Fourgeaud et al, 2016). In addition, the loss of the transcriptional factor Nrf2, which is involved in Axl and Mertk regulation

of microglia phagocytosis, exaggerate neuroinflammation, α -synuclein deposition, and neuronal loss in PD mice (Lastres-Becker *et al*, 2012). In human *post-mortem* transcriptomic analysis of ALS patient brains, a disruption in components of the epithelial layer of the choroid plexus has been shown. The choroid plexus is essential for BBB integrity, and its disruption favors leucocytes infiltration in the brain parenchyma. The leucocytes infiltrated in the ALS brain express pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, such as the Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor and the Vascular endothelial growth factor A, favoring the infiltration of Mertk positive macrophage (Saul *et al*, 2020).

The interest in TAMs multiple activities relies on the fact that these receptors represent potential targets for experimental therapies. For instance, in an arthritis mouse model, Gas6 administration can obstacle inflammatory hyperactivation, producing clinical benefit (Van den Brand *et al*, 2013). However, the employment of TAMs modulation therapy in neurodegenerative disorders is challenging. The multiple TAMs mediated functions imply that therapies cannot simply block or enhance their activities. For example, Mertk prolonged blockage induces blindness in rats (Liu *et al*, 2015), and an indiscriminate TAMs inhibition induces altered autoimmunity responses (Xu *et al*, 2018). Conversely, promising results have been obtained regarding cancer therapy, where Axl inhibition in astrocytoma cells favors apoptosis and enhances sensitivity to chemotherapy (Keating *et al*, 2010). These data need *in vivo* confirmation but encourage the fine modulation of the molecular mechanisms underlying neuroinflammatory responses, which might provide clinical benefit.

Study 4. The combined effects of microglia activation and brain glucose hypometabolism in early-onset Alzheimer's disease (Tondo et al., Alzheimers Res Ther. 2020b)

EOAD is an AD subtype characterized by symptoms' onset before 65 years, greater disease severity, and faster disease progression than LOAD (Wattmo & Wallin, 2017). The onset in EOAD is often atypical, manifesting with problems in language, visuospatial and visuo-constructive abilities disturbances, or deficits in executive functions and behavioral abnormalities (Mendez, 2019). The more severe clinical picture in EOAD than in LOAD has been associated with more extensive pathology (Bigio et al, 2002), more significant synaptic dysfunction as detected by [¹⁸F]FDG-PET (Kim et al, 2005), and greater neuronal loss as testified by brain atrophy (Frisoni et al, 2005). EOAD and LOAD patients also present distinct brain network organization features compared to healthy controls. EOAD shows more severe abnormalities in brain network connectivity at both global and regional levels, especially in the cingulate and occipital cortex (Chung et al, 2016). The occurrence of neuropsychiatric disturbances, frequent in EOAD, has been related to brain network connectivity involving frontal regions and limbic structures (Ballarini et al, 2016). PET imaging of neuroinflammation has been largely used in LOAD, but few data are available in EOAD (Kreisl et al, 2013, 2017). Using the secondgeneration TSPO tracer [¹¹C]PBR28, a study showed greater cortical microglia activation in EOAD than in LOAD patients. TSPO overexpression was particularly evident in the parietal cortex and the striatum, associated with worse neuropsychological performances and lower grey matter volume (Kreisl et al, 2013). In addition, EOAD patients showed a higher longitudinal increase of [¹¹C]PBR28 binding in parietal, occipital and frontal cortex than LOAD, again correlating with a faster clinical deterioration (Kreisl et al, 2017). These data suggest that microglia activation may be associated with clinical deterioration, reflecting neurodegeneration, along the disease course in EOAD.

The following data have been published in the study "The combined effects of microglia activation and brain glucose hypometabolism in early-onset Alzheimer's disease" (Tondo *et al*, 2020b). The study aimed to investigate the relationship between microglia activation and brain glucose metabolism in EOAD, using [¹¹C]PK11195-PET and [¹⁸F]FDG-PET. Brain metabolic connectivity was also explored in the EOAD group

compared with normal controls to reveal possible long-distance network effects of microglia activation. The study included twelve AD patients whose symptoms' onset had occurred before 65 years. All patients underwent neuropsychological evaluation, brain MRI, [¹⁸F]FDG-PET and [¹¹C]PK11195-PET, and lumbar puncture to collect CSF measures of amyloid- β , t-tau, and p-tau. Brain hypometabolism pattern was assessed at the group and the single-subject level, using the HSR database of N = 112 normal controls for SPM comparison. TSPO overexpression was derived at the group and at the singlesubject level exploring voxel-wise statistical differences between the EOAD patients and nine healthy controls (mean age 43.6 ± 11.2 years). The area of interaction between the TSPO-PET signal and [¹⁸F]FDG-PET hypometabolism map was calculated, and cerebral glucose metabolic rate and [¹¹C]PK11195-PET binding potentials were extracted from this region to verify the statistical correlation between the two markers. Using the interaction area as a seed, we performed a seed-based interregional correlation analysis to explore metabolic connectivity in the EOAD group compared to a group of 20 age and sex-matched healthy controls. See the "Materials and methods" section for further details on participants, imaging acquisition and analysis, statistical analysis.

The sample included four patients with typical AD, six with the frontal AD variant, and two PCA patients. The demographics and neuropsychological data of each patient are presented in **Table 6**. The single-subject [¹⁸F]FDG-PET analysis revealed a consistent pattern of temporoparietal hypometabolism in all EOAD patients, with variable involvement of occipital and frontal regions according to the specific clinical phenotype, namely the posterior or the frontal AD variant. The single-subject [¹¹C]PK11195-PET analysis showed significant binding potentials increases in all EOAD patients in temporal, parietal, occipital, and frontal regions.

EOAD	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	08	09	10	11	12
Age, years	68	55	56	64	58	59	64	58	54	56	63	66
Education, years	5	13	13	8	13	8	8	8	8	13	8	5
Sex	f	m	m	f	f	m	f	f	m	f	f	m
Disease Duration, years	5	1	1	3	2	1	1	5	1	2	3	2
Diagnosis	tAD	tAD	tAD	tAD	fAD	fAD	fAD	fAD	fAD	fAD	PCA	PCA
MMSE	20	21	17	22	18	10	12	18	17	22	21	21
Token Test	31	31	23.5	29	23	11.5	19.25	22.25	33	31	27.5	30.5
PVF	27	10	7	29	16	6	3	13	22	31	56	44
SVF	30.1	8	18.5	42.8	12	16	8	13	45.5	44	29.2	59.2
Span Forward	6.39	4.84	2.83	5.13	5.75	6.13	2.92	5.04	2.92	5.83	4.13	6.02
Span Backward	4.53	< 3	< 3	3.19	< 3	< 3	< 3	3.1	< 3	3.79	4.19	< 3
RAVLT IR	22.1	14.8	13.8	24.3	10	UT	UT	0	36	41	21.5	32.3
RAVLT DR	0	0	0	0	1.5	UT	UT	0	4.2	4	3	3.6
ROF recall	8	UT	0	8.5	5.25	UT	0	5	5.75	11.75	0	7.5
ROF copy	9	UT	0	23	13.25	3	7.25	28.5	29.25	14.75	0	24.25
CDT	1	10	2	5	5	0	0	0	10	7	0	10
Attentive Matrix	36	UT	12.5	31.25	23	UT	17.5	23	22	49	34.25	23
Stroop time	33.5	28	44.25	36.75	29.25	UT	UT	UT	46.8	46.17	44.25	27
Stroop Errors	9.5	3.5	13	11.25	26.5	UT	UT	UT	5	0	5.25	2.5
Raven PM	19.5	UT	14	19	UT	UT	UT	21.5	26.5	22	12	31.5

Table 6. Demographics and neuropsychological data of each early-onset Alzheimer's disease patient (adapted from: Tondo *et al.*, 2020b).

Figure 22 shows, for each subject, the hypometabolism and the $[^{11}C]PK11195$ binding potential maps. EOAD01 is a typical AD patient with moderate cognitive impairment characterized by memory deficits, visuospatial difficulties, and mood disturbances. ¹⁸F]FDG-PET SPM map shows marked hypometabolism in the temporoparietal cortices, mainly in the right hemisphere. [¹¹C]PK11195 binding potentials are increased in temporoparietal regions, predominantly on the right and occipital regions. In addition, the topographical overlap between TSPO overexpression and brain hypometabolism is present in temporoparietal regions. EOAD02 is a typical AD patient with moderate cognitive impairment characterized by memory deficits and minor language and executive functions deficits. [¹⁸F]FDG-PET SPM map reveals hypometabolism in temporoparietal cortices. [¹¹C]PK11195-PET shows increased binding potentials in temporoparietal regions and occipital and frontal regions. Topographical overlap between TSPO overexpression and brain hypometabolism is evident in temporoparietal regions. EOAD03 is a typical AD patient with severe cognitive impairment and diffused deficits in memory, executive, language, and visuospatial domains. [¹⁸F]FDG-PET shows hypometabolism in temporoparietal cortices. [¹¹C]PK11195-PET shows increased binding potentials in temporoparietal regions, in posterior cingulate and occipital cortices. Temporo-parietal regions represent the regions of spatial overlap between TSPO overexpression and brain hypometabolism. EOAD04 is a typical AD patient with moderate cognitive impairment characterized by memory, executive, and visuospatial deficits. [¹⁸F]FDG-PET underlines hypometabolism in temporoparietal regions, specifically the middle temporal gyrus and the bilaterally angular gyrus. [¹¹C]PK11195-PET shows increased binding potentials in temporal and occipital regions, partly involving parietal and frontal cortices and subcortical structures. Temporo-parietal regions are the regions of spatial overlap between TSPO overexpression and brain hypometabolism. EOAD05 is a frontal AD variant patient with moderate-severe cognitive impairment characterized by executive and memory deficits, with minor language and visuospatial disturbances associated with behavioral and mood disorders. [¹⁸F]FDG-PET SPM map shows marked hypometabolism in the temporoparietal and frontal regions. ¹¹C]PK11195-PET shows increased binding potentials in frontal, temporal-parietal, and occipital regions, with subcortical distribution. Topographical overlap between TSPO overexpression and brain hypometabolism is present in temporoparietal and frontal regions, mainly in the right hemisphere. EOAD06 is a frontal AD variant patient with very severe cognitive impairment and marked behavioral disturbances. [¹⁸F]FDG-PET shows extensive hypometabolism in frontal and temporoparietal cortices, with right side prevalence. [¹¹C]PK11195-PET shows diffused increased binding potentials in frontal, temporal, parietal, and occipital cortices. Temporal, parietal and frontal regions are areas of overlap between TSPO overexpression and brain hypometabolism. EOAD07 is a frontal AD variant patient with severe cognitive impairment characterized by diffused memory, executive, language, visuospatial deficits, behavioral disturbances, and hallucinations. [¹⁸F]FDG-PET SPM map reveals hypometabolism in the prefrontal cortex and temporoparietal regions bilaterally. [¹¹C]PK11195-PET shows increased binding potentials in temporoparietal regions, precuneus, and occipital and frontal lobes. Topographical overlap between TSPO overexpression and brain hypometabolism is evident in temporoparietal and frontal regions. EOAD08 is a frontal AD variant patient with moderate cognitive impairment characterized by language, executive, visuospatial and memory deficits. [¹⁸F]FDG-PET SPM map shows hypometabolism in frontal and temporoparietal regions, namely the inferior and middle frontal gyrus on the left and bilaterally the middle temporal gyrus inferior parietal lobule, precuneus, and posterior cingulate cortex. [¹¹C]PK11195 binding potentials are increased in temporal, occipital,

and frontal regions. Topographical overlap between TSPO overexpression and brain hypometabolism is present in temporal and frontal regions. EOAD09 is a frontal AD variant patient with severe cognitive impairment and marked behavioral disturbances, including sweet craving, irritability, and sexual disinhibition. [¹⁸F]FDG-PET SPM map shows extensive hypometabolism in the right orbitofrontal and dorsolateral cortex, temporal cortex, angular gyrus, precuneus, and posterior cingulate cortex. [¹¹C]PK11195-PET shows increased binding potentials in the orbitofrontal cortex and subcortical structures. TSPO overexpression and brain hypometabolism overlapped in frontal and temporoparietal regions. EOAD10 is a frontal AD variant patient with moderate cognitive impairment characterized by executive, visuospatial and behavioral disturbances. ¹⁸F]FDG-PET SPM map reveals hypometabolism in frontal and temporoparietal cortices, especially in the right hemisphere. [¹¹C]PK11195 binding potentials are increased in temporal and occipital regions. Thus, the overlap between TSPO overexpression and brain hypometabolism involves temporal regions mainly in the right hemisphere. EOAD11 is a PCA patient with moderate cognitive impairment characterized by memory, executive, and visuospatial disturbances. [¹⁸F]FDG-PET SPM map highlights marked hypometabolism in occipital and temporal cortices bilaterally. ¹¹C]PK11195 binding potentials are increased in occipital and temporal regions. Therefore, the overlap between TSPO overexpression and brain hypometabolism involves temporal and occipital regions. EOAD12 is a PCA patient with moderate cognitive impairment characterized by visuospatial and memory deficits. [¹⁸F]FDG-PET SPM map shows hypometabolism in occipital and temporoparietal cortices. ¹¹C]PK11195-PET shows increased binding potentials in occipital temporal and parietal regions. Hypometabolism overlapped with TSPO overexpression in temporal, parietal, and occipital areas.

The group-level study confirmed the commonalities in the topographical distribution of hypometabolism and microglia activation. The group-level [¹⁸F]FDG-PET analysis showed the typical AD hypometabolism pattern involving temporoparietal regions and, to a lesser extent, occipital and frontal regions. The high rate in the sample of atypical AD patients likely drove the presence of significant frontal and occipital hypometabolism. The group-level [¹¹C]PK11195-PET analysis showed higher TSPO expression in EOAD patients than controls in temporoparietal cortices and, in smaller measures, in occipital

and frontal regions. A region of spatial overlap between microglia activation and brain hypometabolism in the right temporoparietal junction emerged from the interaction analysis. Specifically, the interaction region involved the inferior temporal gyrus, the angular gyrus, the precuneus, and the inferior parietal lobule (**Figure 23**). In the interaction region, microglia activation showed a moderate direct correlation with brain hypometabolism, as shown in **Figure 23**.

The interaction region was selected as a seed in the subsequent seed-based interregional correlation analysis, and brain network connectivity was studied in the EOAD and compared with age and sex-matched healthy controls. The brain network identified in the EOAD significantly differed from the brain network in the healthy controls, showing reduced connectivity between the seed region and the frontal cortex (**Figure 24**).

Overall this study, for the first time assessing the relationship between microglia activation and brain glucose metabolism in EOAD patients both at the single subject and at the group level, shows a direct correlation between TSPO overexpression and brain hypometabolism, which has repercussions at the regional and at the long-distance brain network level, altering brain metabolic connectivity.



Figure 22. Single-subject maps of [¹⁸**F**]**FDG-PET brain hypometabolism and** [¹¹**C**]**PK11195-PET TSPO overexpression** (source: Tondo *et al.*, 2020b).



Figure 23. Interaction region between brain hypometabolism and microglia activation, with corresponding direct correlation (source: Tondo *et al.*, 2020b).



Figure 24. Brain network interregional correlation analysis in the early-onset Alzheimer's disease group, showing network disruption in frontal regions compared with healthy controls connectivity analysis (source: Tondo *et al.*, 2020b).

Study 5. Brain Metabolism and Microglia Activation in Mild Cognitive Impairment: A Combined [¹⁸F]FDG and [¹¹C]-(R)-PK11195 PET Study (Tondo et al., J Alzheimers Dis. 2021)

MCI, as an intermediate state between normal aging and dementia, is a heterogeneous condition and includes individuals with different underlying etiologies and variable prognoses (Petersen *et al*, 2001). The amnestic MCI represents the most frequent clinical subtype, and it is often associated with AD pathology, but other less frequent presentations – logopenic, frontal, and visual variants – and other pathological substrates, including FTLD, CBD, cerebrovascular disease, can be possible (Abner *et al*, 2017). MCI represents an intriguing condition to study the effect of neuroinflammatory responses in the neurodegenerative cascade, including individuals whose neurodegenerative changes are still at the earliest phase. The activity of microglia cells is finely modulated at this stage to maintain homeostasis and provide neuroprotection (Comi & Tondo, 2017). Thus, microglia and astrocytic activity in MCI may be enhanced, but both concerning a beneficial and neuroprotective activity or to a deleterious, chronic, and dysregulated response (Liddelow *et al*, 2017).

PET imaging of neuroinflammation can be a precious tool in analyzing neuroinflammatory responses in living individuals in the MCI condition. Previous studies tried to track, *in vivo*, TSPO expression both cross-sectionally and longitudinally in MCI subjects, with some contrasting results. Cagnin and colleagues reported, for the first time in a single MCI individual, TSPO overexpression in temporal regions, even in the absence of clear hypometabolism. Coherently with the absence of signs of neurodegeneration, this subject did not show cognitive deterioration at the follow-up but manifested temporal atrophy corresponding to the region of microglia activation and suggesting an ongoing subclinical process (Cagnin *et al*, 2001). A more recent study investigated microglia activation, brain metabolism, and amyloid deposition in a cohort including AD and PD dementia patients and MCI subjects. The relationship between TSPO expression and brain metabolism appeared inverse in MCI subjects; in addition, microglia activation was associated with amyloid deposition (Fan *et al*, 2015a). Compared with controls, MCI subjects showed an initial peak of microglia activation and subsequent longitudinal reduction, associated with increased amyloid- β deposition, while AD patients showed increased TSPO expression. These results led to the hypothesis of a double peak of microglia activation along the AD trajectory, with an initial response, possibly protective and aiming to remove senile plaques, in MCI, and a second peak, deleterious, when amyloid- β clearance has failed, in AD (Fan *et al*, 2017). Another study using [¹¹C]PK11195-PET confirmed the initial peak of microglia activation in MCI subjects with a longitudinal increase in amyloid- β deposition and tau tangles formation (Ismail *et al*, 2020). However, a high level of microglia activation can be detected in the presence of high cortical amyloid load but not necessarily correlating with tau burden; this data suggests that neuroinflammation might precede tau tangle deposition (Parbo *et al*, 2018). Currently, no effective treatment is available to stop conversion to dementia. Thus, identifying early biomolecular changes in MCI individuals and clarifying the relationship between different biomarkers may offer a potential therapeutic window to test disease-modifying therapeutic strategies (Cao *et al*, 2018).

The following data have been published in the study "Brain Metabolism and Microglia Activation in Mild Cognitive Impairment: A Combined [¹⁸F]FDG and [¹¹C]-(R)-PK11195 PET Study" (Tondo et al, 2021). The work evaluated in vivo brain metabolism changes and microglia activation in single MCI individuals, using validated singlesubject procedures. The MCI sample was investigated by [¹¹C]PK11195-PET as a marker of TSPO overexpression to provide evidence of early microglia activation in neurodegenerative processes, and by [¹⁸F]FDG-PET as a marker of neurodegeneration, to provide a single subject classification suggesting the underlying pathology, either AD or other neurodegenerative disorders, and predicting progression with high accuracy (Caminiti et al, 2018). We explored the spatial overlap between brain hypometabolism and neuroinflammation. The possible correlation between microglia activation and neuronal dysfunction in the main affected areas was explored following the hypothesis of a detrimental role of microglia activation on neuronal functions, even at the earliest stage of neurodegeneration. Eight subjects fulfilling the Petersen criteria for MCI were enrolled in this study (Petersen, 2004). Table 7 reports the main demographics and cognitive features of each subject. Single-subject hypometabolism maps were obtained for each participant by testing for relative hypometabolism, on a voxel-by-voxel basis, the subject's scan compared with the large HSR database of N = 112 normal controls (Perani et al, 2014a; Della Rosa et al, 2014). [11C]PK11195 binding potentials maps were obtained by subtracting from each participant TSPO-PET scan the non-specific binding extracted from ten healthy controls, used for statistical comparison. A ROIs correlation analysis was used to reveal relationships between [¹⁸F]FDG-PET and [¹¹C]PK11195-PET signal. Spatial overlap between brain hypometabolism and microglia activation was estimated. The resulting overlap regions were used to test the strength of the relationship between the two markers, namely to verify whether the strength of the correlation between microglia activation and brain metabolism was linked to the spatial overlap between the two signals. See the "Materials and methods" section for the complete presentation of sample characteristics and neuroimaging analysis.

Subject	Diagnosis and clinical presentation	Sex	Age	MMSE
MCI01	Single-domain, amnestic Mild Cognitive Impairment	М	56	25
MCI02	Multiple-domain, amnestic Mild Cognitive Impairment	М	75	27
MCI03	Multiple-domain, amnestic Mild Cognitive Impairment	М	65	28
MCI04	Multiple-domain, amnestic Mild Cognitive Impairment	М	53	27
MCI05	Single-domain, amnestic Mild Cognitive Impairment	F	73	27
MCI06	Single-domain, amnestic Mild Cognitive Impairment	F	62	29
MCI07	Single-domain, non-amnestic Mild Cognitive Impairment	М	71	27
MCI08	Single-domain, non-amnestic Mild Cognitive Impairment	f	56	27

 Table 7. Demographics and clinical features of each Mild Cognitive Impairment subject (adapted from: Tondo et al., 2021).

The single-subject [¹⁸F]FDG-PET SPM analysis revealed several hypometabolism patterns, as expected in a MCI sample. Specifically: four subjects showed an AD-like hypometabolism pattern (either typical or atypical AD); one subject had an FTD-like pattern; one subject showed a limbic-predominant (medial-temporal) hypometabolism pattern; one subject had a hypometabolism pattern compatible with CBD; one subject had a negative [¹⁸F]FDG-PET scan. [¹¹C]PK11195-PET single-subject analysis showed clusters of increased binding potentials in temporal, parietal, occipital and frontal regions with a strong-to moderate correspondence between hypometabolism topographical distribution and TSPO overexpression in most subjects. **Figure 25** shows the patterns of [¹⁸F]FDG-PET brain hypometabolism and [¹¹C]PK11195-PET binding potentials in single individuals. MCI01 is a 56-year-old single-domain amnestic MCI, whose [¹⁸F]FDG-PET SPM map shows hypometabolism in temporoparietal cortices, precuneus, and posterior cingulate cortex as in typical AD cases (Perani *et al*, 2016). TSPO

cortex. Temporal and parietal regions show the highest overlap between hypometabolism and TSPO-PET signal. MCI02 is a 75-year-old multidomain amnestic MCI, manifesting impairment in memory and language. [¹⁸F]FDG-PET shows hypometabolism in the left superior, middle and inferior temporal gyri and the left inferior and superior parietal lobules, configuring the typical pattern of logopenic variant PPA (Madhavan et al, 2013). TSPO overexpression is evident in temporal, parietal, and frontal regions, mainly of the left hemisphere. Temporal and parietal regions show the most considerable overlap between hypometabolism and TSPO-PET signal. MCI03 is a 65-year-old multidomain amnestic MCI with difficulties in memory and visuospatial performances. [¹⁸F]FDG-PET underlines hypometabolism in temporoparietal and occipital regions, configuring the typical pattern of PCA (Cerami et al, 2015a). TSPO expression is higher, bilaterally, in occipital, temporal, and parietal regions. In addition, occipital, temporal, and parietal regions show the highest overlap between hypometabolism and TSPO overexpression. MCI04 is a 53-year-old multidomain amnestic MCI with memory problems and behavioral disturbances. [¹⁸F]FDG-PET SPM map reveals hypometabolism in temporoparietal cortices, precuneus, and posterior cingulate cortex, and in frontal regions, diffusely, as in the frontal AD variant (Woodward et al, 2015). TSPO overexpression is limited to frontal, medial-temporal cortices, and subcortical structures. The medial temporal lobe is the region showing the highest overlap between hypometabolism and TSPO expression. MCI05 is a 73-year-old single-domain amnestic MCI. [¹⁸F]FDG-PET SPM map shows a focal hypometabolism involving the medial temporal lobe structures, a pattern associated with different underlying etiologies, and overall with long-term clinical stability (Cerami et al, 2018). TSPO overexpression is evident in the medial temporal lobe, the lateral temporal cortex, and the orbitofrontal cortex. The medial temporal lobe region shows the most extensive overlap between hypometabolism and TSPO overexpression. MCI06 is a 62-year-old single-domain amnestic MCI with an unremarkable [¹⁸F]FDG-PET scan and negligible TSPO expression at the [¹¹C]PK11195-PET. As a consequence, also overlap between hypometabolism and TSPO expression is unremarkable. MCI07 is a 71-year-old single-domain non-amnestic MCI with language impairment associated with behavioral disturbances. [¹⁸F]FDG-PET underlines hypometabolism in frontotemporal regions, explicitly involving the perisylvian cortex and the parietal opercula bilaterally, representing a hypometabolism pattern highly indicative for CBD (Pardini *et al*, 2019). [¹¹C]PK11195-PET shows increased TSPO signal in temporoparietal regions and subcortical structures, including basal ganglia. The most remarkable overlap between hypometabolism and TSPO overexpression is located in the right insula and parietal operculum. MCI08 is a 56-year-old single-domain non-amnestic MCI with behavioral and executive disturbances. [¹⁸F]FDG-PET shows hypometabolism in the dorsolateral frontal cortex and the lateral temporal cortex, with an asymmetric distribution involving mainly the right hemisphere, as seen in FTD (Jeong *et al*, 2005). [¹¹C]PK11195-PET shows increased TSPO signal in the frontal, temporal, parietal, occipital cortices, primarily in the right hemisphere. The most significant overlap between hypometabolism and TSPO overexpression is evident in the temporal regions.

By investigating correlation between microglia activation and brain metabolism, a significant inverse correlation was evident between the TSPO and the [¹⁸F]FDG-PET signal, suggesting that the clusters of microglia activation were associated with lower metabolic rate. The DICE similarity coefficient used to reveal a topographical overlap between hypometabolic regions and areas of microglia activation confirmed different degrees of overlap in MCI subjects. At the group level, spatial concordance was proportional to the strength of the between signals correlation (**Figure 26**). Overall, the present study shows a close interaction between microglia activation and brain metabolism in MCI individuals with different possible underlying etiologies. Furthermore, these results confirm the presence of an early peak of microglia activation along the dementia continuum, regardless of the cause of neurodegenerative changes.



Figure 25. Single-subject patterns of brain hypometabolism and microglia activation (source: Tondo *et al.*, 2021).



Figure 26. DICE coefficient variability in single Mild Cognitive Impairment subjects with correlation at the single-subject level, based on the strength of overlap between microglia activation and brain hypometabolism (source: Tondo *et al.*, 2021).

DISCUSSION

Dementia is included within the five most burdensome conditions among the elderly worldwide, according to the Global Burden of Disease classification of the World Health Organization (Prince *et al*, 2015). The estimated prevalence of dementia in people over 60 years ranges from 4.7% to 8.7%, and currently, more than 46 million people live with dementia worldwide, and this impressive number is estimated to almost triplicate by 2050 (Prince *et al*, 2015). Age is a major risk factor for dementia, and the increasing life expectancy has been dramatically associated with an increasing prevalence of dementia. Due to its impact, dementia has been defined as a world health priority by the World Health Organization. The need for urgent interventions also arises from the lack of effective disease-modifying therapy.

This dissertation includes studies focusing on identifying and examining reliable diagnostic and prognostic markers in neurodegenerative diseases. The dementia spectrum has been studied in toto, from preclinical to the prodromal and overt dementia phase. Most of the work covers the AD spectrum since AD represents the most frequent etiology of dementia worldwide.

PET imaging techniques represent a unique tool to in vivo assess a plethora of biological, pathological, and molecular processes, including synaptic activity, longdistance brain network organization, misfolded protein deposition, and neuroinflammatory responses. The evidence that the pathological deposition of protein aggregates characterizes multiple brain neurodegenerative disorders has led to the concept of proteinopathies, indicating disease spectra sharing the same pathological aggregate (Perani et al, 2019b). In the last two decades, the advent of PET tracers to underline cortical amyloid- β and tau pathology has contributed significantly to the *in vivo* diagnosis of AD, intended as a biological entity (Jack Jr et al, 2018a). However, the pure biological definition of AD entails some limitations, especially related to the evidence that AD pathology is insufficient to predict inevitable cognitive decline and dementia. (Dubois et al, 2021). [¹⁸F]FDG-PET, as a marker of synaptic dysfunction, offers the possibility to clarify the spatial and temporal relationship between neurodegeneration and pathological markers of neurodegenerative disease. AD dementia can manifest clinically with the typical (amnestic) and atypical (language, visual, executive) phenotypes. In all these cases, amyloid- β deposition, the pathological hallmark of AD, is widely distributed across the entire cortex, as in vivo confirmed by amyloid-PET, which does not help differentiate among clinical phenotypes (Rabinovici et al, 2010). Conversely, intraneuronal tau deposition as visualized by tau-PET is initially confined to brain regions functionally associated with the clinical presentation. When considering [¹⁸F]FDG-PET, there is a substantial overlap between brain hypometabolism and tau deposition in typical and atypical AD cases, suggesting that tau deposition is strictly related to regional neuronal and synaptic dysfunction (Dronse et al, 2017). Thus, tau-PET can potentially complete [¹⁸F]FDG-PET assessment of AD cases providing regional pathophysiological evidence of the etiology of neuronal damage. Nevertheless, the role of amyloid- β pathology in interacting with tau deposition and determining downstream degenerative effects cannot be undervalued. The cortical tau-PET signal measured from AD signature regions is higher with evidence of increased cortical amyloid- β load (Johnson *et al*, 2016). In individuals in the AD continuum, tau-PET can predict cognitive decline better than amyloid-PET positivity if independently analyzed. However, the association of both markers' positivity is a stronger predictor of cognitive impairment, suggesting that neuronal damage is driven by the combined downstream effect of both protein deposits (Aschenbrenner et al, 2018). The predictive value of tau-PET is particularly effective in the preclinical dementia phase, overcoming amyloid-PET and brain MRI (Ossenkoppele et al, 2021). Nevertheless, the need to associate multiple PET imaging modalities is confirmed in longitudinal studies, showing that amyloid-PET positive MCI and AD may manifest heterogenous tau deposition. On the other hand, a homogeneous decrease in glucose metabolism is observed while disease progress, thus hypometabolism better can track clinical progression (Chiotis et al, 2018). A decisive contribution to delineate neurodegenerative processes might be ascribed to PET imaging of neuroinflammation. The co-localization of TSPO overexpression and [¹⁸F]FDG-PET decreased signal has been demonstrated in AD (Fan et al, 2015a). A correspondence between TSPO overexpression and dysfunctional brain areas responsible for the clinical manifestations has been reported (Kreisl et al, 2017). These findings confirm the interplay between microglia activation and neuronal dysfunction. Differently, the relationship between neuroinflammation and amyloid- β and tau deposition still needs further in vivo confirmation. Microglia activation has been reported in amyloid-PET positive prodromal AD without evidence of tau pathology, confirming that microglia activation is an early phenomenon in the neurodegenerative cascade but without conclusively clarifying whether protective or deleterious (Parbo *et al*, 2018). This evidence shows that integrating multiple PET imaging modalities has favored the understanding of neurodegenerative processes. Nonetheless, further studies with larger samples and longitudinal follow-up are vital to clarify the relationship between proteins accumulation, brain metabolism, and neuroinflammation.

of [¹⁸F]FDG-PET in underlying disease-specific The role of patterns neurodegenerative diseases already in a preclinical or prodromal stage is of utmost importance, and its value increases if combined with other biomarkers. Study 1 describes preliminary cross-sectional results of the analysis of multiple biomarkers in a large sample of individuals in the MCI condition, aiming to identify the combination of biomarkers that predicts conversion to dementia with the highest accuracy. Single-subject [¹⁸F]FDG-PET analysis revealed the presence of multiple sets of subjects grouped by specific brain hypometabolism patterns. AD-like hypometabolism pattern was the most represented. The AD-like group included typical AD cases, showing hypometabolism in the temporoparietal, precuneus, and posterior cingulate cortices and atypical AD variants. These phenotypes are characterized by highly recognizable hypometabolism patterns: a) hypometabolism in the occipital and posterior parietal cortex in the PCA variant; b) asymmetric hypometabolism involving lateral temporoparietal cortices in the logopenic variant PPA; c) temporoparietal and frontal hypometabolism in the frontal AD variant. The link between these specific hypometabolism patterns, the clinical picture, and the corresponding outcome has been consistently reported in the MCI condition (Perani et al, 2016; Caminiti et al, 2018; Cerami et al, 2015c). The combination of [¹⁸F]FDG-PET brain metabolism with structural MRI data showed intriguing results. Hippocampal volumetry performed using a validated comparison with a dataset of normal controls (De Francesco et al, 2021) showed significant atrophy in the AD-like hypometabolism pattern MCI population in about one-third of cases. The association between AD-like hypometabolism pattern and hippocampal atrophy indicates, in these subjects, a high likelihood of progression to AD dementia. In addition, significant reduction in hippocampal volume is evident with increasing age. These findings are correspondent with previous evidence from the literature. In AD patients has been consistently reported significant hypometabolism in the temporoparietal regions and the posterior cingulate cortex, associated with decreased hippocampal volume, and the diagnostic accuracy of the two techniques in combination exceeds 90% (Kawachi *et al*, 2006; Dukart *et al*, 2011). The combinate use of these techniques also improves diagnostic performances and prognosis prediction in MCI subjects and allows disease staging (Bauer *et al*, 2018; Benvenutto *et al*, 2018). However, in line with the hypothesis that functional changes (hypometabolism) precede neuronal loss (atrophy) [¹⁸F]FDG-PET seems more accurate than MRI in predicting prognosis in MCI subjects (Caminiti *et al*, 2018; Ferrari *et al*, 2019). The employment of quantitative approaches to both modalities may further expand the ability to detect early metabolism and volumetric alterations already in the preclinical dementia AD phase (Gaubert *et al*, 2021; Giannakopoulos *et al*, 2021). Overall, our results underline the importance of integrating [¹⁸F]FDG-PET and volumetric MRI data to improve diagnostic and prognostic performances in MCI subjects.

Other interesting findings emerged from the [¹⁸F]FDG-PET analysis conducted in study 1. Half of the abnormal scans revealed by the single-subject analysis in the MCI sample were classified as non-AD patterns. Specifically, among non-AD hypometabolism patterns, the medial-temporal hypometabolism pattern (limbic-predominant) was the most frequent, followed by the frontal-like, the DLB, and the MSA patterns. These results confirm that MCI is a heterogeneous condition underlined by several etiologies implying different prognoses and, possibly, different responses to therapy.

The high rate of the limbic-predominant medial temporal hypometabolism pattern causes significant repercussions in the differential diagnosis in the MCI population. Study 2 explicates the features of the MCI subpopulation showing limbic-predominant hypometabolism. These subjects are characterized by amnestic presentation clinically indistinguishable from the typical AD presentation. Conversely to MCI due to AD, limbic-predominant amnestic MCI have a stable clinical profile and do not progress to dementia after long follow-up. The biomarker characterization of the limbic-predominant amnestic MCI group might be misleading, end particularly amyloid- β definition. Our study shows that about half of the limbic-predominant amnestic MCI group present evidence of amyloid- β pathology, but they will not progress to dementia. The large variability in biomarkers alteration expressed in this group suggests the possible presence

of multiple pathological substrates. Neurodegenerative tauopathies, the argyrophilic grain disease, hippocampal sclerosis, PART and LATE may cause the clinical picture in most limbic-predominant amnestic MCI. Especially LATE, may represent the underlying etiology in MCI with suspected non-AD pathology and in subjects with evidence of neurodegenerative changes without concomitant tauopathy (Nelson et al, 2019). In addition, LATE and AD neuropathological changes may co-occur, especially in older age. The co-existence of amyloidopathy with other neuropathological substrates hampers the diagnostic workup of the limbic-predominant amnestic MCI, whose amyloid positivity may lead to misclassification and erroneous inclusion in studies enrolling MCI due to AD. In this population, [¹⁸F]FDG-PET is the only marker predicting long-term clinical stability. In fact, a limbic-predominant [¹⁸F]FDG-PET hypometabolism pattern is associated with 80% possibility of remaining stable after eight years of disease duration compared with the typical AD hypometabolism pattern, which is associated with dementia development in about 90% of cases. Coherently, the accuracy of [¹⁸F]FDG-PET in predicting stability or progression in this specific amnestic MCI population reaches 90%. The importance to correctly identify limbic-predominant amnestic MCI derives from the substantial frequency of this pattern, which in study 2 ranges from 16% to 38% depending on the analyzed sample. Previous evidence shows that a high percentage of amnestic MCI remains clinically stable and does not convert to dementia or revert to normal cognition (Roberts et al, 2014). The different outcomes suggest that the MCI condition includes different underlying causes (Ganguli et al, 2019). We can hypothesize that a significant quote of MCI not progressing to dementia is composed of limbicpredominant amnestic MCI and that [¹⁸F]FDG-PET is crucial in screening subjects considered in the prodromal dementia phase.

The heterogeneity of the MCI condition is confirmed in post mortem studies, showing that pure AD pathological changes are responsible for the clinical picture in less than onequarter of cases. Most MCI cases present mixed AD neuropathological changes, Lewy bodies disease, hippocampal sclerosis, and cerebrovascular pathology (Abner *et al*, 2017). The same heterogeneity has been reported in older adults with memory complaints. Specifically, the neuropathology in individuals with memory complaints includes senile plaques and neurofibrillary tangles, neocortical Lewy bodies, TDP-43 pathology, hippocampal sclerosis, and amyloid angiopathy (Arvanitakis *et al*, 2018). An increasing number of individuals with SCD search for specialist consultation complaining decline without an objective impairment on formal cognitive testing or neuropsychological performances. SCD are at risk for developing dementia, both AD and non-AD types (Slot et al, 2019). However, SCD may be related to various etiologies, including neuropsychiatric disorders, sleep disturbances, drug adverse effects (Balash et al, 2013). Consequently, the prognosis of SCD may vary greatly, with some developing dementia, mainly when associated with biomarker evidence of AD pathology, and others remaining stable over a long period (Jessen *et al*, 2020). Due to the poor predictive value, biomarkers investigation is not recommended in cognitively unimpaired individuals in clinical practice, and isolated SCD is considered not specific enough for the AD continuum (Dubois et al, 2021). In the research setting, biomarkers investigation in SCD is helping in underlying the pathophysiology of this condition and possibly will provide the possibility to monitor progression and response to therapy. Study 3 analyzes biomarkers of neurodegeneration and pathology and neuropsychological correlates in SCD and pre-MCI, thus in the presence of a subjective decline with respectively absent or subtle cognitive impairment. The [¹⁸F]FDG-PET single-subject SPM procedures revealed different hypometabolism patterns, possibly indicating different neurodegenerative etiologies. Specifically, the identified hypometabolism patterns were, by frequency, the frontal-like, the AD-like, the limbic-predominant, the DLB-like. These hypometabolism groups include specific neuropsychological and neuropsychiatric features, such as a higher burden of neuropsychiatric symptoms in the frontal-like group and worse performances in the semantic fluency in the limbic-predominant group, as previously reported (Marra et al, 2012). Worthy of note, a high rate of individuals (45%) with SCD and pre-MCI have no neurodegeneration signs, which is a normal [¹⁸F]FDG-PET scan. In these individuals, [¹⁸F]FDG-PET has a fundamental exclusionary role for actual signs of neurodegeneration. The evidence of normal metabolism is associated with a favorable prognosis and long-term stability (Iaccarino et al, 2019). As a confirmation, a recent longitudinal study investigating CSF biomarker positivity in SCD showed a favorable prognosis associated with the absence of biomarkers of pathology and neurodegeneration (Ebenau et al, 2020). Therefore, this study confirms that SCD and pre-MCI represent heterogeneous conditions, including neurodegenerative and non-neurodegenerative disorders, and [¹⁸F]FDG-PET helps identify the corresponding underlying etiology. In this case, the comparison with literature data is challenging due to the use of groupanalysis approaches in previous works. There are limited [¹⁸F]FDG-PET data in SCD and pre-MCI, showing hypometabolism in AD-related regions in SCD compared with controls (Vannini et al, 2017; Scheef et al, 2012). Hypometabolism in the precuneus has also been correlated with longitudinal decline in memory performance in SCD samples, supporting the possibility to identify very early changes related to the development of dementia. However, group analyses lack specificity and prognostic accuracy, which can be reached with the single-subject approach. This method allowed to identify an AD-like hypometabolism pattern only in 11% of subjects, which is very interesting since SCD and pre-MCI are usually considered preclinical AD stages, preceding the MCI condition (Rabin et al, 2017). The reported rate of amyloid positivity in SCD ranges from 12 to 43% (Jansen et al, 2015). In our study, an abnormal brain amyloid load was evident in 18% of subjects undergoing amyloid-PET. In about one-third of amyloid-positive cases, there was an AD-like hypometabolism pattern, confirming the neurobiology of AD and the risk to develop AD dementia in a minority of subjects. One-third of subjects showed abnormal amyloid load but a frontal-like hypometabolism pattern, suggesting the possibility of co-pathology, including TDP-43 proteinopathy and cerebral amyloid angiopathy, which can co-exist with AD pathological changes. The last one-third of subjects with abnormal amyloid accumulation showed no brain metabolism abnormalities. These findings feed the debate on the role of amyloid pathology since a considerable percentage of subjects with normal cognition may show brain amyloid deposition, and individuals with abnormal amyloid load and normal [¹⁸F]FDG-PET pattern are unlikely to progress to AD dementia, as revealed in a large MCI population (Iaccarino et al, 2019). Besides the categorical framework approach, in study 3 a datadriven dimensional approach was applied to capture the presence of neuropsychological and neuropsychiatric dimensions. Different neuropsychological profiles at this stage correlate with neuronal dysfunction in specific brain regions, with crucial differences between SCD and pre-MCI. Three different neuropsychological dimensions, revealed by principal component analysis, correlated with specific metabolic dysfunction: 1) executive/visuomotor, with metabolism in frontal, occipital cortex, and basal ganglia; 2) with metabolism temporal-parietal episodic memory, in regions; 3) visuospatial/constructional, with metabolism in right frontoparietal cortices. These

components are in line with the profile of subtle neuropsychological deficits, involving especially memory and executive functions, recently identified in a large SCD cohort (Wolfsgruber et al, 2020). Specifically, the memory profile seems of particular interest. The memory dimension involved subjects whose memory performance correlated with metabolism in the precuneus, cuneus, temporoparietal cortices, cingulate cortex, and the superior and middle frontal regions. These data parallel the distribution of brain hypometabolism in typical AD cases, with additional slight occipital and frontal involvement, confirming that the monitoring of the memory domain is of utmost importance in identifying subjects with possible AD-like risk of progression (Jessen et al, 2020). Also, the correlation of neuropsychiatric profiles with brain glucose metabolism showed fascinating correlates. The affective dimensions, including apathy, anxiety, depressive and eating disturbances, were inversely correlated with metabolism in the orbitofrontal cortex, cingulate cortex, and insula. The hyperactive/psychotic dimension, including agitation, irritability, euphoria, aberrant motor behavior, disinhibition, delusions, hallucinations, and night-time sleep disturbances, had a significant inverse correlation with the frontotemporal, insular, and caudate metabolism. These findings are in line with previous reports on subjects with AD dementia. The presence of apathy has been correlated with hypometabolism in the orbitofrontal cortices and anxiety and depression with metabolism in the anterior cingulate and frontal and prefrontal cortices (Ng et al, 2019; Ballarini et al, 2016). The presence of hypometabolism in the absence of a high amyloid burden at the preclinical stage may suggest that apathy and anhedonia symptoms are signals of neuronal injury driven by other mechanisms, or confer increased vulnerability to AD pathophysiology clinical decline. Given the robust relationship between cerebrovascular disease and affective symptoms and the vulnerability of cognitive control and affective networks to either age-related or vascular changes and FTD (Lee et al, 2014), combined etiopathology may contribute to affective neuropsychiatric symptoms in pre-dementia syndromes. Findings of metabolic dysfunctions in hyperactivity/psychotic subsyndromes are mostly limited to subjects in the clinical phase of AD (in particular, delusion, hallucinations, and night-time disturbances are infrequently reported in the early stages). However, sleep disturbances and irritability (which emerges in the dementia prodrome and is associated with similar metabolic changes to agitation) predicted posterior cingulate hypometabolism at two

years (Ng et al, 2017). This finding, and the fact that agitation and irritability are associated with metabolic changes reflecting neurodegeneration in regions associated with core AD pathology, suggest that at least the hyperactivity subsyndrome constitutes an early clinical manifestation of AD pathophysiology (Ng et al, 2017; Ismail et al, 2016). When evaluating SCD and pre-MCI separately, some differences in neuropsychological/neuropsychiatric profiles emerge. The pre-MCI group showed more compromised memory and executive performances, as expected given the inclusion criteria. Accordingly, they showed correlations between memory and executive/visuomotor factors and extended hypometabolism in temporoparietal and frontal regions. On the other hand, SCD subjects drive the correlations between the hyperactive/psychotic factor and widespread metabolism in frontal-temporal regions, suggesting a possible dysfunctional correlate of these neuropsychiatric disturbances (Slavin et al, 2010). Notably, considering the whole sample, neuropsychiatric symptoms were highly prevalent, involving 78% of subjects. This aligns with literature data on the preclinical dementia stages, reporting a high prevalence of NPS in SCD populations (Braam et al, 2014). The occurrence of neuropsychiatric disturbances may represent a clinical feature per se or a precipitating factor in dementia progression (Ismail et al, 2016), pointing out to the importance of a comprehensive clinical, neuropsychological and neurobehavioral, and instrumental approach for the correct identification of different clinical prognostic patterns.

Besides validated markers of neurodegeneration and pathology, the in vivo study of neuroinflammation has shed new light on the pathophysiology of aging and neurodegenerative diseases. Currently, the most intriguing hypothesis in neurodegenerative disorders on the role of microglia, the most important immune cells in CNS neuroinflammation, relies on a double response, either protective or deleterious, depending on the disease phase (Hickman et al, 2018). The studies included in this dissertation explored the role of neuroinflammation in the overt dementia phase, in prodromal dementia, and both the symptomatic and asymptomatic phase of genetic ALS, aiming to track an ideal trajectory of microglia activation during the development of neurodegenerative changes. All the included studies employed the [¹¹C]PK11195-PET tracer, the most validated radioligands for TSPO, a protein expressed by activated microglia.

Study 4 investigates microglia activation and brain glucose metabolism in EOAD, an AD subtype characterized by frequent atypical onset and fast disease progression. Significant microglia activation is present in widespread cortical areas of AD patients compared with controls. TSPO overexpression has a spatial concordance with brain hypometabolism and primarily in AD signature regions. The direct correlation between TSPO signal and brain hypometabolism in the most affected regions confirms previous evidence that microglia activation directly enhances neurodegenerative changes in brain disorders (Cagnin et al, 2001; Edison et al, 2008, 2013). The association of microglia activation with brain hypometabolism sustains another hypothesis: TSPO-PET may serve as a specific marker aiding differential diagnosis among AD subtypes, where different patterns of neuroimmune activation may exist according to the clinical phenotype, as shown using a second-generation TSPO tracer (Kreisl et al, 2017). Our study shows a fair correspondence between microglia activation and brain metabolism changes, and both signals involve temporoparietal regions in typical AD, posterior regions in PCA, and frontal regions in the frontal AD variant. However, the TSPO signal is rather diffused to several cortical and subcortical regions, sustaining a widespread microglia activation driving neurodegeneration. This aspect is also underlined by the study of the longdistance brain network effect of microglia activation. In our EOAD sample, the network built starting from the microglia/hypometabolism interacting region showed an abnormal organization compared with the healthy controls. Specifically, loss of connectivity between temporoparietal and frontal regions was evident in patients, resembling the functional connectivity alteration in the default mode network recently reported in LOAD, also suggesting a link between connectivity alteration and cognitive decline (Passamonti et al, 2019).

The evidence of widespread microglia activation is consistent with the hypothesis that neuroinflammation represents a shared pathological event in neurodegenerative disorders (Ransohoff, 2016). Microglia activation seems to be a common reaction to altered mechanisms regardless of the primary etiology of neurodegeneration. Study 5 aimed to investigate the presence of TSPO overexpression in the MCI condition and the relationship between microglia activation and brain glucose metabolism changes, ideally in a prodromal phase of dementia. The results confirm the interaction between microglia and brain metabolism, which showed topographical overlap and significant inverse correlations in our MCI sample. The single-subject [¹⁸F]FDG-PET analysis confirmed that MCI represents a heterogeneous condition, revealing multiple etiologies including AD, FTD, CBD, and limbic-predominant cases. In the case of identifiable neurodegenerative signs, namely brain hypometabolism, a TSPO overexpression was evident and mirrored metabolism changes, indicating a contribution to neuronal dysfunction. In addition, one MCI subject did not show signs of neurodegeneration. This subject is of particular interest. The MCI subjects with normal [¹⁸F]FDG-PET scan also showed negligible microglia activation. An early report presented an MCI subject with loco-regional, temporal microglia activation, and normal brain metabolism. Coherently with the brain metabolism findings, excluding actual neurodegeneration, the MCI subjects did not manifest further cognitive impairment at the follow-up. However, the follow-up MRI showed left temporal atrophy, indicating a possible subclinical process (Cagnin et al, 2001). In our case series, the presence of microglia activation is associated with brain hypometabolism, as already reported in MCI due to AD individuals (Fan et al, 2015a), while the absence of signs of neurodegeneration also microglia activation is absent. Study 5 shows another interesting aspect of neuroinflammation in neurodegenerative diseases. The spatial overlap between microglia activation and brain glucose hypometabolism was particularly significant in MCI, showing an AD pattern, both typical or atypical. The linear regression analysis showed that the higher the overlap between microglia activation and brain hypometabolism, the stronger was the negative correlation between TSPO overexpression and glucose consumption. As a result, the neuroinflammatory response in MCI due to AD may be more pronounced, as already reported (Parbo et al, 2017). Coherently with the double peak hypothesis, microglia can be present as a protective player in the early phase of the degenerative process, such as in MCI. A second, deleterious microglia peak develops due to the failure of protective mechanisms, including protein deposition clearance, synaptic support, and debris phagocytosis (Fan et al, 2017). In this second phase of neurodegeneration, microglia cells have lost their protective function. Consequently, therapeutic modulation of neuroinflammatory response should consider the presence of multiple microglia phenotypes (Onuska, 2020). Unfortunately, [¹¹C]PK11195 nor other TSPO PET tracers allow disentangling between different microglia phenotypes. In addition, TSPO-PET and [¹⁸F]FDG-PET detect complementary but different signals, namely deriving from the neuronal and synaptic activity and microglia and astrocytes activity.

Overall, these studies show a widespread microglia activation in the dementia continuum, including the prodromal dementia phase. However, the precise role of neuroinflammation in neurodegeneration is still far from being completely elucidated. In physiology, microglia activity is vital in providing neuronal support, maintaining homeostasis, and favoring the clearance of misfolded protein, including amyloid- β (Comi & Tondo, 2017). In pathology, microglia activation may induce neurodegeneration, fail pathological protein and cellular debris clearance, release pro-inflammatory cytokines, and increase oxidative stress (Heneka *et al*, 2015). The evidence of the correlations between neuroinflammation and hypometabolism and clinical impairment proposes microglia activation as a marker for staging the diseases, monitor disease progression, and prospectively evaluating response to therapy.

Our results imply important therapeutic consideration. The development of therapeutic strategies acting in a timeframe preceding irreversible neurodegeneration is crucial. In in *vitro* and animal models, evidence supports the modulation of neuroinflammatory response as a promising therapeutic target. The *in vivo* modulation of neuroinflammatory responses has been evaluated primarily in AD. The earliest strategy aimed to indiscriminately suppress neuroinflammation in symptomatic AD patients using nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, which showed to be ineffective (Miguel-Álvarez et al, 2015). Also, the use of minocycline, an antibiotic with anti-inflammatory properties, failed to preserve cognition in AD patients (Howard *et al*, 2020). These results show that the indiscriminate suppression of neuroinflammation, both the protective and deleterious responses, is not an effective strategy. Multiple compounds are under evaluation, targeting specific molecules or molecular pathways, such as the caspase inhibitors targeting the Nf-kB, anti-TNF, or anti-IL-1 antibodies, which showed promising results in preclinical models (Leng & Edison, 2021). Even more promising are strategies aiming at modulating microglia phenotypes. Several anti-inflammatory cytokines, including IL-2, IL-4, and IL-33, have beneficial effects on AD pathology by modulating microglia activation, but their use *in vivo* is limited, especially by the challenging delivery into the human brain (Alves et al, 2017; Fu et al, 2016; Zheng et al, 2016; Kiyota et al, 2010). Several substances may reduce microglia activation, such as the SIRT1 activator resveratrol, which attenuated the cognitive decline in early AD patients (Moussa *et al*, 2017). In addition, the intervention on lifestyle and risk factors such as obesity, insulin resistance, hypercholesterolemia has been proposed to reduce neuroinflammation in AD (Chen *et al*, 2016a). Dietary balancing, exercise, and vascular risk prevention have shown to be effective in maintaining cognitive function in people at risk for dementia (Ngandu *et al*, 2015). All these hopeful data need further confirmation but encourage research towards a multimodal therapeutic approach, which could overcome criticisms encountered by clinical trials so far.

In June 2021, the Food and Drug Administration approved the utilization of Aducanumab in AD patients, by the Accelerated Approval Pathway, based on the biomarker evidence of a reasonable clinical improvement. Aducanumab is an antibody targeting Amyloid-β aggregates. The efficacy of Aducanumab in slowing AD progression has been evaluated in two phase III clinical trials, the EMERGE and the ENGAGE. Both studies were stopped in 2019 due to the lack of significant clinical benefit. Subsequent analysis showed, in the trial EMERGE, a significant slowing of clinical impairment, evaluated by the CDR, in AD patients treated with Aducanumab compared with patients in placebo. In addition, both trials showed a significant reduction in cerebral amyloidosis in treated patients, as measured by amyloid-PET (Cummings et al, 2021a). The Aducanumab approval represented a surprising step forward in the therapeutic approach in AD patients since the previous approval of a drug for treating AD dates back about twenty years (Salloway & Cummings, 2021). However, several controversies emerged before and after the approval. EMERGE results were not replicated in the analysis of the trial ENGAGE. Thus, evidence on the clinical benefit of Aducanumab is based on a single study. The main criticism regards the minimal clinical impairment despite the clear pathological benefit in reducing brain amyloid load. This aspect may be related to several issues. First, Aducanumab and other monoclonal antibodies might reduce senile plaques, but not the more toxic oligomers. Second, reducing brain amyloidosis is not necessarily followed by a cognitive improvement since amyloid- β deposition is not indubitably linked to neurodegeneration, and it can be present also in cognitively unimpaired individuals. The selection of candidates for clinical trials based on the amyloid positivity can hide several limitations, such as the inclusion of patients in an advanced phase of neurodegeneration, not responding to any therapy, or individuals in the preclinical phase but that will never develop dementia.

The current dissertation discusses all these aspects. The presented studies explored the crucial role of [¹⁸F]FDG-PET in underlying disease-specific patterns of neurodegeneration in prodromal and preclinical dementia phases. The integration of multiple imaging modalities, including MRI and amyloid-PET, demonstrated to be vital in characterizing subjects at the initial boundary of the dementia continuum. Presented data are primarily based on cross-sectional analyses, which are essential in defining biomarkers' contribution to the diagnostic process but lack prognostic confirmation. Longitudinal investigation and adequate samples are needed to confirm neuroimaging tools' ability in early diagnosis and disease identification, which are pivotal for the correct design of clinical trials. PET imaging of neuroinflammation adds essential insights into neurodegenerative mechanisms, providing vital information on disease staging and, crucially, offering the possibility to monitor response to therapy. Integrating multimodal diagnostic tools coupled with the multi-target therapeutic approach is a compelling way to tackle neurodegeneration.
MATERIALS AND METHODS

The studies discussed in this dissertation included primarily data analysis of PET scans, namely [¹⁸F]FDG-PET, [¹⁸F]Florbetaben-PET, and [¹¹C]PK11195-PET. Acquisition procedures, pre-processing methods, and data analysis are shared between studies. Thus, they are fully described at their first appearance, while only study-specific methodological approaches and statistical models are subsequently specified. In addition, other biomarker measures have been employed and are detailly described in each study section.

All PET imaging pre-processing and data analyses have been performed in SPM12 (http://www.fil.ion.ucl.ac.uk/spm/software), implemented in Matlab (MathWorks Inc., Sherborn, MA). All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 25.0 (Statistical Package for Social Sciences software, IBM, Armonk, NY, USA).

All studies were approved by the San Raffaele Hospital Ethics Committee and conducted strictly according to the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants involved in each study.

Study 1. Role of imaging biomarkers in the classification of MCI condition as defined by the NIA-AA criteria. Preliminary data analysis

This study includes data from the Interceptor Project, an Italian multicenter cohort study funded by the Italian Ministry of Health and the Italian Medicines Agency, focusing on the MCI condition. It has enrolled 400 subjects consecutively diagnosed with MCI at 20 Centers for Cognitive Disorders and Dementia distributed on the Italian territory, with the aim to identify the biomarker, or the combination of biomarkers, able to predict with greater accuracy the conversion of MCI to AD dementia after three years of follow-up. A detailed description of the project has been published (Rossini *et al*, 2019).

Participants. The study enrolled 400 MCI subjects fulfilling the MCI criteria as defined by the NIA-AA (Albert *et al*, 2011). MCI subjects with both amnestic and non-amnestic presentations were included. Inclusion criteria were: a) age between 50 and 85 years; b) MMSE corrected score equal or superior to 24/30; c) Clinical Dementia Rating (CDR) global score of 0.5; d) concerns about cognitive changes, expressed as subjective

complaints, or referred by a relative or a clinician; e) defective neuropsychological performance in one cognitive domain (memory, executive function, attention, language, visuospatial function); f) preserved functional autonomy; g) no dementia. Exclusion criteria were: a) history of cerebrovascular disease, alcohol abuse, medical disorders associated with cognitive impairment, including HIV infection; b) neuroimaging evidence of other potential causes of cognitive decline; c) chronic treatment with psychotropic drugs; d) women in reproductive age; e) history of malignancy < 5 years; f) contraindications for MRI, lumbar puncture; g) use of drugs potentially affecting cognitive function.

Included biomarkers. Each biomarker has been evaluated for sensitivity and specificity to predict progression from the MCI condition to dementia. According to the literature data the following biomarkers were selected: MMSE, sensitivity 0.57 and specificity 0.87 (Xu *et al*, 2002); the FCSRT, sensitivity 0.81 and specificity 0.71 (Grande *et al*, 2018); CSF amyloid- β 40, amyloid- β 42, t-tau, p-tau, and tau/amyloid- β ratios, sensitivity 0.71 and specificity 0.77 (Vos *et al*, 2013); [¹⁸F]FDG-PET, sensitivity 0.57 and specificity 0.67 (Herholz *et al*, 2011); Volumetric MRI, sensitivity 0.60 and specificity 0.75 (Frisoni *et al*, 2013); *APOE* ε 4 genotype, sensitivity 0.52 and specificity 0.66 (Fei & Jianhua, 2013); multiple electroencephalogram for brain connectivity analysis, sensitivity 0.87 and specificity 0.64 (Poil *et al*, 2013).

[¹⁸*F*]*FDG-PET image acquisition.* According to Standard Operating Procedures, all the [¹⁸*F*]*FDG-PET images were acquired on a 3D PET scanner in the recruiting centers, allowing to perform a reliable SPM analysis (Presotto <i>et al*, 2018a). The subject is asked to attend the PET Unit before the scan for preliminary evaluation and blood glucose dosage, whose upper limit is considered 140 mg/dL to guarantee correct scan execution. Then, the subject receives the intravenous injection of the tracer, a precalculated [¹⁸*F*]*FDG* dose rate of 3.7 MBq/kg (with a minimum of 185 MBq), while resting and lying supine in a quiet room, free from auditory and visual stimuli. Emission image is acquired in 3D mode 45 min after intravenous tracer injection. Scan duration is 15 minutes, and the acquisition is performed in a dynamic mode by three consecutive fiveminutes extended frames. This procedure allows for correcting any microscopic head movements or eventually to discard macroscopic movements. Image reconstruction follows an ordered subset expectation maximization (OSEM) algorithm. The

simultaneous acquisition of a computed tomography scan is used for co-registration and attenuation correction. Scatter correction is applied with software integrated into each scanner. Images and row data are uploaded on a dedicated database platform to be further analyzed at the Nuclear Medicine Unit of the San Raffaele Hospital, Milan, Italy.

[¹⁸F]FDG-PET image pre-processing. All analyses are performed in SPM12, implemented in Matlab (MathWorks Inc., Sherborn, MA). The images are placed in the standard Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) reference space using a Dementia-Specific $[{}^{18}F]FDG-PET$ template for SPM software (Della Rosa *et al*, 2014). This template has been shown to provide a higher degree of accuracy for spatial normalization of FDG-PET scans and higher statistical sensitivity at the single-subject level. The optimized single-subject method is based on a highly robust statistical comparison of the single-subject scan with a large number of healthy controls (N = 112) (Perani et al, 2014a). The normalized images are smoothed (Full-Width at Half Maximum: 8mm) and enters a statistical comparison using a two-sample t-test with the dataset of scans from normal controls (that underwent the same pre-processing), with the statistical threshold set at p = 0.05, family-wise error-corrected, considering significant clusters including more than 100 voxels. The analysis includes age as a covariate, considering that aging is associated with brain glucose metabolism changes. The SPM method allows the identification of single-subject disease-specific brain hypometabolism patterns, with crucial diagnostic ability and prognostic accuracy (Perani et al, 2014a, 2016).

MRI acquisition and processing. Brain MRI was acquired in the recruiting centers on a 1.5 or 3 Tesla scan. During the acquisition, the subject must be awake with eyes closed. The acquisition protocol includes conventional sequences and T1-weighted volumetric imaging. MRI images are uploaded to the online database portal and processed by the expert MRI center at the Istituto Centro San Giovanni di Dio Fatebenefratelli, Brescia, Italy. Volumetric measures are obtained applying the FreeSurfer version 6.0 (http://surfer.nmr.mgh.harvard.edu/) algorithm pipelines for automatic hippocampal segmentations, voxel-based morphometry, gray matter density, and cortical thickness, according to validate procedures (Frisoni *et al*, 2015). Freesurfer quantifies hippocampal volumetry (in mm³), and results from the volumetric analysis are compared with those obtained from a sample of cognitively normal people from the ADNI database.

Imaging analysis. A total of 369 [¹⁸F]FDG-PET has been analyzed. The single-subject method resulted in a subject-specific map of brain hypometabolism, visually rated by four experts in neuroimaging, blind to each other and to clinical information. The expert raters showed a high agreement (Cohen's k: 0.89) and classified subjects into different patterns: a) normal brain metabolism, no signs of neurodegeneration; b) AD-like pattern, hypometabolism in temporoparietal regions, posterior cingulate cortex, and precuneus (Cerami *et al*, 2015c; Perani *et al*, 2016); c) frontal-like pattern, variable hypometabolism involving the frontal lobes (Cerami *et al*, 2015c); d) DLB-like pattern, temporoparietal and occipital hypometabolism (Caminiti *et al*, 2017); e) MSA-like pattern, hypometabolism in basal ganglia or cerebellum (Caminiti *et al*, 2017); f) limbic-predominant or medial-temporal pattern (Cerami *et al*, 2018).

Hippocampal volumetry. MCI subjects showing the AD-like pattern were further analyzed employing the MRI hippocampal volumetry protocol. A total of 120 MRI images were available. Left and right hippocampal volumetry has been analyzed and compared with the ADNI dataset of normal controls to detect subjects below the fifth percentile, individuals at high risk for developing cognitive decline (De Francesco *et al*, 2021). In addition, MRI data of the 120 MCI has been compared with a dataset of 40 individuals with SCD showing normal neuropsychological performances (data acquired from a different study, see description in Study 3), to underline differences in hippocampal volumetry.

Study 2. Biomarker-based stability in limbic-predominant amnestic mild cognitive impairment (Tondo et al., Eur J Neurol. 2020a)

Participants. Subjects were retrospectively included from two datasets: a) San Raffaele Hospital, Milan, Italy (screened subjects N = 280, included amnestic MCI N = 60); b) ADNI dataset (adni.loni.usc.edu), screening the ADNI1, ADNI-GO, and ADNI-2 phases (screened subjects N = 818, included amnestic MCI N = 62). Inclusion criteria were: a) amnestic MCI diagnosis according to Petersen criteria (Petersen 2004); b) disease duration \geq four years, to guarantee an appropriate timeframe to detect progression from the amnestic MCI condition to dementia; c) available baseline CSF analysis; d) available baseline [¹⁸F]FDG-PET scan. The results of the optimized SPM single-subject

procedure were used to screen the sample further. Only MCI subjects showing one of the two specific hypometabolism patterns were included in this work: a) medial-temporal hypometabolism (limbic-predominant pattern); b) temporoparietal, posterior cingulate, and precuneus hypometabolism (AD-like pattern). The sample selection strategy, led to the inclusion of 80 subjects with amnestic MCI and limbic-predominant hypometabolism pattern, and 62 amnestic MCI with AD-like hypometabolism pattern.

Clinical, cognitive, and functional evaluations. The assessment included the MMSE and the CDR for evaluating the global cognitive status, Instrumental Activities of Daily Living (IADL), and Functional Assessment Questionnaire (FAQ). All tests were performed at the baseline and follow-up evaluation. The Index of progression was calculated to evaluate cognitive decline between baseline and follow-up, using the formula: MMSE score at follow-up – MMSE score at baseline/years of follow-up. The score indicates the number of MMSE points lost per year.

[¹⁸*F*]*FDG-PET imaging acquisition, pre-processing, and analysis.* Image acquisition was performed at the Nuclear Medicine Unit of the San Raffaele Hospital, Milan, Italy, following the European Association of Nuclear Medicine guidelines (Varrone *et al*, 2009), and in the recruiting centers for the ADNI cohort, according to the validated acquisition procedure described in the "ADNI PET technical procedures manual, version 9.5"(http://adni.loni.usc.edu/wpcontent/uploads/2010/09/PET-

Tech_Procedures_Manual_v9.5.pdf). Images pre-processing was conducted as described above and the optimized single-subject SPM procedure was employed to obtain single-subject specific hypometabolism maps (see the section "Materials and methods" Study 1, for a complete description). ADNI imaged were downloaded and pre-processed to obtain a single NIFTI file containing the last 15 min of PET acquisition, then merged to obtain a single file that entered the SPM single-subject procedure.

CSF analysis. CSF levels of amyloid- β 42, t-tau, p-tau were evaluated singularly and in combination as amyloid- β /tau ratios and dichotomously classified (normal/abnormal) according to the manufacturer's protocol and literature recommendations (Sjogren *et al*, 2001; Shaw *et al*, 2009).

ATN classification. The available biomarkers were used to classify the amnestic MCI into subjects with AD-profile (A+T-N+ and A+T+N+) and subjects with non-AD-profile (A-T-N+ and A-T+N+). CSF amyloid- β defined "A" positivity; CSF p-tau defined "T"

positivity; [¹⁸F]FDG-PET was considered a marker of neuronal injury, thus was present, as an inclusion criterion, in all amnestic MCI subjects.

Statistical analysis. Differences in clinical, cognitive, ATN classification in the amnestic MCI cohorts were examined by the one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and the Kruskal–Wallis test, with the statistical threshold set at p < 0.05. The predictive value of [¹⁸F]FDG-PET SPM hypometabolism patterns for conversion or stability in the amnestic MCI cohort and hazard ratios were estimated by a Cox proportional model (threshold set at p < 0.05), and the prognostic performance of the single-subject SPM maps was evaluated by using measures of sensitivity, specificity, and accuracy. Receiver-operating characteristic curve analysis was employed to determine the optimal cutoff discriminating stable amnestic MCI and converters. The predictive value of other variables (CSF measures, ATN classification) was tested in multiple logistic regression models, with diagnosis at follow-up as the dependent variable. In addition, the confounding effect of age, sex, education, and MMSE adjusted score at baseline were evaluated.

Data presented in this study have been published in the work "Biomarker-based stability in limbic-predominant amnestic mild cognitive impairment" (Tondo *et al*, 2020a)

Study 3. Brain metabolism and amyloid load in individuals with subjective cognitive decline or pre-Mild Cognitive Impairment

This study included individuals enrolled in the prospective multi-center Network-AD project (AD-NET-02346784). The project involved N = 459 subjects in the dementia continuum, from the SCD stage to the overt dementia phase. The project aimed to develop and validate operational research diagnostic criteria, integrating clinical, neuropsychological, CSF, and imaging measures, for early diagnosis of AD in Memory Clinics.

Participants. In the current study, individuals in the preclinical dementia phase were included. Clinical and neuropsychological assessments performed at baseline discriminated between SCD and pre-MCI. SCD had self-reported cognitive complaints assessed by specialist clinicians through interviews. SCD subjects (N = 49) had a self-

experienced persistent decline in cognitive capacity but normal age/education adjusted performances on standardized cognitive tests, and a Clinical Dementia Rating (CDR) score = 0. Pre-MCI (N = 56) presented CDR scores = 0.5, and no impairment in objective neuropsychological tests, or a CDR score = 0, but very mild impairment (within 1.5 standard deviation of normal scores) in neuropsychological tests. All included subjects had baseline neuropsychological and neuropsychiatric evaluation and baseline [¹⁸F]FDG-PET. A subgroup (N = 60) also had baseline amyloid-PET.

Clinical, cognitive, neuropsychological, and neuropsychiatric assessment. The MMSE evaluated global cognitive status. The neuropsychological assessment included tests for evaluating memory (FCSRT immediate and delayed free recall, Rey-Osterrieth figure recall), language (fluencies), visuospatial and constructive abilities (Rey-Osterrieth figure copy and cube-copying drawing), attention and executive functions (Trail Making Tets). The neuropsychiatric evaluation included the Neuropsychiatric Inventory and the Starkstein Apathy Scale. For subsequent analysis, Neuropsychiatric Inventory scores were clustered into four independent dimensions as follows: (1) affective (anxiety and depression); (2) apathetic (apathy, eating and appetite changes); (3) hyperactivity (agitation/aggression, irritability, euphoria/elation, aberrant motor behavior, and disinhibition); (4) psychotic (delusions, hallucinations, and night-time sleep disturbances) (Aalten *et al*, 2007). The score for each neuropsychiatric dimension was defined as the sum score of the included NPI symptoms (Ballarini *et al*, 2016).

 $[^{18}F]FDG-PET$ imaging acquisition, preprocessing, and analysis. All subjects underwent $[^{18}F]FDG-PET$ scans acquired in the participating centers. The $[^{18}F]FDG-PET$ acquisition procedures were conformed to the European Association of Nuclear Medicine guidelines (Varrone *et al*, 2009). The subsequent analyses were all performed at the Nuclear Medicine Unit of the San Raffaele Hospital using validated procedures, which guarantee high reproducibility of results, also using images from different scans (Presotto *et al*, 2018a). The complete procedure is described in Study 1.

 $[^{18}F]$ Florbetaben PET image acquisition, preprocessing, and analysis. Amyloid-PET scan was performed in N = 60 subjects, using $[^{18}F]$ Florbetaben (Neuraceq, Piramal). Data analysis was conducted at the Nuclear Medicine of the San Raffaele Hospital. A validated preprocessing pipeline allowed to extract global cortical $[^{18}F]$ Florbetaben Standard Uptake Value ratio (SUVr) using normalization data based on the low-dose computed

tomography (CT) scan contextually acquired with the PET-scan (Presotto *et al*, 2018b). To calculate cortical amyloid burden, six ROIs were defined using the AAL atlas 20 through the Wake Forest University PickAtlas toolbox for SPM12. These regions included the dorsolateral and medial frontal cortex, cingulum, precuneus, inferior and superior parietal lobules, lateral occipital cortex, lateral temporal cortex. In addition, images were scaled to the activity of the cerebellar grey matter, used as the reference region (Barthel *et al*, 2015; Catafau *et al*, 2016). Finally, the global cortical amyloid load was calculated as the average computed from the six ROIs. A cutoff of 1.45 was considered for classifying subjects in amyloid-positive (A β +), with global cortical amyloid load higher than the chosen cutoff, or amyloid negative (A β -), global cortical SUVr equal or below the selected cutoff (Ong *et al*, 2015).

Principal Component Analyses. Two principal component analyses were applied in the whole sample using orthogonal varimax rotation to explore the underlying dimensions of variation in the patients' neuropsychological and neuropsychiatric measures. All the scores were converted to z-scores based on the results of the whole cohort. The neuropsychological and neuropsychiatric measures entered two different principal component analyses to collapse the data into composite principal component analyses scores. The correlation matrix was used for the extraction of components. The adequacy of the sample size of both PCAs was determined utilizing the Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin measure of sampling adequacy and Bartlett's test of sphericity. Component loadings > 0.5 were considered meaningful, and component scores were computed using the regression method. To investigate whether these factors were differentially expressed by SCD and pre-MCI groups, the regression scores of the PCA factors were compared using one-way ANOVA. To identify the correlations between brain metabolism and the PCA factors, the z-scores of the tests grouped in the PCA factors were used as independent variables in voxel-wise multiple regression analyses together with global mean scaled metabolic rate as dependent variables (both in the whole subjects' group and separately in the SCD and the pre-MCI). Age was entered as a nuisance variable. For each PCA, a multivariate correlation matrix was computed using SPM12, running in MATLAB. The statistical threshold was set at p-value <0.05, with Kep≥100 voxels. The neuropsychological variables entered a PCA to collapse the test z-scores into composite PCA factors. Sample size was acceptable (KMO= 0.561), and correlations were sufficiently large (Bartlett's test = 553.115, p<0.000). According to the PCA, three components captured 62.69% of the variance, and they were interpreted as the best dimensional representation of the full dataset. The neuropsychiatric variables entered a PCA to collapse the test z-scores into composite PCA factors. Sample size was acceptable (KMO= 0.622), and correlations were sufficiently large (Bartlett's test = 27.39, p<0.002). Two components captured 54.65% of the variance.

Statistical analysis. The ANOVA test was used for normally distributed variables, and the Mann–Whitney U test for non-parametric variables was used to test differences in neuropsychological and neuropsychiatric features between SCD and pre-MCI subgroups.

Study 4. The combined effects of microglia activation and brain glucose hypometabolism in early-onset Alzheimer's disease (Tondo et al., Alzheimers Res Ther. 2020b)

The following data have been published in the study "The combined effects of microglia activation and brain glucose hypometabolism in early-onset Alzheimer's disease" (Tondo *et al*, 2020b)

Participants. The study involved twelve patients with EOAD whose symptoms onset occurred before 65 years. Data acquisition was performed at the IRRCS San Raffaele Hospital, Milan, Italy. All participants underwent cognitive and neuropsychological evaluations, [¹⁸F]FDG-PET, [¹¹C]PK11195-PET, CSF analysis for confirming AD pathology. Nine healthy controls underwent [¹¹C]PK11195-PET, following the same procedure of EOAD patients, and were used for statistical comparison in TSPO-PET analysis.

Cognitive and Neuropsychological evaluations. Clinical, cognitive and neuropsychological assessments were carried out at the Departments of Neurology and the Department of Rehabilitation and Functional Recovery, San Raffaele Hospital, Milan, Italy. The cognitive and neuropsychological assessment included the MMSE and tests for evaluating memory, language, attention, executive and visuospatial abilities, specifically: the Token Test; semantic and phonemic verbal fluencies; the backward and forward span; the Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test; the Rey-Osterrieth figure (copy and recall); the

attentive matrices; the Stroop test; the Raven progressive matrices test; the clock drawing test.

 $[^{18}F]FDG-PET$ acquisition, pre-processing and data analysis. $[^{18}F]FDG-PET$ scans were acquired at the Nuclear Medicine Unit, San Raffaele Hospital, Milan, Italy. The acquisition protocol followed standard procedures (Varrone *et al*, 2009). Pre-processing and data analysis employed the validated and standardized pipeline of the single-subject SPM method, allowing to obtain single-subject SPM hypometabolism maps (Perani *et al*, 2014a) (see Study 1). In addition, we conducted a group-level analysis to compare the twelve EOAD [^{18}F]FDG-PET with the same large database of N = 112 controls used for the single-subject analysis, after standard pre-processing including co-registration, normalization to the MNI space, and subsequent smoothing. Statistical threshold was set at p < 0.001 uncorrected, considering significant clusters containing more than 100 voxels.

[¹¹C]PK11195-PET acquisition. [¹¹C]PK11195-PET was performed at the Nuclear Medicine Unit, San Raffaele Hospital, Milan, Italy. [¹¹C]PK11195 synthesis was performed in the Cyclotron Unit of the Nuclear Medicine of the San Raffaele Hospital, obtaining a radiochemical purity > 95% (Matarrese *et al*, 2001). The [¹¹C]PK11195 injected dose was 380 ± 37 MBq. The acquisition protocol required a dynamic PET scan lasting 58 minutes and including 15 frames (6× 30 s/2× 1 min/1× 3 min/3× 5 min/2× 10 min/1× 15 min). Trans axial images were reconstructed using a Shepp–Logan filter (cutoff 5 mm) in the trans axial plane and a Shepp–Logan filter (cutoff 8.5 mm) in the axial direction. Corrections for attenuation artifacts, radioactive decay, scatter, and movement was applied. Images analysis was performed using the SPM12 software.

[¹¹C]PK11195 pre-processing and data analysis. A receptor parametric mapping procedure was used to extract [¹¹C]PK11195 binding potentials (Gunn *et al*, 1997). The heterogeneous distribution of the [¹¹C]PK11195 across the whole brain hampers the definition of a reference region. For this reason, clustering method have been developed for [¹¹C]PK11195-PET analysis. In this study, images were analyzed using the curve distance clustering algorithm, an adaptation of the validated SuperVised Clustering algorithm (Turkheimer *et al*, 2007; Presotto *et al*, 2015). The curve distance clustering algorithm estimates the similarity of the time-activity curve of each voxel within four predefined curves (i.e., tracer delivery in blood, white matter, gray matter with non-

specific binding, gray matter with high specific binding). This method allows the selection of a cluster of voxels devoid of specific uptake, which can be used as a pseudo-reference region for the subsequent parametric analysis (Presotto *et al*, 2015). The obtained maps were normalized to the standard MNI space using a specific PET template, after masking to remove extracranial components (Iaccarino *et al*, 2018b), then smoothed (8 mm FWHM). Voxel-wise statistical differences between the EOAD and the healthy controls groups were analyzed at the single-subject and group-levels. Analyses were run with SPM12, using age as nuisance covariate, with the statistical threshold set at p < 0.01 (uncorrected for multiple comparisons), considering significant clusters containing more than 100 voxels.

Interaction analysis. The [¹⁸F]FDG and [¹¹C]PK11195-PET voxel-wise group analysis resulted in two maps expressing hypometabolism and TSPO overexpression, respectively. Both maps were binarized and superimposed in an interaction analysis performed with IMcalc in the SPM software applying the following formula: Interaction mask = [¹⁸F]FDG hypometabolism map \times [¹¹C]PK11195 TSPO map.

Correlation analysis. We tested correlation between cerebral glucose metabolic rate uptake and [¹¹C]PK11195 binding potentials extracting values from the interaction mask for each EOAD patient (Spearman's rho correlation, p < 0.05).

Brain network analysis. Brain metabolic connectivity was explored by the seed-based interregional correlation analysis, selecting as a seed the interaction region, namely the region showing the highest anatomical and functional overlap between microglia activation and brain hypometabolism. Metabolic connectivity analysis was also performed in a group of 20 age- and sex-matched healthy controls for comparison, using the same seed.

Study 5. Brain Metabolism and Microglia Activation in Mild Cognitive Impairment: A Combined [¹⁸F]FDG and [¹¹C]-(R)-PK11195 PET Study (Tondo et al., J Alzheimers Dis. 2021)

Participants. In the current study, eight subjects fulfilling the Petersen criteria for MCI (Petersen, 2004) were enrolled. All participants underwent neurological, cognitive (MMSE), and complete neuropsychological evaluation, [¹⁸F]FDG-PET and

[¹¹C]PK11195-PET. In addition, ten healthy controls were available from an in-house [¹¹C]PK11195-PET database, and were used for statistical comparison in TSPO analysis.

[¹⁸*F*]*FDG-PET acquisition, pre-processing and data analysis.* All [¹⁸*F*]*FDG-PET* scans were performed at the Nuclear Medicine Unit, San Raffaele Hospital, Milan, Italy, and at the Nuclear Medicine, Spedali Civili Brescia, Brescia, Italy, using identical acquisition and reconstruction protocols (see Study 1). [¹⁸*F*]*FDG-PET* data analysis was performed using the SPM12 software, following the optimized and validated single-subject procedure (see Study 1).

[¹¹C]PK11195-PET acquisition, pre-processing and data analysis. All [¹¹C]PK11195-PET scans were performed at the Nuclear Medicine Unit, San Raffaele Hospital, Milan, Italy, within six months from the execution of the [¹⁸F]FDG-PET. The acquisition protocol has been described in Study 4. Mean [¹¹C]PK11195 injected dose was 339 ± 46 MBq for MCI and 375 ± 64 MBq for controls. [¹¹C]PK11195 binding potentials were extracted implementing the previously described receptor parametric mapping procedure (see Study 4). A non-specific [¹¹C]PK11195 binding potential map was obtained by group analysis in the healthy control group. The non-specific TSPO map was subtracted by each [¹¹C]PK11195 MCI map. Images analysis was performed using the SPM12 software.

Correlation analyses. The WFU PickAtlas toolbox (Maldjian *et al*, 2003) implemented in Matlab, using the automated anatomical labeling atlas (Tzourio-Mazoyer *et al*, 2002), was used to define the following regions of interest: frontal lobe, occipital lobe, parietal lobe, temporal lobe, insula, hippocampus, parahippocampal region, amygdala, caudate, putamen, pallidum, and thalamus. Correlation analyses were performed between [¹¹C]PK11195 binding potentials and cerebral glucose metabolic rate uptake, extracted from each ROI, using the toolkit REX, implemented in MATLAB (Pearson's correlation, p < 0.05). To provide a measure of the spatial overlap between microglia activation and brain glucose hypometabolism, we calculated the Dice similarity coefficient between the single-subject binarized [¹⁸F]FDG-PET maps and the [¹¹C]PK11195 maps. The dice coefficient measures the overlap between two binarized maps, using the formula DICE = 2 * (A \cap B) A + B. A \cap B indicated the number of elements common to the two masks. A + B indicated the sum of all elements present both in A and B. Dice is equal to 1 if A and B show the highest concordance, assuming the

same logical value in every voxel. Dice is equal to 0 if A and B show the lowest (null) concordance. Dice was calculated for the whole brain and each ROI.

Linear regression analysis. A linear regression analysis, considering Dice similarity coefficients as independent variables and the between-signals Pearson's correlation coefficients as the dependent variable, was calculated. This statistical design demonstrated whether the correlation between microglia activation and brain metabolism was due to the spatial overlap between the two signals.

Data presented in this study have been published in the work "Brain Metabolism and Microglia Activation in Mild Cognitive Impairment: A Combined [¹⁸F]FDG and [¹¹C]-(R)-PK11195 PET Study" (Tondo *et al*, 2021).

REFERENCES

- Aalten P, Verhey FRJ, Boziki M, Bullock R, Byrne EJ, Camus V, Caputo M, Collins D, De Deyn PP, Elina K, *et al* (2007) Neuropsychiatric syndromes in dementia: Results from the European Alzheimer disease Consortium: Part I. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord* 24: 457–463
- Aarsland D, Brønnick K, Larsen JP, Tysnes OB & Alves G (2009) Cognitive impairment in incident, untreated Parkinson disease: the Norwegian ParkWest study. *Neurology* 72: 1121–1126
- Abner EL, Kryscio RJ, Schmitt FA, Fardo DW, Moga DC, Ighodaro ET, Jicha GA, Yu L, Dodge HH & Xiong C (2017) Outcomes after diagnosis of mild cognitive impairment in a large autopsy series. *Ann Neurol* 81: 549–559
- Agrawal M & Biswas A (2015) Molecular diagnostics of neurodegenerative disorders. *Front Mol Biosci* 2: 54
- Akkermann R, Aprico A, Perera AA, Bujalka H, Cole AE, Xiao J, Field J, Kilpatrick TJ & Binder MD (2017) The TAM receptor Tyro3 regulates myelination in the central nervous system. *Glia* 65: 581–591
- Albert MS, DeKosky ST, Dickson D, Dubois B, Feldman HH, Fox NC, Gamst A, Holtzman DM, Jagust WJ & Petersen RC (2011) The diagnosis of mild cognitive impairment due to Alzheimer's disease: Recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's Dement* 7: 270–279
- Allegri RF, Chrem Méndez P, Calandri I, Cohen G, Martín ME, Russo MJ, Crivelli L, Pertierra L, Tapajóz F & Clarens MF (2020) Prognostic value of ATN Alzheimer biomarkers: 60-month follow-up results from the Argentine Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative. *Alzheimer's Dement Diagnosis, Assess Dis Monit* 12: e12026
- Alongi P, Chiaravalloti A, Berti V, Vellani C, Trifirò G, Puccini G, Carli G, Chincarini A, Morbelli S & Perani D (2021) Amyloid PET in the diagnostic workup of neurodegenerative disease. *Clin Transl Imaging*: 1–15

Alshikho MJ, Zürcher NR, Loggia ML, Cernasov P, Chonde DB, Garcia DI, Yasek JE,

Akeju O, Catana C & Rosen BR (2016) Glial activation colocalizes with structural abnormalities in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Neurology* 87: 2554–2561

- Alshikho MJ, Zürcher NR, Loggia ML, Cernasov P, Reynolds B, Pijanowski O, Chonde DB, Izquierdo Garcia D, Mainero C & Catana C (2018) Integrated magnetic resonance imaging and [11C]-PBR28 positron emission tomographic imaging in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Ann Neurol* 83: 1186–1197
- Altmann A, Ng B, Landau SM, Jagust WJ & Greicius MD (2015) Regional brain hypometabolism is unrelated to regional amyloid plaque burden. *Brain* 138: 3734– 3746
- Alves S, Churlaud G, Audrain M, Michaelsen-Preusse K, Fol R, Souchet B, Braudeau J, Korte M, Klatzmann D & Cartier N (2017) Interleukin-2 improves amyloid pathology, synaptic failure and memory in Alzheimer's disease mice. *Brain* 140: 826–842
- Alzheimer A (1911) Über eigenartige Krankheitsfälle des späteren Alters. Zeitschrift für die gesamte Neurol und Psychiatr 4: 356
- American Psychiatric Association A (1980) Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders American Psychiatric Association Washington, DC
- Ammoun S, Provenzano L, Zhou L, Barczyk M, Evans K, Hilton DA, Hafizi S & Hanemann CO (2014) Axl/Gas6/NFκB signalling in schwannoma pathological proliferation, adhesion and survival. *Oncogene* 33: 336–346
- Apostolova LG, Mosconi L, Thompson PM, Green AE, Hwang KS, Ramirez A, Mistur R, Tsui WH & de Leon MJ (2010) Subregional hippocampal atrophy predicts Alzheimer's dementia in the cognitively normal. *Neurobiol Aging* 31: 1077–1088
- Arenaza-Urquijo EM & Vemuri P (2018) Resistance vs resilience to Alzheimer disease: clarifying terminology for preclinical studies. *Neurology* 90: 695–703
- Armstrong MJ, Litvan I, Lang AE, Bak TH, Bhatia KP, Borroni B, Boxer AL, Dickson DW, Grossman M & Hallett M (2013) Criteria for the diagnosis of corticobasal degeneration. *Neurology* 80: 496–503
- Arvanitakis Z, Leurgans SE, Fleischman DA, Schneider JA, Rajan KB, Pruzin JJ, Shah RC, Evans DA, Barnes LL & Bennett DA (2018) Memory complaints, dementia, and neuropathology in older blacks and whites. *Ann Neurol* 83: 718–729

Aschenbrenner AJ, Gordon BA, Benzinger TLS, Morris JC & Hassenstab JJ (2018)

Influence of tau PET, amyloid PET, and hippocampal volume on cognition in Alzheimer disease. *Neurology* 91: e859–e866

- Ashton NJ, Janelidze S, Al Khleifat A, Leuzy A, van der Ende EL, Karikari TK, Benedet AL, Pascoal TA, Lleó A & Parnetti L (2021) A multicentre validation study of the diagnostic value of plasma neurofilament light. *Nat Commun* 12: 1–12
- Association AP & Association AP (2013) Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders: DSM-5. *United States*
- Bachiller S, Jiménez-Ferrer I, Paulus A, Yang Y, Swanberg M, Deierborg T & Boza-Serrano A (2018) Microglia in neurological diseases: a road map to brain-disease dependent-inflammatory response. *Front Cell Neurosci* 12: 488
- Balash Y, Mordechovich M, Shabtai H, Giladi N, Gurevich T & Korczyn AD (2013) Subjective memory complaints in elders: depression, anxiety, or cognitive decline? *Acta Neurol Scand* 127: 344–350
- Ballarini T, Iaccarino L, Magnani G, Ayakta N, Miller BL, Jagust WJ, Gorno-Tempini ML, Rabinovici GD & Perani D (2016) Neuropsychiatric subsyndromes and brain metabolic network dysfunctions in early onset Alzheimer's disease. *Hum Brain Mapp* 37: 4234–4247
- Bang J, Spina S & Miller BL (2015) Frontotemporal dementia. Lancet 386: 1672-1682
- Barthel H, Bullich S, Sabri O, Seibyl J, Villemagne V, Rowe C, Koglin N, Stephens A & Catafau A (2015) 18F-florbetaben (FBB) PET SUVR quantification: which reference region? J Nucl Med 56: 1563
- Bateman RJ, Aisen PS, De Strooper B, Fox NC, Lemere CA, Ringman JM, Salloway S,
 Sperling RA, Windisch M & Xiong C (2011) Autosomal-dominant Alzheimer's disease: a review and proposal for the prevention of Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Res Ther* 3: 1–13
- Bateman RJ, Xiong C, Benzinger TLS, Fagan AM, Goate A, Fox NC, Marcus DS, Cairns NJ, Xie X & Blazey TM (2012) Clinical and biomarker changes in dominantly inherited Alzheimer's disease. *N Engl J Med* 367: 795–804
- Bauer CM, Cabral HJ & Killiany RJ (2018) Multimodal discrimination between normal aging, mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease and prediction of cognitive decline. *Diagnostics* 8: 14
- Beers DR, Zhao W, Wang J, Zhang X, Wen S, Neal D, Thonhoff JR, Alsuliman AS,

Shpall EJ & Rezvani K (2017) ALS patients' regulatory T lymphocytes are dysfunctional, and correlate with disease progression rate and severity. *JCI insight* 2

- Bell WR, An Y, Kageyama Y, English C, Rudow GL, Pletnikova O, Thambisetty M, O'Brien R, Moghekar AR & Albert MS (2019) Neuropathologic, genetic, and longitudinal cognitive profiles in primary age-related tauopathy (PART) and Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's Dement* 15: 8–16
- Benveniste H, Elkin R, Heerdt PM, Koundal S, Xue Y, Lee H, Wardlaw J & Tannenbaum A (2020) The glymphatic system and its role in cerebral homeostasis. *J Appl Physiol* 129: 1330–1340
- Benvenutto A, Giusiano B, Koric L, Gueriot C, Didic M, Felician O, Guye M, Guedj E & Ceccaldi M (2018) Imaging biomarkers of neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease: distinct contributions of cortical MRI atrophy and FDG-PET hypometabolism. *J Alzheimer's Dis* 65: 1147–1157
- Bergeron D, Gorno-Tempini ML, Rabinovici GD, Santos-Santos MA, Seeley W, Miller BL, Pijnenburg Y, Keulen MA, Groot C & van Berckel BNM (2018) Prevalence of amyloid-β pathology in distinct variants of primary progressive aphasia. *Ann Neurol* 84: 729–740
- Best L, Ghadery C, Pavese N, Tai YF & Strafella AP (2019) New and old TSPO PET radioligands for imaging brain microglial activation in neurodegenerative disease. *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep* 19: 24
- Bettcher BM, Tansey MG, Dorothée G & Heneka MT (2021) Peripheral and central immune system crosstalk in Alzheimer disease—a research prospectus. *Nat Rev Neurol*: 1–13
- Bevan-Jones WR, Cope TE, Jones PS, Passamonti L, Hong YT, Fryer TD, Arnold R, Allinson KSJ, Coles JP & Aigbirhio FI (2018) [18F] AV-1451 binding in vivo mirrors the expected distribution of TDP-43 pathology in the semantic variant of primary progressive aphasia. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 89: 1032–1037
- Bevan-Jones WR, Cope TE, Jones PS, Passamonti L, Hong YT, Fryer T, Arnold R, Coles JP, Aigbirhio FI & O'Brien JT (2019) In vivo evidence for pre-symptomatic neuroinflammation in a MAPT mutation carrier. Ann Clin Transl Neurol 6: 373–378

Bigio EH, Hynan LS, Sontag E, Satumtira S & White III CL (2002) Synapse loss is

greater in presentile than sentile onset Alzheimer disease: implications for the cognitive reserve hypothesis. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol* 28: 218–227

- Binder MD & Kilpatrick TJ (2009) TAM receptor signalling and demyelination. *NeuroSignals* 17: 277–287
- Bischof GN, Endepols H, van Eimeren T & Drzezga A (2017) Tau-imaging in neurodegeneration. *Methods* 130: 114–123
- Bisht K, Sharma KP, Lecours C, Gabriela Sánchez M, El Hajj H, Milior G, Olmos-Alonso
 A, Gómez-Nicola D, Luheshi G & Vallieres L (2016) Dark microglia: a new phenotype predominantly associated with pathological states. *Glia* 64: 826–839
- Bittar A, Bhatt N & Kayed R (2020) Advances and considerations in AD tau-targeted immunotherapy. *Neurobiol Dis* 134: 104707
- Blazhenets G, Ma Y, Sörensen A, Schiller F, Rücker G, Eidelberg D, Frings L & Meyer PT (2020) Predictive value of 18F-florbetapir and 18F-FDG PET for conversion from mild cognitive impairment to Alzheimer dementia. *J Nucl Med* 61: 597–603
- Blennow K & Zetterberg H (2018) Biomarkers for Alzheimer's disease: current status and prospects for the future. *J Intern Med* 284: 643–663
- Blessed G, Tomlinson BE & Roth M (1968) The association between quantitative measures of dementia and of senile change in the cerebral grey matter of elderly subjects. *Br J psychiatry* 114: 797–811
- Boellaard R (2009) Standards for PET image acquisition and quantitative data analysis. J Nucl Med 50: 11S-20S
- Boillée S, Yamanaka K, Lobsiger CS, Copeland NG, Jenkins NA, Kassiotis G, Kollias G
 & Cleveland DW (2006) Onset and progression in inherited ALS determined by
 motor neurons and microglia. *Science (80-)* 312: 1389–1392
- Bowler J V, Munoz DG, Merskey H & Hachinski V (1998) Fallacies in the pathological confirmation of the diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* 64: 18–24
- Boyle PA, Wilson RS, Aggarwal NT, Tang Y & Bennett DA (2006) Mild cognitive impairment: risk of Alzheimer disease and rate of cognitive decline. *Neurology* 67: 441–445
- Braak H & Braak E (1991) Neuropathological stageing of Alzheimer-related changes. Acta Neuropathol 82: 239–259

- Braak H, Thal DR, Ghebremedhin E & Del Tredici K (2011) Stages of the pathologic process in Alzheimer disease: age categories from 1 to 100 years. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol* 70: 960–969
- Braam AW, Copeland JRM, Delespaul PAEG, Beekman ATF, Como A, Dewey M, Fichter M, Holwerda TJ, Lawlor BA & Lobo A (2014) Depression, subthreshold depression and comorbid anxiety symptoms in older Europeans: results from the EURODEP concerted action. J Affect Disord 155: 266–272
- Brás IC, Dominguez-Meijide A, Gerhardt E, Koss D, Lázaro DF, Santos PI, Vasili E, Xylaki M & Outeiro TF (2020) Synucleinopathies: Where we are and where we need to go. *J Neurochem* 153: 433–454
- Brayne C & Miller B (2017) Dementia and aging populations—A global priority for contextualized research and health policy. [PREPRINT]
- Brelstaff J, Tolkovsky AM, Ghetti B, Goedert M & Spillantini MG (2018) Living neurons with tau filaments aberrantly expose phosphatidylserine and are phagocytosed by microglia. *Cell Rep* 24: 1939–1948
- Brown RG, Lacomblez L, Landwehrmeyer BG, Bak T, Uttner I, Dubois B, Agid Y, Ludolph A, Bensimon G & Payan C (2010) Cognitive impairment in patients with multiple system atrophy and progressive supranuclear palsy. *Brain* 133: 2382–2393
- Cady J, Koval ED, Benitez BA, Zaidman C, Jockel-Balsarotti J, Allred P, Baloh RH, Ravits J, Simpson E & Appel SH (2014) TREM2 variant p. R47H as a risk factor for sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *JAMA Neurol* 71: 449–453
- Cagnin A, Brooks DJ, Kennedy AM, Gunn RN, Myers R, Turkheimer FE, Jones T & Banati RB (2001) In-vivo measurement of activated microglia in dementia. *Lancet* 358: 461–467
- Cagnin A, Rossor M, Sampson EL, MacKinnon T & Banati RB (2004) In vivo detection of microglial activation in frontotemporal dementia. Ann Neurol Off J Am Neurol Assoc Child Neurol Soc 56: 894–897
- Caminiti SP, Alongi P, Majno L, Volontè MA, Cerami C, Gianolli L, Comi G & Perani D (2017) Evaluation of an optimized [18F] fluoro-deoxy-glucose positron emission tomography voxel-wise method to early support differential diagnosis in atypical Parkinsonian disorders. *Eur J Neurol* 24: 687-e26

Caminiti SP, Ballarini T, Sala A, Cerami C, Presotto L, Santangelo R, Fallanca F, Vanoli

EG, Gianolli L & Iannaccone S (2018) FDG-PET and CSF biomarker accuracy in prediction of conversion to different dementias in a large multicentre MCI cohort. *NeuroImage Clin* 18: 167–177

- Caminiti SP, Sala A, Iaccarino L, Beretta L, Pilotto A, Gianolli L, Iannaccone S, MagnaniG, Padovani A & Ferini-Strambi L (2019) Brain glucose metabolism in Lewy bodydementia: implications for diagnostic criteria. *Alzheimers Res Ther* 11: 20
- Canevelli M, Grande G, Lacorte E, Quarchioni E, Cesari M, Mariani C, Bruno G & Vanacore N (2016) Spontaneous reversion of mild cognitive impairment to normal cognition: a systematic review of literature and meta-analysis. J Am Med Dir Assoc 17: 943–948
- Canosa A, Pagani M, Cistaro A, Montuschi A, Iazzolino B, Fania P, Cammarosano S, Ilardi A, Moglia C & Calvo A (2016) 18F-FDG-PET correlates of cognitive impairment in ALS. *Neurology* 86: 44–49
- Cao J, Hou J, Ping J & Cai D (2018) Advances in developing novel therapeutic strategies for Alzheimer's disease. *Mol Neurodegener* 13: 64
- Capitanio S, Bauckneht M, Arnaldi D, Massa F, Meli R, Ceriani V, Nobili F & Morbelli S (2019) 18 F-FDG-PET/CT (FDG-PET) in Neurodegenerative Disease. In *PET/CT in brain disorders* pp 37–48. Springer
- Cappellano G, Carecchio M, Fleetwood T, Magistrelli L, Cantello R, Dianzani U & Comi
 C (2013) Immunity and inflammation in neurodegenerative diseases. Am J
 Neurodegener Dis 2: 89
- Carbonell F, Zijdenbos AP, McLaren DG, Iturria-Medina Y, Bedell BJ & Initiative ADN (2016) Modulation of glucose metabolism and metabolic connectivity by β-amyloid. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* 36: 2058–2071
- Carli G, Caminiti SP, Sala A, Galbiati A, Pilotto A, Ferini-Strambi L, Padovani A & Perani D (2020) Impaired metabolic brain networks associated with neurotransmission systems in the α-synuclein spectrum. *Park Relat Disord* 81: 113– 122
- Carli G, Tondo G, Boccalini C & Perani D (2021) Brain Molecular Connectivity in Neurodegenerative Conditions. *Brain Sci* 11: 433
- Di Carlo A, Lamassa M, Baldereschi M, Inzitari M, Scafato E, Farchi G & Inzitari D (2007) CIND and MCI in the Italian elderly: frequency, vascular risk factors,

progression to dementia. Neurology 68: 1909-1916

- Caroli A, Prestia A, Galluzzi S, Ferrari C, Van Der Flier WM, Ossenkoppele R, Van Berckel B, Barkhof F, Teunissen C & Wall AE (2015) Mild cognitive impairment with suspected nonamyloid pathology (SNAP): prediction of progression. *Neurology* 84: 508–515
- Carter SF, Chiotis K, Nordberg A & Rodriguez-Vieitez E (2019) Longitudinal association between astrocyte function and glucose metabolism in autosomal dominant Alzheimer's disease. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging* 46: 348–356
- Carter SF, Schöll M, Almkvist O, Wall A, Engler H, Långström B & Nordberg A (2012) Evidence for astrocytosis in prodromal Alzheimer disease provided by 11Cdeuterium-L-deprenyl: a multitracer PET paradigm combining 11C-Pittsburgh compound B and 18F-FDG. J Nucl Med 53: 37–46
- Castelnovo V, Caminiti SP, Riva N, Magnani G, Silani V & Perani D (2019) Heterogeneous brain FDG-PET metabolic patterns in patients with C9orf72 mutation. *Neurol Sci* 40: 515–521
- Catafau AM, Bullich S, Seibyl JP, Barthel H, Ghetti B, Leverenz J, Ironside JW, Schulz-Schaeffer WJ, Hoffmann A & Sabri O (2016) Cerebellar amyloid-β plaques: How frequent are they, and do they influence 18F-florbetaben SUV ratios? *J Nucl Med* 57: 1740–1745
- Cerami C, Crespi C, Della Rosa PA, Dodich A, Marcone A, Magnani G, Coppi E, Falini A, Cappa SF & Perani D (2015a) Brain changes within the visuo-spatial attentional network in posterior cortical atrophy. J Alzheimer's Dis 43: 385–395
- Cerami C, Dodich A, Iannaccone S, Magnani G, Santangelo R, Presotto L, Marcone A, Gianolli L, Cappa SF & Perani D (2018) A biomarker study in long-lasting amnestic mild cognitive impairment. *Alzheimers Res Ther* 10: 42
- Cerami C, Dodich A, Iannaccone S, Marcone A, Lettieri G, Crespi C, Gianolli L, Cappa SF & Perani D (2015b) Right limbic FDG-PET hypometabolism correlates with emotion recognition and attribution in probable behavioral variant of frontotemporal dementia patients. *PLoS One* 10: e0141672
- Cerami C, Iaccarino L & Perani D (2017) Molecular imaging of neuroinflammation in neurodegenerative dementias: the role of in vivo PET imaging. *Int J Mol Sci* 18: 993
 Cerami C, Della Rosa PA, Magnani G, Santangelo R, Marcone A, Cappa SF & Perani D

(2015c) Brain metabolic maps in Mild Cognitive Impairment predict heterogeneity of progression to dementia. *NeuroImage Clin* 7: 187–194

- Chandra A, Valkimadi P, Pagano G, Cousins O, Dervenoulas G, Politis M & Initiative ADN (2019) Applications of amyloid, tau, and neuroinflammation PET imaging to Alzheimer's disease and mild cognitive impairment. *Hum Brain Mapp* 40: 5424–5442
- Chen H, Liu S, Ji L, Wu T, Ji Y, Zhou Y, Zheng M, Zhang M, Xu W & Huang G (2016a) Folic acid supplementation mitigates Alzheimer's disease by reducing inflammation: a randomized controlled trial. *Mediators Inflamm* 2016
- Chen W, Zhang XIA & Huang W (2016b) Role of neuroinflammation in neurodegenerative diseases. *Mol Med Rep* 13: 3391–3396
- Cherry SR & Dahlbom M (2006) PET: physics, instrumentation, and scanners. In *PET* pp 1–117. Springer
- Chételat G, Arbizu J, Barthel H, Garibotto V, Law I, Morbelli S, van de Giessen E, Agosta F, Barkhof F & Brooks DJ (2020) Amyloid-PET and 18F-FDG-PET in the diagnostic investigation of Alzheimer's disease and other dementias. *Lancet Neurol* 19: 951–962
- Chételat G, La Joie R, Villain N, Perrotin A, de La Sayette V, Eustache F & Vandenberghe R (2013) Amyloid imaging in cognitively normal individuals, at-risk populations and preclinical Alzheimer's disease. *NeuroImage Clin* 2: 356–365
- Chiatti C, Furneri G, Rimland JM, Demma F, Bonfranceschi F, Cassetta L, Masera F, Cherubini A, Corsonello A & Lattanzio F (2015) The economic impact of moderate stage Alzheimer's disease in Italy: evidence from the UP-TECH randomized trial. *Int Psychogeriatrics* 27: 1563–1572
- Chiotis K, Saint-Aubert L, Rodriguez-Vieitez E, Leuzy A, Almkvist O, Savitcheva I, Jonasson M, Lubberink M, Wall A & Antoni G (2018) Longitudinal changes of tau PET imaging in relation to hypometabolism in prodromal and Alzheimer's disease dementia. *Mol Psychiatry* 23: 1666–1673
- Chitnis T & Weiner HL (2017) CNS inflammation and neurodegeneration. *J Clin Invest* 127: 3577–3587
- Cho H, Choi JY, Hwang MS, Lee SH, Ryu YH, Lee MS & Lyoo CH (2017) Subcortical 18F-AV-1451 binding patterns in progressive supranuclear palsy. *Mov Disord* 32:

134-140

- Cho H, Seo SW, Choi JY, Lee HS, Ryu YH, Lee MS, Na DL, Kim HJ & Lyoo CH (2018) Predominant subcortical accumulation of 18F-flortaucipir binding in behavioral variant frontotemporal dementia. *Neurobiol Aging* 66: 112–121
- Chow TW, Graff-Guerrero A, Verhoeff NPLG, Binns MA, Tang-Wai DF, Freedman M, Masellis M, Black SE, Wilson AA & Houle S (2011) Open-label study of the shortterm effects of memantine on FDG-PET in frontotemporal dementia. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat* 7: 415
- Chung J, Yoo K, Kim E, Na DL & Jeong Y (2016) Glucose metabolic brain networks in early-onset vs. late-onset Alzheimer's disease. *Front Aging Neurosci* 8: 159
- Ciarmiello A, Tartaglione A, Giovannini E, Riondato M, Giovacchini G, Ferrando O, De Biasi M, Passera C, Carabelli E & Mannironi A (2019) Amyloid burden identifies neuropsychological phenotypes at increased risk of progression to Alzheimer's disease in mild cognitive impairment patients. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging* 46: 288–296
- Clark CM, Pontecorvo MJ, Beach TG, Bedell BJ, Coleman RE, Doraiswamy PM, Fleisher AS, Reiman EM, Sabbagh MN & Sadowsky CH (2012) Cerebral PET with florbetapir compared with neuropathology at autopsy for detection of neuritic amyloid-β plaques: a prospective cohort study. *Lancet Neurol* 11: 669–678
- Clark CM, Schneider JA, Bedell BJ, Beach TG, Bilker WB, Mintun MA, Pontecorvo MJ, Hefti F, Carpenter AP & Flitter ML (2011) Use of florbetapir-PET for imaging βamyloid pathology. *Jama* 305: 275–283
- Clerici F, Ghiretti R, Di Pucchio A, Pomati S, Cucumo V, Marcone A, Vanacore N, Mariani C & Cappa SF (2017) Construct validity of the Free and Cued Selective Reminding Test in older adults with memory complaints. *J Neuropsychol* 11: 238– 251
- Colby DW & Prusiner SB (2011) Prions. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 3: a006833
- Colombo E & Farina C (2016) Astrocytes: key regulators of neuroinflammation. *Trends Immunol* 37: 608–620
- Comi C & Tondo G (2017) Insights into the protective role of immunity in neurodegenerative disease. *Neural Regen Res* 12: 64–65
- Constantinides VC, Paraskevas GP, Paraskevas PG, Stefanis L & Kapaki E (2019)

Corticobasal degeneration and corticobasal syndrome: A review. *Clin Park Relat Disord* 1: 66–71

- Corcia P, Tauber C, Vercoullie J, Arlicot N, Prunier C, Praline J, Nicolas G, Venel Y, Hommet C & Baulieu J-L (2012) Molecular imaging of microglial activation in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *PLoS One* 7: e52941
- Cordone S, Annarumma L, Rossini PM & De Gennaro L (2019) Sleep and β-amyloid deposition in Alzheimer disease: insights on mechanisms and possible innovative treatments. *Front Pharmacol* 10: 695
- Cova I, Markova A, Campini I, Grande G, Mariani C & Pomati S (2017) Worldwide trends in the prevalence of dementia. *J Neurol Sci* 379: 259–260
- Crous-Bou M, Minguillón C, Gramunt N & Molinuevo JL (2017) Alzheimer's disease prevention: from risk factors to early intervention. *Alzheimers Res Ther* 9: 1–9
- Cummings J, Aisen P, Lemere C, Atri A, Sabbagh M & Salloway S (2021a) Aducanumab produced a clinically meaningful benefit in association with amyloid lowering. *Alzheimers Res Ther* 13: 1–3
- Cummings J, Lee G, Zhong K, Fonseca J & Taghva K (2021b) Alzheimer's disease drug development pipeline: 2021. *Alzheimer's Dement Transl Res Clin Interv* 7: e12179
- Das SR, Xie L, Wisse LEM, Ittyerah R, Tustison NJ, Dickerson BC, Yushkevich PA, Wolk DA & Initiative ADN (2018) Longitudinal and cross-sectional structural magnetic resonance imaging correlates of AV-1451 uptake. *Neurobiol Aging* 66: 49–58
- Day GS, Gordon BA, Perrin RJ, Cairns NJ, Beaumont H, Schwetye K, Ferguson C, Sinha N, Bucelli R & Musiek ES (2018) In vivo [18F]-AV-1451 tau-PET imaging in sporadic Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease. *Neurology* 90: e896–e906
- De Francesco S, Galluzzi S, Vanacore N, Festari C, Rossini PM, Cappa SF, Frisoni GB & Redolfi A (2021) Norms for automatic estimation of hippocampal atrophy and a step forward for applicability to the Italian population. *Front Neurosci*: 786
- De Marchi F, Munitic I, Amedei A, Berry JD, Feldman EL, Aronica E, Nardo G, Van Weehaeghe D, Niccolai E & Prtenjaca N (2021) INTERPLAY BETWEEN IMMUNITY AND AMYOTROPHIC LATERAL SCLEROSIS: CLINICAL IMPACT. Neurosci Biobehav Rev

Delcoigne B, Manouchehrinia A, Barro C, Benkert P, Michalak Z, Kappos L, Leppert D,

Tsai JA, Plavina T & Kieseier BC (2020) Blood neurofilament light levels segregate treatment effects in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology* 94: e1201–e1212

- Della Rosa PA, Cerami C, Gallivanone F, Prestia A, Caroli A, Castiglioni I, Gilardi MC,
 Frisoni G, Friston K, Ashburner J, *et al* (2014) A Standardized [18F]-FDG-PET
 Template for Spatial Normalization in Statistical Parametric Mapping of Dementia.
 Neuroinformatics 12: 575–593
- Di Benedetto S, Müller L, Wenger E, Düzel S & Pawelec G (2017) Contribution of neuroinflammation and immunity to brain aging and the mitigating effects of physical and cognitive interventions. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* 75: 114–128
- Díaz-Mardomingo MDC, García-Herranz S, Rodríguez-Fernández R, Venero C & Peraita H (2017) Problems in classifying mild cognitive impairment (MCI): one or multiple syndromes? *Brain Sci* 7: 111
- Diehl J, Grimmer T, Drzezga A, Riemenschneider M, Förstl H & Kurz A (2004) Cerebral metabolic patterns at early stages of frontotemporal dementia and semantic dementia. A PET study. *Neurobiol Aging* 25: 1051–1056
- Dilger RN & Johnson RW (2008) Aging, microglial cell priming, and the discordant central inflammatory response to signals from the peripheral immune system. *J Leukoc Biol* 84: 932–939
- Dodel R, Spottke A, Gerhard A, Reuss A, Reinecker S, Schimke N, Trenkwalder C, Sixel-Döring F, Herting B & Kamm C (2010) Minocycline 1-year therapy in multiplesystem-atrophy: Effect on clinical symptoms and [11C](R)-PK11195 PET (MEMSA-trial). *Mov Disord* 25: 97–107
- Doraiswamy PM, Sperling RA, Johnson K, Reiman EM, Wong TZ, Sabbagh MN, Sadowsky CH, Fleisher AS, Carpenter A & Joshi AD (2014) Florbetapir F 18 amyloid PET and 36-month cognitive decline: a prospective multicenter study. *Mol Psychiatry* 19: 1044–1051
- Dronse J, Fliessbach K, Bischof GN, Von Reutern B, Faber J, Hammes J, Kuhnert G, Neumaier B, Onur OA & Kukolja J (2017) In vivo patterns of tau pathology, amyloid-β burden, and neuronal dysfunction in clinical variants of Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimer's Dis 55: 465–471
- Du L, Zhang Y, Chen Y, Zhu J, Yang Y & Zhang H-L (2017) Role of microglia in neurological disorders and their potentials as a therapeutic target. *Mol Neurobiol* 54:

7567-7584

- Duara R, Loewenstein DA, Greig MT, Potter E, Barker W, Raj A, Schinka J, Borenstein A, Schoenberg M, Wu Y, *et al* (2011) Pre-MCI and MCI: Neuropsychological, clinical, and imaging features and progression rates. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry* 19: 951–960
- Dubbelaar ML, Kracht L, Eggen BJL & Boddeke EWGM (2018) The kaleidoscope of microglial phenotypes. *Front Immunol* 9: 1753
- Dubbelink KTEO, Hillebrand A, Twisk JWR, Deijen JB, Stoffers D, Schmand BA, Stam CJ & Berendse HW (2014) Predicting dementia in Parkinson disease by combining neurophysiologic and cognitive markers. *Neurology* 82: 263–270
- Dubois B, Feldman HH, Jacova C, Cummings JL, DeKosky ST, Barberger-Gateau P, Delacourte A, Frisoni G, Fox NC & Galasko D (2010) Revising the definition of Alzheimer's disease: a new lexicon. *Lancet Neurol* 9: 1118–1127
- Dubois B, Feldman HH, Jacova C, DeKosky ST, Barberger-Gateau P, Cummings J, Delacourte A, Galasko D, Gauthier S & Jicha G (2007) Research criteria for the diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: revising the NINCDS–ADRDA criteria. *Lancet Neurol* 6: 734–746
- Dubois B, Feldman HH, Jacova C, Hampel H, Molinuevo JL, Blennow K, Dekosky ST, Gauthier S, Selkoe D, Bateman R, *et al* (2014) Advancing research diagnostic criteria for Alzheimer's disease: The IWG-2 criteria. *Lancet Neurol* 13: 614–629
- Dubois B, Hampel H, Feldman HH, Scheltens P, Aisen P, Andrieu S, Bakardjian H, Benali H, Bertram L & Blennow K (2016) Preclinical Alzheimer's disease: definition, natural history, and diagnostic criteria. *Alzheimer's Dement* 12: 292–323
- Dubois B, Villain N, Frisoni GB, Rabinovici GD, Sabbagh M, Cappa S, Bejanin A, Bombois S, Epelbaum S, Teichmann M, *et al* (2021) Personal View Clinical diagnosis of Alzheimer 's disease : recommendations of the International Working Group. 4422: 1–13
- Dukart J, Mueller K, Horstmann A, Barthel H, Möller HE, Villringer A, Sabri O & Schroeter ML (2011) Combined evaluation of FDG-PET and MRI improves detection and differentiation of dementia. *PLoS One* 6: e18111
- Dukart J, Sambataro F & Bertolino A (2016) Accurate prediction of conversion to Alzheimer's disease using imaging, genetic, and neuropsychological biomarkers. J

Alzheimer's Dis 49: 1143–1159

- Duncan GJ, Simkins TJ & Emery B (2021) Neuron-oligodendrocyte interactions in the structure and integrity of axons. *Front Cell Dev Biol* 9: 460
- Duque T, Gromicho M, Pronto-Laborinho AC & de Carvalho M (2020) Transforming growth factor-β plasma levels and its role in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Med Hypotheses* 139: 109632
- Earls RH & Lee J-K (2020) The role of natural killer cells in Parkinson's disease. *Exp Mol Med* 52: 1517–1525
- Ebenau JL, Timmers T, Wesselman LMP, Verberk IMW, Verfaillie SCJ, Slot RER, Van Harten AC, Teunissen CE, Barkhof F, Van Den Bosch KA, *et al* (2020) ATN classification and clinical progression in subjective cognitive decline: The SCIENCe project. *Neurology* 95: 46–58
- Edison P, Ahmed I, Fan Z, Hinz R, Gelosa G, Chaudhuri KR, Walker Z, Turkheimer FE & Brooks DJ (2013) Microglia, amyloid, and glucose metabolism in Parkinson's disease with and without dementia. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 38: 938
- Edison P, Archer HA, Gerhard A, Hinz R, Pavese N, Turkheimer FE, Hammers A, Tai YF, Fox N & Kennedy A (2008) Microglia, amyloid, and cognition in Alzheimer's disease: An [11C](R) PK11195-PET and [11C] PIB-PET study. *Neurobiol Dis* 32: 412–419
- Elahi FM & Miller BL (2017) A clinicopathological approach to the diagnosis of dementia. *Nat Rev Neurol* 13: 457–476
- Endo F, Komine O, Fujimori-Tonou N, Katsuno M, Jin S, Watanabe S, Sobue G, Dezawa M, Wyss-Coray T & Yamanaka K (2015) Astrocyte-derived TGF-β1 accelerates disease progression in ALS mice by interfering with the neuroprotective functions of microglia and T cells. *Cell Rep* 11: 592–604
- Ernst M & Jenkins BJ (2004) Acquiring signalling specificity from the cytokine receptor gp130. *Trends Genet* 20: 23–32
- Fan Z, Aman Y, Ahmed I, Chetelat G, Landeau B, Chaudhuri KR, Brooks DJ & Edison P (2015a) Influence of microglial activation on neuronal function in Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease dementia. *Alzheimer's Dement* 11: 608–621
- Fan Z, Brooks DJ, Okello A & Edison P (2017) An early and late peak in microglial activation in Alzheimer's disease trajectory. *Brain* 140: 792–803

- Fan Z, Okello AA, Brooks DJ & Edison P (2015b) Longitudinal influence of microglial activation and amyloid on neuronal function in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain* 138: 3685–3698
- Fan Z, Pan Y-T, Zhang Z-Y, Yang H, Yu S-Y, Zheng Y, Ma J-H & Wang X-M (2020) Systemic activation of NLRP3 inflammasome and plasma α-synuclein levels are correlated with motor severity and progression in Parkinson's disease. J Neuroinflammation 17: 1–10
- Fang C, Lv L, Mao S, Dong H & Liu B (2020) Cognition deficits in parkinson's disease: mechanisms and treatment. *Park Dis* 2020
- Fei M & Jianhua W (2013) Apolipoprotein ε4-allele as a significant risk factor for conversion from mild cognitive impairment to Alzheimer's disease: a meta-analysis of prospective studies. J Mol Neurosci 50: 257–263
- Fellner L, Irschick R, Schanda K, Reindl M, Klimaschewski L, Poewe W, Wenning GK & Stefanova N (2013) Toll-like receptor 4 is required for α-synuclein dependent activation of microglia and astroglia. *Glia* 61: 349–360
- Ferrari BL, Neto G de CC, Nucci MP, Mamani JB, Lacerda SS, Felício AC, Amaro Jr E & Gamarra LF (2019) The accuracy of hippocampal volumetry and glucose metabolism for the diagnosis of patients with suspected Alzheimer's disease, using automatic quantitative clinical tools. *Medicine (Baltimore)* 98
- Ferrari CC, Godoy MCP, Tarelli R, Chertoff M, Depino AM & Pitossi FJ (2006) Progressive neurodegeneration and motor disabilities induced by chronic expression of IL-1β in the substantia nigra. *Neurobiol Dis* 24: 183–193
- Fischl B (2012) FreeSurfer. Neuroimage 62: 774–781
- Fjell AM, McEvoy L, Holland D, Dale AM, Walhovd KB & Initiative ADN (2014) What is normal in normal aging? Effects of aging, amyloid and Alzheimer's disease on the cerebral cortex and the hippocampus. *Prog Neurobiol* 117: 20–40
- Folstein MF, Folstein SE & McHugh PR (1975) "Mini-mental state": a practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. J Psychiatr Res 12: 189– 198
- Fornito A, Zalesky A & Breakspear M (2015) The connectomics of brain disorders. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 16: 159–172
- Fourgeaud L, Traves PG, Tufail Y, Leal-Bailey H, Lew ED, Burrola PG, Callaway P,

Zagorska A, Rothlin C V., Nimmerjahn A, *et al* (2016) TAM receptors regulate multiple features of microglial physiology. *Nature* 532: 240–244

- Frasson P, Ghiretti R, Catricalà E, Pomati S, Marcone A, Parisi L, Rossini PM, Cappa SF, Mariani C & Vanacore N (2011) Free and cued selective reminding test: an Italian normative study. *Neurol Sci* 32: 1057–1062
- Frings L, Hellwig S, Bormann T, Spehl TS, Buchert R & Meyer PT (2018) Amyloid load but not regional glucose metabolism predicts conversion to Alzheimer's dementia in a memory clinic population. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging* 45: 1442–1448
- Frisoni GB, Boccardi M, Barkhof F, Blennow K, Cappa S, Chiotis K, Démonet J-F, Garibotto V, Giannakopoulos P & Gietl A (2017) Strategic roadmap for an early diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease based on biomarkers. *Lancet Neurol* 16: 661–676
- Frisoni GB, Bocchetta M, Chételat G, Rabinovici GD, De Leon MJ, Kaye J, Reiman EM, Scheltens P, Barkhof F & Black SE (2013) Imaging markers for Alzheimer disease: which vs how. *Neurology* 81: 487–500
- Frisoni GB, Jack Jr CR, Bocchetta M, Bauer C, Frederiksen KS, Liu Y, Preboske G, Swihart T, Blair M & Cavedo E (2015) The EADC-ADNI harmonized protocol for manual hippocampal segmentation on magnetic resonance: Evidence of validity. *Alzheimer's Dement* 11: 111–125
- Frisoni GB, Testa C, Sabattoli F, Beltramello A, Soininen H & Laakso MP (2005) Structural correlates of early and late onset Alzheimer's disease: voxel based morphometric study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 76: 112–114
- Friston KJ (1994) Statistical parametric mapping.
- Frost B & Diamond MI (2010) Prion-like mechanisms in neurodegenerative diseases. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 11: 155–159
- Fu AKY, Hung K-W, Yuen MYF, Zhou X, Mak DSY, Chan ICW, Cheung TH, Zhang B, Fu W-Y & Liew FY (2016) IL-33 ameliorates Alzheimer's disease-like pathology and cognitive decline. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 113: E2705–E2713
- Fujita M, Kobayashi M, Ikawa M, Gunn RN, Rabiner EA, Owen DR, Zoghbi SS, Haskali MB, Telu S & Pike VW (2017) Comparison of four 11 C-labeled PET ligands to quantify translocator protein 18 kDa (TSPO) in human brain:(R)-PK11195, PBR28, DPA-713, and ER176—Based on recent publications that measured specific-to-non-displaceable ratios. *EJNMMI Res* 7: 1–5

- Galluzzi S, Geroldi C, Ghidoni R, Paghera B, Amicucci G, Bonetti M, Zanetti O, Cotelli M, Gennarelli M & Frisoni GB (2010) The new Alzheimer's criteria in a naturalistic series of patients with mild cognitive impairment. *J Neurol* 257: 2004–2014
- Ganguli M, Jia Y, Hughes TF, Snitz BE, Chang CH, Berman SB, Sullivan KJ & Kamboh MI (2019) Mild cognitive impairment that does not progress to dementia: a population-based study. J Am Geriatr Soc 67: 232–238
- Garibotto V, Herholz K, Boccardi M, Picco A, Varrone A, Nordberg A, Nobili F, Ratib O & for the Roadmap GTF (2017) Clinical validity of brain fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography as a biomarker for Alzheimer's disease in the context of a structured 5-phase development framework. *Neurobiol Aging* 52: 183–195
- Garofalo S, Cocozza G, Porzia A, Inghilleri M, Raspa M, Scavizzi F, Aronica E, Bernardini G, Peng L & Ransohoff RM (2020) Natural killer cells modulate motor neuron-immune cell cross talk in models of Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis. *Nat Commun* 11: 1–16
- Gatliff J & Campanella M (2012) The 18 kDa translocator protein (TSPO): a new perspective in mitochondrial biology. *Curr Mol Med* 12: 356–368
- Gaubert S, Houot M, Raimondo F, Ansart M, Corsi M-C, Naccache L, Sitt JD, Habert M-O, Dubois B & Fallani FDV (2021) A machine learning approach to screen for preclinical Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Aging* 105: 205–216
- Geschwind MD (2015) Prion diseases. Continuum (Minneap Minn) 21: 1612
- Ghasemi M & Brown RH (2018) Genetics of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med* 8: a024125
- Giacobini E & Gold G (2013) Alzheimer disease therapy—moving from amyloid-β to tau. *Nat Rev Neurol* 9: 677–686
- Giannakopoulos P, Montandon M-L, Rodriguez C, Haller S, Garibotto V & Herrmann FR (2021) Prediction of subtle cognitive decline in normal aging: added value of quantitative MRI and PET imaging. *Front Aging Neurosci* 13: 423
- Glenner GG & Wong CW (1984) Alzheimer's disease: initial report of the purification and characterization of a novel cerebrovascular amyloid protein. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 120: 885–890
- Golde TE, Borchelt DR, Giasson BI & Lewis J (2013) Thinking laterally about neurodegenerative proteinopathies. *J Clin Invest* 123: 1847–1855

- González-Reyes RE, Nava-Mesa MO, Vargas-Sánchez K, Ariza-Salamanca D & Mora-Muñoz L (2017) Involvement of astrocytes in Alzheimer's disease from a neuroinflammatory and oxidative stress perspective. *Front Mol Neurosci* 10: 427
- Gordon BA, Blazey TM, Su Y, Hari-Raj A, Dincer A, Flores S, Christensen J, McDade E, Wang G & Xiong C (2018) Spatial patterns of neuroimaging biomarker change in individuals from families with autosomal dominant Alzheimer's disease: a longitudinal study. *Lancet Neurol* 17: 241–250
- Gorno-Tempini M., Hillis AE, Weintraub S, Kertesz A, Mendez M, Cappa SF, Ogar JM, Rohrer JD, Black S, Boeve BF, *et al* (2011) Classification of primary progressive aphasia and its variants. *Neurology* 76: 1006–1014
- Grabert K, Michoel T, Karavolos MH, Clohisey S, Baillie JK, Stevens MP, Freeman TC, Summers KM & McColl BW (2016) Microglial brain region– dependent diversity and selective regional sensitivities to aging. *Nat Neurosci* 19: 504–516
- Graff-Radford J, Lesnick TG, Savica R, Chen Q, Ferman TJ, Przybelski SA, Jones DT, Senjem ML, Gunter JL & Kremers WK (2020) 18F-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography in dementia with Lewy bodies. *Brain Commun* 2: fcaa040
- Grande G, Vanacore N, Vetrano DL, Cova I, Rizzuto D, Mayer F, Maggiore L, Ghiretti R, Cucumo V & Mariani C (2018) Free and cued selective reminding test predicts progression to Alzheimer's disease in people with mild cognitive impairment. *Neurol Sci* 39: 1867–1875
- Gratuze M, Leyns CEG & Holtzman DM (2018) New insights into the role of TREM2 in Alzheimer's disease. *Mol Neurodegener* 13: 1–16
- Guerra UP, Nobili FM, Padovani A, Perani D, Pupi A, Sorbi S & Trabucchi M (2015) Recommendations from the Italian Interdisciplinary Working Group (AIMN, AIP, SINDEM) for the utilization of amyloid imaging in clinical practice. *Neurol Sci* 36: 1075–1081
- Guerrero EN, Wang H, Mitra J, Hegde PM, Stowell SE, Liachko NF, Kraemer BC, Garruto RM, Rao KS & Hegde ML (2016) TDP-43/FUS in motor neuron disease: complexity and challenges. *Prog Neurobiol* 145: 78–97
- Guillot-Sestier MV & Town T (2018) Let's make microglia great again in neurodegenerative disorders. *J Neural Transm* 125: 751–770
- Gulyás B, Pavlova E, Kása P, Gulya K, Bakota L, Várszegi S, Keller É, Horváth MC,

Nag S & Hermecz I (2011) Activated MAO-B in the brain of Alzheimer patients, demonstrated by [11C]-L-deprenyl using whole hemisphere autoradiography. *Neurochem Int* 58: 60–68

- Gunn RN, Lammertsma AA, Hume SP & Cunningham VJ (1997) Parametric imaging of ligand-receptor binding in PET using a simplified reference region model. *Neuroimage* 6: 279–287
- Guzman-Martinez L, Maccioni RB, Andrade V, Navarrete LP, Pastor MG & Ramos-Escobar N (2019) Neuroinflammation as a common feature of neurodegenerative disorders. *Front Pharmacol* 10: 1008
- Hanseeuw BJ, Betensky RA, Jacobs HIL, Schultz AP, Sepulcre J, Becker JA, Cosio DMO, Farrell M, Quiroz YT & Mormino EC (2019) Association of amyloid and tau with cognition in preclinical Alzheimer disease: a longitudinal study. *JAMA Neurol* 76: 915–924
- Hansson O (2021) Biomarkers for neurodegenerative diseases. Nat Med 27: 954-963
- Hansson O, Seibyl J, Stomrud E, Zetterberg H, Trojanowski JQ, Bittner T, Lifke V, Corradini V, Eichenlaub U & Batrla R (2018) CSF biomarkers of Alzheimer's disease concord with amyloid-β PET and predict clinical progression: a study of fully automated immunoassays in BioFINDER and ADNI cohorts. *Alzheimer's Dement* 14: 1470–1481
- Hao J, Liu R, Piao W, Zhou Q, Vollmer TL, Campagnolo DI, Xiang R, La Cava A, Van Kaer L & Shi F-D (2010) Central nervous system (CNS)–resident natural killer cells suppress Th17 responses and CNS autoimmune pathology. J Exp Med 207: 1907– 1921
- Hao L, Wang X, Zhang L, Xing Y, Guo Q, Hu X, Mu B, Chen Y, Chen G & Cao J (2017)
 Prevalence, risk factors, and complaints screening tool exploration of subjective cognitive decline in a large cohort of the Chinese population. *J Alzheimer's Dis* 60: 371–388
- Harada R, Ishiki A, Kai H, Sato N, Furukawa K, Furumoto S, Tago T, Tomita N, Watanuki S & Hiraoka K (2018) Correlations of 18F-THK5351 PET with postmortem burden of tau and astrogliosis in Alzheimer disease. J Nucl Med 59: 671–674

Hargreaves RJ & Rabiner EA (2014) Translational PET imaging research. Neurobiol Dis

61: 32–38

- Hellwig S, Amtage F, Kreft A, Buchert R, Winz OH, Vach W, Spehl TS, Rijntjes M, Hellwig B & Weiller C (2012) [18F] FDG-PET is superior to [123I] IBZM-SPECT for the differential diagnosis of parkinsonism. *Neurology* 79: 1314–1322
- Hendriksen E, van Bergeijk D, Oosting RS & Redegeld FA (2017) Mast cells in neuroinflammation and brain disorders. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* 79: 119–133
- Heneka MT, Carson MJ, El Khoury J, Landreth GE, Brosseron F, Feinstein DL, Jacobs AH, Wyss-Coray T, Vitorica J & Ransohoff RM (2015) Neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's disease. *Lancet Neurol* 14: 388–405
- Henkel K, Karitzky J, Schmid M, Mader I, Glatting G, Unger JW, Neumaier B, Ludolph AC, Reske SN & Landwehrmeyer GB (2004) Imaging of activated microglia with PET and [11C] PK 11195 in corticobasal degeneration. *Mov Disord* 19: 817–821
- Herholz K, Haense C, Gerhard A, Jones M, Anton-Rodriguez J, Segobin S, Snowden JS, Thompson JC & Kobylecki C (2018) Metabolic regional and network changes in Alzheimer's disease subtypes. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 38: 1796–1806
- Herholz K, Salmon E, Perani D, Baron J-C, Holthoff V, Frölich L, Schönknecht P, Ito K, Mielke R & Kalbe E (2002) Discrimination between Alzheimer dementia and controls by automated analysis of multicenter FDG PET. *Neuroimage* 17: 302–316
- Herholz K, Westwood S, Haense C & Dunn G (2011) Evaluation of a calibrated 18F-FDG PET score as a biomarker for progression in Alzheimer disease and mild cognitive impairment. J Nucl Med 52: 1218–1226
- Herrera-Rivero M, Santarelli F, Brosseron F, Kummer MP & Heneka MT (2019) Dysregulation of TLR5 and TAM Ligands in the Alzheimer's Brain as Contributors to Disease Progression. *Mol Neurobiol* 56: 6539–6550
- Hickman S, Izzy S, Sen P, Morsett L & El Khoury J (2018) Microglia in neurodegeneration. *Nat Neurosci* 21: 1359–1369
- Hickman SE, Kingery ND, Ohsumi TK, Borowsky ML, Wang L, Means TK & El Khoury J (2013) The microglial sensome revealed by direct RNA sequencing. *Nat Neurosci* 16: 1896–1905
- Hill NL, Mogle J, Wion R, Munoz E, DePasquale N, Yevchak AM & Parisi JM (2016)Subjective cognitive impairment and affective symptoms: a systematic review.*Gerontologist* 56: e109–e127

- Hoehn HJ, Kress Y, Sohn A, Brosnan CF, Bourdon S & Shafit-Zagardo B (2008) Ax1–/– mice have delayed recovery and prolonged axonal damage following cuprizone toxicity. *Brain Res* 1240: 1–11
- Högl B, Stefani A & Videnovic A (2018) Idiopathic REM sleep behaviour disorder and neurodegeneration - An update. *Nat Rev Neurol* doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2017.157 [PREPRINT]
- Hornberger M & Piguet O (2012) Episodic memory in frontotemporal dementia: a critical review. *Brain* 135: 678–692
- Horwitz B, Duara R & Rapoport SI (1984) Intercorrelations of glucose metabolic rates between brain regions: application to healthy males in a state of reduced sensory input. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 4: 484–499
- Howard R, Zubko O, Bradley R, Harper E, Pank L, O'brien J, Fox C, Tabet N, LivingstonG & Bentham P (2020) Minocycline at 2 different dosages vs placebo for patientswith mild Alzheimer disease: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Neurol* 77: 164–174
- Huang S-Y, Hsu J-L, Lin K-J, Liu H-L, Wey S-P & Hsiao T (2018) Characteristic patterns of inter-and intra-hemispheric metabolic connectivity in patients with stable and progressive mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. *Sci Rep* 8: 1–11
- Huey ED, Manly JJ, Tang M-X, Schupf N, Brickman AM, Manoochehri M, Mez J, DeCarli C, Devanand DP & Mayeux R (2013) Course and etiology of dysexecutive MCI in a community sample. *Alzheimer's Dement* 9: 632–639
- Hutterer M, Knyazev P, Abate A, Reschke M, Maier H, Stefanova N, Knyazeva T, Barbieri V, Reindl M & Muigg A (2008) Axl and growth arrest–specific gene 6 are frequently overexpressed in human gliomas and predict poor prognosis in patients with glioblastoma multiforme. *Clin Cancer Res* 14: 130–138
- Iaccarino L, Crespi C, Della Rosa PA, Catricalà E, Guidi L, Marcone A, Tagliavini F, Magnani G, Cappa SF & Perani D (2015) The semantic variant of primary progressive aphasia: clinical and neuroimaging evidence in single subjects. *PLoS One* 10: e0120197
- Iaccarino L, Moresco RM, Presotto L, Bugiani O, Iannaccone S, Giaccone G, Tagliavini F & Perani D (2018a) An in vivo 11 C-(R)-PK11195 PET and in vitro pathology study of microglia activation in Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease. *Mol Neurobiol* 55: 2856– 2868

- Iaccarino L, Presotto L, Bettinardi V, Gianolli L, Roiter I, Capellari S, Parchi P, Cortelli P & Perani D (2018b) An in vivo 11C-PK PET study of microglia activation in Fatal Familial Insomnia. Ann Clin Transl Neurol 5: 11–18
- Iaccarino L, Sala A, Caminiti SP & Perani D (2017) The emerging role of PET imaging in dementia. *F1000Research* 6
- Iaccarino L, Sala A, Caminiti SP, Santangelo R, Iannaccone S, Magnani G & Perani D (2018c) The brain metabolic signature of visual hallucinations in dementia with Lewy bodies. *Cortex* 108: 13–24
- Iaccarino L, Sala A, Perani D & Initiative ADN (2019) Predicting long-term clinical stability in amyloid-positive subjects by FDG-PET. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol*
- Iannaccone S, Cerami C, Alessio M, Garibotto V, Panzacchi A, Olivieri S, Gelsomino G, Moresco RM & Perani D (2013) In vivo microglia activation in very early dementia with Lewy bodies, comparison with Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord* 19: 47–52
- Iizuka T & Kameyama M (2016) Cingulate island sign on FDG-PET is associated with medial temporal lobe atrophy in dementia with Lewy bodies. Ann Nucl Med 30: 421– 429
- Ikeshima-Kataoka H (2016) Neuroimmunological implications of AQP4 in astrocytes. Int J Mol Sci 17: 1306
- Ikonomovic MD, Buckley CJ, Abrahamson EE, Kofler JK, Mathis CA, Klunk WE & Farrar G (2020) Post-mortem analyses of PiB and flutemetamol in diffuse and cored amyloid-β plaques in Alzheimer's disease. Acta Neuropathol 140: 463–476
- Iliff JJ, Wang M, Liao Y, Plogg BA, Peng W, Gundersen GA, Benveniste H, Vates GE, Deane R & Goldman SA (2012) A paravascular pathway facilitates CSF flow through the brain parenchyma and the clearance of interstitial solutes, including amyloid β. *Sci Transl Med* 4: 147ra111-147ra111
- Imai M, Tanaka M, Sakata M, Wagatsuma K, Tago T, Toyohara J, Sengoku R, Nishina Y, Kanemaru K, Ishibashi K, et al (2020) Metabolic Network Topology of Alzheimer's Disease and Dementia with Lewy Bodies Generated Using Fluorodeoxyglucose Positron Emission Tomography. J Alzheimer's Dis 73: 197–207

Imamura K, Hishikawa N, Sawada M, Nagatsu T, Yoshida M & Hashizume Y (2003)

Distribution of major histocompatibility complex class II-positive microglia and cytokine profile of Parkinson's disease brains. *Acta Neuropathol* 106: 518–526

- Imbimbo BP (2009) An update on the efficacy of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs in Alzheimer's disease. *Expert Opin Investig Drugs* 18: 1147–1168
- In'T Veld BA, Ruitenberg A, Hofman A, Launer LJ, van Duijn CM, Stijnen T, Breteler MMB & Stricker BHC (2001) Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs and the risk of Alzheimer's disease. N Engl J Med 345: 1515–1521
- Irwin DJ (2016) Tauopathies as clinicopathological entities. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord* 22: S29–S33
- Ishiki A, Harada R, Okamura N, Tomita N, Rowe CC, Villemagne VL, Yanai K, Kudo Y, Arai H & Furumoto S (2017) Tau imaging with [18F] THK-5351 in progressive supranuclear palsy. *Eur J Neurol* 24: 130–136
- Ismail R, Parbo P, Madsen LS, Hansen AK, Hansen K V, Schaldemose JL, Kjeldsen PL, Stokholm MG, Gottrup H & Eskildsen SF (2020) The relationships between neuroinflammation, beta-amyloid and tau deposition in Alzheimer's disease: a longitudinal PET study. *J Neuroinflammation* 17: 1–11
- Ismail Z, Smith EE, Geda Y, Sultzer D, Brodaty H, Smith G, Agüera-Ortiz L, Sweet R, Miller D & Lyketsos CG (2016) Neuropsychiatric symptoms as early manifestations of emergent dementia: Provisional diagnostic criteria for mild behavioral impairment. *Alzheimer's Dement* 12: 195–202
- Ivashkiv LB & Donlin LT (2014) Regulation of type I interferon responses. *Nat Rev Immunol* 14: 36–49
- Jack CR, Bennett DA, Blennow K, Carrillo MC, Feldman HH, Frisoni GB, Hampel H, Jagust WJ, Johnson KA & Knopman DS (2016) A/T/N: an unbiased descriptive classification scheme for Alzheimer disease biomarkers. *Neurology* 87: 539–547
- Jack CR, Wiste HJ, Therneau TM, Weigand SD, Knopman DS, Mielke MM, Lowe VJ, Vemuri P, Machulda MM & Schwarz CG (2019) Associations of amyloid, tau, and neurodegeneration biomarker profiles with rates of memory decline among individuals without dementia. *Jama* 321: 2316–2325
- Jack CR, Wiste HJ, Weigand SD, Knopman DS, Lowe V, Vemuri P, Mielke MM, Jones DT, Senjem ML & Gunter JL (2013) Amyloid-first and neurodegeneration-first profiles characterize incident amyloid PET positivity. *Neurology* 81: 1732–1740
- Jack Jr CR, Albert MS, Knopman DS, McKhann GM, Sperling RA, Carrillo MC, Thies B & Phelps CH (2011) Introduction to the recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's Dement* 7: 257–262
- Jack Jr CR, Bennett DA, Blennow K, Carrillo MC, Dunn B, Haeberlein SB, Holtzman DM, Jagust W, Jessen F & Karlawish J (2018a) NIA-AA Research Framework: Toward a biological definition of Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's Dement* 14: 535– 562
- Jack Jr CR, Knopman DS, Jagust WJ, Petersen RC, Weiner MW, Aisen PS, Shaw LM, Vemuri P, Wiste HJ & Weigand SD (2013) Update on hypothetical model of Alzheimer's disease biomarkers. *Lancet Neurol* 12: 207
- Jack Jr CR, Knopman DS, Jagust WJ, Shaw LM, Aisen PS, Weiner MW, Petersen RC & Trojanowski JQ (2010a) Hypothetical model of dynamic biomarkers of the Alzheimer's pathological cascade. *Lancet Neurol* 9: 119–128
- Jack Jr CR, Wiste HJ, Schwarz CG, Lowe VJ, Senjem ML, Vemuri P, Weigand SD, Therneau TM, Knopman DS & Gunter JL (2018b) Longitudinal tau PET in ageing and Alzheimer's disease. *Brain* 141: 1517–1528
- Jack Jr CR, Wiste HJ, Vemuri P, Weigand SD, Senjem ML, Zeng G, Bernstein MA, Gunter JL, Pankratz VS & Aisen PS (2010b) Brain beta-amyloid measures and magnetic resonance imaging atrophy both predict time-to-progression from mild cognitive impairment to Alzheimer's disease. *Brain* 133: 3336–3348
- Jack Jr CR, Wiste HJ, Weigand SD, Therneau TM, Lowe VJ, Knopman DS, Botha H, Graff-Radford J, Jones DT & Ferman TJ (2020) Predicting future rates of tau accumulation on PET. *Brain* 143: 3136–3150
- Jain P, Chaney AM, Carlson ML, Jackson IM, Rao A & James ML (2020) Neuroinflammation PET imaging: current opinion and future directions. *J Nucl Med* 61: 1107–1112
- Janelidze S, Mattsson N, Palmqvist S, Smith R, Beach TG, Serrano GE, Chai X, Proctor NK, Eichenlaub U & Zetterberg H (2020) Plasma P-tau181 in Alzheimer's disease: relationship to other biomarkers, differential diagnosis, neuropathology and longitudinal progression to Alzheimer's dementia. *Nat Med* 26: 379–386

Jang YK, Lyoo CH, Park S, Oh SJ, Cho H, Oh M, Ryu YH, Choi JY, Rabinovici GD &

Kim HJ (2018) Head to head comparison of [18 F] AV-1451 and [18 F] THK5351 for tau imaging in Alzheimer's disease and frontotemporal dementia. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging* 45: 432–442

- Jansen WJ, Ossenkoppele R, Knol DL, Tijms BM, Scheltens P, Verhey FRJ, Visser PJ, Aalten P, Aarsland D & Alcolea D (2015) Prevalence of cerebral amyloid pathology in persons without dementia: a meta-analysis. *Jama* 313: 1924–1938
- Jaturapatporn D, Isaac MGEKN, McCleery J & Tabet N (2012) Aspirin, steroidal and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*
- Jellinger KA & Korczyn AD (2018) Are dementia with Lewy bodies and Parkinson's disease dementia the same disease? *BMC Med* 16: 1–16
- Jenkins A, Tree JJ, Thornton IM & Tales A (2019) Subjective cognitive impairment in 55-65-year-old adults is associated with negative affective symptoms, neuroticism, and poor quality of life. *J Alzheimer's Dis* 67: 1367–1378
- Jeong Y, Cho SS, Park JM, Kang SJ, Lee JS, Kang E, Na DL & Kim SE (2005) 18F-FDG PET findings in frontotemporal dementia: an SPM analysis of 29 patients. J Nucl Med 46: 233–239
- Jessen F, Amariglio RE, Van Boxtel M, Breteler M, Ceccaldi M, Chételat G, Dubois B, Dufouil C, Ellis KA, Van Der Flier WM, et al (2014) A conceptual framework for research on subjective cognitive decline in preclinical Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimer's Dement 10: 844–852
- Jessen F, Amariglio RE, Buckley RF, van der Flier WM, Han Y, Molinuevo JL, Rabin L, Rentz DM, Rodriguez-Gomez O, Saykin AJ, *et al* (2020) The characterisation of subjective cognitive decline. *Lancet Neurol* 19: 271–278
- Ji R, Meng L, Jiang X, Cvm NK, Ding J, Li Q & Lu Q (2014) TAM receptors support neural stem cell survival, proliferation and neuronal differentiation. *PLoS One* 9: e115140
- Jo S, Yarishkin O, Hwang YJ, Chun YE, Park M, Woo DH, Bae JY, Kim T, Lee J & Chun H (2014) GABA from reactive astrocytes impairs memory in mouse models of Alzheimer's disease. *Nat Med* 20: 886–896
- Johansson A, Engler H, Blomquist G, Scott B, Wall A, Aquilonius S-M, Långström B & Askmark H (2007) Evidence for astrocytosis in ALS demonstrated by [11C](L)-

deprenyl-D2 PET. J Neurol Sci 255: 17-22

- Johnson KA, Minoshima S, Bohnen NI, Donohoe KJ, Foster NL, Herscovitch P, Karlawish JH, Rowe CC, Carrillo MC & Hartley DM (2013a) Appropriate use criteria for amyloid PET: a report of the Amyloid Imaging Task Force, the Society of Nuclear Medicine and Molecular Imaging, and the Alzheimer's Association. J Nucl Med 54: 476–490
- Johnson KA, Minoshima S, Bohnen NI, Donohoe KJ, Foster NL, Herscovitch P, Karlawish JH, Rowe CC, Hedrick S & Pappas V (2013b) Update on appropriate use criteria for amyloid PET imaging: dementia experts, mild cognitive impairment, and education. *Alzheimer's Dement* 9: e106–e109
- Johnson KA, Schultz A, Betensky RA, Becker JA, Sepulcre J, Rentz D, Mormino E, Chhatwal J, Amariglio R & Papp K (2016) Tau positron emission tomographic imaging in aging and early A lzheimer disease. Ann Neurol 79: 110–119
- Josephs KA, Martin PR, Botha H, Schwarz CG, Duffy JR, Clark HM, Machulda MM, Graff-Radford J, Weigand SD & Senjem ML (2018) [18F] AV-1451 tau-PET and primary progressive aphasia. Ann Neurol 83: 599–611
- Jučaite A, Cselényi Z, Arvidsson A, Åhlberg G, Julin P, Varnäs K, Stenkrona P, Andersson J, Halldin C & Farde L (2012) Kinetic analysis and test-retest variability of the radioligand [11 C](R)-PK11195 binding to TSPO in the human brain-a PET study in control subjects. *EJNMMI Res* 2: 15
- Jucaite A, Svenningsson P, Rinne JO, Cselenyi Z, Varnäs K, Johnström P, Amini N, Kirjavainen A, Helin S & Minkwitz M (2015) Effect of the myeloperoxidase inhibitor AZD3241 on microglia: a PET study in Parkinson's disease. *Brain* 138: 2687–2700
- Kang Y, Mozley PD, Verma A, Schlyer D, Henchcliffe C, Gauthier SA, Chiao PC, He B, Nikolopoulou A & Logan J (2018) Noninvasive PK11195-PET Image Analysis Techniques Can Detect Abnormal Cerebral Microglial Activation in Parkinson's Disease. J Neuroimaging 28: 496–505
- Kantarci K, Boeve BF, Przybelski SA, Lesnick TG, Chen Q, Fields J, Schwarz CG, Senjem ML, Gunte JL & Jack CR (2021) FDG PET metabolic signatures distinguishing prodromal DLB and prodromal AD. *NeuroImage Clin* 31: 102754

Kantarci K, Lowe VJ, Boeve BF, Senjem ML, Tosakulwong N, Lesnick TG, Spychalla

AJ, Gunter JL, Fields JA, Graff-Radford J, *et al* (2017) AV-1451 tau and betaamyloid positron emission tomography imaging in dementia with Lewy bodies. *Ann Neurol* 81: 58–67

- Kany S, Vollrath JT & Relja B (2019) Cytokines in inflammatory disease. *Int J Mol Sci* 20: 6008
- Karanth S, Nelson PT, Katsumata Y, Kryscio RJ, Schmitt FA, Fardo DW, Cykowski MD, Jicha GA, Van Eldik LJ & Abner EL (2020) Prevalence and clinical phenotype of quadruple misfolded proteins in older adults. *JAMA Neurol* 77: 1299–1307
- Kato T, Inui Y, Nakamura A & Ito K (2016) Brain fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) PET in dementia. Ageing Res Rev 30: 73–84
- Kawachi T, Ishii K, Sakamoto S, Sasaki M, Mori T, Yamashita F, Matsuda H & Mori E (2006) Comparison of the diagnostic performance of FDG-PET and VBM-MRI in very mild Alzheimer's disease. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging* 33: 801–809
- Kayed R & Lasagna-Reeves CA (2013) Molecular mechanisms of amyloid oligomers toxicity. *J Alzheimer's Dis* 33: S67–S78
- Keating AK, Kim GK, Jones AE, Donson AM, Ware K, Mulcahy JM, Salzberg DB, Foreman NK, Liang X & Thorburn A (2010) Inhibition of Mer and Axl receptor tyrosine kinases in astrocytoma cells leads to increased apoptosis and improved chemosensitivity. *Mol Cancer Ther* 9: 1298–1307
- Kehagia AA, Barker RA & Robbins TW (2013) Cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease: the dual syndrome hypothesis. *Neurodegener Dis* 11: 79–92
- Kia A, McAvoy K, Krishnamurthy K, Trotti D & Pasinelli P (2018) Astrocytes expressing ALS-linked mutant FUS induce motor neuron death through release of tumor necrosis factor-alpha. *Glia* 66: 1016–1033
- Kigerl KA, de Rivero Vaccari JP, Dietrich WD, Popovich PG & Keane RW (2014) Pattern recognition receptors and central nervous system repair. *Exp Neurol* 258: 5– 16
- Kim EJ, Cho SS, Jeong Y, Park KC, Kang SJ, Kang E, Kim SE, Lee KH & Na DL (2005) Glucose metabolism in early onset versus late onset Alzheimer's disease: an SPM analysis of 120 patients. *Brain* 128: 1790–1801
- Kiyota T, Okuyama S, Swan RJ, Jacobsen MT, Gendelman HE & Ikezu T (2010) CNS expression of anti-inflammatory cytokine interleukin-4 attenuates Alzheimer's

disease-like pathogenesis in APP+ PS1 bigenic mice. FASEB J 24: 3093-3102

- Klunk WE, Engler H, Nordberg A, Wang Y, Blomqvist G, Holt DP, Bergström M, Savitcheva I, Huang G & Estrada S (2004) Imaging brain amyloid in Alzheimer's disease with Pittsburgh Compound-B. Ann Neurol Off J Am Neurol Assoc Child Neurol Soc 55: 306–319
- Knopman DS, DeKosky ST, Cummings JL, Chui H, Corey–Bloom J, Relkin N, Small GW, Miller B & Stevens JC (2001) Practice parameter: diagnosis of dementia (an evidence-based review): report of the Quality Standards Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology. *Neurology* 56: 1143–1153
- Knopman DS, Petersen RC & Jack CR (2019) A brief history of "Alzheimer disease": multiple meanings separated by a common name. *Neurology* 92: 1053–1059
- Koivunen J, Scheinin N, Virta JR, Aalto S, Vahlberg T, Någren K, Helin S, Parkkola R,
 Viitanen M & Rinne JO (2011) Amyloid PET imaging in patients with mild
 cognitive impairment: a 2-year follow-up study. *Neurology* 76: 1085–1090
- Krasemann S, Madore C, Cialic R, Baufeld C, Calcagno N, El Fatimy R, Beckers L, O'Loughlin E, Xu Y & Fanek Z (2017) The TREM2-APOE pathway drives the transcriptional phenotype of dysfunctional microglia in neurodegenerative diseases. *Immunity* 47: 566–581
- Kreisl WC, Henter ID & Innis RB (2018) Imaging translocator protein as a biomarker of neuroinflammation in dementia. Adv Pharmacol 82: 163–185
- Kreisl WC, Lyoo CH, Liow J-S, Snow J, Page E, Jenko KJ, Morse CL, Zoghbi SS, Pike VW & Turner RS (2017) Distinct patterns of increased translocator protein in posterior cortical atrophy and amnestic Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Aging* 51: 132–140
- Kreisl WC, Lyoo CH, McGwier M, Snow J, Jenko KJ, Kimura N, Corona W, Morse CL, Zoghbi SS & Pike VW (2013) In vivo radioligand binding to translocator protein correlates with severity of Alzheimer's disease. *Brain* 136: 2228–2238
- Kroth H, Oden F, Molette J, Schieferstein H, Capotosti F, Mueller A, Berndt M, Schmitt-Willich H, Darmency V & Gabellieri E (2019) Discovery and preclinical characterization of [18 F] PI-2620, a next-generation tau PET tracer for the assessment of tau pathology in Alzheimer's disease and other tauopathies. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging* 46: 2178–2189

- Kübler D, Wächter T, Cabanel N, Su Z, Turkheimer FE, Dodel R, Brooks DJ, Oertel WH
 & Gerhard A (2019) Widespread microglial activation in multiple system atrophy. *Mov Disord* 34: 564–568
- Kwon HS & Koh S-H (2020) Neuroinflammation in neurodegenerative disorders: The roles of microglia and astrocytes. *Transl Neurodegener* 9: 1–12
- Laforce Jr R, Soucy J-P, Sellami L, Dallaire-Théroux C, Brunet F, Bergeron D, Miller BL & Ossenkoppele R (2018) Molecular imaging in dementia: Past, present, and future. *Alzheimer's Dement* 14: 1522–1552
- Lashley T, Rohrer JD, Mead S & Revesz T (2015) An update on clinical, genetic and pathological aspects of frontotemporal lobar degenerations. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol* 41: 858–881
- Lastres-Becker I, Ulusoy A, Innamorato NG, Sahin G, Rábano A, Kirik D & Cuadrado A (2012) α-synuclein expression and Nrf2 deficiency cooperate to aggravate protein aggregation, neuronal death and inflammation in early-stage Parkinson's disease. *Hum Mol Genet* 21: 3173–3192
- Lee CYD, Daggett A, Gu X, Jiang L-L, Langfelder P, Li X, Wang N, Zhao Y, Park CS & Cooper Y (2018) Elevated TREM2 gene dosage reprograms microglia responsivity and ameliorates pathological phenotypes in Alzheimer's disease models. *Neuron* 97: 1032–1048
- Lee DC, Rizer J, Hunt JB, Selenica M, Gordon MN & Morgan D (2013) Experimental manipulations of microglia in mouse models of A lzheimer's pathology: activation reduces amyloid but hastens tau pathology. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol* 39: 69–85
- Lee J-Y, Park S, Mackin S, Ewers M, Chui H, Jagust W, Insel PS & Weiner MW (2014) Differences in prefrontal, limbic, and white matter lesion volumes according to cognitive status in elderly patients with first-onset subsyndromal depression. *PLoS One* 9: e87747
- Lehmann M, Ghosh PM, Madison C, Laforce Jr R, Corbetta-Rastelli C, Weiner MW, Greicius MD, Seeley WW, Gorno-Tempini ML & Rosen HJ (2013) Diverging patterns of amyloid deposition and hypometabolism in clinical variants of probable Alzheimer's disease. *Brain* 136: 844–858
- Leng F & Edison P (2021) Neuroinflammation and microglial activation in Alzheimer disease: where do we go from here? *Nat Rev Neurol* 17: 157–172

- Leoni V, Solomon A, Lövgren-Sandblom A, Minthon L, Blennow K, Hansson O, Wahlund L-O, Kivipelto M, Björkhem I, van Harten AC, *et al* (2017) Prion diseases. *Neurology* 9: 1–13
- Li D, Shen D, Tai H & Cui L (2016) Neurofilaments in CSF as diagnostic biomarkers in motor neuron disease: a meta-analysis. *Front Aging Neurosci* 8: 290
- Lian H, Litvinchuk A, Chiang AC-A, Aithmitti N, Jankowsky JL & Zheng H (2016) Astrocyte-microglia cross talk through complement activation modulates amyloid pathology in mouse models of Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurosci* 36: 577–589
- Liddelow SA & Barres BA (2017) Reactive astrocytes: production, function, and therapeutic potential. *Immunity* 46: 957–967
- Liddelow SA, Guttenplan KA, Clarke LE, Bennett FC, Bohlen CJ, Schirmer L, Bennett ML, Münch AE, Chung W-S & Peterson TC (2017) Neurotoxic reactive astrocytes are induced by activated microglia. *Nature* 541: 481–487
- Lino MM, Schneider C & Caroni P (2002) Accumulation of SOD1 mutants in postnatal motoneurons does not cause motoneuron pathology or motoneuron disease. J Neurosci 22: 4825–4832
- Liu G, Middleton RJ, Hatty CR, Kam WW, Chan R, Pham T, Harrison-Brown M, Dodson E, Veale K & Banati RB (2014) The 18 kDa translocator protein, microglia and neuroinflammation. *Brain Pathol* 24: 631–653
- Liu Q, Sanai N, Jin W-N, La Cava A, Van Kaer L & Shi F-D (2016) Neural stem cells sustain natural killer cells that dictate recovery from brain inflammation. *Nat Neurosci* 19: 243–252
- Liu X, Zhang YZ, He Y, Zhao J & Su G (2015) Progress in histopathologic and pathogenetic research in a retinitis pigmentosa model.
- Loewenstein DA, Acevedo A, Small BJ, Agron J, Crocco E & Duara R (2009) Stability of different subtypes of mild cognitive impairment among the elderly over a 2-to 3year follow-up period. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord* 27: 418–423
- Lohith TG, Bennacef I, Vandenberghe R, Vandenbulcke M, Salinas CA, Declercq R, Reynders T, Telan-Choing NF, Riffel K & Celen S (2019) Brain imaging of Alzheimer dementia patients and elderly controls with 18F-MK-6240, a PET tracer targeting neurofibrillary tangles. J Nucl Med 60: 107–114

Lombardi G, Crescioli G, Cavedo E, Lucenteforte E, Casazza G, Bellatorre A, Lista C,

Costantino G, Frisoni G & Virgili G (2020) Structural magnetic resonance imaging for the early diagnosis of dementia due to Alzheimer's disease in people with mild cognitive impairment. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*

- Lowe VJ, Curran G, Fang P, Liesinger AM, Josephs KA, Parisi JE, Kantarci K, Boeve BF, Pandey MK & Bruinsma T (2016) An autoradiographic evaluation of AV-1451 Tau PET in dementia. Acta Neuropathol Commun 4: 1–19
- Luppa M, Luck T, Weyerer S, König H-H, Brähler E & Riedel-Heller SG (2010) Prediction of institutionalization in the elderly. A systematic review. *Age Ageing* 39: 31–38
- Lutz AB, Chung W-S, Sloan SA, Carson GA, Zhou L, Lovelett E, Posada S, Zuchero JB & Barres BA (2017) Schwann cells use TAM receptor-mediated phagocytosis in addition to autophagy to clear myelin in a mouse model of nerve injury. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 114: E8072–E8080
- Ma Y, Zhang S, Li J, Zheng D-M, Guo Y, Feng J & Ren W-D (2014) Predictive accuracy of amyloid imaging for progression from mild cognitive impairment to Alzheimer disease with different lengths of follow-up: a meta-analysis. *Medicine (Baltimore)* 93
- Maass A, Landau S, Baker SL, Horng A, Lockhart SN, La Joie R, Rabinovici GD, Jagust
 WJ & Initiative ADN (2017) Comparison of multiple tau-PET measures as
 biomarkers in aging and Alzheimer's disease. *Neuroimage* 157: 448–463
- Mackenzie IRA, Neumann M, Bigio EH, Cairns NJ, Alafuzoff I, Kril J, Kovacs GG, Ghetti B, Halliday G & Holm IE (2010) Nomenclature and nosology for neuropathologic subtypes of frontotemporal lobar degeneration: an update. Acta Neuropathol 119: 1–4
- Madhavan A, Whitwell JL, Weigand SD, Duffy JR, Strand EA, Machulda MM, Tosakulwong N, Senjem ML, Gunter JL & Lowe VJ (2013) FDG PET and MRI in logopenic primary progressive aphasia versus dementia of the Alzheimer's type. *PLoS One* 8: e62471
- Magni E, Binetti G, Bianchetti A, Rozzini R & Trabucchi M (1996) Mini-Mental State Examination: a normative study in Italian elderly population. *Eur J Neurol* 3: 198– 202

Maldjian JA, Laurienti PJ, Kraft RA & Burdette JH (2003) An automated method for

neuroanatomic and cytoarchitectonic atlas-based interrogation of fMRI data sets. *Neuroimage* 19: 1233–1239

- Malpetti M, Ballarini T, Presotto L, Garibotto V, Tettamanti M & Perani D (2017) Gender differences in healthy aging and Alzheimer's Dementia: A 18F-FDG-PET study of brain and cognitive reserve. *Hum Brain Mapp* 38: 4212–4227
- Malpetti M, Kievit RA, Passamonti L, Jones PS, Tsvetanov KA, Rittman T, Mak E, Nicastro N, Bevan-Jones WR & Su L (2020) Microglial activation and tau burden predict cognitive decline in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain* 143: 1588–1602
- Mann DMA & Snowden JS (2017) Frontotemporal lobar degeneration: pathogenesis, pathology and pathways to phenotype. *Brain Pathol* 27: 723–736
- Marchant NL, Reed BR, DeCarli CS, Madison CM, Weiner MW, Chui HC & Jagust WJ (2012) Cerebrovascular disease, beta-amyloid, and cognition in aging. *Neurobiol Aging* 33: 1006-e25
- Marcus C, Mena E & Subramaniam RM (2014) Brain PET in the diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease. *Clin Nucl Med* 39: e413
- Marquié M, Normandin MD, Meltzer AC, Siao Tick Chong M, Andrea N V, Antón-Fernández A, Klunk WE, Mathis CA, Ikonomovic MD & Debnath M (2017) Pathological correlations of [F-18]-AV-1451 imaging in non-alzheimer tauopathies. *Ann Neurol* 81: 117–128
- Marquié M, Normandin MD, Vanderburg CR, Costantino IM, Bien EA, Rycyna LG, Klunk WE, Mathis CA, Ikonomovic MD & Debnath ML (2015) Validating novel tau positron emission tomography tracer [F-18]-AV-1451 (T807) on postmortem brain tissue. *Ann Neurol* 78: 787–800
- Marra C, Villa G, Quaranta D, Valenza A, Vita MG & Gainotti G (2012) Probable Alzheimer's disease patients presenting as "focal temporal lobe dysfunction" show a slow rate of cognitive decline. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc* 18: 144–150
- Marsh SE, Abud EM, Lakatos A, Karimzadeh A, Yeung ST, Davtyan H, Fote GM, Lau L, Weinger JG & Lane TE (2016) The adaptive immune system restrains Alzheimer's disease pathogenesis by modulating microglial function. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 113: E1316–E1325
- Matarrese M, Moresco RM, Cappelli A, Anzini M, Vomero S, Simonelli P, Verza E, Magni F, Sudati F & Soloviev D (2001) Labeling and evaluation of N-[11C]

methylated quinoline-2-carboxamides as potential radioligands for visualization of peripheral benzodiazepine receptors. *J Med Chem* 44: 579–585

- Matías-Guiu JA, Cabrera-Martín MN, Moreno-Ramos T, Valles-Salgado M, Fernandez-Matarrubia M, Carreras JL & Matías-Guiu J (2015) Amyloid and FDG-PET study of logopenic primary progressive aphasia: evidence for the existence of two subtypes. *J Neurol* 262: 1463–1472
- Mattsson-Carlgren N, Janelidze S, Bateman RJ, Smith R, Stomrud E, Serrano GE, Reiman EM, Palmqvist S, Dage JL & Beach TG (2021) Soluble P-tau217 reflects amyloid and tau pathology and mediates the association of amyloid with tau. *EMBO Mol Med* 13: e14022
- Mattsson N, Insel P, Nosheny R, Zetterberg H, Trojanowski JQ, Shaw LM, Tosun D &
 Weiner M (2013) CSF protein biomarkers predicting longitudinal reduction of CSF
 β-amyloid42 in cognitively healthy elders. *Transl Psychiatry* 3: e293–e293
- Mattsson N, Lönneborg A, Boccardi M, Blennow K, Hansson O & for the Roadmap GTF (2017) Clinical validity of cerebrospinal fluid Aβ42, tau, and phospho-tau as biomarkers for Alzheimer's disease in the context of a structured 5-phase development framework. *Neurobiol Aging* 52: 196–213
- Mattsson N, Smith R, Strandberg O, Palmqvist S, Schöll M, Insel PS, Hägerström D, Ohlsson T, Zetterberg H & Blennow K (2018) Comparing 18F-AV-1451 with CSF t-tau and p-tau for diagnosis of Alzheimer disease. *Neurology* 90: e388–e395
- Mattsson N, Zetterberg H, Hansson O, Andreasen N, Parnetti L, Jonsson M, Herukka S-K, van der Flier WM, Blankenstein MA & Ewers M (2009) CSF biomarkers and incipient Alzheimer disease in patients with mild cognitive impairment. *Jama* 302: 385–393
- McCann H, Stevens CH, Cartwright H & Halliday GM (2014) α-Synucleinopathy phenotypes. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord* 20: S62–S67
- McKeith IG, Boeve BF, Dickson DW, Halliday G, Taylor J-P, Weintraub D, Aarsland D, Galvin J, Attems J & Ballard CG (2017) Diagnosis and management of dementia with Lewy bodies: Fourth consensus report of the DLB Consortium. *Neurology* 89: 88–100
- McKhann G, Drachman D, Folstein M, Katzman R, Price D & Stadlan EM (1984) Clinical diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: Report of the NINCDS-ADRDA Work

Group* under the auspices of Department of Health and Human Services Task Force on Alzheimer's Disease. *Neurology* 34: 939

- McKhann GM, Knopman DS, Chertkow H, Hyman BT, Jack CR, Kawas CH, Klunk WE, Koroshetz WJ, Manly JJ, Mayeux R, *et al* (2011) The diagnosis of dementia due to Alzheimer's disease: Recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's Dement* 7: 263–269
- Medeiros R, Baglietto-Vargas D & LaFerla FM (2011) The role of tau in Alzheimer's disease and related disorders. *CNS Neurosci Ther* 17: 514–524
- Mehta D, Jackson R, Paul G, Shi J & Sabbagh M (2017) Why do trials for Alzheimer's disease drugs keep failing? A discontinued drug perspective for 2010-2015. *Expert Opin Investig Drugs* 26: 735–739
- Meissner F, Molawi K & Zychlinsky A (2010) Mutant superoxide dismutase 1-induced IL-1β accelerates ALS pathogenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 107: 13046–13050
- Mejzini R, Flynn LL, Pitout IL, Fletcher S, Wilton SD & Akkari PA (2019) ALS genetics, mechanisms, and therapeutics: Where are we now? *Front Neurosci* 13
- Mendez MF (2017) Early-onset Alzheimer disease. Neurol Clin 35: 263-281
- Mendez MF (2019) Early-onset Alzheimer disease and its variants. *Continuum (Minneap Minn)* 25: 34
- Michinaga S & Koyama Y (2019) Dual roles of astrocyte-derived factors in regulation of blood-brain barrier function after brain damage. *Int J Mol Sci* 20: 571
- Miguel-Álvarez M, Santos-Lozano A, Sanchis-Gomar F, Fiuza-Luces C, Pareja-Galeano H, Garatachea N & Lucia A (2015) Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs as a treatment for Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis of treatment effect. *Drugs Aging* 32: 139–147
- Milà-Alomà M, Shekari M, Salvadó G, Gispert JD, Arenaza-Urquijo EM, Operto G, Falcon C, Vilor-Tejedor N, Grau-Rivera O & Sala-Vila A (2021) Cognitively unimpaired individuals with a low burden of Aβ pathology have a distinct CSF biomarker profile. *Alzheimers Res Ther* 13: 1–12
- Minoshima S, Drzezga AE, Barthel H, Bohnen N, Djekidel M, Lewis DH, Mathis CA, McConathy J, Nordberg A & Sabri O (2016) SNMMI procedure standard/EANM practice guideline for amyloid PET imaging of the brain 1.0. J Nucl Med 57: 1316–

1322

- Mitchell AJ & Shiri-Feshki M (2009) Rate of progression of mild cognitive impairment to dementia-meta-analysis of 41 robust inception cohort studies. *Acta Psychiatr Scand* 119: 252–265
- Mizee MR, Nijland PG, van der Pol SMA, Drexhage JAR, van Het Hof B, Mebius R, van der Valk P, van Horssen J, Reijerkerk A & de Vries HE (2014) Astrocyte-derived retinoic acid: a novel regulator of blood–brain barrier function in multiple sclerosis. *Acta Neuropathol* 128: 691–703
- Mizee MR & de Vries HE (2013) Blood-brain barrier regulation: environmental cues controlling the onset of barrier properties. *Tissue Barriers* 1: 1660–1671
- Morbelli S, Drzezga A, Perneczky R, Frisoni GB, Caroli A, van Berckel BNM, Ossenkoppele R, Guedj E, Didic M, Brugnolo A, *et al* (2012) Resting metabolic connectivity in prodromal Alzheimer's disease. A European Alzheimer Disease Consortium (EADC) project. *Neurobiol Aging* 33: 2533–2550
- Morbelli S, Perneczky R, Drzezga A, Frisoni GB, Caroli A, van Berckel BNM, Ossenkoppele R, Guedj E, Didic M, Brugnolo A, *et al* (2013) Metabolic networks underlying cognitive reserve in prodromal Alzheimer disease: a European Alzheimer disease consortium project. *J Nucl Med* 54: 894–902

Morgan D (2011) Immunotherapy for Alzheimer's disease. J Intern Med 269: 54-63

- Mormino EC, Betensky RA, Hedden T, Schultz AP, Amariglio RE, Rentz DM, Johnson KA & Sperling RA (2014) Synergistic effect of β-amyloid and neurodegeneration on cognitive decline in clinically normal individuals. *JAMA Neurol* 71: 1379–1385
- Morris E, Chalkidou A, Hammers A, Peacock J, Summers J & Keevil S (2016) Diagnostic accuracy of 18 F amyloid PET tracers for the diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging* 43: 374–385
- Mosconi L, Tsui WH, Herholz K, Pupi A, Drzezga A, Lucignani G, Reiman EM, Holthoff V, Kalbe E, Sorbi S, *et al* (2008) Multicenter standardized 18F-FDG PET diagnosis of mild cognitive impairment, Alzheimer's disease, and other dementias. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging* 49: 390–398
- Moussa C, Hebron M, Huang X, Ahn J, Rissman RA, Aisen PS & Turner RS (2017) Resveratrol regulates neuro-inflammation and induces adaptive immunity in Alzheimer's disease. *J Neuroinflammation* 14: 1–10

- Moylett S, Price A, Cardinal RN, Aarsland D, Mueller C, Stewart R & O'Brien JT (2019) Clinical presentation, diagnostic features, and mortality in dementia with Lewy bodies. *J Alzheimer's Dis* 67: 995–1005
- Musa G, Slachevsky A, Muñoz-Neira C, Méndez-Orellana C, Villagra R, González-Billault C, Ibáñez A, Hornberger M & Lillo P (2020) Alzheimer's disease or behavioral variant frontotemporal dementia? Review of key points toward an accurate clinical and neuropsychological diagnosis. J Alzheimer's Dis 73: 833–848
- Nagatsu T, Mogi M, Ichinose H & Togari A (2000) Cytokines in Parkinson's disease. Adv Res Neurodegener: 143–151
- Narayanaswami V, Dahl K, Bernard-Gauthier V, Josephson L, Cumming P & Vasdev N (2018) Emerging PET radiotracers and targets for imaging of neuroinflammation in neurodegenerative diseases: outlook beyond TSPO. *Mol Imaging* 17: 1536012118792317
- Neary D, Snowden JS, Gustafson L, Passant U, Stuss D, Black S, Freedman M, Kertesz A, Robert PH & Albert M (1998) Frontotemporal lobar degeneration: a consensus on clinical diagnostic criteria. *Neurology* 51: 1546–1554
- Nelson PT, Alafuzoff I, Bigio EH, Bouras C, Braak H, Cairns NJ, Castellani RJ, Crain BJ, Davies P & Tredici K Del (2012) Correlation of Alzheimer disease neuropathologic changes with cognitive status: a review of the literature. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 71: 362–381
- Nelson PT, Dickson DW, Trojanowski JQ, Jack CR, Boyle PA, Arfanakis K, Rademakers
 R, Alafuzoff I, Attems J & Brayne C (2019) Limbic-predominant age-related TDP-43 encephalopathy (LATE): consensus working group report. *Brain* 142: 1503–1527
- Nelson PT, Head E, Schmitt FA, Davis PR, Neltner JH, Jicha GA, Abner EL, Smith CD, Van Eldik LJ & Kryscio RJ (2011) Alzheimer's disease is not "brain aging": neuropathological, genetic, and epidemiological human studies. *Acta Neuropathol* 121: 571–587
- Nestor PJ, Altomare D, Festari C, Drzezga A, Rivolta J, Walker Z, Bouwman F, Orini S, Law I, Agosta F, *et al* (2018) Clinical utility of FDG-PET for the differential diagnosis among the main forms of dementia. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging* 45: 1509–1525
- Ng KP, Chiew HJ, Rosa-Neto P, Kandiah N, Ismail Z & Gauthier S (2019) Brain

metabolic dysfunction in early neuropsychiatric symptoms of dementia. *Front Pharmacol* 10: 1–8

- Ng KP, Pascoal TA, Mathotaarachchi S, Chung C-O, Benedet AL, Shin M, Kang MS, Li X, Ba M & Kandiah N (2017) Neuropsychiatric symptoms predict hypometabolism in preclinical Alzheimer disease. *Neurology* 88: 1814–1821
- Ngandu T, Lehtisalo J, Solomon A, Levälahti E, Ahtiluoto S, Antikainen R, Bäckman L, Hänninen T, Jula A & Laatikainen T (2015) A 2 year multidomain intervention of diet, exercise, cognitive training, and vascular risk monitoring versus control to prevent cognitive decline in at-risk elderly people (FINGER): a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* 385: 2255–2263
- Norden DM, Fenn AM, Dugan A & Godbout JP (2014) TGFβ produced by IL-10 redirected astrocytes attenuates microglial activation. *Glia* 62: 881–895
- Okello A, Koivunen J, Edison P, Archer HA, Turkheimer FE, Någren K ua, Bullock R, Walker Z, Kennedy A & Fox NC (2009) Conversion of amyloid positive and negative MCI to AD over 3 years: an 11C-PIB PET study. *Neurology* 73: 754–760
- Olney NT, Spina S & Miller BL (2017) Frontotemporal dementia. *Neurol Clin* 35: 339– 374
- Ong KT, Villemagne VL, Bahar-Fuchs A, Lamb F, Langdon N, Catafau AM, Stephens AW, Seibyl J, Dinkelborg LM & Reininger CB (2015) Aβ imaging with 18Fflorbetaben in prodromal Alzheimer's disease: a prospective outcome study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 86: 431–436
- Onuska KM (2020) The Dual Role of Microglia in the Progression of Alzheimer's Disease. *J Neurosci* 40: 1608–1610
- Oosterveld LP, Verberk IMW, Majbour NK, El-Agnaf OM, Weinstein HC, Berendse HW, Teunissen CE & van de Berg WDJ (2020) CSF or serum neurofilament light added to α-Synuclein panel discriminates Parkinson's from controls. *Mov Disord* 35: 288–295
- Origlia N, Bonadonna C, Rosellini A, Leznik E, Arancio O, Yan SS & Domenici L (2010) Microglial receptor for advanced glycation end product-dependent signal pathway drives β-amyloid-induced synaptic depression and long-term depression impairment in entorhinal cortex. *J Neurosci* 30: 11414–11425

Ossenkoppele R, Jansen WJ, Rabinovici GD, Knol DL, van der Flier WM, van Berckel

BNM, Scheltens P, Visser PJ, Verfaillie SCJ & Zwan MD (2015) Prevalence of amyloid PET positivity in dementia syndromes: a meta-analysis. *Jama* 313: 1939–1950

- Ossenkoppele R, Rabinovici GD, Smith R, Cho H, Schöll M, Strandberg O, Palmqvist S, Mattsson N, Janelidze S & Santillo A (2018) Discriminative accuracy of [18F] flortaucipir positron emission tomography for Alzheimer disease vs other neurodegenerative disorders. *Jama* 320: 1151–1162
- Ossenkoppele R, Schonhaut DR, Schöll M, Lockhart SN, Ayakta N, Baker SL, O'Neil JP, Janabi M, Lazaris A & Cantwell A (2016) Tau PET patterns mirror clinical and neuroanatomical variability in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain* 139: 1551–1567
- Ossenkoppele R, Smith R, Mattsson-Carlgren N, Groot C, Leuzy A, Strandberg O, Palmqvist S, Olsson T, Jögi J & Stormrud E (2021) Accuracy of Tau Positron Emission Tomography as a Prognostic Marker in Preclinical and Prodromal Alzheimer Disease: A Head-to-Head Comparison Against Amyloid Positron Emission Tomography and Magnetic Resonance Imaging. *JAMA Neurol* 78: 961– 971
- Ou Y-N, Xu W, Li J-Q, Guo Y, Cui M, Chen K-L, Huang Y-Y, Dong Q, Tan L & Yu J-T (2019) FDG-PET as an independent biomarker for Alzheimer's biological diagnosis: a longitudinal study. *Alzheimers Res Ther* 11: 1–11
- Ouchi Y, Yoshikawa E, Sekine Y, Futatsubashi M, Kanno T, Ogusu T & Torizuka T (2005) Microglial activation and dopamine terminal loss in early Parkinson's disease. Ann Neurol 57: 168–175
- Owen DR, Yeo AJ, Gunn RN, Song K, Wadsworth G, Lewis A, Rhodes C, Pulford DJ, Bennacef I & Parker CA (2012) An 18-kDa translocator protein (TSPO) polymorphism explains differences in binding affinity of the PET radioligand PBR28. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 32: 1–5
- Pagani M, Giuliani A, Öberg J, De Carli F, Morbelli S, Girtler N, Arnaldi D, Accardo J, Bauckneht M & Bongioanni F (2017) Progressive disintegration of brain networking from normal aging to Alzheimer disease: analysis of independent components of 18F-FDG PET data. J Nucl Med 58: 1132–1139
- Palmqvist S, Janelidze S, Quiroz YT, Zetterberg H, Lopera F, Stomrud E, Su Y, Chen Y, Serrano GE & Leuzy A (2020) Discriminative accuracy of plasma phospho-tau217

for Alzheimer disease vs other neurodegenerative disorders. Jama 324: 772-781

- Palmqvist S, Mattsson N, Hansson O & Initiative ADN (2016) Cerebrospinal fluid analysis detects cerebral amyloid-β accumulation earlier than positron emission tomography. *Brain* 139: 1226–1236
- Palop JJ, Chin J & Mucke L (2006) A network dysfunction perspective on neurodegenerative diseases. *Nature* 443: 768
- Paolicelli RC, Bolasco G, Pagani F, Maggi L, Scianni M, Panzanelli P, Giustetto M, Ferreira TA, Guiducci E & Dumas L (2011) Synaptic pruning by microglia is necessary for normal brain development. *Science* (80-) 333: 1456–1458
- Papadopoulos V, Baraldi M, Guilarte TR, Knudsen TB, Lacapère J-J, Lindemann P, Norenberg MD, Nutt D, Weizman A & Zhang M-R (2006) Translocator protein (18 kDa): new nomenclature for the peripheral-type benzodiazepine receptor based on its structure and molecular function. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* 27: 402–409
- Parbo P, Ismail R, Hansen K V, Amidi A, Mårup FH, Gottrup H, Brændgaard H, Eriksson BO, Eskildsen SF & Lund TE (2017) Brain inflammation accompanies amyloid in the majority of mild cognitive impairment cases due to Alzheimer's disease. *Brain* 140: 2002–2011
- Parbo P, Ismail R, Sommerauer M, Stokholm MG, Hansen AK, Hansen K V., Amidi A, Schaldemose JL, Gottrup H, Brændgaard H, *et al* (2018) Does inflammation precede tau aggregation in early Alzheimer's disease? A PET study. *Neurobiol Dis* 117: 211– 216
- Pardini M, Huey ED, Spina S, Kreisl WC, Morbelli S, Wassermann EM, Nobili F, Ghetti B & Grafman J (2019) FDG-PET patterns associated with underlying pathology in corticobasal syndrome. *Neurology* 92: e1121–e1135
- Parnetti L, Gaetani L, Eusebi P, Paciotti S, Hansson O, El-Agnaf O, Mollenhauer B, Blennow K & Calabresi P (2019) CSF and blood biomarkers for Parkinson's disease. *Lancet Neurol* 18: 573–586
- Passamonti L, Rodríguez PV, Hong YT, Allinson KSJ, Bevan-Jones WR, Williamson D, Jones PS, Arnold R, Borchert RJ & Surendranathan A (2018) [11C] PK11195 binding in Alzheimer disease and progressive supranuclear palsy. *Neurology* 90: e1989–e1996
- Passamonti L, Tsvetanov KA, Jones PS, Bevan-Jones WR, Arnold R, Borchert RJ, Mak

E, Su L, O'Brien JT & Rowe JB (2019) Neuroinflammation and Functional Connectivity in Alzheimer's Disease: Interactive Influences on Cognitive Performance. *J Neurosci* 39: 7218–7226

- Passamonti L, Vázquez Rodríguez P, Hong YT, Allinson KSJ, Williamson D, Borchert RJ, Sami S, Cope TE, Bevan-Jones WR & Jones PS (2017) 18F-AV-1451 positron emission tomography in Alzheimer's disease and progressive supranuclear palsy. *Brain* 140: 781–791
- Pavese N, Gerhard A, Tai YF, Ho AK, Turkheimer F, Barker RA, Brooks DJ & Piccini P (2006) Microglial activation correlates with severity in Huntington disease: a clinical and PET study. *Neurology* 66: 1638–1643
- Payoux P, Delrieu J, Gallini A, Adel D, Salabert AS, Hitzel A, Cantet C, Tafani M, De Verbizier D & Darcourt J (2015) Cognitive and functional patterns of nondemented subjects with equivocal visual amyloid PET findings. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging* 42: 1459–1468
- Peng C, Trojanowski JQ & Lee VM-Y (2020) Protein transmission in neurodegenerative disease. *Nat Rev Neurol* 16: 199–212
- Perani D (2013) FDG PET and cognitive symptoms of dementia. *Clin Transl Imaging* 1: 247–260
- Perani D, Anthony P, Rosa D, Cerami C, Gallivanone F, Fallanca F, Giovanna E, Panzacchi A, Nobili F, Pappatà S, *et al* (2014a) Validation of an optimized SPM procedure for FDG-PET in dementia diagnosis in a clinical setting. *NeuroImage Clin* 6: 445–454
- Perani D, Caminiti SP, Carli G & Tondo G (2020) PET Neuroimaging in Dementia Conditions. *PET SPECT Neurol*: 211–282
- Perani D, Cerami C, Caminiti SP, Santangelo R, Coppi E, Ferrari L, Pinto P, Passerini G, Falini A, Iannaccone S, *et al* (2016) Cross-validation of biomarkers for the early differential diagnosis and prognosis of dementia in a clinical setting. *J Nucl Med Mol Imaging* 43: 499–508
- Perani D, Farsad M, Ballarini T, Lubian F, Malpetti M, Fracchetti A, Magnani G, March A & Abutalebi J (2017) The impact of bilingualism on brain reserve and metabolic connectivity in Alzheimer's dementia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 114: 1690–1695
- Perani D, Iaccarino L & Bettinardi V (2014b) The need for "objective measurements" in

FDG and amyloid PET neuroimaging. Clin Transl Imaging 2: 331-342

- Perani D, Iaccarino L, Lammertsma AA, Windhorst AD, Edison P, Boellaard R, Hansson O, Nordberg A, Jacobs AH, Bottlaender M, *et al* (2019a) A new perspective for advanced positron emission tomography–based molecular imaging in neurodegenerative proteinopathies. *Alzheimer's Dement* doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2019.02.004 [PREPRINT]
- Perani D, Iaccarino L, Lammertsma AA, Windhorst AD, Edison P, Boellaard R, Hansson O, Nordberg A, Jacobs AH & Bottlaender M (2019b) A new perspective for advanced positron emission tomography–based molecular imaging in neurodegenerative proteinopathies. *Alzheimer's Dement*
- Perneczky R, Drzezga A, Boecker H, Förstl H, Kurz A & Häussermann P (2008) Cerebral metabolic dysfunction in patients with dementia with Lewy bodies and visual hallucinations. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord* 25: 531–538
- Perrotin A, de Flores R, Lamberton F, Poisnel G, La Joie R, de la Sayette V, Mezenge F, Tomadesso C, Landeau B & Desgranges B (2015) Hippocampal subfield volumetry and 3D surface mapping in subjective cognitive decline. J Alzheimer's Dis 48: S141–S150
- Perry DC, Brown JA, Possin KL, Datta S, Trujillo A, Radke A, Karydas A, Kornak J, Sias AC & Rabinovici GD (2017) Clinicopathological correlations in behavioural variant frontotemporal dementia. *Brain* 140: 3329–3345
- Peters S, Zitzelsperger E, Kuespert S, Iberl S, Heydn R, Johannesen S, Petri S, Aigner L,
 Thal DR, Hermann A, *et al* (2017) The TGF-β System As a Potential Pathogenic
 Player in Disease Modulation of Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis. *Front Neurol* 8:
 669
- Petersen RC (2004) Mild cognitive impairment as a diagnostic entity. *J Intern Med* 256: 183–194
- Petersen RC (2011) Clinical practice. Mild cognitive impairment. N Engl J Med 364: 2227–2234
- Petersen RC (2016) Mild cognitive impairment. Contin Lifelong Learn Neurol 22: 404
- Petersen RC (2018) How early can we diagnose Alzheimer disease (and is it sufficient)?: The 2017 Wartenberg lecture. *Neurology* 91: 395–402
- Petersen RC, Doody R, Kurz A, Mohs RC, Morris JC, Rabins P V, Ritchie K, Rossor M,

Thal L & Winblad B (2001) Current concepts in mild cognitive impairment. *Arch Neurol* 58: 1985–1992

- Petersen RC, Lopez O, Armstrong MJ, Getchius TSD, Ganguli M, Gloss D, Gronseth GS, Marson D, Pringsheim T & Day GS (2018) Practice guideline update summary: Mild cognitive impairment: Report of the Guideline Development, Dissemination, and Implementation Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology. *Neurology* 90: 126–135
- Petersen RC, Parisi JE, Dickson DW, Johnson KA, Knopman DS, Boeve BF, Jicha GA, Ivnik RJ, Smith GE & Tangalos EG (2006) Neuropathologic features of amnestic mild cognitive impairment. *Arch Neurol* 63: 665–672
- Petersen RC, Smith GE, Waring SC, Ivnik RJ, Tangalos EG & Kokmen E (1999) Mild cognitive impairment: clinical characterization and outcome. Arch Neurol 56: 303– 308
- Petrou M, Dwamena BA, Foerster BR, MacEachern MP, Bohnen NI, Müller MLTM, Albin RL & Frey KA (2015) Amyloid deposition in Parkinson's disease and cognitive impairment: a systematic review. *Mov Disord* 30: 928–935
- Phelps ME, Huang SC, Hoffman EJ, Selin C, Sokoloff L & Kuhl DE (1979) Tomographic measurement of local cerebral glucose metabolic rate in humans with (F-18) 2fluoro-2-deoxy-D-glucose: validation of method. *Ann Neurol Off J Am Neurol Assoc Child Neurol Soc* 6: 371–388
- Phillips JS, Das SR, McMillan CT, Irwin DJ, Roll EE, Da Re F, Nasrallah IM, Wolk DA & Grossman M (2018) Tau PET imaging predicts cognition in atypical variants of Alzheimer's disease. *Hum Brain Mapp* 39: 691–708
- Pierce AM & Keating AK (2014) TAM receptor tyrosine kinases: Expression, disease and oncogenesis in the central nervous system. *Brain Res* 1542: 206–220
- Pietrzak RH, Lim YY, Ames D, Harrington K, Restrepo C, Martins RN, Rembach A, Laws SM, Masters CL & Villemagne VL (2015) Trajectories of memory decline in preclinical Alzheimer's disease: results from the Australian Imaging, Biomarkers and Lifestyle Flagship Study of Ageing. *Neurobiol Aging* 36: 1231–1238
- Pievani M, Filippini N, van den Heuvel MP, Cappa SF & Frisoni GB (2014) Brain connectivity in neurodegenerative diseases-from phenotype to proteinopathy. *Nat Rev Neurol* 10: 620–633

- Pimlott SL & Sutherland A (2011) Molecular tracers for the PET and SPECT imaging of disease. *Chem Soc Rev* 40: 149–162
- Pisanu A, Lecca D, Mulas G, Wardas J, Simbula G, Spiga S & Carta AR (2014) Dynamic changes in pro-and anti-inflammatory cytokines in microglia after PPAR-γ agonist neuroprotective treatment in the MPTPp mouse model of progressive Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol Dis* 71: 280–291
- Poil S-S, De Haan W, van der Flier WM, Mansvelder HD, Scheltens P & Linkenkaer-Hansen K (2013) Integrative EEG biomarkers predict progression to Alzheimer's disease at the MCI stage. *Front Aging Neurosci* 5: 58
- Politis M, Lahiri N, Niccolini F, Su P, Wu K, Giannetti P, Scahill RI, Turkheimer FE, Tabrizi SJ & Piccini P (2015) Increased central microglial activation associated with peripheral cytokine levels in premanifest Huntington's disease gene carriers. *Neurobiol Dis* 83: 115–121
- Politis M, Pavese N, Tai YF, Kiferle L, Mason SL, Brooks DJ, Tabrizi SJ, Barker RA & Piccini P (2011) Microglial activation in regions related to cognitive function predicts disease onset in Huntington's disease: a multimodal imaging study. *Hum Brain Mapp* 32: 258–270
- Pontecorvo MJ, Devous Sr MD, Navitsky M, Lu M, Salloway S, Schaerf FW, Jennings D, Arora AK, McGeehan A & Lim NC (2017) Relationships between flortaucipir PET tau binding and amyloid burden, clinical diagnosis, age and cognition. *Brain* 140: 748–763
- Presotto L, Bettinardi V, De Bernardi E, Belli ML, Cattaneo GM, Broggi S & Fiorino C (2018a) PET textural features stability and pattern discrimination power for radiomics analysis: An "ad-hoc" phantoms study. *Phys Medica* 50: 66–74
- Presotto L, Iaccarino L, Bettinardi V, Gianolli L & Perani D (2015) An automated clustering algorithm for reference region extraction of brain 11 C-PK11195 studies. In 2015 IEEE Nuclear Science Symposium and Medical Imaging Conference (NSS/MIC) pp 1–3. IEEE
- Presotto L, Iaccarino L, Sala A, Vanoli EG, Muscio C, Nigri A, Bruzzone MG, Tagliavini F, Gianolli L & Perani D (2018b) Low-dose CT for the spatial normalization of PET images: A validation procedure for amyloid-PET semi-quantification. *NeuroImage Clin* 20: 153–160

- Prestia A, Caroli A, Van Der Flier WM, Ossenkoppele R, Van Berckel B, Barkhof F, Teunissen CE, Wall AE, Carter SF & Schöll M (2013) Prediction of dementia in MCI patients based on core diagnostic markers for Alzheimer disease. *Neurology* 80: 1048–1056
- Prestia A, Caroli A, Wade SK, Van Der Flier WM, Ossenkoppele R, Van Berckel B, Barkhof F, Teunissen CE, Wall A & Carter SF (2015) Prediction of AD dementia by biomarkers following the NIA-AA and IWG diagnostic criteria in MCI patients from three European memory clinics. *Alzheimer's Dement* 11: 1191–1201
- Prieto AL, O'Dell S, Varnum B & Lai C (2007) Localization and signaling of the receptor protein tyrosine kinase Tyro3 in cortical and hippocampal neurons. *Neuroscience* 150: 319–334
- Prince MJ, Wimo A, Guerchet MM, Ali GC, Wu Y-T & Prina M (2015) World Alzheimer Report 2015-The Global Impact of Dementia: An analysis of prevalence, incidence, cost and trends.
- Rabin LA, Smart CM & Amariglio RE (2017) Subjective cognitive decline in preclinical Alzheimer's disease. *Annu Rev Clin Psychol* 13: 369–396
- Rabinovici GD, Furst AJ, Alkalay A, Racine CA, O'Neil JP, Janabi M, Baker SL, Agarwal N, Bonasera SJ & Mormino EC (2010) Increased metabolic vulnerability in early-onset Alzheimer's disease is not related to amyloid burden. *Brain* 133: 512– 528
- Rabinovici GD, Gatsonis C, Apgar C, Chaudhary K, Gareen I, Hanna L, Hendrix J, Hillner BE, Olson C & Lesman-Segev OH (2019) Association of amyloid positron emission tomography with subsequent change in clinical management among Medicare beneficiaries with mild cognitive impairment or dementia. *Jama* 321: 1286–1294
- Rabinovici GD, Jagust WJ, Furst AJ, Ogar JM, Racine CA, Mormino EC, O'Neil JP, Lal RA, Dronkers NF & Miller BL (2008) Aβ amyloid and glucose metabolism in three variants of primary progressive aphasia. *Ann Neurol* 64: 388–401
- Rabinovici GD, Rosen HJ, Alkalay A, Kornak J, Furst AJ, Agarwal N, Mormino EC, O'Neil JP, Janabi M & Karydas A (2011) Amyloid vs FDG-PET in the differential diagnosis of AD and FTLD. *Neurology* 77: 2034–2042
- Rana JS, Khan SS, Lloyd-Jones DM & Sidney S (2021) Changes in mortality in top 10

causes of death from 2011 to 2018. J Gen Intern Med 36: 2517-2518

- Ransohoff RM (2016) How neuroinflammation contributes to neurodegeneration. Science (80-) 353: 777–783
- Rascovsky K, Hodges JR, Knopman D, Mendez MF, Kramer JH, Neuhaus J, Van Swieten JC, Seelaar H, Dopper EGP, Onyike CU, *et al* (2011) Sensitivity of revised diagnostic criteria for the behavioural variant of frontotemporal dementia. *Brain* 134: 2456–2477
- Ray AK, DuBois JC, Gruber RC, Guzik HM, Gulinello ME, Perumal G, Raine C, Kozakiewicz L, Williamson J & Shafit-Zagardo B (2017) Loss of G as6 and A xl signaling results in extensive axonal damage, motor deficits, prolonged neuroinflammation, and less remyelination following cuprizone exposure. *Glia* 65: 2051–2069
- Reale M, Iarlori C, Thomas A, Gambi D, Perfetti B, Di Nicola M & Onofrj M (2009) Peripheral cytokines profile in Parkinson's disease. *Brain Behav Immun* 23: 55–63
- Reisberg B, Ferris SH, de Leon MJ, Franssen ESE, Kluger A, Mir P, Borenstein J, George AE, Shulman E & Steinberg G (1988) Stage-specific behavioral, cognitive, and in vivo changes in community residing subjects with age-associated memory impairment and primary degenerative dementia of the Alzheimer type. *Drug Dev Res* 15: 101–114
- Ricci M, Cimini A, Chiaravalloti A, Filippi L & Schillaci O (2020) Positron Emission Tomography (PET) and Neuroimaging in the Personalized approach to neurodegenerative causes of dementia. *Int J Mol Sci* 21: 7481
- Ritchie C, Smailagic N, Noel-Storr AH, Ukoumunne O, Ladds EC & Martin S (2017) CSF tau and the CSF tau/ABeta ratio for the diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease dementia and other dementias in people with mild cognitive impairment (MCI). *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*
- Roberts RO, Knopman DS, Mielke MM, Cha RH, Pankratz VS, Christianson TJH, Geda YE, Boeve BF, Ivnik RJ & Tangalos EG (2014) Higher risk of progression to dementia in mild cognitive impairment cases who revert to normal. *Neurology* 82: 317–325
- Robinson JL, Lee EB, Xie SX, Rennert L, Suh E, Bredenberg C, Caswell C, Van Deerlin VM, Yan N & Yousef A (2018) Neurodegenerative disease concomitant

proteinopathies are prevalent, age-related and APOE4-associated. *Brain* 141: 2181–2193

- Rodriguez-Vieitez E, Carter SF, Chiotis K, Saint-Aubert L, Leuzy A, Schöll M, Almkvist O, Wall A, Långström B & Nordberg A (2016a) Comparison of early-phase 11Cdeuterium-1-deprenyl and 11C-Pittsburgh compound B PET for assessing brain perfusion in Alzheimer disease. J Nucl Med 57: 1071–1077
- Rodriguez-Vieitez E, Saint-Aubert L, Carter SF, Almkvist O, Farid K, Sch??ll M, Chiotis K, Thordardottir S, Graff C, Wall A, *et al* (2016b) Diverging longitudinal changes in astrocytosis and amyloid PET in autosomal dominant Alzheimer's disease. *Brain* 139: 922–936
- Rosenbloom MH, Alkalay A, Agarwal N, Baker SL, O'Neil JP, Janabi M, Yen I V, Growdon M, Jang J & Madison C (2011) Distinct clinical and metabolic deficits in PCA and AD are not related to amyloid distribution. *Neurology* 76: 1789–1796
- Rossi M, Kai H, Baiardi S, Bartoletti-Stella A, Carlà B, Zenesini C, Capellari S, Kitamoto T & Parchi P (2019) The characterization of AD/PART co-pathology in CJD suggests independent pathogenic mechanisms and no cross-seeding between misfolded Aβ and prion proteins. *Acta Neuropathol Commun* 7: 1–13
- Rossini PM, Cappa SF, Lattanzio F, Perani D, Spadin P, Tagliavini F & Vanacore N (2019) The Italian interceptor project: from the early identification of patients eligible for prescription of antidementia drugs to a nationwide organizational model for early Alzheimer's disease diagnosis. *J Alzheimer's Dis* 72: 373–388
- Rowe JB, Holland N & Rittman T (2021) Progressive supranuclear palsy: diagnosis and management. *Pract Neurol* 21: 376–383
- Rowley PA, Samsonov AA, Betthauser TJ, Pirasteh A, Johnson SC & Eisenmenger LB (2020) Amyloid and Tau PET imaging of Alzheimer disease and other neurodegenerative conditions. In *Seminars in Ultrasound, CT and MRI* pp 572–583. Elsevier
- Sabatini S, Woods RT, Ukoumunne OC, Ballard C, Collins R & Clare L (2021) Associations of subjective cognitive and memory decline with depression, anxiety, and two-year change in objectively-assessed global cognition and memory. *Aging, Neuropsychol Cogn*: 1–27

Sabri O, Sabbagh MN, Seibyl J, Barthel H, Akatsu H, Ouchi Y, Senda K, Murayama S,

Ishii K & Takao M (2015) Florbetaben PET imaging to detect amyloid beta plaques in Alzheimer's disease: phase 3 study. *Alzheimer's Dement* 11: 964–974

- Sainaghi PP, Bellan M, Lombino F, Alciato F, Carecchio M, Galimberti D, Fenoglio C, Scarpini E, Cantello R & Pirisi M (2017) Growth arrest specific 6 concentration is increased in the cerebrospinal fluid of patients with Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimer's Dis 55: 59–65
- Sakae N, Santos OA, Pedraza O, Litvan I, Murray ME, Duara R, Uitti RJ, Wszolek ZK, Graff-Radford NR & Josephs KA (2020) Clinical and pathologic features of cognitive-predominant corticobasal degeneration. *Neurology* 95: e35–e45
- Sala A, Iaccarino L, Fania P, Vanoli EG, Fallanca F, Pagnini C, Cerami C, Calvo A, Canosa A & Pagani M (2019a) Testing the diagnostic accuracy of [18F] FDG-PET in discriminating spinal-and bulbar-onset amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging* 46: 1117–1131
- Sala A & Perani D (2019) Brain molecular connectivity in neurodegenerative diseases: recent advances and new perspectives using Positron Emission Tomography. Front Neurosci 13: 617
- Sala, Caminiti SP, Iaccarino L, Beretta L, Iannaccone S, Magnani G, Padovani A, Ferini-Strambi L & Perani D (2019b) Vulnerability of multiple large-scale brain networks in dementia with Lewy bodies. *Hum Brain Mapp*: hbm.24719
- Sala, Caminiti SP, Presotto L, Premi E, Pilotto A, Turrone R, Cosseddu M, Alberici A, Paghera B, Borroni B, *et al* (2017) Altered brain metabolic connectivity at multiscale level in early Parkinson 's disease. *Sci Rep* 7: 4256
- Salloway S & Cummings J (2021) Aducanumab, Amyloid Lowering, and Slowing of Alzheimer Disease. *Neurology* 97: 543–544
- Sanchez-Catasus C, N Stormezand G, Jan van Laar P, P De Deyn P, Alvarez Sanchez M & AJO Dierckx R (2017) FDG-PET for prediction of AD dementia in mild cognitive impairment. A review of the state of the art with particular emphasis on the comparison with other neuroimaging modalities (MRI and perfusion SPECT). *Curr Alzheimer Res* 14: 127–142
- Sánchez-Benavides G, Grau-Rivera O, Suárez-Calvet M, Minguillon C, Cacciaglia R, Gramunt N, Falcon C, Gispert JD & Molinuevo JL (2018) Brain and cognitive correlates of subjective cognitive decline-plus features in a population-based cohort.

Alzheimers Res Ther 10: 1–13

- Sandhu JK & Kulka M (2021) Decoding mast cell-microglia communication in neurodegenerative diseases. *Int J Mol Sci* 22: 1093
- Saresella M, Piancone F, Tortorella P, Marventano I, Gatti A, Caputo D, Lunetta C, Corbo M, Rovaris M & Clerici M (2013) T helper-17 activation dominates the immunologic milieu of both amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and progressive multiple sclerosis. *Clin Immunol* 148: 79–88
- Saul J, Hutchins E, Reiman R, Saul M, Ostrow LW, Harris BT, Van Keuren-Jensen K, Bowser R & Bakkar N (2020) Global alterations to the choroid plexus blood-CSF barrier in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Acta Neuropathol Commun* 8: 1–21
- Scheef L, Spottke A, Daerr M, Joe A, Striepens N, Kölsch H, Popp J, Daamen M, Psych D, Gorris D, *et al* (2012) Glucose metabolism, gray matter structure, and memory decline in subjective memory impairment. *Neurology* 79: 1332–1339
- Schindler SE, Bollinger JG, Ovod V, Mawuenyega KG, Li Y, Gordon BA, Holtzman DM, Morris JC, Benzinger TLS & Xiong C (2019) High-precision plasma β-amyloid 42/40 predicts current and future brain amyloidosis. *Neurology* 93: e1647–e1659
- Schoemaker D, Charidimou A, Zotin MCZ, Raposo N, Johnson KA, Sanchez JS, Greenberg SM & Viswanathan A (2021) Association of Memory Impairment With Concomitant Tau Pathology in Patients With Cerebral Amyloid Angiopathy. *Neurology* 96: e1975–e1986
- Schöll M, Lockhart SN, Schonhaut DR, O'Neil JP, Janabi M, Ossenkoppele R, Baker SL, Vogel JW, Faria J & Schwimmer HD (2016) PET imaging of tau deposition in the aging human brain. *Neuron* 89: 971–982
- Schöll M, Ossenkoppele R, Strandberg O, Palmqvist S, study SB, Jögi J, Ohlsson T, Smith R & Hansson O (2017) Distinct 18F-AV-1451 tau PET retention patterns in early-and late-onset Alzheimer's disease. *Brain* 140: 2286–2294
- Schuitemaker A, Kropholler MA, Boellaard R, van der Flier WM, Kloet RW, van der Doef TF, Knol DL, Windhorst AD, Luurtsema G, Barkhof F, *et al* (2013) Microglial activation in Alzheimer's disease: An (R)-[11C]PK11195 positron emission tomography study. *Neurobiol Aging* 34: 128–136
- Schwartz F, Tahmasian M, Maier F, Rochhausen L, Schnorrenberg KL, Samea F, Seemiller J, Zarei M, Sorg C, Drzezga A, *et al* (2019) Overlapping and distinct

neural metabolic patterns related to impulsivity and hypomania in Parkinson's disease. *Brain Imaging Behav* 13: 241–254

- Schwarz AJ, Yu P, Miller BB, Shcherbinin S, Dickson J, Navitsky M, Joshi AD, Devous Sr MD & Mintun MS (2016) Regional profiles of the candidate tau PET ligand 18 F-AV-1451 recapitulate key features of Braak histopathological stages. *Brain* 139: 1539–1550
- Seeley WW (2017) Mapping neurodegenerative disease onset and progression. *Cold* Spring Harb Perspect Biol 9: a023622
- Selkoe DJ & Hardy J (2016) The amyloid hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease at 25 years. *EMBO Mol Med* 8: 595–608
- Seo SW, Ayakta N, Grinberg LT, Villeneuve S, Lehmann M, Reed B, DeCarli C, Miller BL, Rosen HJ & Boxer AL (2017) Regional correlations between [11C] PIB PET and post-mortem burden of amyloid-beta pathology in a diverse neuropathological cohort. *NeuroImage Clin* 13: 130–137
- Serrano-Pozo A, Das S & Hyman BT (2021) APOE and Alzheimer's disease: advances in genetics, pathophysiology, and therapeutic approaches. *Lancet Neurol* 20: 68–80
- Sevigny J, Suhy J, Chiao P, Chen T, Klein G, Purcell D, Oh J, Verma A, Sampat M & Barakos J (2016) Amyloid PET screening for enrichment of early-stage Alzheimer disease clinical trials. *Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord* 30: 1–7
- Sharma K, Kalakoti P, Nanda A & Sun H (2018) Blood-brain barrier disruption during neuroinflammation. *Neuroinflammation*: 529–539
- Shaw LM, Vanderstichele H, Knapik-Czajka M, Clark CM, Aisen PS, Petersen RC, Blennow K, Soares H, Simon A & Lewczuk P (2009) Cerebrospinal fluid biomarker signature in Alzheimer's disease neuroimaging initiative subjects. *Ann Neurol* 65: 403–413
- Shin J, Kepe V, Barrio JR & Small GW (2011) The merits of FDDNP-PET imaging in Alzheimer's disease. *J Alzheimer's Dis* 26: 135–145
- Si T, Xing G & Han Y (2020) Subjective cognitive decline and related cognitive deficits. *Front Neurol* 11: 247
- Singer W, Schmeichel AM, Shahnawaz M, Schmelzer JD, Boeve BF, Sletten DM, Gehrking TL, Gehrking JA, Olson AD & Savica R (2020) Alpha-synuclein oligomers and neurofilament light chain in spinal fluid differentiate multiple system

atrophy from Lewy body synucleinopathies. Ann Neurol 88: 503-512

- Sjogren M, Vanderstichele H, Ågren H, Zachrisson O, Edsbagge M, Wikkelsø C, Skoog I, Wallin A, Wahlund L-O & Marcusson J (2001) Tau and Aβ42 in cerebrospinal fluid from healthy adults 21–93 years of age: establishment of reference values. *Clin Chem* 47: 1776–1781
- Slavin MJ, Brodaty H, Kochan NA, Crawford JD, Trollor JN, Draper B & Sachdev PS (2010) Prevalence and predictors of "subjective cognitive complaints" in the Sydney Memory and Ageing Study. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 18: 701–710
- Slot RER, Sikkes SAM, Berkhof J, Brodaty H, Buckley R, Cavedo E, Dardiotis E, Guillo-Benarous F, Hampel H & Kochan NA (2019) Subjective cognitive decline and rates of incident Alzheimer's disease and non–Alzheimer's disease dementia. *Alzheimer's Dement* 15: 465–476
- Smailagic N, Vacante M, Hyde C, Martin S, Ukoumunne O & Sachpekidis C (2015) 18
 F-FDG PET for the early diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease dementia and other dementias in people with mild cognitive impairment (MCI). *Cochrane Database* Syst Rev
- Smith R, Schöll M, Widner H, van Westen D, Svenningsson P, Hägerström D, Ohlsson T, Jögi J, Nilsson C & Hansson O (2017) In vivo retention of 18F-AV-1451 in corticobasal syndrome. *Neurology* 89: 845–853
- Sofroniew M V (2015) Astrocyte barriers to neurotoxic inflammation. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 16: 249–263
- Sokoloff L, Reivich M, Kennedy C, Rosiers MH Des, Patlak CS, Pettigrew KD et al, Sakurada O & Shinohara M (1977) The [14C] deoxyglucose method for the measurement of local cerebral glucose utilization: theory, procedure, and normal values in the conscious and anesthetized albino rat 1. *J Neurochem* 28: 897–916
- Sparkman NL & Johnson RW (2008) Neuroinflammation associated with aging sensitizes the brain to the effects of infection or stress. *Neuroimmunomodulation* 15: 323–330
- Sperling RA, Aisen PS, Beckett LA, Bennett DA, Craft S, Fagan AM, Iwatsubo T, Jack Jr CR, Kaye J & Montine TJ (2011) Toward defining the preclinical stages of Alzheimer's disease: Recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's Dement* 7: 280–292

- Sperling RA, Karlawish J & Johnson KA (2013) Preclinical Alzheimer disease—the challenges ahead. *Nat Rev Neurol* 9: 54–58
- Sperling RA, Rentz DM, Johnson KA, Karlawish J, Donohue M, Salmon DP & Aisen P (2014) The A4 study: stopping AD before symptoms begin? *Sci Transl Med* 6: 228fs13-228fs13
- Spetsieris PG, Ko JH, Tang CC, Nazem A, Sako W, Peng S, Ma Y, Dhawan V & Eidelberg D (2015) Metabolic resting-state brain networks in health and disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 112: 2563–2568
- Spina S, Schonhaut DR, Boeve BF, Seeley WW, Ossenkoppele R, O'Neil JP, Lazaris A, Rosen HJ, Boxer AL, Perry DC, *et al* (2017) Frontotemporal dementia with the V337M MAPT mutation: Tau-PET and pathology correlations. *Neurology* 88: 758– 766
- Stankovic I, Krismer F, Jesic A, Antonini A, Benke T, Brown RG, Burn DJ, Holton JL, Kaufmann H & Kostic VS (2014) Cognitive impairment in multiple system atrophy:
 a position statement by the Neuropsychology Task Force of the MDS Multiple System Atrophy (MODIMSA) study group. *Mov Disord* 29: 857–867
- Stephenson J, Nutma E, van der Valk P & Amor S (2018) Inflammation in CNS neurodegenerative diseases. *Immunology* 154: 204–219
- Storandt M, Grant EA, Miller JP & Morris JC (2006) Longitudinal course and neuropathologic outcomes in original vs revised MCI and in pre-MCI. *Neurology* 67: 467–473
- Streit WJ, Sammons NW, Kuhns AJ & Sparks DL (2004) Dystrophic microglia in the aging human brain. *Glia* 45: 208–212
- Sundström A, Adolfsson AN, Nordin M & Adolfsson R (2020) Loneliness increases the risk of all-cause dementia and Alzheimer's disease. *Journals Gerontol Ser B* 75: 919–926
- Suppiah S, Didier M-A & Vinjamuri S (2019) The Who, When, Why, and How of PET Amyloid Imaging in Management of Alzheimer's Disease—Review of Literature and Interesting Images. *Diagnostics* 9: 65
- Surendranathan A, Su L, Mak E, Passamonti L, Hong YT, Arnold R, Vázquez Rodríguez P, Bevan-Jones WR, Brain SAE & Fryer TD (2018) Early microglial activation and peripheral inflammation in dementia with Lewy bodies. *Brain* 141: 3415–3427

- Swardfager W, Lanctôt K, Rothenburg L, Wong A, Cappell J & Herrmann N (2010) A meta-analysis of cytokines in Alzheimer's disease. *Biol Psychiatry* 68: 930–941
- Tanaka T, Kai S, Matsuyama T, Adachi T, Fukuda K & Hirota K (2013) General anesthetics inhibit LPS-induced IL-1 β expression in glial cells. *PLoS One* 8: e82930
- Tang Y & Le W (2016) Differential roles of M1 and M2 microglia in neurodegenerative diseases. *Mol Neurobiol* 53: 1181–1194
- Tee BL, Ibarrola EML & Geschwind MD (2018) Prion diseases. *Neurol Clin* 36: 865– 897
- Teng L, Li Y, Zhao Y, Hu T, Zhang Z, Yao Z & Hu B (2020) Predicting MCI progression with FDG-PET and cognitive scores: a longitudinal study. *BMC Neurol* 20: 1–10
- Tetzloff KA, Graff-Radford J, Martin PR, Tosakulwong N, Machulda MM, Duffy JR, Clark HM, Senjem ML, Schwarz CG & Spychalla AJ (2018) Regional distribution, asymmetry, and clinical correlates of tau uptake on [18F] AV-1451 PET in atypical Alzheimer's disease. *J Alzheimer's Dis* 62: 1713–1724
- Thomas KR, Edmonds EC, Eppig JS, Wong CG, Weigand AJ, Bangen KJ, Jak AJ, Delano-Wood L, Galasko DR & Salmon DP (2019) MCI-to-normal reversion using neuropsychological criteria in the Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative. *Alzheimer's Dement* 15: 1322–1332
- Tippett DC (2020) Classification of primary progressive aphasia: challenges and complexities. *F1000Research* 9
- Titov D, Diehl-Schmid J, Shi K, Perneczky R, Zou N, Grimmer T, Li J, Drzezga A & Yakushev I (2017) Metabolic connectivity for differential diagnosis of dementing disorders. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 37: 252–262
- Tondo G, Boccalini C, Caminiti SP, Presotto L, Filippi M, Magnani G, Frisoni GB, Iannaccone S & Perani D (2021) Brain Metabolism and Microglia Activation in Mild Cognitive Impairment: A Combined [18F] FDG and [11C]-(R)-PK11195 PET Study. J Alzheimer's Dis: 1–13
- Tondo G, Carli G, Santangelo R, Mattoli MV, Presotto L, Filippi M, Magnani G, Iannaccone S, Cerami C & Perani D (2020a) Biomarker-based stability in limbicpredominant amnestic mild cognitive impairment. *Eur J Neurol*: 0–3
- Tondo G, Iaccarino L, Caminiti SP, Presotto L, Santangelo R, Iannaccone S, Magnani G & Perani D (2020b) The combined effects of microglia activation and brain glucose

hypometabolism in early-onset Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimer's Res Ther 12: 1-10

- Tondo G, Iaccarino L, Cerami C, Vanoli GE, Presotto L, Masiello V, Coliva A, Salvi F, Bartolomei I & Mosca (2020) L 11C-PK11195 PET–based molecular study of microglia activation in SOD1 amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Ann Clin Transl Neurol
- Tondo G, Perani D & Comi C (2019) TAM Receptor Pathways at the Crossroads of Neuroinflammation and Neurodegeneration. *Dis Markers* 2019
- Trzepacz PT, Yu P, Sun J, Schuh K, Case M, Witte MM, Hochstetler H, Hake A & Initiative ADN (2014) Comparison of neuroimaging modalities for the prediction of conversion from mild cognitive impairment to Alzheimer's dementia. *Neurobiol Aging* 35: 143–151
- Tsai RM, Bejanin A, Lesman-Segev O, LaJoie R, Visani A, Bourakova V, O'Neil JP, Janabi M, Baker S & Lee SE (2019) 18 F-flortaucipir (AV-1451) tau PET in frontotemporal dementia syndromes. *Alzheimers Res Ther* 11: 1–18
- Turkheimer FE, Edison P, Pavese N, Roncaroli F, Anderson AN, Hammers A, Gerhard A, Hinz R, Tai YF & Brooks DJ (2007) Reference and target region modeling of [11C]-(R)-PK11195 brain studies. J Nucl Med 48: 158–167
- Turkheimer FE, Rizzo G, Bloomfield PS, Howes O, Zanotti-Fregonara P, Bertoldo A & Veronese M (2015) The methodology of TSPO imaging with positron emission tomography. *Biochem Soc Trans* 43: 586–592
- Turner MR, Cagnin A, Turkheimer FE, Miller CCJ, Shaw CE, Brooks DJ, Leigh PN & Banati RB (2004) Evidence of widespread cerebral microglial activation in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: an [11C](R)-PK11195 positron emission tomography study. *Neurobiol Dis* 15: 601–609
- Tzourio-Mazoyer N, Landeau B, Papathanassiou D, Crivello F, Etard O, Delcroix N, Mazoyer B & Joliot M (2002) Automated anatomical labeling of activations in SPM using a macroscopic anatomical parcellation of the MNI MRI single-subject brain. *Neuroimage* 15: 273–289
- Van den Brand BT, Abdollahi-Roodsaz S, Vermeij EA, Bennink MB, Arntz OJ, Rothlin C V, van den Berg WB & van de Loo FAJ (2013) Therapeutic efficacy of Tyro3, Axl, and Mer tyrosine kinase agonists in collagen-induced arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* 65: 671–680

van Eimeren T, Bischof GN & Drzezga A (2017) Is tau imaging more than just upside-

down 18F-FDG imaging? J Nucl Med 58: 1357-1359

- van Harten AC, Mielke MM, Swenson-Dravis DM, Hagen CE, Edwards KK, Roberts RO, Geda YE, Knopman DS & Petersen RC (2018) Subjective cognitive decline and risk of MCI: the Mayo Clinic Study of Aging. *Neurology* 91: e300–e312
- van Harten AC, Visser PJ, Pijnenburg YAL, Teunissen CE, Blankenstein MA, Scheltens
 P & van der Flier WM (2013) Cerebrospinal fluid Aβ42 is the best predictor of clinical progression in patients with subjective complaints. *Alzheimer's Dement* 9: 481–487
- van Oostveen WM & de Lange E (2021) Imaging Techniques in Alzheimer's Disease: A Review of Applications in Early Diagnosis and Longitudinal Monitoring. *Int J Mol Sci* 22: 2110
- Vannini P, Hanseeuw B, Munro CE, Amariglio RE, Marshall GA, Rentz DM, Pascual-Leone A, Johnson KA & Sperling RA (2017) Hippocampal hypometabolism in older adults with memory complaints and increased amyloid burden. *Neurology* 88: 1759– 1767
- Varatharajah Y, Ramanan VK, Iyer R & Vemuri P (2019) Predicting short-term MCI-to-AD progression using imaging, CSF, genetic factors, cognitive resilience, and demographics. *Sci Rep* 9: 1–15
- Varrone A, Asenbaum S, Vander Borght T, Booij J, Nobili F, Någren K, Darcourt J, Kapucu OL, Tatsch K, Bartenstein P, *et al* (2009) EANM procedure guidelines for PET brain imaging using [18F]FDG, version 2. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging* 36: 2103–10
- Venegas C & Heneka MT (2017) Danger-associated molecular patterns in Alzheimer's disease. J Leukoc Biol 101: 87–98
- Verger A, Horowitz T, Chawki MB, Eusebio A, Bordonne M, Azulay J-P, Girard N & Guedj E (2020) From metabolic connectivity to molecular connectivity: application to dopaminergic pathways. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging* 47: 413–424
- Vermeiren C, Motte P, Viot D, Mairet-Coello G, Courade J, Citron M, Mercier J, Hannestad J & Gillard M (2018) The tau positron-emission tomography tracer AV-1451 binds with similar affinities to tau fibrils and monoamine oxidases. *Mov Disord* 33: 273–281
- Veronese M, Moro L, Arcolin M, Dipasquale O, Rizzo G, Expert P, Khan W, Fisher PM,

Svarer C & Bertoldo A (2019) Covariance statistics and network analysis of brain PET imaging studies. *Sci Rep* 9: 1–15

- Vijayakumar A & Vijayakumar A (2013) Comparison of hippocampal volume in dementia subtypes. *Int Sch Res Not* 2013
- Villemagne VL, Burnham S, Bourgeat P, Brown B, Ellis KA, Salvado O, Szoeke C, Macaulay SL, Martins R & Maruff P (2013) Amyloid β deposition, neurodegeneration, and cognitive decline in sporadic Alzheimer's disease: a prospective cohort study. *Lancet Neurol* 12: 357–367
- Villemagne VL, Doré V, Burnham SC, Masters CL & Rowe CC (2018) Imaging tau and amyloid-β proteinopathies in Alzheimer disease and other conditions. *Nat Rev Neurol* 14: 225
- Vogel JW, Young AL, Oxtoby NP, Smith R, Ossenkoppele R, Strandberg OT, La Joie R, Aksman LM, Grothe MJ & Iturria-Medina Y (2021) Four distinct trajectories of tau deposition identified in Alzheimer's disease. *Nat Med* 27: 871–881
- Vos SJB, Van Rossum IA, Verhey F, Knol DL, Soininen H, Wahlund L-O, Hampel H, Tsolaki M, Minthon L & Frisoni GB (2013) Prediction of Alzheimer disease in subjects with amnestic and nonamnestic MCI. *Neurology* 80: 1124–1132
- Wanner IB, Anderson MA, Song B, Levine J, Fernandez A, Gray-Thompson Z, Ao Y & Sofroniew M V (2013) Glial scar borders are formed by newly proliferated, elongated astrocytes that interact to corral inflammatory and fibrotic cells via STAT3-dependent mechanisms after spinal cord injury. J Neurosci 33: 12870– 12886
- Ward A, Tardiff S, Dye C & Arrighi HM (2013) Rate of conversion from prodromal Alzheimer's disease to Alzheimer's dementia: a systematic review of the literature. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Dis Extra* 3: 320–332
- Wattmo C & Wallin ÅK (2017) Early-versus late-onset Alzheimer's disease in clinical practice: cognitive and global outcomes over 3 years. *Alzheimers Res Ther* 9: 1–13
- Weiner MW, Veitch DP, Aisen PS, Beckett LA, Cairns NJ, Cedarbaum J, Donohue MC, Green RC, Harvey D & Jack Jr CR (2015) Impact of the Alzheimer's disease neuroimaging initiative, 2004 to 2014. *Alzheimer's Dement* 11: 865–884
- Whitwell JL, Graff-Radford J, Singh TD, Drubach DA, Senjem ML, Spychalla AJ, Tosakulwong N, Lowe VJ & Josephs KA (2017a) 18F-FDG PET in posterior

cortical atrophy and dementia with lewy bodies. J Nucl Med 58: 632-638

- Whitwell JL, Graff-Radford J, Tosakulwong N, Weigand SD, Machulda M, Senjem ML, Schwarz CG, Spychalla AJ, Jones DT & Drubach DA (2018) [18F] AV-1451 clustering of entorhinal and cortical uptake in Alzheimer's disease. *Ann Neurol* 83: 248–257
- Whitwell JL, Lowe VJ, Tosakulwong N, Weigand SD, Senjem ML, Schwarz CG, Spychalla AJ, Petersen RC, Jack Jr CR & Josephs KA (2017b) [18F] AV-1451 tau positron emission tomography in progressive supranuclear palsy. *Mov Disord* 32: 124–133
- Whitwell JL, Przybelski SA, Weigand SD, Knopman DS, Boeve BF, Petersen RC & Jack Jr CR (2007) 3D maps from multiple MRI illustrate changing atrophy patterns as subjects progress from mild cognitive impairment to Alzheimer's disease. *Brain* 130: 1777–1786
- Whitwell JL, Tosakulwong N, Weigand SD, Graff-Radford J, Duffy JR, Clark HM, Machulda MM, Botha H, Utianski RL & Schwarz CG (2020) Longitudinal Amyloid-β PET in Atypical Alzheimer's Disease and Frontotemporal Lobar Degeneration. J Alzheimer's Dis: 1–13
- Wium M, Paccez J & Zerbini L (2018) The Dual Role of TAM Receptors in Autoimmune Diseases and Cancer: An Overview. *Cells* 7: 166
- Wolfsgruber S, Kleineidam L, Guski J, Polcher A, Frommann I, Roeske S, Spruth EJ, Franke C, Priller J & Kilimann I (2020) Minor neuropsychological deficits in patients with subjective cognitive decline. *Neurology* 95: e1134–e1143
- Wolk DA, Price JC, Madeira C, Saxton JA, Snitz BE, Lopez OL, Mathis CA, Klunk WE
 & DeKosky ST (2012) Amyloid imaging in dementias with atypical presentation. *Alzheimer's Dement* 8: 389–398
- Wolk DA, Sadowsky C, Safirstein B, Rinne JO, Duara R, Perry R, Agronin M, Gamez J, Shi J & Ivanoiu A (2018) Use of flutemetamol f 18–labeled positron emission tomography and other biomarkers to assess risk of clinical progression in patients with amnestic mild cognitive impairment. *JAMA Neurol* 75: 1114–1123
- Woodward MC, Rowe CC, Jones G, Villemagne VL & Varos TA (2015) Differentiating the frontal presentation of Alzheimer's disease with FDG-PET. J Alzheimer's Dis 44: 233–242

- Xia C, Makaretz SJ, Caso C, McGinnis S, Gomperts SN, Sepulcre J, Gomez-Isla T, Hyman BT, Schultz A & Vasdev N (2017) Association of in vivo [18F] AV-1451 tau PET imaging results with cortical atrophy and symptoms in typical and atypical Alzheimer disease. JAMA Neurol 74: 427–436
- Xie L, Kang H, Xu Q, Chen MJ, Liao Y, Thiyagarajan M, O'Donnell J, Christensen DJ, Nicholson C & Iliff JJ (2013) Sleep drives metabolite clearance from the adult brain. *Science* (80-) 342: 373–377
- Xu G, Meyer JS, Thornby J, Chowdhury M & Quach M (2002) Screening for mild cognitive impairment (MCI) utilizing combined mini-mental-cognitive capacity examinations for identifying dementia prodromes. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* 17: 1027–1033
- Xu L, Hu F, Zhu H, Liu X, Shi L, Li Y, Zhong H & Su Y (2018) Soluble TAM receptor tyrosine kinases in rheumatoid arthritis: correlation with disease activity and bone destruction. *Clin Exp Immunol* 192: 95–103
- Yakushev I, Drzezga A & Habeck C (2017) Metabolic connectivity: methods and applications. *Curr Opin Neurol* 30: 677–685
- Yokokura M, Terada T, Bunai T, Nakaizumi K, Takebayashi K, Iwata Y, Yoshikawa E, Futatsubashi M, Suzuki K & Mori N (2017) Depiction of microglial activation in aging and dementia: positron emission tomography with [11C] DPA713 versus [11C](R) PK11195. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 37: 877–889
- Zhang H-Y, Wang S-J, Liu B, Ma Z-L, Yang M, Zhang Z-J & Teng G-J (2010) Resting brain connectivity: changes during the progress of Alzheimer disease. *Radiology* 256: 598–606
- Zhang M, Qian C, Zheng Z-G, Qian F, Wang Y, Thu PM, Zhang X, Zhou Y, Tu L & Liu Q (2018) Jujuboside A promotes Aβ clearance and ameliorates cognitive deficiency in Alzheimer's disease through activating Axl/HSP90/PPARγ pathway. *Theranostics* 8: 4262
- Zhang W, Wang T, Pei Z, Miller DS, Wu X, Block ML, Wilson B, Zhang W, Zhou Y & Hong J-S (2005) Aggregated α-synuclein activates microglia: a process leading to disease progression in Parkinson's disease. *FASEB J* 19: 533–542
- Zhao W, Beers DR, Bell S, Wang J, Wen S, Baloh RH & Appel SH (2015) TDP-43 activates microglia through NF-κB and NLRP3 inflammasome. *Exp Neurol* 273: 24–

- Zheng C, Zhou X-W & Wang J-Z (2016) The dual roles of cytokines in Alzheimer's disease: update on interleukins, TNF-α, TGF-β and IFN-γ. *Transl Neurodegener* 5: 1–15
- Zheng Y, Wang Q, Xiao B, Lu Q, Wang Y & Wang X (2012) Involvement of receptor tyrosine kinase Tyro3 in amyloidogenic APP processing and β-amyloid deposition in Alzheimer's disease models. *PLoS One* 7
- Zhou J, Gennatas ED, Kramer JH, Miller BL & Seeley WW (2012) Predicting regional neurodegeneration from the healthy brain functional connectome. *Neuron* 73: 1216– 1227
- Zhou J, Greicius MD, Gennatas ED, Growdon ME, Jang JY, Rabinovici GD, Kramer JH, Weiner M, Miller BL & Seeley WW (2010) Divergent network connectivity changes in behavioural variant frontotemporal dementia and Alzheimer's disease. *Brain* 133: 1352–1367
- Zhu L, Ploessl K & Kung HF (2014) PET/SPECT imaging agents for neurodegenerative diseases. *Chem Soc Rev* 43: 6683–6691
- Zürcher NR, Loggia ML, Lawson R, Chonde DB, Izquierdo-Garcia D, Yasek JE, Akeju O, Catana C, Rosen BR & Cudkowicz ME (2015) Increased in vivo glial activation in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: assessed with [11C]-PBR28. *NeuroImage Clin* 7: 409–414

Wilcom Joulo